# C-E-P-S Journal

Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal Revija centra za študij edukacijskih strategij

Vol.14 | Nº1 | Year 2024



Editor in Chief / Glavni in odgovorni urednik Іzток Devetaк – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### Associate Editors / Področni uredniki in urednice

SLAVKO GABER – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia JANEZ KREK – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia KARMEN PIŽORN – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia VERONIKA TAŠNER – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### Editorial Board / Uredniški odbor

BRANKA BARANOVIĆ – Institute for Social Research in Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia SANJA BERČNIK – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia MATEJA DAGARIN FOJKAR – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia TOMAŽ DEŽELAN – Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia VLATKA DOMOVIĆ – Faculty of Teacher Education, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia TATJANA HODNIK – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia GEORGETA ION - University Autonoma Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain VIDA MANFREDA KOLAR – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia MILENA KOŠAK BABUDER – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia ANA KOZINA - Educational Research Institute, Liubliana, Slovenia IRENA LESAR - Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia JOAKIM LINDGREN – Department of Applied Educational Science, Umeå University, Sweden BRUNO LOSITO – Department for Educational Sciences, University Studi Roma Tre, Rome, Italy SUNČICA MACURA - Faculty of Education, University of Kragujevac, Serbia BENJAMIN MANGILA - Josefina H. Cerilles State College, Zamboanga del Sur, Mindanao, Philippines LJUBICA MARJANOVIČ UMEK – Faculty of Arts, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia SILVIJA MARKIC - Ludwigsburg University of Education, Institute for Science and Technology, Germany MARIANA MOYNOVA - University of Veliko Turnovo, Veliko Turnovo, Bulgaria HANNELE NIEMI - Faculty of Behavioural Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland JERNEJA PAVLIN - Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

MOJCA PEČEK ČUK – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia ANa PEŠIKAN – Faculty of Philosophy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia ROBERT POTOČNIK- Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia ANDREJA RETELJ – Faculty of Arts, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia PASI SAHLBERG - Harvard Graduate School of Education, Boston, USA BLERIM SAQIPI – University of Priština, Kosovo JURIJ SELAN – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia DARIJA SKUBIC - Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia VASILEIOS SYMEONIDIS – Institute of Education Research and Teacher Education, University of Graz, Austria KEITH S. TABER - Faculty of Education, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK JANEZ VOGRINC – Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia MATEJ VOŠNJAK- Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia ROBERT WAAGENAR - Faculty of Arts, University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands

#### Vol.14, Nº1, Year 2024

Issue Editor / Urednica številke: SILVIJA MARKIC Revija Centra za študij edukacijskih strategij Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal ISSN 2232-2647 (online edition / spletna verzija) ISSN 1855-9719 (printed edition / tiskana verzija) Publication frequency: 4 issues per year Subject: Teacher Education, Educational Science Published by / Založila: University of Ljubljana Press / Založba Univerze v Ljubljani / For the publisher: Gregor Majdič, The Rector of the University of Ljubljana / rektor Univerze v Ljubljani / Issued by / izdala: Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana / Univerza v Ljubljani, Pedagoška fakulteta / For the issuer: Janez Vogrinc, The dean of Faculty of Education / dekan Pedagoške fakultete UL Technical editor: Tina Matić / English language editor: Terry T. Troy and Neville J. Hall / Slovene language editing: Tomaž Petek / Cover and layout design: Roman Ražman /

*Typeset:* Igor Cerar / *Print:* Birografika Bori

© 2024 Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana

# C-E-P-S Journal

Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal Revija Centra za študij edukacijskih strategij

The CEPS Journal is an open-access, peerreviewed journal devoted to publishing research papers in different fields of education, including scientific.

#### Aims & Scope

The CEPS Journal is an international peer-reviewed journal with an international board. It publishes original empirical and theoretical studies from a wide variety of academic disciplines related to the field of Teacher Education and Educational Sciences; in particular, it will support comparative studies in the field. Regional context is stressed but the journal remains open to researchers and contributors across all European countries and worldwide. There are four issues per year. Issues are focused on specific areas but there is also space for non-focused articles and book reviews.

#### About the Publisher

The University of Ljubljana is one of the largest universities in the region (see www.uni-lj.si) and its Faculty of Education (see www.pef.uni-lj.si), established in 1947, has the leading role in teacher education and education sciences in Slovenia. It is well positioned in regional and European cooperation programmes in teaching and research. A publishing unit oversees the dissemination of research results and informs the interested public about new trends in the broad area of teacher education and education sciences; to date, numerous monographs and publications have been published, not just in Slovenian but also in English.

In 2001, the Centre for Educational Policy Studies (CEPS; see http://ceps.pef.uni-lj.si) was established within the Faculty of Education to build upon experience acquired in the broad reform of the national educational system during the period of social transition in the 1990s, to upgrade expertise and to strengthen international cooperation. CEPS has established a number of fruitful contacts, both in the region – particularly with similar institutions in the countries of the Western Balkans – and with interested partners in EU member states and worldwide.

 $\sim$ 

Revija Centra za študij edukacijskih strategij je mednarodno recenzirana revija z mednarodnim uredniškim odborom in s prostim dostopom. Namenjena je objavljanju člankov s področja izobraževanja učiteljev in edukacijskih ved.

#### Cilji in namen

Revija je namenjena obravnavanju naslednjih področij: poučevanje, učenje, vzgoja in izobraževanje, socialna pedagogika, specialna in rehabilitacijska pedagogika, predšolska pedagogika, edukacijske politike, supervizija, poučevanje slovenskega jezika in književnosti, poučevanje matematike, računalništva, naravoslovja in tehnike, poučevanje družboslovja in humanistike, poučevanje na področju umetnosti, visokošolsko izobraževanje in izobraževanje odraslih. Poseben poudarek bo namenjen izobraževanju učiteljev in spodbujanju njihovega profesionalnega razvoja.

V reviji so objavljeni znanstveni prispevki, in sicer teoretični prispevki in prispevki, v katerih so predstavljeni rezultati kvantitavnih in kvalitativnih empiričnih raziskav. Še posebej poudarjen je pomen komparativnih raziskav.

Revija izide štirikrat letno. Številke so tematsko opredeljene, v njih pa je prostor tudi za netematske prispevke in predstavitve ter recenzije novih publikacij.

The publication of the CEPS Journal in 2023 and 2024 is co-financed by the Slovenian Research Agency within the framework of the Public Tender for the Co-Financing of the Publication of Domestic Scientific Periodicals.

Izdajanje revije v letih 2023 in 2024 sofinancira Javna agencija za raziskovalno dejavnost Republike Slovenije v okviru Javnega razpisa za sofinanciranje izdajanja domačih znanstvenih periodičnih publikacij.

#### Contents

7 Editorial
 Diversity in Science Towards Social Inclusion
 — SILVIJA MARKIC

#### Focus

 Diversity and Inclusion in Science Education: Why? A Literature Review
 Raznolikost in inkluzija v naravoslovnem izobraževanju: zakaj – pregled literature

— Rachel Mamlok-Naaman

- 33 Language Support in a Student Laboratory for Chemistry in Secondary School
  Jezikovna podpora v laboratoriju za učence za kemijo na predmetni stopnji osnovne šole ter v srednji šoli
  – SARAH KIEFERLE AND SILVIJA MARKIC
- 55 Innovative Learning Activities for Ethnically Diverse Students in Macedonian Science Education Inovativne učne dejavnosti za etnično raznolike učence v makedonskem naravoslovnem izobraževanju
  - Katerina Rusevska, Lambe Barandovski, Vladimir M.
     Petruševski, Aleksandra Naumoska, Slavica Tofilovska and Marina Stojanovska
- 79 Someone Like Me: A Trial of Context-Responsive Science as a Mechanism to Promote Inclusion Nekdo kot jaz: preizkus naravoslovja, prilagojenega kontekstu, kot mehanizem za spodbujanje inkluzije

— JANE ESSEX, KIRSTY ROSS AND INGEBORG BIRNIE

- 105 Non-formal Science Education: Moving Towards More Inclusive Pedagogies for Diverse Classrooms Neformalno naravoslovno izobraževanje: približevanje inkluzivnejšim pedagogikam za raznolike razrede — GENCO GURALP, MARTIN MCHUGH AND SARAH HAYES
- 143 Inquiry-Based Chemistry Education Activities in a Non-formal Educational Setting for Gifted Students

Učenje z raziskovanjem na področju kemije za nadarjene učence v neformalnem izobraževalnem okolju

 Miha Slapničar, Luka Ribič, Iztok Devetak and Luka Vinko

#### VARIA

171 Teaching Stereochemistry with Multimedia and Hands-On Models: The Relationship between Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills and The Effectiveness of Model Type

Poučevanje stereokemije z multimedijo in s praktičnimi modeli: odnos med zmožnostmi naravoslovnega mišljenja pri študentih in učinkovitostjo vrste modela

- Rooserina Kusumaningdyah, Iztok Devetak,
   Yudhi Utomo, Effendy Effendy, Daratu Putri and
   Habiddin Habiddin
- 199 Slovenian Language Teachers' Attitudes Towards Introducing Comics in Literature Lessons in Primary School
   Stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa v pouk književnosti v osnovni šoli
   – MAJA KERNEŽA AND IGOR SAKSIDA
- 225 Perceptions of Didactic Strategies among Pupils and Teachers in Primary School

Zaznavanje strategij pouka med učenci in učitelji v osnovni šoli — Monika Mithans, Joca Zurc and Milena Ivanuš Grmek

#### REVIEW

247 Jane Essex, Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science: How to Teach Science Effectively to Students with Additional or Special Needs, Routledge, 2023; 133 pp.: ISBN: 978-1-00316-781-5

— Elisabeth Hofer

DOI: 10.26529/cepsj.1886

#### Editorial

#### Diversity in Science Towards Social Inclusion

Working towards greater equality of opportunities means striving for the sustainability goals put forward by the United Nations, which also play a central role in European Union sustainability policy. One of the most frequently named goals can be subsumed under Sustainability Goal 4.1 to 'ensure that all girls and boys complete free, equitable and quality primary and secondary education leading to relevant and effective learning outcomes' (UN General Assembly, 2015, p. 17) with a special focus on the appreciation of cultural diversity (4a) and educating teachers to ensure an effective inclusive education system (4c). In a wider perspective, this contributes equally to Goal 10.2: to 'empower and promote the social, economic and political inclusion of all, irrespective of age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion or economic or other status' (UN General Assembly, 2015, p. 21). In particular, the European Commission's expert group for science education has conceptualised responsible science education as 'inclusive in terms of gender, social, economic and cultural diversity' and, therefore, has adopted a broad definition of inclusive education.

The EU recommendation *Science Education for All* expresses the need to focus on students currently disadvantaged in science education because of poor linguistic skills, cultural and ethnic differences, lower socio-economic status, or giftedness. For this purpose, the quality of teaching should be enhanced to improve the depth and quality of learning outcomes. In addition, educators working in formal, non-formal, and informal settings should collaborate to ensure that effective measures in the science education sector are taken in a joint approach. This can increase the uptake of science studies and science-based careers to improve employability and competitiveness. Taking into account societal needs and global development, innovation and science education strategies should be connected at local, regional, national, European, and international levels.

Currently, career decisions in science are influenced by gender, class, and cultural background, as shown in numerous studies (e.g., DeWitt et al., 2011). Evidence comes from a large body of research investigating the role of socio-economic status, ethnicity, and gender in science-related career decisions. It is well documented that students with a strong socio-economic background are much more likely to choose science subjects in school. Science fields tend to be not only gendered in favour of males but also associated with white middleclass students. For example, young women with migration backgrounds could thus be facing a twofold disadvantage, being both female and belonging to an ethnic minority.

One of the main goals of science lessons is gaining content knowledge. However, science knowledge and access to this important sector of the job market are unevenly distributed. A major challenge in science education is to support every student so that he or she can learn science in the best possible way. This has been emphasised by the European Commission's expert group for science education, which stated that it 'should be an essential component of a learning continuum for all'. The expert group defined a need for 'innovative teachers' strategies to address the diversity of students'. If diversity is insufficiently addressed, this results in 1) social inequalities in the access to a wide range of well-paid jobs, leading to social tensions, 2) low-achieving students who do not acquire scientific literacy, which is central for becoming responsible citizens in our society shaped by science and technology, and 3) gifted students who cannot fully contribute to society.

The especially disadvantaged students in science are those who differ from the 'norm'. This is true for students with a lower socio-economic status, those who speak other languages at home than the language of instruction, or who belong to ethnic minorities. Unexpectedly, gifted students also tend to be disadvantaged and underrepresented in science.

One challenge for inclusive teaching becomes clear in this discussion: in most cases, interventions seek to support one disadvantaged group. Very often, this group is separated from the other students. Thus, these practices are not inclusive in the sense that all students learn together and are equally well supported.

Starting from this idea, Rachel Mamlok-Naaman, in the first paper of the issue, *Diversity and Inclusion in Science Education: Why? A Literature Review*, discusses the relevance of diversity and inclusion. The paper is based on a literature review of existing knowledge on the subject; different studies are discussed, and the author investigates why inclusion and diversity are a topic in science education.

The second paper, by Sarah Kieferle and Silvija Markic, *Language Support in a Student Laboratory for Chemistry in Secondary School*, focuses on dealing with language diversity in non-formal education. A study presented in the paper shows the way of dealing with diversity in students' language skills. This topic is important since students whose first language is not the language of instruction face difficulties in acquiring science knowledge. This has been shown, for example, in the TIMSS 2007 study and other studies, in which students who spoke the language of instruction only seldom at home achieved lower levels in

science than those who spoke the language of instruction at home on a regular basis. These students have to learn science content and linguistic structures at the same time. However, not only these students perceive the language in science as difficult. Many students whose parents have little formal education are also disadvantaged, because the subject-specific languages in science are very different from everyday language.

In science education, the consideration of cultural diversity is relatively new. This means that existing teaching approaches for addressing cultural diversity are rare, and there is a lack of concrete teaching material. However, it is widely known that students from minority groups tend to be disadvantaged in science. Racism is performed in science classrooms (Sheth, 2019), and the science achievement of many ethnic minorities is significantly lower than that of students of the ethnic majority (e.g., Norman et al., 2001). Students whose parents are immigrants achieve lower scores than students whose parents were born in the country. In this issue, Innovative Learning Activities for Ethnically Diverse Students in Macedonian Science Education, written by a group of science education researchers from University of Skopje (North Macedonia) led by Katerina Rusevska, presents different innovative learning methods for ethnically diverse groups. Following this, Someone Like Me: A Trial of Context-Responsive Science as a Mechanism to Promote Inclusion, written by Jane Essex, Kirsty Ross and Ingeborg Birnie, discusses two studies that involve science activities that were designed, implemented, and evaluated to show culturally contextualised science.

The TIMSS and PISA studies showed that achievement in science is strongly linked to the students' social background, especially the parents' educational level and the socio-economic status. Researchers from the University of Limerick, Genco Guralp and Sarah Hayes, present *Non-formal Science Education: Moving Towards More Inclusive Pedagogies for Diverse Classrooms* on this issue. The study focuses on best practice examples that strengthen the science capital of students, which are applicable across various contexts of diversity.

Finally, Miha Slapničar, Luka Ribič, Iztok Devetak and Luka Vinko focus on the group of students that is often not seen as a disadvantage in *Inquiry-Based Chemistry Education Activities in a Non-formal Educational Setting for Gifted Students*. Gifted students tend to be neglected in discussions about inclusive teaching. However, these students need special attention in science teaching, and underperformance can occur if their needs are not addressed. If specialised support for these students exists, it often consists of a separation of these students in terms of ability grouping. They attend specialised classes for high-performing students or are asked to participate in a science club. Although these can be very useful strategies, they do not follow the idea of inclusive teaching. The researchers present a study that discusses the evaluation of inquiry-based science education (IBSE) learning activities from the perspective of gifted and non-gifted students. Individual interest, autonomous and controlled motivation between different groups of students, and how these activities affect their attitude toward IBSE, situational interest, and interest in science careers are presented.

Three varia papers complete this issue. Rooserina Kusumaningdyah, Iztok Devetak, Yudhi Utomo, Effendy Effendy, Daratu Putri, and Habiddin Habiddin, in *Teaching Stereochemistry with Multimedia and Hands-On Models: The Relationship between Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills and The Effectiveness of Model Type*, discuss a study on the influence of multimedia and handson models on university students' understanding of stereochemistry. The study concludes with the influence of different models and students' skills.

The second varia paper, by Maja Kerneža and Igor Saksida, focuses on a study of *Slovenian Language Teachers' Attitudes Towards Introducing Comics in Literature Lessons in Primary School* and shows the great need for teacher training about the value and possibilities of usage of comics in primary schools.

The last paper in this section, written by Monika Mithans, Joca Zurc and Milena Ivanuš Grmek, discusses *Perceptions of Didactic Strategies among Pupils and Teachers in Primary School* and shows that problem-based learning and research-based learning as the most commonly used didactic strategies seen both by teachers and students. However, some differences in teachers' perceptions about how they teach and students' experience of teaching are seen.

To round out the work on inclusion, a book by Jane Essex, *Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science: How to Teach Science Effectively to Students with Additional or Special Needs*, published by Routledge in 2023, is reviewed by Elisabeth Hofer. The book can be divided into two parts: the theoretical and the practical. The book emphasises the importance of inclusive education and shows possible ways for inclusive science education, summarised after more than a decade of the author's work on this topic.

The authors of this issue and I worked on the same goal in the Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion (DiSSI) Project, the overarching purpose of which is to contribute to the equality of opportunities in science teaching. DiSSI focuses on science learning since science knowledge is a key competence for a wide range of jobs in engineering, industrial research, and many other fields that form the heart of the economy. As defined in the EU report, this can be conceptualised as a contribution to Science Education for Responsible Citizenship. This will help teach students to shape our future responsibly based on scientific evidence, as requested in the Paris Declaration.

We hope our contribution will enrich your teaching and motivate you for further work in this field.

Silvija Markic

#### Acknowledgement

This research was part of the project 'DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity, which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, under grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We want to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

#### References

DeWitt J., Archer L., Osborne J., Dillon J., Willis B., Wong B. (2011). High aspirations but low progression: The science aspirations-careers paradox among minority ethnic students. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 9(2), 243–271.

Norman, O., Ault, C., Bentz, B., & Meskimen, L. (2001). The black-white "achievement gap" as a perennial challenge of urban science education: A sociocultural and historical overview with implications for research and practice. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(10), 1101–1114. Sheth. M. J. (2019). Grappling with racism as foundational practice of science teaching. *Science Education*, 103(19), 37–60.

UN General Assembly (2015). *Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development*. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/ globalcompact/A\_RES\_70\_1\_E.pdf

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1718

# Diversity and Inclusion in Science Education: Why? A Literature Review

#### Rachel Mamlok-Naaman<sup>1</sup>

In the last twenty years, there has been a consensus around the world that  $\sim$ effective science education is vital to economic success in the emerging knowledge age. It is also suggested that knowledge of science and scientific ways of thinking is essential to participation in democratic decisionmaking. Students may recognise differences and advocate diversity, but assimilating those ideas requires the creation of conditions in which students can think deeply about situations that require tolerance. Schools in many countries and regions of the world are places shaped by cultural diversity. One may observe that in many schools there are social developments like migration and demographic and value change, consequently increasing the diversity of students. The issue of diversity in science education is therefore tackled according to many aspects, e.g., culture, language, scientific literacy and gender. The aim of the present literature review is to align the ERASMUS+ project Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion with studies and views regarding diversity and inclusion in science education. The main goals of this project were to promote inclusive education and to train and foster the education of disadvantaged learners through a range of measures, including supporting education staff in addressing diversity and reinforcing diversity among education staff. Practices dealing with dimensions of diversity and inclusion in science education are developed and the partners shared the good practices that they developed.

**Keywords:** diversity, inclusion, chemistry language, culture, scientific literature

<sup>1</sup> Department of Science Teaching, Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel; rachel.mamlok@weizmann.ac.il.

# Raznolikost in inkluzija v naravoslovnem izobraževanju: zakaj – pregled literature

#### RACHEL MAMLOK-NAAMAN

V zadnjih dvajsetih letih je bilo po vsem svetu doseženo soglasje, da  $\sim$ je učinkovito naravoslovno izobraževanje ključnega pomena za gospodarski uspeh v nastajajoči dobi znanja. Prav tako se domneva, da je poznavanje naravoslovja in znanstvenih načinov razmišljanja bistveno za sodelovanje pri demokratičnem sprejemanju odločitev. Učenci lahko prepoznavajo razlike in zagovarjajo raznolikost, vendar je za usvajanje teh idej treba ustvariti pogoje, v katerih lahko učenci poglobljeno razmišljajo o situacijah, ki zahtevajo strpnost. Šole v številnih državah in regijah sveta so kraji, ki jih oblikuje kulturna raznolikost. Opazimo lahko, da v veliko šolah prihaja do družbenih dogajanj, kot so: migracije ter demografske in vrednostne spremembe, kar posledično povečuje raznolikost učencev. Vprašanje raznolikosti v naravoslovnem izobraževanju se zato obravnava glede na številne vidike, npr. kulturo, jezik, naravoslovno pismenost in spol. Namen tega pregleda literature je uskladiti projekt ERASMUS+ DiSSI (Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion) s študijami in pogledi na raznolikost in inkluzijo v naravoslovnem izobraževanju. Glavni cilji tega projekta so bili: spodbujanje inkluzivnega izobraževanja ter usposabljanje in spodbujanje izobraževanja prikrajšanih učencev z različnimi ukrepi, vključno s podporo izobraževalnemu osebju pri obravnavanju raznolikosti in krepitvi raznolikosti med izobraževalnim osebjem. Razvite so bile prakse, ki obravnavajo razsežnosti raznolikosti in inkluzije v naravoslovnem izobraževanju, partnerji pa so delili dobre prakse, ki so jih razvili.

Ključne besede: raznolikost, inkluzija, kemijski jezik, kultura, znanstvena literatura

#### Introduction

Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion (DiSSI) was an ERAS-MUS+ project initiated by Professor Silvija Markic from LMU in Germany. The main objective of the project was to promote inclusive education and training, with an emphasis on enhancing educational opportunities for disadvantaged students. This involved providing support to education staff to effectively address and strengthen diversity within education staff.

Researchers from Ireland, Germany, the UK, Slovenia and Macedonia developed a teaching approach that considers the needs of students:

- from low socioeconomic status backgrounds;
- from ethnic minorities or with cultural backgrounds that differ from the mainstream culture;
- with low linguistic skills;
- who are considered as gifted students.

The aim of the present paper is to align the DiSSI project with studies and views regarding diversity and inclusion in science education. The partners shared the good practices that they developed dealing with diversity and inclusion in science education.

There is a global consensus that effective science education is crucial for economic success in the emerging knowledge age (Mansour, 2013). Furthermore, it is believed that a grasp of scientific knowledge and thinking is crucial for active participation in democratic decision-making. Although students may acknowledge differences and support diversity, assimilating these ideas necessitates establishing conditions that enable students to engage in profound reflection on situations requiring tolerance (Mamlok, 2013).

In their 2009 publication, Lee and Luykx conducted a comprehensive study analysing the impact of racial, ethnic, cultural, linguistic and socioeconomic variability on science achievement among K–12 students, a demographic group traditionally underserved by the education system. The book starts by addressing science achievement gaps within diverse racial, ethnic and socioeconomic groups. It then outlines the methodological and other criteria employed in the research, concluding with a presentation of findings. These findings explore the correlation between science achievement gaps and various factors, including the science curriculum, instruction, assessment, teacher education, school organisation, educational policies, and students' home and community environments. The authors propose a research agenda aimed at strengthening areas where a knowledge base is urgently needed.

In many countries and regions of the world, schools have their own cultural diversity (Rüschenpöhler & Markic, 2019). In many schools, there are social developments such as migration and demographic and value change, consequently increasing the diversity of students (Stinken-Rösner et al., 2020; Lee, 2003). Rüschenpöhler and Markic (2019) investigated the concept of science capital as it relates to chemistry education. They introduced the term 'chemistry capital' to capture the characteristics that contribute to individuals' success in the chemistry domain. These characteristics may include parental knowledge of chemistry content and engagement in chemistry-related activities at home. The authors conducted a study in which they interviewed 48 secondary school students in Germany using thematic analysis. The findings indicate that chemistry capital within the home environment is not uniformly distributed. Students lacking familial connections with the mainstream conception of chemistry tend to be located in schools with lower entry requirements. However, the research also identified cases where students independently acquired chemistry capital, despite the absence of familial support. To address these entrenched inequalities, the authors advocate teaching methodologies that prioritise identity formation and that actively involve students and their parents in a dialogue about chemistry.

Considering individual science/chemistry capital, there is a concerted effort to make science education inclusive and accessible to all students, with the aim of attaining scientific literacy for every student, beyond the preparation of those inclined towards academic careers in the sciences (Holbrook & Rannikmae, 2009). The key idea is to foster scientific literacy for all students, acknowledging that environmental, political, social or historical contexts can contribute to shaping active and reflective citizens. Accordingly, the initial step towards achieving 'scientific literacy for all' involves identifying stimulating and pertinent scientific issues, contexts, problems and questions.

The PISA Framework (OECD, 2013), established by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), emphasises scientific literacy as the primary objective of science education. Scientific literacy is defined as "the ability to engage with science-related issues and with the ideas of science as a reflective citizen" (p. 7). A scientifically literate individual is expected not only to possess the ability, but also the interest in engaging in informed discussions about science and technology (Eilks et al., 2014). The PISA Framework recommends skills such as the following:

- *Explain phenomena scientifically:* recognise, offer and evaluate explanations for a range of natural and technological phenomena.
- *Evaluate and design scientific inquiry*: describe and appraise scientific studies and/or experiments and propose ways of addressing questions scientifically.

• Interpret data and evidence scientifically: analyse and evaluate data, claims and arguments in a variety of representations and draw appropriate scientific conclusions.

Scientific literacy in our contemporary world is a multifaceted concept consisting of media literacy and the ability to use information and communication technology (ICT) (Rodrigues, 2010). Media literacy, particularly in the context of digital media, has emerged as an essential cross-curricular goal in modern society, significantly influencing educational reforms (Belova et al., 2017).

The establishment of standards in science and mathematics education is often inspired by the AAAS (1993) Benchmarks for Scientific Literacy report. The science education standards articulated by the National Research Council (1996) serve as recommendations for 'best practices'. These practices encapsulate the current vision of the content, classroom environment, teaching methods and support needed to deliver a high-quality science education to all students. More recently, the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS, Lead States, 2013) have been developed to outline 'the best practices' for teaching K-12 science content in the United States.

Attaining scientific literacy for all has evolved into a national education goal in numerous countries (Marks & Eilks, 2009). This objective poses a challenge for science teachers and those responsible for professional development (Lee, 2004). Its achievement necessitates a reform in the way chemistry is taught in schools (Norris & Phillips, 2003). Furthermore, the shift towards incorporating socio-scientific issues (SSIs) and education for sustainable development (ESD) in the chemistry curriculum reflects a broader reshaping of goals for science education, aiming for a more critical perspective of scientific literacy (Sjöström et al., 2017).

All of the above is based on the assumption that teachers are the best professional partners to develop lesson plans that combine issues related to chemistry content knowledge (CK) and its associated professional content knowledge (PCK). Teachers are more aware than others of the diversity of students' needs, interests and abilities.

Stinken-Rösner et al. (2020) stated that environmental, political, social and historical contexts play a crucial role in fostering students' development into active and reflective citizens. Consequently, the initial stride toward achieving 'scientific literacy for all' involves identifying stimulating, captivating and pertinent scientific issues.

To sum up, it is clear that teachers are at the centre of the sphere of influence. It is therefore recommended that 'top-down' curricular procedures

be avoided or reduced. Teachers need time to develop as policy-makers and to make appropriate changes (Mamlok-Naaman et al., 2018). If our aim is to achieve effective science education, we should therefore tackle the issue of diversity in science education according to many aspects, e.g., culture, language, scientific literacy and gender.

#### Effective science education

Saet (2021) defined inclusive education as the practice of having all children, irrespective of their differences or special needs, studying together in the same school and within the same classrooms:

Inclusive schooling does more than teaching children maths and language skills; it provides them with a safe space to grow and learn basic life skills, such as cooperation, responsibility, and respect. (p. 1)

The consideration of student diversity is meaningful for teaching and learning science (Markic & Abels, 2014). Teachers often treat their classes as belonging to homogeneous learning groups (Taber & Riga, 2016). However, the diversity of a group should be regarded as an opportunity for every student to develop. Diverse ideas and learning strategies may serve as a source of enrichment for every student (Florian & Spratt, 2013). According to Stinken-Rösner et al. (2020):

In order to address the diversity and different needs of all students and enable full and equal participation, barriers must first be minimised or avoided. Additionally, in an educational sense, participation is about collaboration and creating different ways or approaches to a particular learning object. (p. 31)

The barriers may be aspects such as culture, language, gender (as mentioned above) or lack of scientific literacy (Lee, 2005). Concepts and phenomena should therefore be clarified for all students, acknowledging their personal, sociocultural, affective and cognitive learning diversity (Stinken-Rösner, 2020). Erduran (2003) claimed that ineffective communication between students and teachers can result in a gap between what is taught and what is learned. In the context of science lessons, achieving alignment between teachers' understanding of a specific science topic and students' ideas about it is crucial. Such alignment indicates the accurate transmission and reception of scientific knowledge in the classroom. For instance, ensuring the incorporation of key aspects such as macroscopic/microscopic relationships and the role of modelling in establishing these relationships is essential. Bianchini et al. (2002) claim that issues of inclusion in science and remedying inequities in the science classroom can be facilitated by integrating the history, philosophy and sociology of science into professional development programmes. Education policy and teacher education should support teachers regarding these issues. Hilferty (2008) suggests that policy changes connect teachers' work to a larger citizenship agenda. Mamlok (2021) wrote that we should:

Strive for the attainment of a common good, which involves constant interaction among people from diverse communities and political agents who work for the betterment of the public. (p. 14)

It has been suggested that the model of professional development is one of the most effective methods to overcome the challenges that teachers face. It enables teachers to reflect on and learn about how new practices can be evolved or shaped from existing classroom practice. This is not simple, as it requires teachers to re-examine what they do and how they might do it differently. In addition, attaining challenging learning goals in science according to students' needs represents a significant change in teachers' roles. Thus, teachers must enhance their ability to cope with diversity and the inclusion of students from different cultural and socioeconomic backgrounds by using diverse teaching strategies, inter alia (Mamlok-Naaman et al., 2013). Mamlok-Naaman et al. (2007) claim that diverse teaching and instructional strategies, combined with aligned assessment tools, may address as many students as possible in a heterogeneous classroom.

In summary, teachers need to receive guidance and support throughout various teaching and implementation stages involving changes in the curriculum (Harrison & Globman, 1988; Loucks-Horsley & Matsumoto, 1999). On the one hand, it is not easy for teachers to undergo modifications that include changes in content and in the way they teach (Mamlok-Naaman, et al., 2013); on the other hand, it has been noted that teachers are typically excellent learners who are interested in trying to teach a new curriculum, as well as in improving and enriching their teaching methods (Joyce & Showers, 1983).

#### Cultural aspects

Pomeroy (1994) claims that there have been numerous studies dealing with the needs of diverse learners in science education that addresses multicultural, intercultural or cross-cultural education. In her paper, she mentions the two main issues in American science education, as identified by scientists, science educators and stakeholders:

- a. The growing gap between the racial, ethnic and gender demographics of the population as a whole and those demographics within the scientific establishment at all levels.
- b. The inability of the education system to produce students who are scientifically literate.

The major concern is the lack of policy-makers and researchers who represent the increasingly diverse interests and needs of contemporary society. Hora et al. (2019) claimed that:

One problematic feature of the influential student employability discourse in both K-12 and higher education is the widespread conception of "skills" as decontextualized bits of knowledge, ability and disposition that alone will determine a students' success (or failure) in the labor market [...] This approach is evident in the ubiquitous lists of skills that college students should acquire in order to be competitive in the rapidly automating and evolving labor market of the 21st century—a narrative that we call the skills discourse in this paper [...] As a result, researchers, policymakers, and postsecondary educators are increasingly focused on integrating these competencies into the college experience via curriculum, instruction, and assessment. (p. 2221)

Referring to climate and culture, Friedman (1991) examined the differences between high-burnout and low-burnout primary schools. In addition, he aimed to investigate the components of organisational climate and culture, as well as social and professional support, in order to elucidate the burnout process. Nevertheless, teachers play a key role in any change, and as such, their beliefs, attitudes and culture should be considered within the socio-cultural framework of their work (Mansour, 2013).

In another study, Lareau and Weininger (2003) attempted to evaluate the outcomes of using the cultural capital concept in English-language educational sociology. They formulated an approach emphasising the significance of scrutinising micro-interactional processes, whereby individuals strategically engage in knowledge, skills and competence, together with institutionalised standards of evaluation. The authors claim that these skills are transferable across generations and may constitute a component of the competences that students and parents draw on in their institutional encounters.

One of the conclusions that can be drawn from the literature is that political decision-makers and educational reformers must consider teachers' beliefs about the subject matter, the pedagogy in the respective domain, and the cultural norms, values and traditions – a systemic view (Markic, et al., 2016).

#### Language

Science educators at all levels are challenged by increasing cultural and linguistic diversity, which is a consequence of globalisation. Mortimer and Scott (2003) stated that learning science requires students to develop linguistic competence in order to participate in subject-specific discourse and engage in the social language of science using a specific vocabulary (e.g., Aikenhead & Ogawa, 2007).

Effective teaching and learning necessitate a common language for communication. As Lemke (1990) stated, learning the language of science is akin to acquiring a second language. Selinker (1972) introduced the 'Interlanguage' theory, which is a framework for understanding psycholinguistic structures and processes aimed at meaningful performance using a second language. Chemistry students must comprehend the distinctions between the macroscopic, sub-microscopic and symbolic levels (Johnstone, 1991; Talanquer, 2011; Slapničar et al., 2018).

The same terms frequently have different meanings in the academic, teaching and daily language of students (Childs et al., 2015). The language of chemistry is prevalent in chemistry lessons. Marcik and Childs (2016) coined the term 'chemish' to describe this unique language of chemistry:

The alphabet in chemish is expressed in the symbols for the chemical elements, words are the formulae of chemical substances and sentences and syntax are chemical equations and the rules of chemical combination. (Editorial, p. 434)

Rees et al. (2021) investigated the development of chemical language usage among six non-traditional students for one to four years. In their interviews, these students were asked about their understanding of macroscopic and sub-microscopic scientific language, particularly regarding explaining specific chemical reactions. The transcribed interviews were analysed, revealing the challenges faced by students in integrating sub-microscopic language into their explanations. The students revealed a chemical interlanguage involving the blending of everyday language with scientific terminology, the interchange of terms, and the omission of terms and conversational phrases. One of the conclusions was that combining everyday language with scientific language may foster an understanding of the latter, provided that the everyday language conveys an appropriate meaning.

As previously mentioned, language may be a major hindrance to many students (Wellington & Osborne, 2009). The language of chemistry, including

verbal, symbolic and diagrammatic elements, is often somewhat daunting for students to recognise, employ and interpret (Osborne, 2002). Students also struggle with understanding symbols that convey additional information, and iconic symbols are often challenging due to their representation of abstract concepts (Marais & Jordaan, 2000). Learning to understand and balance a chemical equation is similar to learn a foreign language. Actually, it is even more difficult, since the language of chemistry is abstract (Taber, 2009, p. 101).

Taber (2013) recommends exercising the use of science language in science classes, so that the students will get used to it during the learning process. In addition, textbooks that serve as curricular materials should consider this issue and be more explicit regarding abstract representations in their content (Niaz & Maza, 2011).

Laszlo's claim (2013) may be a good way to summarise this section: Chemistry ought to be taught in like manner to a language, on the dual evidence of the existence of an iconic chemical language, of formulas and equations; and of chemical science being language-like and a combinatorial art. (p. 1)

#### Gender

Significant strides have been made in advancing the empowerment of women (Mamlok-Naaman, 2021). However, persistent gender-science stereotypes in mathematics and science continue to exert an influence on this issue, potentially negatively affecting the motivation of young women to pursue STEM majors in college (Makarova et al., 2019). Women still encounter discrimination and unconscious bias, as well as contending with family demands (Mamlok-Naaman et al., 2015). The analysis of a survey entitled 'A Global Approach to the Gender Gap in Mathematical, Computing, and Natural Sciences: How to measure it? How to reduce it?' identified various contributing factors. Recommendations stemming from this survey are directed at a range of stakeholders, including teachers and parents of girls in primary, secondary and higher education, as well as educational organisations, scientific unions and other global entities (Chiu & Cesa, 2020).

Blickenstaff (2005) claimed that women are still underrepresented in science disciplines, particularly in technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM), not only in the United States but also in most other countries globally. Women continue to represent a small proportion of faculty members in science and technology programmes, particularly in prestigious research institutions. Female STEM faculty members' academic careers often coincide with their child-bearing years, thus presenting challenges such as limited lab space, inadequate resources, lower salaries and fewer prestigious opportunities. According to UNESCO, these challenges make their professional lives particularly challenging, especially in the early stages of their academic careers, forcing them to grapple with discrimination, unconscious bias and family demands (Mamlok-Naaman, 2021).

There is a collective view that women in the sciences have difficulties in balancing both work and home obligations, without receiving proper support (Barnard et al., 2010). This is a huge challenge for women, so help derived from supportive sources enables them to 'gain' acceptance from male-dominated scientific fields (Mamlok-Naaman et al., 2011).

Fung et al. recently conducted a study in which they analysed existing programmes that aim to promote gender equity and inclusion in chemistry. Some 47 programmes were selected and analysed regarding their goals, the strategies used and their impact. The findings indicate that female scientists: (1) should be better recognised, and (2) should get funding for sustained networking with colleagues, e.g., conferences. The outcomes of the study were submitted to a peer-reviewed journal.

In summary, the gender gap is a societal problem (for both women and men). Female scientists can serve as role models and can inspire young female researchers. Nevertheless, narrowing the gender gap poses a significant challenge for the entire scientific community, spanning both developed and developing countries. This issue affects everyone, regardless of gender (Mamlok-Naaman, 2021).

#### Good practices shared by the partners

As mentioned above, the partners in the DiSSI project shared the good practices that they had developed dealing with the dimensions of diversity and inclusion in science education. The development of teaching and learning materials refers to non-formal education settings, which enable teachers to try different approaches. The teaching was based on inclusion, allowing cooperative learning while supporting the learning progress of the four disadvantaged groups of students listed in the introduction above. Each partner focused on different aspects of diversity and inclusion while referring to cultural plurality.

The partners conducted a pilot study in order to investigate the science capital of students from backgrounds with 'low' socioeconomic status. The study included inquiry-based activities, hands-on workshops, group discussions on the nature of science, and debates centred on the ethics of science. Based on the findings, they developed and implemented learning materials aimed at increasing the science capital of these students in both formal and non-formal formats. Various sets of science outreach activities were conducted as part of the project. These activities, characterised by both formal and nonformal education, were intentionally designed to be adaptable for use in various settings beyond the traditional school environment, but they differed in terms of cultural context, the degree of open-endedness in the tasks, and the focus on the individuals involved in or affected by the science.

The activities developed included inquiry-based chemistry activities within a non-formal educational setting designed for gifted students. The main objective was to illustrate the development of learning modules and their adjustments for teaching chemistry using the Inquiry-Based Learning (IBL) approach in non-formal educational settings. After the activities were enacted, it was observed that gifted students initially held a more favourable attitude towards IBL before the module was adapted. Conversely, the non-gifted students exhibited no difference in their attitudes towards IBL, regardless of whether they had participated in the lab work before or after the Forensics Science module was adapted.

The focus of one team was on ethnically diverse students. Two types of activities were used: (1) game-based learning (escape room activities), and (2) inquiry-based learning (5E model activities). These activities were chosen because they were based on the following: (1) previous positive experiences, (2) learning through play, (3) thinking outside the box, and (4) opportunities for cooperation and socialising, including deepening friendship topics. The topics referred to ecology, gases and electrical circuits. The team developed examples of escape room puzzles, 5E (Engage Explore Explain Elaborate/Extend Evaluate) and lesson plans.

The development and implementation of the learning materials was followed by teachers' professional development and preparation, e.g., according to the Action Research model (Mamlok-Naamam & Eilks, 2012). The teams enacted their ideas through workshops with students, pre-service teachers and in-service teachers, as well as developing evaluations: pre- and post-questionnaires for students and teachers.

Table 1 summarises the good practices shared by the partners. As the table shows, each partner focused on a different component of the project.

#### Table 1

#### Good practices shared by the partners

Name of Institution	Activities
Ludwigsburg University of Education	Developing and implementing innovative concepts for language- sensitive student laboratories, with a specific emphasis on enhancing students' linguistic skills, including non-formal education, such as student laboratories.
University of Limerick	Investigating and addressing the science capital of students with a 'low' socioeconomic status at an Irish middle school, and then planning inquiry-based activities, hands-on workshops, group discussions on the nature of science, and debates centred on the ethics of science.
University of Strathclyde	Developing science interventions centred on cultural plurality and implemented by formal and informal students. The activities were designed to be adaptable for use in various settings beyond the traditional school environment.
University of Ljubljana	Developing inquiry-based chemistry activities within a non- formal educational setting designed for gifted students. The main objective was to illustrate the development of learning modules and their adjustments for teaching chemistry using the Inquiry- Based Learning (IBL) approach in non-formal educational settings.
Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje	The focus of the Macedonian team was on ethnically diverse students. They used two types of activities: (1) game-based learning (escape room activities), and (2) inquiry-based learning (5E model activities). The topics referred to ecology, gases and electrical circuits.

#### Summary

Addressing diversity and inclusion in science education represents a substantial challenge for teachers, who need to cultivate competencies such as personalised teaching to meet the individual needs of all students within a single classroom. Stocklmayer et al. (2010) stated that fundamental learning should occur at a pace tailored to each individual, allowing for diverse approaches. Utilising a range of both formal and informal strategies can ensure that the intellectual demands, which include an extensive array of topics in modern science, align with the learning preferences of young people in both formal and informal educational settings. Furthermore, it is anticipated that curricular materials will incorporate relevant components to cater to diverse learners' needs, potentially influencing science education and teaching practices (Belova et al., 2015).

The DiSSI project started during the Covid-19 pandemic and the corresponding restrictions for traveling. In the project meetings, which were usually short, one could notice the development of relationships of trust between partners who did not know each other very well. In addition, the ASANA project's platform management enabled an exchange of documents as well as sharing all of the other information organised by the coordinator, which was presented to and discussed with the partners during the initial meeting. The cooperation among the partners was enacted monthly by ZOOM video online meetings. Later, there were a few successful face-to-face meetings.

Pre-service and in-service teacher preparation on using the DiSSI approach for inclusive science teaching was provided to implement the concept's non-formal education. In addition, the DiSSI approach was implemented in different school curricula and beyond, through strong partnerships and networks with teachers, school principals and policy-makers.

It is suggested that the main impact aimed for was better social inclusion of different disadvantaged groups in science. The goal was to engage these groups with science and to convince more students to consider science as part of their self-identity. It is suggested that the present project managed to develop and implement good practices to deal with diversity in science education, using an approach targeting multiple cultures with a variety of needs. All of the partners referred to diversity and inclusion in developing and implementing their diversity programme.

#### Acknowledgement

This research was part of the project "DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social inclusion – Non-formal Education for Students' Diversity", which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, under the grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

#### References

AAAS. (1993). Benchmarks for scientific literacy. AAAS.

Aikenhead, G. S., & Ogawa, M. (2007). Indigenous knowledge and science revisited. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 2(3), 539–620.

Barnard, S., Powell, A., Bagilhole, B., & Dainty, A. (2010). Researching UK women professionals in SET: A critical review of current approaches. *International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology*, 2(3), 361–381.

Belova N., Stuckey M., Marks R., & Eilks, I., (2015). Understanding the use of chemistry related information. In I. Eilks, & A. Hofstein (Ed.), *Relevant chemistry education – from theory to practice* (pp. 185–204). Sense Publishers.

Bianchini, J. A., Whitney, D. J., Breton, T. D., & Hilton-Brown, B. A. (2002). Toward inclusive science education: University scientists' views of students, instructional practices, and the nature of science. *Science Education*, *86*(1), 42–78.

Blickenstaff, C. (2005). Women and science careers: Leaky pipeline or gender filter? *Gender and Education*, *17*(4), 369–386.

BouJaoude, S., & Gholam, G. (2013). Gender and science in the Arab states: Current status and future prospects. In N. Mansour, & R. Wegerif (Eds.), *Science education for diversity theory and practice* (pp. 339–359). Springer.

Childs, P. E., Markic, S., & Ryan, M. C. (2015). The role of language in the teaching and learning of chemistry. In J. Garcia-Martinez (Ed.), *Chemistry education: Best practices, opportunities and trends* (pp. 421–446). Wiley-VCH. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527679300.ch17

Chiu, M. H., & Cesa, M. (2020). Gender gap in science: A global approach to the gender gap in mathematical, computing, and natural sciences – how to measure it, how to reduce it? *Chemistry Teacher International*, 42(3), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1515/ci-2020-0306

Eilks I., Nielsen J. A., & Hofstein, A. (2014). Learning about the role of science in public debate as an essential component of scientific literacy. In C. Bruguière, A. Tiberghien, & P. Clément (Eds.), *Topics and trends in current science education* (pp. 85–100). Springer.

Erduran, S. (2003). Examining the mismatch between pupil and teacher knowledge in acid-base chemistry. *School Science Review*, *84*(308), 81–87.

Florian, L., & Spratt, J. (2013). Enacting inclusion: A framework for interrogating inclusive practice.

European Journal of Special Needs Education, 28(2), 119–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2013.778111

Friedman, I. A. (1991). High and low-burnout schools: School culture aspects of teacher burnout. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 84(6), 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.1991.9941813

Harrison, J., & Globman, R. (1988). Assessment of training teachers in active learning: A research report (in Hebrew). Bar-Ilan University, Ramat-Gan, Israel.

Hilferty, F. (2008). Teacher professionalism and cultural diversity: Skills, knowledge and values for a changing Australia. *Australian Educational Researcher*, *35*(3), 53–70.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03246289

Holbrook, J., & Rannikmae, M. (2009). The meaning of scientific literacy. *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education*, 4(3), 275–288.

Hora, M. T., Smolarek, B. B., Martin, K. N., & Scrivener, L. (2019). Exploring the situated and cultural aspects of communication in the professions: Implications for teaching, student employability, and equity in higher education. *American Educational Research Journal*, *56*(6), 2221–2261.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219840333

Johnstone, A. H. (1991). Why is science difficult to learn? Things are seldom what they seem. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 7(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.1991.tb00230.x

Joyce, B., & Showers, B. (1983). Power and staff development through research on training.

Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Lareau, A., Weininger, E. B. (2003). Cultural capital in educational research: A critical assessment. *Theory* and Society, 32, 567–606. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:RYSO.0000004951.04408.b0

Laszlo, P. (2013). Towards teaching chemistry as a language. *Science & Education*, 22(7), 1669–1706. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-011-9408-6

Lee, O. (2003). Equity for culturally and linguistically diverse students in science education: A research agenda. *Teachers College Record*, 105(3), 465–489.

rescuren ugendu. *Teuchers* comge necorus, 165(5), 405 405.

Lee, O. (2004). Teacher change in beliefs and practices in science and literacy instruction with English language learners. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *41*(1), 65–93.

Lee, O. (2005). Science education and student diversity: Synthesis and research agenda. Journal of

Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR), 10(4), 431-440.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327671espr1004\_5

Lee, O., & Luykx, A. (2009). Science education and student diversity: Synthesis and research agenda. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511617508

Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science: Language, learning, and values (Vol. 1). Ablex Publishing Corporation.

Loucks-Horsley, S., Hewson, P. W., Love, N., & Stiles, K. (1998). Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics. Corwin Press.

Makarova, E., Aesclimann, B., & Herzog, W. (2019). The gender gap in fields: The impact of the

gender stereotype of math and science on secondary. Frontiers in students' career aspirations.

Frontiers in Education, 4(60), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2019.00060

Mamlok, D. (2021). The great promise of educational technology: Citizenship and education in a globalized world. Springer International Publishing AG.

Mamlok, D. (2023). The quest to cultivate tolerance through education. *Studies in philosophy education*, *42*(3), 231–246 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11217-023-09874-8

Mamlok-Naaman, R. (2021). Socio-cultural developments of women in science. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1515/pac-2021-0104

Mamlok-Naaman, R., Abels, S., & Markic, S. (2015). Learning about gender and minority sensitivity in chemistry education. In I. Eilks, & A. Hofstein (Eds.), *Relevant chemistry education – from theory to practice* (pp. 219–240). Sense Publishers.

Mamlok-Naaman, R., Blonder, R., & Dori, Y. J. (2011). One hundred years of women in chemistry in the 20<sup>th</sup> century: Sociocultural developments of women's status. In M.H. Chiu, P. J. Gilmer, & D. F. Treagust (Eds.). *Celebrating the 100<sup>th</sup> anniversary of Madam Maria Sklodowska Curie's Nobel Prize in Chemistry* (pp. 119–139). Sense Publishers.

Mamlok-Naaman, R., & Eilks, I. (2012). Different types of action research to promote chemistry teachers' professional development – A joint theoretical reflection on two cases from Israel and Germany. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 10, 581–610.

Mamlok-Naaman, R., Eilks, I., Bodner, A., & Hofstein, A. (2018). Professional development of chemistry teachers. RSC Publications.

Mamlok-Naaman, R., Franz R., Markic, S., & Fernandez, C. (2013). How to keep myself being a professional chemistry teacher? In I. Eilks, & A. Hofstein (Eds.). *Teaching chemistry – A studybook:* A practical guide and textbook for student teachers, teacher trainees and teachers (pp. 269–298). Sense Publishers.

Mamlok-Naaman, R., Hofstein, A., & Penick, J. (2007). Involving teachers in the STS curricular process: A long-term intensive support framework for science teachers. *Journal of Science Teachers Education*, 18(4), 497–524.

Mansour, N. (2013). Science teachers' cultural beliefs and diversities: A sociocultural perspective to science education. In N. Mansour, N., & Wegerif, R. (Eds.), *Science education for diversity. Cultural studies of science education* (pp. 205–230). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4563-6\_10 Marais, P., & Jordaan, F. (2000). Are we taking symbolic language for granted? *Journal of Chemical Education*, 77(10), 1355–1357.

Markic, S., & Abels, S. (2014). Heterogeneity and diversity: A growing challenge or enrichment for science education in German schools? *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science & Technology Education*, 10(4), 271–283.

Markic, S., & Childs, P. E. (2016). Language and the teaching and learning of chemistry. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 17(3), 434–438.

Markic, S., Eilks, I., Mamlok-Naaman, R., Hugerat, M., Kortam, N., Dkeidek, I., & Hofstein, A. (2016). One country, two cultures—A multi-perspective view on Israeli chemistry teachers' beliefs

about teaching and learning. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 22(2), 131–147.

8 8 7

https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1055423

Marks R., & Eilks I. (2009). Promoting scientific literacy using a socio-critical and problemoriented approach in chemistry education: Concept, examples, experiences, *International Journal of Environmental Science Education*, 4(2), 131–145.

Mortimer, E., & Scott, P. (2003). *Meaning making in secondary science classrooms*. Open University Press. National Research Council (NRC). (1996). *National science education standards*. National Academy Press.

NGSS Lead States. (2013). Next generation science standards: For states, by states. National Academies Press.

Niaz, M., & Maza, A. (2011). Nature of Science in General Chemistry Textbook. Springer.

Norris S. P., & Phillips, L. M. (2003). How literacy in its fundamental sense is central to scientific literacy, *Science Education*, *87*(2), 224–240. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.10066

OECD (2013). PISA 2015 Draft Science Framework. OECD. https://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/ Draft%20PISA%202015%20Science%20Framework%20.pdf

Osborne, J. (2002), Science without literacy: A ship without a sail? *Cambridge Journal of* 

*Education*, 32(2), 203–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057640220147559.

Pomeroy, D. (1994) Science Education and cultural diversity: Mapping the field, 24(2), 49–73. http://doi.org/10.1080/03057269408560039

Rees, S., Kind, V., & Newton, D. (2021). The development of chemical language usage by "non-

traditional" students: the interlanguage analogy. Research in Science Education, 51(2), 419-438.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-018-9801-0

Rodrigues, S. (2010), Multiple literacy and science education: ICTs in formal and informal learning environments. IGI Global.

Rüschenpöhler, L., & Markic, S. (2019). Self-concept research in science and technology education

- theoretical foundation, measurement instruments, and main findings, Studies in Science

Education, 55(1), 37-68. http://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2019.1645533

Rüschenpöhler, L., & Markic, S. (2020). Secondary school students' acquisition of science capital in the field of chemistry. *Chemistry Education Research Practice*, 21, 220–236.

Saet, O. (2021). What does inclusive education mean?. The United Nations Refugee Agency.

Selinker, L. (1972). Interlanguage. *International Review of Applied Linguistics*, 10(1), 219–231.

Sjöström J., Frerichs N., Zuin V. G., & Eilks I. (2017). The use of the concept of Bildung in the

international literature in science education and its implications for the teaching and learning of

science, Studies in Science Education, 53(2), 165–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2017.1384649

Slapničar, M., Tompa, V., Glazar, S. A., & Devetak, I. (2018). Fourteen-year-old students'

misconceptions regarding the sub-micro and symbolic levels of specific chemical concepts. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 17(4), 620–632.

Stinken-Rösner, L., Rott., Hundertmark, S., Baumann, T., Menthe, J., Hoffmann, T., Nehring, A., &

Abels, S. (2020). Thinking inclusive science education from two perspectives: Inclusive pedagogy and science education. *Research in Subject-matter Teaching and Learning (RISTAL)*, 3(1), 2020, 30–45. https://doi.org/10.23770/rt1831

Stocklmayer, S. M., Leonie J. R., & Gilbert, J. K., (2010) The roles of the formal and informal sectors in the provision of effective science education. *Studies in Science Education*, *46*(1), 1–44.

https:/doi.org/10.1080/03057260903562284

Stuckey, M., Heering, P., Mamlok-Naaman, R., Hofstein, A., & Eilks, I. (2015). The philosophical works of Ludwik Fleck and their potential meaning for teaching and learning science. *Science & Education*, *24*(3), 281–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-014-9723-9

Taber, S. (2009). Learning at the symbolic level. *Multiple Representations in Chemical Education*, 75–105. Springer Netherlands.

Taber, K. S. (2013). Revisiting the chemistry triplet: Drawing upon the nature of chemical knowledge and the psychology of learning to inform chemistry education. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, *14*(2), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3RP00012E

Taber, K. S., & Riga, F. (2016). From each according to her capabilities; to each according to her needs: Fully including the gifted school science education. In S. Markic, & S. Abels (Eds.), *Science education towards inclusion* (pp. 195–219). Nova Publishing.

Talanquer, V. (2011). Macro, submicro, and symbolic: The many faces of the chemistry

"triplet". International Journal of Science Education, 33(2), 179-195.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690903386435

UNESCO. (2016). Measuring Gender Equality in Science and Engineering: The SAGA Science, Technology and Innovation Gender Objectives List (STI GOL): Working paper 1. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245006 Wellington, J. J., & Osborne, J. (2009). *Language and literacy in science education*. Open University Press.

#### **Biographical note**

**RACHEL MAMLOK-NAAMAN**, PhD, is a scientist at the Department of Science Teaching, Weizmann Institute of Science; chair of EuCheMS DivCED; CCE national representative; a co-editor of CTI; and member of editorial boards of science education journals. She was the head of: (1) the National Center for Chemistry Teachers, (2) the chemistry group, (3) the chemistry teachers' Master program in the framework of the Rothschild-Weizmann, and (4) projects in the framework of the European Union. Her awards consist of two from the Weizmann Institute – 1990-Bar-Ner (for teaching), and 2006-Maxine Singer for professional development of chemistry teachers; ACS award (2018) for incorporation of sustainability into the chemistry curriculum; IUPAC award for 2020 distinguished women in chemistry and chemistry engineering.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1605

# Language Support in a Student Laboratory for Chemistry in Secondary School

#### Sarah Kieferle $^{\ast_1}$ and Silvija Markic²

Throughout the world, schools are visited by students with different na- $\sim$ tive languages. Therefore, the linguistic competencies of the students are diverse. Dealing with this diversity is a great challenge for teachers in general, including in science subjects. To face this challenge, all institutions involved in education should adapt their teaching and learning to linguistic diversity to foster student's language competencies. Non-formal education, such as student laboratories, could enhance formal chemistry education and support students in learning the subject's contents and acquiring language competencies. To this purpose, language-sensitive and language-supportive learning settings for different chemical topics and contexts are developed to enable all students to participate actively and foster language competencies. The learning settings are implemented and evaluated at the Ludwigsburg University of Education (Germany) using a cyclical approach based on Participatory Action Research. Data from 147 students from seven learning groups of various grade levels and school types were collected before and after they experienced the work in student laboratories. The focus was on students' situational interests and their views on offered language-sensitive and language-supportive methods, tools, and activities. The data shows that the approach has a positive effect on students' situational interest. Methods that were especially helpful for the students are filtered. On this basis, implications are drawn for the application to other non-formal education offers.

**Keywords:** chemistry education, language-sensitive, secondary education, student laboratory

<sup>1 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. PhD student at Ludwigsburg University of Education, Ludwigsburg, Germany; sarah.kieferle@prom.ph-ludwigsburg.de.

<sup>2</sup> Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Munich, Germany.

# Jezikovna podpora v laboratoriju za učence za kemijo na predmetni stopnji osnovne šole ter v srednji šoli

#### SARAH KIEFERLE IN SILVIJA MARKIC

Po vsem svetu šole obiskujejo učenci z različnimi maternimi jeziki. Je- $\sim$ zikovne kompetence učencev so tako raznolike. Spoprijemanje s to raznolikostjo je velik izziv za učitelje na splošno, tudi pri naravoslovnih predmetih. Da bi se spoprijeli s tem izzivom, bi morale vse ustanove, vključene v izobraževanje, prilagoditi poučevanje in učenje jezikovni raznolikosti ter tako spodbujati jezikovne kompetence učencev. Neformalno izobraževanje, kot so laboratoriji za učence, bi lahko okrepilo formalno izobraževanje o kemiji ter pomagalo učencem pri učenju vsebin predmeta in pridobivanju jezikovnih kompetenc. V ta namen se za različne teme in kontekste s področja kemije razvijajo jezikovno občutljiva in jezikovno podporna učna okolja, ki vsem učencem omogočajo aktivno sodelovanje in spodbujajo jezikovne kompetence. Učne okoliščine se izvajajo in evalvirajo na Pedagoški univerzi v Ludwigsburgu (Nemčija) z uporabo cikličnega pristopa, ki temelji na sodelovalnem akcijskem raziskovanju. Podatki 147 učencev iz sedmih učnih skupin različnih razredov in vrst šol so bili zbrani, preden so izkusili delo v laboratorijih za učence, in po tem. Poudarek je bil na situacijskih interesih učencev in njihovih pogledih na ponujene jezikovno občutljive in jezikovno podporne metode, orodja in dejavnosti. Podatki kažejo, da pristop pozitivno vpliva na situacijski interes učencev. Metode, ki so bile za učence še posebej koristne, so odbrane in posebej izpostavljene. Na tej podlagi so podane implikacije za uporabo v drugih ponudbah neformalnega izobraževanja.

Ključne besede: pouk kemije, jezikovna občutljivost, izobraževanje na predmetni stopnji osnovne šole, srednješolsko izobraževanje, laboratorij za učence
# Introduction

Throughout the world, schools are visited by students with different native languages and linguistic competencies. Those linguistically heterogeneous students are confronted with the monolingual habitus in school (Gogolin, 2013). Dealing with this linguistic diversity is a great challenge for learning and teaching in school. Especially in science, such as chemistry, because the language used for teaching and learning chemistry content is quite different from everyday language (Markic et al., 2013). This results in various challenges for learning and teaching chemistry that need to be overcome. One of the difficulties students have to deal with in learning and teaching chemistry is the multi-layered and complex language that uses many technical and multisyllabic terms. In addition, using symbolic and mathematical aspects, as well as using diagrams and structures, often leads to comprehension problems (Childs et al., 2015). Studies like PISA (OECD, 2019) emphasise the relevance of language in science education and the disadvantages for students with a migration background in the German education system, particularly affected by learning in a second language (Lynch, 2001). Suggestions for dealing with students with different language competencies are given. There are language-sensitive (methods, tools, and activities that support students to use the language of instruction because they are second language learners, for example) and language-supportive (methods, tools, and activities that support students to develop linguistic competencies like using technical terms or specific grammar) methods, tools and activities that are effective in science education, in general, and in chemistry education, in particular (e.g., Childs & Ryan, 2016; Lee, 2005; Leisen, 2010; Markic et al., 2013). Nevertheless, to face this challenge, teaching and learning in schools are often insufficient. Non-formal education, like student laboratories, can complement the teaching and learning of chemistry in schools and support students in developing linguistic competencies. As part of the ERASMUS Plus project 'Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion -Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity - DiSSI', Ludwigsburg University of Education (Germany) is developing, implementing, and evaluating language-sensitive and language-supportive learning settings for student laboratories in chemistry for secondary school students.

# **Theoretical framework**

Non-formal learning takes place outside of school in an open and unrestricted setting. It is structured, organised, and oriented towards the educational curriculum (Coll et al., 2013). Non-formal learning has both characteristics of formal learning at school and informal learning in students' leisure time (OECD, 2012). In science lessons, non-formal learning opportunities are often used to increase students' interest and motivation for science (Röllke & Großmann, 2022). For example, studies show that science-related non-formal activities have been associated with better student performance, increased student belief in their ability to solve science problems, and greater enjoyment of science learning (e.g., OECD, 2012; Rennie, 2014). In non-formal education programmes, such as school laboratories, students have the opportunity to engage with scientific topics independently as part of active forms of learning (Euler et al., 2015). Non-formal education also offers many opportunities for research. The student laboratory can be used for the development, implementation, and evaluation of scientific-didactic concepts (Guderian & Priemer, 2008). This includes the development of innovative teaching and learning methods and materials with potential for adaptation to everyday science teaching in schools (Affeldt et al., 2017).

A study by Brandt (2005) shows that even a single visit to a student laboratory has a significant positive short-term effect on students' self-concept and students' intrinsic motivation for the subject of chemistry. However, these effects can only be recognised for a short time after visiting the student laboratory (Engeln,2004; Brandt, 2005). Student laboratories are generally very well suited to foster students' interest in science and technology (Brandt, 2005; Engeln, 2004). However, this effect depends on various factors, such as students' age or their general interest in the subject or the topic (Brandt, 2005; Engeln, 2004). Furthermore, Guderian (2007) and Engeln (2004) find that the current interest of students develops positively, especially if there was already a positive attitude before the visit.

Accordingly, several factors influence the effectiveness of student laboratories. It seems that if student laboratories have positive effects on students in terms of interest, motivation, or even their self-concept, it depends not least on the design of the learning setting and the learning situation that is provided. Röllke and Großmann (2022) show that variables such as the perception of autonomy and competence have a significant influence on the intrinsic motivation of students in an out-of-school laboratory. These variables can be influenced by the design of the non-formal education offered. In addition, they were able to show that the students' pre-visit preparation for the student laboratory has an impact on their intrinsic motivation. Thus, there is a need for student laboratories that are structured in such a way that all students can benefit from them as much as possible. In this context, learning settings should be designed to allow as many students as possible to work independently and successfully on scientific topics. Suggestions for the design of student laboratories that have proven successful in heterogeneous learning groups exist. Affeldt et al. (2015) suggest multi-differentiated learning settings for student laboratories to enable all students to access and learn scientific content. The development of contextualised learning settings is based on a didactic model that takes into account the different personal interests of students, their different cognitive abilities, and their heterogeneous linguistic competencies (Affeldt et al., 2015).

Putting the focus on diversity and inclusion in school, various projects and studies in Germany (e.g., Affeldt et al., 2015; Groß & Reiners, 2012; Raguse et al., 2013; Scholz et al., 2016; Stäudel et al., 2007) have shown positive effects for student laboratories. Groß and Reiner (2012) investigate alternative forms of documentation for experimentation in heterogeneous groups in their study. The implemented forms of documentation are mainly not based on reading and writing texts but focus on pictures, video, and audio notes. This study shows that video documentation is particularly suitable for documenting experimentation in heterogeneous groups. Scholz et al. (2016) show in their study that pictures and pictograms are particularly suitable as supporting tools and differentiation for inclusive student laboratories when there is the highest possible correspondence between the picture and the real object. Graded tip cards have a great potential for differentiation during experimentation in student laboratories (Affeldt et al., 2019). These cards foster communication between students when doing experiments in small groups. By using them, students more frequently discuss and exchange their ideas on how to experiment. This exchange particularly supports students in doing experiments independently (Affeldt et al., 2019).

Two aspects that were shown to be particularly successful for teaching and learning chemistry in linguistic heterogeneous groups are the design of language-sensitive and language-supportive learning material (Affeldt et al., 2017) and the presentation of chemical content by contexts related to everyday life (Mamlok-Naaman & Mandler, 2020). Thus, for student laboratories that are focused on language-sensitive materials, a range of language-sensitive methods, tools, and activities need to be identified and evaluated as effective. Studies have shown that single methods, tools, and activities are applicable for language support during experimentation in student laboratories. Kieferle and Markic (2023) unite these positive findings and develop an effective connection between the evaluated methods to support students in dealing with language and to foster the development of language competencies to enable the active participation of all students during experimentation. A pedagogical approach for language-sensitive and language-supportive learning settings for student laboratories that enables all students' active participation during experimentation is developed in the present study from the perspective of the developers and tutors.

# Learning Settings for a Student Laboratory Addressing Linguistical Difficulties

The present study was conducted in the context of the student laboratory at Ludwigsburg University of Education (Germany), which focuses on diversity in students' linguistic competencies. In this context, three learning settings (a mystery on substances and separation processes, a learning company on acidic and alkaline solutions, and planning a school trip on alkanols) are developed, implemented, and evaluated with two aims: 1) the development and implementation of a student laboratory that enables active participation of all students and 2) the generation of motivating learning settings for student laboratories that support secondary school students in conducting experimentation and developing language competencies. The development of the language-sensitive learning settings for the student laboratory is based on a cyclical process of development, implementation, evaluation, and adaptation oriented on Participatory Action Research, according to Eilks and Ralle (2002). More information on this can be found in the work of Kieferle and Markic (2023). The present paper focuses on the second aim. To achieve this, learning settings and language-sensitive learning materials were evaluated, focusing on the individual language-sensitive methods, tools, and activities and students' situational interests.

Students in a learning group differ not only in their language competencies; some students have mixed abilities, while others have special needs (Gardenswartz et al., 2010). Therefore, chemistry education has to deal with different language competencies and great heterogeneity (Childs et al., 2015). Thus, the development of language-supporting learning settings is based on methods, tools, and activities of language-sensitive teaching and includes opportunities to differentiate the chemical content and experimentation. Figure 1 shows the combination of approaches used for the learning settings for the student laboratory.

### Figure 1



The approach of linguistic support in the student laboratory

The methods, tools and activities shown in Figure 1 enable differentiation in the demand of the content and language support of the students during experimentation using:

- <u>A laboratory design based on language-supportive methods and tools:</u> We follow the idea 'content first, language second', which means that, first, students learn the fundamental concept in everyday language, then the scientific terms for the phenomenon are added (Childs & Ryan, 2016). In concrete terms, this means that the laboratory equipment is labelled and illustrated, and the learning material and support offers are marked with symbols. Students receive introductions to the context and information about the task via short videos. Longer text sequences are generally avoided.
- 2. <u>Graded tip cards based on language-sensitive methods and tools</u>: Each experiment is provided with graded tip cards that can be used individually by the students. Differentiation within a learning group (Markic et al., 2013) in the demand of their work and learning tempos is thus enabled (Stäudel et al., 2007). The graded tip cards are structured in steps that range from small hints to fully structured instructions. Thereby, implementations, observations, and findings could be supported individually. The graded structure of the tip cards allows the answering of complex scientific issues step by step without lowering the requirements in general (Affeldt et al., 2019). All graded tip cards are designed with language-sensitive methods and tools, according to Markic et al. (2013) and Leisen (2015). Specifically, visual aids, picture sequences, sentence starters, block diagrams, and sentence patterns are used to support

students in carrying out the experiment or formulating their observations and findings. In concrete terms, visual tools, sequences of pictures, beginning of sentences, block diagrams and sentence patterns are used to support students in performing the experiment or to formulate their observations and findings.

- 3. <u>Explanatory videos:</u> The short videos give information about important chemical content. Students can use explanatory videos individually so that differentiation within the learning group is possible. Explanatory videos are suitable for getting information to a similar extent as text sequences (Reinke et al., 2021). The advantage of explanatory videos is that they trigger positive emotional reactions in students, which increases motivation and interest in learning (Findeisen et al., 2019; Morris & Chikwa, 2014).
- 4. <u>A glossary:</u> The glossary contains short descriptions of technical terms (e.g., hypothesis) or short explanations of scientific methods (e.g., filtration). Since there are often concepts behind the technical terms used in chemistry, the use of a dictionary is usually not sufficient to support students, especially those who speak German as a foreign language. A glossary with well-chosen key terms, which also includes pictures, for example, and links the term to the concrete concept, has proved helpful (Miller, 2009).

In addition, the learning settings are developed using a tablet-based and cooperative approach.

- 5. <u>Tablet-based:</u> All work tasks, experimental instructions, and the contextualisation and organisation of the learning settings are designed digitally. Students use tablets to write their lab reports. The tablet is used as a synchronous, easy-to-use, and multifunctional experimental tool. It allows several sensory channels to be operated simultaneously and as needed (Huwer et al., 2018). The use of tablets in chemistry education has a positive effect on students' motivation (Rikala et al., 2013) and is also a differentiation possibility that is seen as very attractive by all students in an inclusive learning group (Greitemann & Melle, 2020).
- 6. <u>Cooperative learning</u>: The learning settings were developed with a special focus on communication and interdependent support between students. As part of the learning settings, the students are confronted with different problems and thinking tasks, which they have to solve together using the cooperative method of 'think/pair/share'.

## **Research Question**

Students' opinions are critical for the effectiveness of forms of non-formal education like a student laboratory. In the sense of triangulation, the present study evaluates the learning settings and a pedagogical approach developed and presented by Kieferle and Markic (2023) from the student's perspective.

Therefore, this study is guided by the following research questions:

- 1. Which methods, tools, and activities are suitable for language-supportive learning settings for a student chemistry laboratory?
- 2. What influence do the language-supportive learning settings have on student's situational interest?

# Methods

For the purpose of the present study, data from students who visited the student laboratory at the Ludwigsburg University of Education, Germany, over six months are collected. The study has a pre-post design.

### Sample

The survey is carried out in seven learning groups from different comprehensive schools and secondary modern schools from different regions in southwestern Germany with a total of 147 students; 52.20% of the participating students are male, 44.90% are female, 1.40% are gender-diverse, and 1.40% are without indication. The schools were from urban (87.5%) and rural (12.5%) areas and were also attended by students with first or second-generation migration backgrounds. A total of 87.70% of the students were born in Germany, and 12.30% were born in another country. Regarding language, 33.30% of the students speak German as a native language, 10.10% speak German and one other language as a native language, and 56.50% speak German as a second or foreign language. 0.1% did not indicate their native language. Thus, more than half of the students speak the language of instruction (German) as a second or foreign language.

Before data collection, the approval of parents and students was requested. All students were informed of their right to withdraw from the study.

### Instruments

For the purpose of generating quantitative data, a student questionnaire in pre-post design is used that contains items that are established in their respective field (situational interest and use of graded tip cards). The questionnaires consist closed-ended (Yes/No) and Likert-scaled questions. Additionally, an open-ended question is given.

- a) The pre-test questionnaire consists of two parts:
  - The first part collects general information on the participants. The students were asked for their age, gender, country of birth, and native language.
  - ii) The second part consists of 5 closed-ended questions about students' experience of dealing with graded tip cards (Affeldt et al., 2019).
- b) The post-test questionnaire consists of two further parts:
  - iii) The third part is comprised of 10 Likert items (5-step). The items refer to students' situational interest and one open-ended question about the three things that were most interesting to students during the work at the student laboratory on that day (Chen et al., 2001).
  - iv) The main part of the questionnaire consists of 30 Likert items (4-step). The students are asked about the use of the explanatory videos (4 Likert items), language support by using the glossary and the labelled workstations (4 Likert items), and the experience of working with graded tip cards (22 Likert items and 2 items based on closed-ended questions (Affeldt et al., 2019).

### **Research Design**

The development of language-sensitive and language-supportive learning settings for the students' laboratory is based on Participatory Action Research (Eilks & Ralle, 2002). In a cyclical process consisting of development, implementation, evaluation, and adaptation, quantitative data is generated in each cycle.

### Data Analysis

- a) Pre-test questionnaire:
  - ii) The Likert items are analysed with descriptive statistics based on relative frequency to make conclusions about the student's previous experiences on work with graded help cards.
- b) Post-test questionnaire:
  - iii) The 5-step Likert items referring to the situational interest items are analysed using descriptive statistics. A frequency statistic is carried out to make conclusions about the students' situational interests. The data of the open-ended question are categorised and sorted according to frequency of mention to show in more detail where the students' interests focus mainly.

iv) The 4-step Likert items and the closed-ended questions referring to the individual support offers are analysed using descriptive statistics. For the analysis, items were grouped into categories so that more specific conclusions could be made about the use and the impression of the students regarding the individual support offered. A frequency statistic was calculated for each item so that the trends are clearly shown.

# Results

### a) Pre-test:

The data collected in the pre-test questionnaire show that more than half of the students in this group (69.6%) did not use graded tip cards in chemistry lessons prior to the visit to the student laboratory.

### b) Post-test:

Figure 2 shows the evaluation of the items concerning students' situational interest in doing experiments in the student laboratory. The results show clearly (Figure 2; Items 5 and 7) that most of the participating students had fun during the work in the student laboratory. 80.2% stated that they can strongly agree or agree with the statement 'I enjoyed student laboratory today', and 80.9% stated that the visit to the student laboratory was fun for them. It should be highlighted here that not only 83.6% of the students stated in item 10 (Figure 2) that they found the student laboratory interesting, but 77.6% also stated in Item 6 that they understood what they were doing there.

### Figure 2

Results concerning students' situational interest



The results of the open-ended question, in which the students had the opportunity to indicate three things they liked the most in the visit to the student laboratory (students N=123), the most frequently mentioned (100 mentions) were the chosen contexts and individual experiments, for example, 'the story' (S62) or 'the skin care products' (S106). Students often mentioned doing experiments (49 mentions) in general and the laboratory and laboratory clothing (40 mentions) in particular. Statements that can be categorised as inquiry-based learning (39 mentions) were also frequently mentioned. In particular, students mentioned 13 times that they most liked the results of the experiments, for example, 'the comparisons' (S125), 8 times working independently, and 7 times they mentioned inquiry, for example, 'find out what the problem is' (S101).

During the work in the student laboratory, graded tip cards were used by more than half of the students (62.2% said they had used them) in general. 45.5% of the students indicated that they used at least one card in each experiment. More than half of the students only decided to use a card when they were completely helpless in their work (63.4% strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'I only decided to use a tip card when I was completely stuck'). If they used a tip card, they decided to do so with the team members (57.7% strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'I decided to use the tip cards with my classmates').

The results show that 60.3% of students could not do the experiments without the help of graded tip cards. That is in line with the agreement of 55.8 % of students, which indicates that they were able to do the experiments better with the tip cards marked with test tubes (cards to support the performance) (Figure 3; Item 4). When students decided to use a tip card, 43.6% of them always took the first card first, worked with it and then took the second tip card (strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'I always took the first tip card first, worked with it and then took the second tip card'); 46.1% of the students do not use the graded tip cards in this way. Here, the results showed that only 27.0% of the students read the first tip card and then immediately took the second one (strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'We read the tip cards first and then immediately took the second one').



# **Figure 3** *Results concerning students' opinion on the use of graded tip cards*

Figure 3 shows the results for students' opinions on the use of the graded tip cards. Just a few students mentioned difficulties with the use of differentiated and graded tip cards (Figure 3; Item 7). More than two-thirds of the students stated that they could do the task better with the tip cards (69.9% disagree or strongly disagree item 1). This is consistent with the 66.7% of students who understood the graded tip cards well (Figure 3; Item 6) and the 64.1% who easily found a solution using the cards (Figure 3; Item 2). Only a few students (22.4%) disagreed that it was beneficial to take the tip cards one after the other (Figure 3; Item 10) and that the first tip card did not immediately present the complete solution (24.4%) (Figure 3; Item 11). Furthermore, the results show that most students liked to have the chance to do the experiment without any help (79.5% strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'I think it's good to have the chance to do the experiment without help').

Figure 4 shows the evaluation results referring to the explanatory videos. The high percentage of no indication is due to the fact that 32 students visited a learning setting which did not contain explanatory videos. The sample of students who had the opportunity to use explanatory videos includes 106 students; 44.2% of those students stated that they used offered explanatory videos during their work (Figure 4; Item 4). For 39.7% of students, watching the video resulted in a better understanding of the topic (Figure 4; Item 2).



# **Figure 4** *Results concerning the use of explanatory videos*

Further results referring to the labelled workstations and the glossary show that they supported students in dealing with technical terms; 66.0% of students strongly agreed or agreed to the statement, 'The labelling of the workstations with the equipment made it easier for me to use the lab equipment'. In addition, almost half of them (46.8%) found that the glossary was helpful in understanding difficult terms (strongly agreed or agreed to the statement 'I found the glossary helpful to understand difficult terms').

# Discussion

Non-formal forms of education, like student laboratories, are often used, especially in science education, to help students become more interested and motivated in science. Therefore, the perception of autonomy and competence has a significant influence on students' intrinsic motivation in an out-of-school laboratory (Röllke & Großmann, 2022). The results of the study presented in this paper support the assumptions of Röllke and Großmann. The high amount of students' feedback relating to the context of the learning settings, the laboratory itself, and the laboratory clothing suggests the potential of student laboratories. The positive feedback regarding the inquiry-based learning approach shows that perceived autonomy is important for students' situational interests.

In this study, we focussed on students' linguistic diversity and wanted to determine which methods, tools, and activities of language-sensitive and language-supportive teaching are appropriate for student laboratories to enable all students to experiment autonomously and what influence language-sensitive learning settings have on students' situational interest.

In the context of this study, different types of language-sensitive and language-supportive support (graded tip cards, labelled workstations, glossary,

and explanatory videos) are implemented and evaluated from the side of the users. With regard to the effectiveness of the support offers it can be said that many of the learners assessed graded tip cards as motivating them for independent experimental work and as supporting them in dealing with the experiments without any help from a supervisor in the laboratory. This is in line with the findings of Stäudel et al. (2007) and Affeldt et al. (2019), who suggested that graded tip cards can have a positive influence on students' autonomy during experimental work. However, it should be noted that approximately three quarters of the students used the graded tip cards for the first time. On the one hand, the discussion can be about whether this is the effect of working with something new; on the other hand, the usefulness of the graded tip cards is more than obvious in the results. Thus, we can, in particular, agree with Affeldt et al. (2019) that the graded tip cards have the potential to challenge and support communication among the students in small group work and promote discussion about ideas, for example, to conduct experiments. In particular, performing the experiments is supported by graded tip cards, which are evaluated as helpful and positive by students. A majority of students stated that they prefer doing experiments without any support. This point is supported by other studies, which also show that students particularly appreciate independent and cooperative learning settings (Juntunen & Aksela, 2013). However, participants still used the graded tip cards offered. This shows that students' autonomy in decision-making if and when using the offered support for their learning process is evaluated as extremely positive. This is especially true considering the fact that the students were not experienced in this kind of work, and there was less time to explain the methods compared to a classroom situation.

The results show that language-sensitive and language-supportive methods, tools, and activities such as explanatory videos can foster a better understanding of the chemical content behind the experiments and that glossaries help students deal with technical terms.

Illustrated and labelled workplaces were seen as particularly helpful in dealing with laboratory equipment students. This is in line with the finding of Scholz et al. (2016), who showed that pictures and pictograms are particularly appropriate as supporting tools and differentiation for an inclusive student laboratory when there is the highest possible correspondence between the figure and the real object.

In conclusion, the opportunity to decide individually if and in which amount of support is used is especially well accepted by students. At this point, we can assume that the combination of different support opportunities, in particular, has a positive influence on situational interest and finally results in a positive experience in the student laboratory and for students learning chemistry. The range of graded tip cards, explanatory videos, illustrated workplaces, and the glossary make it possible to support the students individually in terms of both the type and the intensity of support. A particular advantage here is that there is no need to use any support offered. The results also show that 79.5% of students liked autonomy when choosing whether they wanted to use one of the support offers. Most important, however, is that this study supports the results of Kieferle and Markic (2023) that the offered methods and tools in combination do support students' active participation in work in the student laboratories. Thus, in terms of triangulation, the combination of different methods and tools can be seen as secure. The student's view of the different support offers confirms our conclusion that direct, simple, and individual support is particularly beneficial and motivating during experimentation. The freedom of choice and autonomy also have a positive effect on students' situational interest in student laboratories. Doing experiments in small groups can be supported in a non-formal setting with the help of the above-mentioned support opportunities and enables all students to deal with the learning material actively.

## Conclusions

The methods and tools used in student laboratories for language support and promotion of the development of language competencies of students can be adapted to different learning contexts and used in different learning situations based on their flexible structure. For example, the language-sensitive and language-promoting approach is not dependent on the context and content. Therefore, the context can be adapted to students' age levels, and the content can be adapted to students' learning levels or school type. The explanatory videos and the graduated tip cards make it possible to use the learning settings with or without students' previous experience with chemical content or inquiry-based learning. The DiSSI approach for language-sensitive and language-supportive work presented here grounds on a combination of different methods, tools, and activities and can be used in other non-formal education offers with various learning settings. Thus, many different learning settings in non-formal education offers, such as museums, laboratories, or science centres, can be designed in such a way that they are language-promoting and language-supporting.

The language-sensitive and language-supportive approach can also be used in formal teaching in schools. The student laboratory can act as a link in this process. On the one side, teachers can use a visit to the student laboratory as a kind of 'in-service teacher training' while learning more about new tools and methods, which she/he can adapt to their teaching. On the other side, teachers can also learn more about the usage of language and the meaning of diagnostics to better understand their students.

The presented study only encompasses a small sample, which means it cannot be considered representative. Nevertheless, it is an example of the practical implementation of language-sensitive and language-promoting approaches that need to be enhanced.

Based on the results presented here and also in Kieferle and Markic (2023), we suggest the involvement of pre-service chemistry teachers in the work of student laboratories that implement the DiSSI approach. Thus, preservice chemistry teachers will not only theoretically learn about languagesensitive and language-supportive teaching and learning but experience them in practice. Additionally, tutoring in a student laboratory offers a chance to observe the work of students more in detail compared to the classroom situation in schools. Here, the work of smaller but also different groups is in focus.

## Acknowledgement

This research was part of the project "DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-formal Education for Students' Diversity", which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, under grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

# References

Affeldt, F., Markic, S., & Eilks, I. (2019). Students' use of graded learning aids for inquiry learning. *Chemistry in Action*, 114, 28–33.

Affeldt, F., Tolppanen, S., Aksela, M., & Eilks, I. (2017). The potential of the non-formal educational sector for supporting chemistry learning and sustainability education for all students – a joint perspective from two cases in Finland and Germany. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, *18*(1), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6RP00212A

Affeldt, F., Weitz, K., Siol, A., Markic, S., & Eilks, I. (2015). A non-formal student laboratory as a place for innovation in education for sustainability for all students. *Education Sciences*, *5*(3), 238–254. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci5030238 Brandt, A. (2005). Förderung von Motivation und Interesse durch außerschulische Experimentierlabors. [Promoting motivation and interest through out-of-school experimental laboratories]. Cuvillier Verlag. https://pub.uni-bielefeld.de/record/2437788

Chen, A., Darst, P. W., & Pangrazi, R. P. (2001). An examination of situational interest and its sources. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 71(3), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709901158578 Childs, P., Markic, S., & Ryan, M. (2015). The Role of Language in the Teaching and Learning of Chemistry: Chapter 17. In J. García-Martínez & E. Serrano-Torregrosa (Eds.), *Chemistry education* (pp. 421–445). Wiley-VCH.

Childs, P. E., & Ryan, M. (2016). Chapter 4: Strategies for Teaching the Language of Science. In S.
Markic, & S. Abels (Eds.), *Science education towards inclusion* (pp. 43–66). Nova Publishers.
Coll, R. K., Gilbert, J. K., & Streller, S. (2013). How to benefit from the informal and interdisciplinary dimension of chemistry in teaching. In I. Eilks & A. Hofstein (Eds.), *Teaching Chemistry—A Studybook: A Practical Guide and Textbook for Student Teachers, Teacher Trainees and Teachers* (pp. 241–268). Sense Publishers.

Eilks, I., & Ralle, B. (2002). Partizipative Fachidaktische Aktionsforschung Ein Modell für eine begründete und praxisnahe curriculare Entwicklungsforschung in der Chemiedidaktik. [Participatory didactic action research A model for well-founded and practice-oriented curricular development research in chemistry didactics]. *Chemie Konkret*, 1, 13–18.

Engeln, K. (2004). Schülerlabors: Authentische, aktivierende Lernumgebungen als Möglichkeit, Interesse an Naturwissenschaften und Technik zu wecken [Student laboratories: Authentic, activating learning environments as an opportunity to awaken interest in science and technology] (Vol. 36). Logos.

Euler, M., Schüttler, T., & Hausamann, D. (2015). Schülerlabore: Lernen durch Forschen und Entwickeln [School labs: learning through research and development]. In E. Kircher, R. Girwidz, & P. Häußler (Eds.), *Physikdidaktik* (pp. 759–782). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-41745-0\_26 Findeisen, S., Horn, S., & Seifried, J. (2019). Lernen durch Videos – Empirische Befunde zur Gestaltung von Erklärvideos. [Learning through videos - Empirical findings on the design of explanatory videos] *MedienPädagogik: Zeitschrift Für Theorie Und Praxis Der Medienbildung*, 16–36. https://doi.org/10.21240/mpaed/00/2019.10.01.X

Gardenswartz, L., Cherbosque, J., & Rowe, A. (2010). Emotional intelligence and diversity: A model for differences in the workplace. *Journal of Psychological Issues in Organizational Culture*, *1*(1), 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpoc.20002

Gogolin, I. (2013). The "monolingual habitus" as the common feature in teaching in the language of the majority in different countries. *Per Linguam*, 13(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.5785/13-2-187

Greitemann, L., & Melle, I. (2020). Transferring and optimizing a laptop-based learning environment for the use on iPads. *World Journal of Chemical Education*, 8(1), 40–46.

https://doi.org/10.12691/wjce-8-1-5

Groß, K., & Reiners, C. S. (2012). Experimente alternativ dokumentieren [Document experiments alternatively]. *CHEMKON*, *19*(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ckon.201110165

Guderian, P. (2007). Wirksamkeitsanalyse außerschulischer Lernorte der Einfluss mehrmaliger Besuche eines Schülerlabors auf die Entwicklung des Interesses an Physik [Effectiveness analysis of extracurricular learning locations - the influence of repeated visits to a school laboratory on the development of interest in physics] [Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin]. https://doi.org/10.18452/15610 Guderian, P., & Priemer, B. (2008). Interessenförderung durch Schülerlaborbesuche—Eine Zusammenfassung der Forschung in Deutschland [Promoting interest through school lab visits-A

summary of research in Germany]. Physik und Didaktik in Schule und Hochschule, 2/7, 27-36.

Huwer, J., Bock, A., & Seibert, J. (2018). The School Book 4.0: The Multitouch Learning Book as a Learning Companion. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 6(6), 763–772.

https://doi.org/10.12691/education-6-6-27

Juntunen, M., & Aksela, M. (2013). Life-cycle thinking in inquiry-based sustainability education – effects on students' attitudes towards chemistry and environmental literacy. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 3(2), 157–180. https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.244

Kieferle, S., & Markic, S. (2023). Development and implementation of innovative concepts for language-sensitive student laboratories. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*. 24(2), 740–753. https://doi.org/10.1039/D2RP00221C

Lee, O. (2005). Science education with English language learners: synthesis and research agenda. *Review of Educational Research*, *75*, 491–530.

Leisen, J. (2010). Handbuch Sprachförderung im Fach: Sprachsensibler Fachunterricht in der Praxis ; Grundlagenwissen, Anregungen und Beispiele für die Unterstützung von sprachschwachen Lernern und Lernern mit Zuwanderungsgeschichte beim Sprechen, Lesen, Schreiben und Üben im Fach [Handbook for language support in the subject: Language-sensitive subject teaching in practice; basic knowledge, suggestions and examples for supporting language-impaired learners and learners with a migration background in speaking, reading, writing and practising in the subject]. Varus-Verl.

Leisen, J. (Ed.). (2015). *Methoden-Handbuch deutschsprachiger* Fachunterricht [Method handbook for German-language subject teaching] (*DFU*). Pagina Verlag.

Lynch, S. (2001). "Science for all" is not equal to "one size fits all": linguistic and cultural diversity and science education reform. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 38(5).

https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.1021

Mamlok-Naaman, R., & Mandler, D. (2020). Education for Sustainable Development in High School through Inquiry-Type Socio-Scientific Issues. In S. O. Obare, C. H. Middlecamp, & K. E. Peterman (Eds.), *ACS Symposium Series* (Vol. 1344, pp. 69–78). American Chemical Society.

https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2020-1344.ch006

Markic, S., Broggy, J., & Childs, P. (2013). 5. How to deal with linguistic issues in chemistry classes. In A. Hofstein & I. Eilks (Eds.), *Teaching Chemistry—A Studybook* (pp. 127–152). Sense Publishers.

Miller, J. (2009). Teaching Refugee Learners with Interrupted Education in Science: Vocabulary,

literacy and pedagogy. International Journal of Science Education, 31(4), 571-592.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690701744611

Morris, C., & Chikwa, G. (2014). Screencasts: How effective are they and how do students engage

with them? Active Learning in Higher Education, 15(1), 25–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787413514654 OECD. (2012). Are Students More Engaged When Schools Offer Extracurricular Activities?, PISA in Focus, 18, OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/5k96114ccczt-en

OECD. (2019). PISA 2018 results (volume ii): Where all students can succeed. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/b5fd1b8f-en

Raguse, K., Weber-Peukert, G., Woldt, P., & Lotz, A. (2013). Individuelle Förderung im Chemieunterricht—Der Förderkreis am Beispiel der Unterrichtseinheit "Laborführerschein" [Individual support in chemistry lessons-The support group using the example of the "Laboratory driving license" teaching unit.]. *CHEMKON*, 20(4), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1002/ckon.201310203 Reinke, B., Eisenmann, M., Matthiesen, S., Matthiesen, U., & Wagner, I. (2021). Erklärvideos—Im naturwissenschaftlich-technischen Unterricht eine Alternative zu Texten? [Explanatory videos - an alternative to texts in science and technology lessons?] *Journal of Technical Education (JOTED)*, 9(2), 168–187. https://doi.org/10.48513/JOTED.V9I2.217

Rennie, L. J. (2014). Learning Science Outside of School. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), Handbook of Research on Science Education (pp. 120–144). Taylor & Francis Group.

Rikala, J., Vesisenaho, M., & Mylläri, J. (2013). Actual and potential pedagogical use of tablets in schools. *Human Technology: An Interdisciplinary Journal on Humans in ICT Environments*, 9(2), 113–131. https://doi.org/10.17011/ht/urn.201312042736

Röllke, K., & Großmann, N. (2022). Predictors of students' intrinsic motivation in a biotechnological out-of-school student lab. *Frontiers in Education*, *7*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.859802

Scholz, M., Dönges, C., Risch, B., & Roth, J. (2016). Anpassung von Arbeitsmaterialien für selbstständiges Arbeiten von Schülerinnen und Schülern mit kognitiven Beeinträchtigungen in Schülerlaboren – Ein Pilotversuch. [Adaptation of working materials for independent work by pupils with cognitive impairments in school laboratories - a pilot project.] *Zeitschrift für Heilpädagogik*, *67*(7), 318–328.

Stäudel, L., Franke-Braun, G., & Schmidt-Weigand, F. (2007). Komplexität erhalten - auch in heterogenen Lerngruppen: Aufgaben mit gestuften Lernhilfen [Maintain complexity - even in heterogeneous learning groups: Tasks with graded learning aids]. *CHEMKON*, *14*(3), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1002/ckon.200710058

# **Biographical note**

**SARAH KIEFERLE** is a PhD student at the Ludwigsburg University of Education and a secondary school chemistry teacher. In her dissertation, she is developing and researching inclusive learning environments for the student laboratory for secondary school students. Her research interests include diversity, differentiation, and non-formal education.

**SILVIJA MARKIC**, PhD, is a professor for chemistry education at the Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich in Germany. She works in the field of chemistry teacher education and researches in the didactics of chemistry. Her research interests include science teachers' beliefs and pedagogical content knowledge, linguistic heterogeneity and diversity in chemistry and science education, cooperative learning and alternative teaching methods.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1692

# Innovative Learning Activities for Ethnically Diverse Students in Macedonian Science Education

Katerina Rusevska<sup>1</sup>, Lambe Barandovski<sup>1</sup>, Vladimir M. Petruševski<sup>1</sup>, Aleksandra Naumoska<sup>1</sup>, Slavica Tofilovska<sup>1</sup> and Marina Stojanovska<sup>\*2</sup>

A game-based approach is widely used to increase students' motivation  $\sim$ through their active participation, whereby research is interwoven with fun and competition is incorporated with cooperation. Working in teams or groups encourages students to exchange their opinions, to try to find solutions together or to win a game. In this way, they learn and improve skills such as collaboration and responsibility. Several activities involving the 5E model as part of inquiry-based science education and an escape room as part of game-based learning were used in science classes (chemistry, biology and physics). The activities were designed on three different topics - gases, ecology and electrical circuits - within the project "Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion - Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity". The activities focused on the students' self-concept towards science, interest in the subject, motivation and career aspirations in STEM, as well as the effectiveness of the implemented activities. The study aimed to assess the potential advantages of implementing activities in an ethnically diverse environment, benefiting both students and teachers. Pre- and post-questionnaires were designed and distributed to 190 students from various primary and secondary schools in Macedonia. The present paper provides an overview of game-based activities as well as a brief analysis of the pre- and post-questionnaire responses from students, focusing on the topic of ecology.

**Keywords:** game-based activities, ecology, escape room, ethnically diverse classroom, science education

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, North Macedonia.

<sup>2 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, North Macedonia; marinam@pmf.ukim.mk.

# Inovativne učne dejavnosti za etnično raznolike učence v makedonskem naravoslovnem izobraževanju

Katerina Rusevska, Lambe Barandovski, Vladimir M. Petruševski, Aleksandra Naumoska, Slavica Tofilovska in Marina Stojanovska

Pristop, ki temelji na igrah, se pogosto uporablja za povečanje motiva- $\sim$ cije učencev z njihovim aktivnim sodelovanjem, pri čemer se raziskovanje prepleta z zabavo, tekmovalnost pa s sodelovanjem. Delo v ekipah ali skupinah učence spodbuja, da izmenjujejo svoja mnenja, poskušajo skupaj poiskati rešitve ali zmagati v igri. Tako se učijo in izboljšujejo spretnosti, kot sta sodelovanje in odgovornost. Pri pouku naravoslovja (kemije, biologije in fizike) je bilo uporabljenih več dejavnosti, ki so vključevale model 5E kot del na raziskovanju temelječega naravoslovnega izobraževanja in sobo pobega kot del na igri temelječega učenja. Dejavnosti so bile zasnovane na tri različne teme - plini, ekologija in električna vezja – v okviru projekta DiSSI (Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion - Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity). Dejavnosti so se osredinjale na samopodobo učencev v odnosu do naravoslovja, ter zanimanje za predmet pri učencih, njihovo motivacijo in poklicne želje na področju STEM ter na učinkovitost izvedenih dejavnosti. Namen študije je bil oceniti potencialne prednosti izvajanja dejavnosti v etnično raznolikem okolju, ki koristijo učencem in učiteljem. Pripravljeni so bili vprašalniki pred izvedbo dejavnosti in po njej; razdeljeni so bili 190 učencem iz različnih osnovnih in srednjih šol v Makedoniji. V tem prispevku sta predstavljena pregled na igri temelječih dejavnosti ter kratka analiza odgovorov učencev pred izpolnitvijo vprašalnika in po njej, pri čemer se osredinjamo na temo ekologije.

Ključne besede: na igri temelječe dejavnosti, ekologija, soba pobega, etnično raznolik razred, naravoslovno izobraževanje

# Introduction

As education continues to evolve, innovative approaches to teaching and learning are gaining traction. One prominent trend in education is the integration of educational games, which leverage the power of technology and gamification to enhance student engagement and promote effective learning experiences. Educational games have proven to be highly engaging for students, capturing their attention and motivating active participation in the learning process (Gentry et al., 2019; Hakulinen & Auvinen, 2014; Smiderle et al., 2020; Tvarozek & Brza, 2014; Yu et al., 2020). Research by Connolly et al. (2012) demonstrated that educational games promote higher levels of engagement compared to traditional instructional methods. The immersive and interactive nature of games keeps students actively involved, leading to increased interest and a deeper investment in learning.

Numerous studies have indicated that educational games can enhance learning outcomes across various subject areas. For instance, a meta-analysis by Wouters et al. (2013) examined the impact of educational games on learning outcomes and found significant positive effects on knowledge acquisition, skill development and retention. The interactive nature of games enables students to apply their knowledge, engage in problem-solving and make connections between abstract concepts and real-world scenarios, leading to deeper understanding and improved learning outcomes.

Educational games often require students to think critically, analyse information and solve complex problems within the game's context. A study by Gee (2005) highlighted the fact that games provide opportunities for learners to engage in critical thinking, strategic planning and decision-making. The iterative nature of gameplay encourages students to experiment, learn from failures and develop effective problem-solving strategies, fostering the development of valuable skills applicable beyond the game environment. Furthermore, games provide immediate feedback, allowing students to learn from their mistakes, experiment with different strategies and refine their understanding of scientific principles (Young et al., 2012).

Many educational games incorporate multiplayer or cooperative modes, promoting collaboration and social interaction between students. Research by Dondlinger (2007) showed that collaborative game-based learning environments foster positive social interactions, improve communication skills and enhance teamwork abilities. Students learn to work together, share knowledge and negotiate solutions, preparing them for collaborative work settings in the future. Collaborative educational games can enhance student learning and promote positive attitudes towards the subject matter (Stojanovska, 2021).

Game-based learning has gained significant attention as an innovative approach to education, particularly in science classrooms. This type of learning engages students emotionally, making learning memorable and increasing the likelihood of long-term retention of scientific knowledge (Plump & Meisel, 2020). It is well known that games, due to their nature, stimulate student interest. Incorporating interactive and immersive game elements captivates students' attention, fostering curiosity and motivation to explore scientific concepts (Annetta et al., 2009). Many science games incorporate competitive and collaborative elements, encouraging healthy competition between students and promoting teamwork skills (Naumovska et al., 2023). Science games often present complex challenges that require critical thinking and problem-solving skills, encouraging students to apply scientific knowledge in realistic scenarios (Squire, 2006). Game-based learning also promotes deep learning. Thus, games provide context-rich environments that connect scientific concepts to realworld applications, promoting meaningful learning experiences (Barab et al., 2007). They can help students develop a conceptual understanding of scientific ideas by providing multiple representations, simulations and models (Klopfer et al., 2009).

Immersive puzzle-solving experiences known as "escape rooms" have gained popularity in various domains, including education. In recent years, educators have recognised the potential of escape rooms as a powerful tool to foster engagement and enhance learning outcomes, particularly in science education (Dietrich, 2018; Lathwesen & Belova, 2021; Marin et al., 2021; Stojanovska et al., 2020b; Veldekamp et al., 2021). By combining elements of problem-solving, teamwork and critical thinking, escape rooms provide an interactive and experiential learning environment that captivates students' interest and promotes a deeper understanding of scientific concepts. Consequently, the utilisation of escape rooms as a teaching method aligns well with the objectives of the national science curricula in Macedonia (Stojanovska et al., 2020a), offering an immersive and interactive learning experience that stimulates student engagement and facilitates a deeper comprehension of scientific principles. The escape room approach involves designing a physical or digital "escape room" scenario, whereby students must work together to solve a series of puzzles and challenges related to science concepts in order to "escape" within a given time limit.

Escape rooms offer an exciting and immersive experience that captures students' attention and motivates them to actively participate in the learning process. The element of challenge and the time constraint associated with escape rooms create a sense of urgency, driving students to collaborate, think critically and apply their scientific knowledge to solve complex problems (Dichev & Dicheva, 2017). The captivating nature of escape rooms fosters high levels of engagement and promotes a positive learning atmosphere, as students become highly motivated to succeed and achieve their goals. Escape rooms encourage collaboration and teamwork, fostering the development of essential communication and interpersonal skills. Students must effectively communicate, share information and delegate tasks within their team to decipher clues and solve puzzles. Escape rooms require students to think critically, analyse information and apply scientific knowledge to overcome challenges. This approach encourages students to think creatively, collaborate and develop strategies to find solutions within the given constraints.

By employing questionnaires as a data collection tool, the present research aims to understand the potential influence of the escape room experience on students' self-concept towards science, interest in the subject, motivation and career aspirations in STEM, as well as their situational interest in different non-formal settings. The evaluation framework in the project "Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion - Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity" (DiSSI) aimed to capture students' self-concept towards science, which refers to their perception of their own abilities, competence and identity in the context of science learning (Marsh, 1990). This aspect is crucial, as it can influence students' engagement in science education. Motivation is another important factor that was evaluated. Students' motivation reflects their drive and enthusiasm towards learning science. It plays a significant role in their willingness to invest effort and persist in science-related activities (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). The questionnaire used in the present study also measured students' interest in the subject of science. Interest refers to a positive affective response and curiosity that individuals experience towards a particular academic domain or topic. It involves a personal attraction and desire to engage with the subject matter, often leading to increased attention, long-term motivation and exploration of related content (Hidi & Renninger, 2006). The project was also aimed at gathering data on students' career aspirations in STEM (science, technology, engineering and mathematics). Assessing students' career aspirations provides insight into their long-term goals and aspirations in STEM fields, which can be influenced by their experiences and exposure to science education (Archer et al., 2010).

Utilising escape rooms as a teaching tool introduces students to an entirely new learning environment, distinct from traditional classroom settings. This shift in scenery prompted us to analyse situational interest, which refers to a temporary state reflecting how an activity impacts an individual, rather than their inherent preference for the activity (Hidi & Anderson, 1992). Five dimensions have been identified as influencing situational interest: novelty, challenge, attention demand, exploration intention and instant enjoyment, with instant enjoyment shown to have the most significant impact (Chen et al., 2001). Situational interest is crucial because the immediate appeal of an activity should translate into both short-term and long-term motivational effects on the learner (Renninger et al., 1992).

Additionally, the study seeks to evaluate the effectiveness of the implemented activities specifically designed around the topic of ecology during the escape room workshops.

# Method

### Participants

A total of 190 participants completed the questionnaire: 126 students from primary school (12–14 years old) and 64 from secondary school (15–18 years old). Detailed demographic data, including the breakdown of gender and ethnicity, are provided in Table 1.

## Table 1

Participant demographic information

	Primary school	126
Grade level	Secondary school	64
Gender	Male	48
	Female	141
Language of instruction	Macedonian	125
	Albanian	53
	Turkish	12

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the data collection for the study required researchers to travel to schools located in various parts of Macedonia (the administration of the questionnaires was conducted during May and June 2022). A purposive sampling approach was employed to ensure a diverse sample, including both urban and rural schools, encompassing students from different ethnic backgrounds. By implementing this sampling strategy, the researchers aimed to gather comprehensive data that represents a wide range of students and educational settings, despite the challenges posed by the pandemic.

### Instruments

The evaluation framework utilised questionnaires to gather data on students' self-concept towards science and interest in the subject (OECD, 2009), motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and career aspirations in STEM (Kier et. al, 2014), as four subcategories that the project participants were interested in exploring. After the workshops, questionnaire data about the success of the workshops were collected, focusing on the situational interest in the different nonformal settings (Chen et al., 2001) and the effectiveness of the implemented activities (Bartlett & Anderson, 2019; Dugnol-Menéndez et al., 2021; Gordillo et al., 2020; Karageorgiou et al., 2020). These measures aimed to assess the effects of the tools and interventions employed in the project activities and provide valuable insights into the impact on target groups.

Prior to administering the questionnaires, the participants were provided with detailed information about the study and its voluntary nature. Consent was obtained from all of the participants, ensuring their willingness to participate. Furthermore, the participants were informed about the potential use of photographs for research purposes, thus promoting transparency and ethical considerations throughout the study. In the present paper, the pre- and postquestionnaires for students on the topic of ecology are analysed.

### **Research design**

In this study, the escape room was designed as an engaging and interactive face-to-face activity, whereby students from primary and secondary schools from all over Macedonia participated in teams comprising 3-6 members. This groupwork setting allowed for collaboration and teamwork among the participants, fostering a dynamic and cooperative learning environment. By conducting the escape room experience in person, students had the opportunity to interact directly with their teammates, share ideas and collectively work towards solving the puzzles and challenges presented to them. This format not only promoted social interaction, but also facilitated the development of important skills such as communication, problem-solving and critical thinking. The inclusion of primary and secondary school students ensured a diverse participant pool, encompassing different age groups and educational and ethnic backgrounds. This diversity brought unique perspectives and experiences to the escape room activity, contributing to a rich learning environment and encouraging peer-to-peer learning and support. The escape room workshops were conducted in various locations, including the university, schools and a botanical garden. The selection of locations aimed to

provide diverse and engaging settings for the escape room experience, enhancing the immersion and authenticity of the activity.

The face-to-face nature of the escape room experience also allowed for real-time feedback and guidance from the instructor or facilitator. The instructor played a pivotal role in coordinating the workshops, providing the necessary instructions and overseeing the progress of the teams. This direct interaction with the instructor further enhanced the learning experience and provided an opportunity for personalised support when needed. To form the groups, the instructor randomly selected participants by using coloured strips. This approach not only facilitated random group allocation, but also promoted *collaboration* and *communication* between the students, which are considered essential skills for their future endeavours.

The instructor set a time limit of one hour for the game itself, while the overall workshop duration was two hours. The workshop commenced with an intriguing story that captivated the students' interest, such as finding a cure for an illness or saving the school. Following the story, the instructor explained the concept of the escape room and provided the rules of the game. The puzzles within the escape room did not follow a linear structure, allowing the teams to solve them in any order. There was a total of five puzzles, each designed to challenge the students' critical thinking and problem-solving abilities (Stojanovska et al., 2022). The puzzles used in the escape room were printed on coloured paper and laminated, thus allowing students to write directly on them and making them reusable for subsequent workshops. The puzzles were placed in envelopes and strategically hidden within the classroom or somewhere in the botanical garden, creating an environment of mystery and exploration. During the escape room activity, the students worked collaboratively within their groups to solve all of the puzzles and successfully complete the game. In order to promote independent thinking and problem-solving, no additional literature or access to mobile phones was allowed for seeking answers. All of the necessary materials for puzzle-solving were provided to each group. After successfully solving all of the puzzles, each group opened locks and discovered several pieces of a jigsaw puzzle in a box. All of the groups were then required to collaborate and combine their puzzle pieces to reveal the final prize. In this way, the activity emphasised the importance of collaboration over competition and reinforced the value of teamwork.

The design and development of the educational escape room activities was a collaborative effort involving designated individuals from various educational backgrounds. University professors, science teachers, school principals and one advisor from the Bureau of Development of Education all played a significant role in the design process, lending their expertise and advice as part of the project's National Advisory Board. Their involvement ensured that the activities were aligned with educational objectives, pedagogical principles and the specific needs of students in primary and secondary schools. Their valuable insights and recommendations contributed to the refinement and effectiveness of the escape room experiences, ultimately enhancing their educational value and relevance.

### Analysis of the data

The data from the pre-questionnaires were analysed by considering all of the items for each scale. Mean, standard deviation and the reliability coefficient Cronbach's alpha, as a measure of internal consistency (Taber, 2018), were calculated. Independent *t*-tests were used to investigate significant differences between the mean scores of males and females, as well as between primary and secondary school students, across the four scales of the pre-questionnaire.

The results obtained from the post-questionnaires were analysed by calculating the percentage frequencies of agreement for each statement from the corresponding categories.

# **Results and discussion**

In order to evaluate the impact of the escape room experience, comprehensive questionnaires were administered to all of the participants both before and after the workshop. The questionnaires primarily consisted of Likert-type statements, whereby participants were asked to indicate their level of agreement or disagreement. A scale of 1 to 5 was used, with 1 representing "strongly agree" and 5 representing "strongly disagree." The questionnaires were designed to capture important aspects of students' attitudes and perceptions. They specifically assessed students' self-concept towards science, interest in the subject, motivation and career aspirations in STEM before starting the activity. Moreover, the questionnaires included sections to gather the students' perceptions of the conducted activity. The participants' responses provided valuable insights into their experiences and opinions regarding the educational escape room.

### I. Initial assessment and pre-intervention findings

The results were analysed considering all of the items for each scale, and the mean, standard deviation and reliability coefficient Cronbach's alpha as a measure of internal consistency were calculated (Table 2).

### Table 2

*Means, standard deviations and Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient for the pre-questionnaire.* 

Carlo	Number of	Pre-questionnaire		
Scale	items	М	SD	Cronbach's alpha
Interest in science	5	1.69	.80	.853
Career aspirations in science	7	2.27	1.22	.752
Self-concept towards science	6	1.88	.95	.863
Motivation for learning science	10	2.18	1.14	.766
Total	28	2.05	1.09	.895

Table 2 shows the Cronbach's alpha coefficient, indicating the internal consistency of the four scales utilised in the study. The results indicate acceptable internal consistency, with Cronbach's alpha values ranging from 0.752 to 0.863 for the individual scales and 0.895 for the overall pre-questionnaire. These findings align with the cutoff criteria established by Cohen (2000), suggesting acceptable internal consistency across all four scales. It is worth noting that similar studies in the literature (Korkmaz & Erdoğmuş, 2020; Taber, 2018; Zakariya, 2022) have also reported high values for the Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient, further supporting the reliability of the measures employed in this research.

An analysis to compare the mean scores of females and males on the four scales of the pre-questionnaire was conducted. Independent t-tests were employed to examine whether there was a significant difference between the mean scores of males and females. The results of these tests can be found in Table 3.

### Table 3

*Comparison of male and female mean scores on the four scales for the pre-questionnaire.* 

Scale	Groups	М	SD	t	р
Interest in science	f	1.72	.80	1 012	.070
	m	1.61	.80	1.012	
Career aspirations in science	f	2.22	1.21	457	.648
	m	2.25	1.19	457	
Self-concept towards science	f	1.91	.92	1 200	.201
	m	1.82	1.04	1.280	
Motivation for learning science	f	2.19	1.14	<b>F17</b>	.605
	m	2.16	1.12	.517	
Total	f	2.06	1.08	1 770	.180
	m	2.01	1.09	1.559	

Table 3 presents the mean scores, standard deviations (SD), t-values and p-values for the comparison of females (f) and males (m) on the four scales of interest: Interest in science, Career aspirations in science, Self-concept to-wards science, and Motivation for learning science. The total column provides the overall mean score for each group. Overall, the results of the independent t-tests indicate that there were no significant differences in the mean scores between females and males across the four scales and the total score. In contrast to the results of Lee et al. (2018) and Siregar et al. (2023), where male students scored higher, as well as the findings of Luttenberger et al. (2019) and Sellami et al. (2023) stating that females outperform males in terms of their self-concept and motivation, our data suggest that gender did not have a significant impact on these aspects of science education.

Furthermore, a comparison was made between the mean scores of primary (p) and secondary (s) school students on the four scales of the pre-questionnaire. Independent t-tests were conducted to assess whether there were significant differences between the mean scores of primary and secondary students. The results of these analyses can be found in Table 4.

### Table 4

Scale	Groups	М	SD	t	р
Interest in science	S	1.87	.90	4.931	.000
	р	1.60	.73		
Career aspirations in science	S	2.23	1.19	991	.322
	р	2.30	1.24		
Self-concept towards science	S	2.01	1.03	3.097	.002
	р	1.82	0.91		
Motivation for learning science	S	2.44	1.21	7004	000
	р	2.05	1.08	7.204	.000
Total	S	2.19	1.14	6 706	000
	р	1.98	1.06	0.706	.000

*Comparison of mean scores of secondary and primary school students' mean scores in the four scales for the pre-questionnaire.* 

The results indicate significant differences between secondary and primary students in their scores for interest in science, self-concept towards science and motivation for learning science, as well as for their total scores. However, no significant difference was found between the two groups in career aspirations in science. These findings suggest that secondary students exhibit higher levels of interest, self-concept, motivation and overall scores in science compared to primary students. The observed differences in the results could be attributed to several factors. Firstly, the secondary students surveyed may have had more exposure to science-related topics and concepts, leading to a greater interest in and self-concept towards the subject. They may also have received more specialised instruction and guidance in science, which could contribute to higher motivation levels.

### II. Post-intervention outcomes and questionnaire results

The results of the post-questionnaire are presented in six diagrams (Figure 1–6) based on the percentage frequencies.

Ten items from the post-questionnaire focused on assessing situational interest, which can be considered as a construct associated with five dimensions: novelty, challenge, attention demand, exploration intention and instant enjoyment (Chen et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2001). Figure 1 shows that more than 50% of the participants strongly agreed with all of the statements, indicating that they found the workshop interesting and were able to maintain their focus and attention. For this group of statements, the mean value is 1.45. This suggests that the activities presented in the workshop successfully fostered a high level of situational interest among the participants.

### Figure 1

*Results from the analysis of the situational interest post-questionnaire items.* 



*Statements*: 1. The lesson in today's workshop was interesting. 2. Dealing with the subject matter was challenging today. 3. I was focused on this activity. 4. I enjoyed today's activity. 5. Today I understood well what we learned in the workshop. 6. Today's workshop was fun for me. 7. There was a lot going on at today's workshop, it was varied. 8. I was attentive in today's workshop, from the beginning to the end. 9. Today's material at the workshop attracted me, so I participated. 10. I want to delve into the details of the material we discussed at today's workshop.

The second section of the post-questionnaire was designed to assess the effectiveness of the implemented activities and examine the impact of the methods and tools utilised within the group. These findings are presented in five sets of statements (Figures 2–6). Specifically, the results from Figure 2 indicate a high mean value of 1.58 for the statements evaluating the promotion of critical thinking, knowledge acquisition and engagement in problem-solving. Analysis of the students' perceptions revealed that they were encouraged to approach the material differently and review the concepts related to the topic. Furthermore, approximately 80% of the participants expressed (agreed or strongly agreed with statement 5) that they felt they learned better through the game-based approach compared to a traditional lecture format.

### Figure 2



*Results from the analysis of the post-questionnaire items promoting critical thinking, knowledge acquisition and engagement in problem-solving.* 

Statements: 1. I was learning while playing. 2. The escape room activity encouraged me to think about the material in a different way. 3. The escape room activity was an effective way to review the concepts of this theme. 4. The escape room activity was an effective way to learn new information related to this theme. 5. I learn better through a game than through a classic lecture. 6. I wanted to explore all aspects of the game, even if there were false directions. 7. The game had a clear purpose. 8. There were different types of puzzles. 9. There were puzzles that made me think "outside the box".

The third set of items analysed the degree of acquiring and improving skills through the escape room method that students believed they achieved (Figure 3). From Figure 3 it can be seen that the participants acquired skills for problem-solving, decision-making and logical reasoning, as well as improving their communication abilities, collaboration and teamwork. The results show a high mean value of 1.38. Similar results were obtained in a study on the use

of escape room activities in occupational therapy courses, in which students believed they had developed curricular skills with a mean value between 3.84–4.28 on a scale where 5 is "strongly agree" (Dugnol-Menéndez et al., 2021). The participants in the latter study felt that they had strong organisational skills while performing the activities and effectively developed strategies within their groups, thereby enhancing their ability to manage time efficiently. Additionally, they exhibited persistence in completing the activity and demonstrated a high level of adaptability to new situations.

### Figure 3





*Statements*: 1. Communication. 2. Teamwork and collaboration. 3. Problem-solving. 4. Decision-making. 5. Adapting to new situations. 6. Planning and time management. 7. Analyse and synthesise. 8. Critical thinking. 9. Logical reasoning. 10. Creativity. 11. Organisation. 12. Persistence. 13. Autonomous learning.

The effects of the game activities on social interaction were analysed in greater detail through a set of items presented in the fourth diagram (Figure 4). The results indicate that the activities facilitated collaboration and the sharing of knowledge among participants, fostering a friendly environment and increasing confidence levels within the group. The mean value for this set of statements was 1.59. Similar high scores for students' perception of shared knowledge have been observed in other studies (Bartlett & Anderson, 2019). Furthermore, in educational escape rooms designed for teaching software modelling, students reported a high level of involvement from team members (Gordillo et al., 2020).

# Figure 4

*Results from the analysis of the post-questionnaire items promoting social interaction, collaboration and teamwork.* 



Statements: 1. I was able to learn from my peers during the escape room activity. 2. I was able to learn something new on this theme through discussion with classmates from the group. 3. I felt like a part of the team. 4. I prefer to participate in escape room activities as part of a team. 5. I would like to get more help while solving the puzzles. 6. All team members were almost equally involved in solving the puzzles. 7. The abilities of the team and the difficulty of the puzzles were at about the same level. 8. Throughout the game I cooperated and communicated with all of the team members. 9. After the game, I had a better understanding of what cooperation means. 10. After the game, I gained more confidence in my peers.

Figure 5 presents the results obtained for a set of statements related to motivation in the game activities. The mean values for individual statements range from 1.22 to 1.71, indicating a generally high level of agreement with the statements. The participants reported being engaged in completing or winning the game and becoming motivated to learn. They also expressed a sense of excitement and enjoyment, feeling immersed in the game's story and finding the game to be fun. Additionally, solving puzzles in the game increased participants' confidence and provided an unforgettable experience. The mean value for the group of statements related to motivation is 1.56, suggesting the game activities had a positive impact on the participants' motivation.

In their study in courses on occupational therapy, Dugnol-Menéndez et al. (2021) reported increased engagement and immersion in the activity when utilising escape room applications. Similarly, a study conducted in a technical high school demonstrated that the confidence of students increased after solving each puzzle in an escape room setting (Karageorgiou et al., 2020). These findings highlight the positive impact of escape rooms in fostering engagement, immersion and confidence among participants in various educational contexts.

### Figure 5

*Results from the analysis of the post-questionnaire items promoting motivation and enjoyment.* 



*Statements*: 1. Games motivate me to learn. 2. While playing I was trying to complete/win the game. 3. I almost didn't notice how quickly the time passed. 4. I was excited while playing. 5. I felt like a part of the game's story. 6. The escape room game was fun for me. 7. My confidence increased after solving each puzzle. 8. The game was an unforgettable experience. 9. After the game I felt more confident.

The next diagram (Figure 6) provides a summary of the results obtained for a set of statements and refers to the created positive or negative emotions, created stress or feeling distracted. The mean scores range from 1.59 to 2.94, indicating varying levels of agreement or disagreement with the statements. The results suggest that while some participants experienced difficulty focusing and perceived certain elements of the escape room activity as distracting, there was a prevailing presence of positive emotions. Other researchers have found similar results with regard to such statements (Bartlett & Anderson, 2019; Karageorgiou et al., 2020).
#### Figure 6

*Results from the analysis of the post-questionnaire items promoting emotions, feeling pressure and burden.* 



*Statements*: 1. I found it difficult to focus on the activity/study because I felt stressed or overwhelmed. 2. Some parts of the escape room activity (e.g., codes, puzzles, etc.) distracted me/interfered with my learning. 3. I felt scared/anxious at the beginning of the game. 4. Positive emotions prevailed over negative ones.

It is important to note that a subset of the participants reported feeling scared or anxious. These findings highlight the diverse range of experiences and emotions that individuals may have during an escape room activity, indicating the need for consideration and support in creating an optimal learning environment.

# Conclusions

In the DiSSI project, a framework was developed to evaluate the effects of tools on target groups, specifically focusing on students' perceptions of their self-concept towards science, interest in the subject, motivation and career aspirations in STEM. In order to assess these variables, a questionnaire was employed utilising established scales. The study also aimed to understand the influence of the escape room experience on situational interest in non-formal settings and to evaluate the effectiveness of escape room activities and their impact on student engagement and attitudes towards science.

The data presented in the text indicates substantial support for the effectiveness of escape room activities in science education. Specifically, the decision to conduct the escape room as a face-to-face, group work activity with teams consisting of 3–6 participants seems to have ensured an immersive and interactive learning environment that potentially fostered collaboration, communication and critical thinking among students from different ethnic backgrounds.

It is important to note that the sample used in the study was not selected randomly, which may limit the generalisability of the findings. Future research could aim to address this limitation by utilising random sampling methods in order to enhance the generalisability of the findings. Additionally, further investigations could explore the integration of other methods, such as the use of tip cards, to enhance the implementation of educational activities. Further insights may also be gained through the analysis of questionnaires distributed among other target groups and on different topics (such as gases and electrical circuits). It would also be valuable to assess the knowledge gained through the application of escape room methodologies in participating countries outside the project.

## Acknowledgements

The presented work was part of the project "DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-formal Education for Students' Diversity", which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union under the grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1- DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

# References

Annetta, L. A., Minogue, J., Holmes, S. Y., & Cheng, M. T. (2009). Investigating the impact of video games on high school students' engagement and learning about genetics. *Computers & Education*, 53(1), 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2008.12.020

Archer, L., DeWitt, J., Osborne, J., Dillon, J., Willis, B., & Wong, B. (2010). "Doing" science versus "being" a scientist: Examining 10/11-year-old schoolchildren's constructions of science through the lens of identity. *Science Education*, *94*(4), 617–639. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/sce.20399

Barab, S. A., Sadler, T. D., Heiselt, C., Hickey, D., & Zuiker, S. (2007). Relating narrative, inquiry, and inscriptions: Supporting consequential play. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 16(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-006-9033-3

Bartlett, K., & Anderson, J. (2019). Using an Escape Room to Support the Learning of Science Content. Proceedings of Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference, Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE), Las Vegas, NV, USA, 710–715. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/207719

Chen, A., Darst, P.W., & Pangrazi, R. P. (1999). What constitutes situational interest? Validating a construct in physical education. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327841MPEE0303\_3

Chen, A., Darst, P. W., & Pangrazi, R. P. (2001). An examination of situational interest and its sources. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 71, 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709901158578 Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2000). *Research methods in education (5th ed.)*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203224342

Connolly, T. M., Boyle, E. A., MacArthur, E., Hainey, T., & Boyle, J. M. (2012). A systematic literature review of empirical evidence on computer games and serious games. *Computers & Education*, 59(2), 661–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.03.004

Dichev, C., & Dicheva, D. (2017). Gamifying education: What is known, what is believed and what remains uncertain: A critical review. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 14(1), 1–36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-017-0042-5

Dietrich, N. (2018). Escape classroom: The Leblanc process – An educational "escape game". *Journal of Chemical Education*, *95*(6), *996–999*. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.7b00690

Dondlinger, M. J. (2007). Educational video game design: A review of the literature. *Journal of Applied Educational Technology*, 4(1), 21–31

Dugnol-Menéndez, J., Jiménez-Arberas, E., Ruiz-Fernández, M. L, Valera-Fernández, D., Mok, A., & Marayo Lloves J. (2021). A collaborative escape room as gamification strategy to increase learning motivation and develop curricular skills of occupational therapy students. *BMC Med Educ*, *21*(544). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02973-5

Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53(1), 109–132. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153

Gee, J. P. (2005). Learning by design: Good video games as learning machines. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, 2(1), 5–16. https://doi.org/10.2304/elea.2005.2.1.5

Gentry, S. V., Gauthier, A., Ehrstrom, B. L., Wortley, D., Lilienthal, A., Car, L. T., Dauwels-Okutsu, S., Nikolaou, C. K., Zary, N., & Campbell, J. (2019). Serious gaming and gamification education in health professions: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(3).

https://doi.org/10.2196/12994

Gordillo, A., López-Fernández, D., López-Pernas S., & Quemada, J. (2020). Evaluating an educational escape room conducted remotely for teaching software engineering, *IEEE Access*, *8*, 225032–225051. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3044380

Hakulinen, L., & Auvinen, T. (2014). The effect of gamification on students with different achievement goal orientations. *2014 International Conference on Teaching and Learning in Computing and Engineering (LaTiCE), IEEE, Kuching, Malaysia,* 9–16. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6821820 Hidi, S., & Anderson, V. (1992). Situational interest and its impact on reading and expository writing. In K. A. Renninger, S. Hidi, & A. Krapp (Eds.), *The role of interest in learning and development* (pp. 215–238). LEA.

Hidi, S., & Renninger, K. A. (2006). The four-phase model of interest development. *Educational Psychologist*, *41*(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep4102\_4

Karageorgiou, Z., Mavrommati, E., Fotaris P., & Christopoulou, E. (2020). Escape room in education: Evaluating using Experience Pyramid Model. *5th South-East Europe Design Automation, Computer Engineering, Computer Networks and Social Media Conference (SEEDA-CECNSM), Corfu, Greece,* 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1109/SEEDA-CECNSM49515.2020.9221798

Kier, M.W., Blanchard, M.R., Osborne, J. W., & Albert, J. L. (2014). The development of the STEM

Career Interest Survey (STEM-CIS), Research in Science Education, 44, 461-481.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-013-9389-3

Klopfer, E., Osterweil, S., & Salen, K. (2009). Moving learning games forward, MIT Press.

Korkmaz, Ö. Ç. R., & Erdoğmuş, F. U. (2020). A validity and reliability study of the Basic STEM Skill Levels Perception Scale. *International Journal of Psychology and Educational Studies*, 7(2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.17220/ijpes.2020.02.010

Lathwesen, C., & Belova, N. (2021). Escape rooms in STEM teaching and learning – Prospective field or declining trend? A literature review. *Education Sciences*, *11*(6), 308.

https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11060308

Lee, Y., Capraro M. M., & Viruru. R. (2018). The factors motivating students' STEM career

aspirations: Personal and societal contexts. *International Journal of Innovation in Science and Mathematics Education*, 26(5), 36–48.

Luttenberger, S., Paechter, M., & Ertl, B. (2019). Self-concept and support experienced in school as key variables for the motivation of women enrolled in STEM subjects with a low and moderate proportion of females. *Frontiers in Psychol*ogy, *26*(10), 1242. https://doi.org: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01242

Marín, S., de Atauri, P. R., Moreno, E., Pérez-Torras, S., Farràs, J., Imperial, S., Cascante, M.,

& Centelles, J. J. (2021). An escape-room about Krebs cycle prepared for chemical students.

International Journal on Engineering, Science and Technology (IJonEST), 3(2), 155–164.

https://doi.org/10.46328/ijonest.59

Marsh, H. W. (1990). Causal ordering of academic self-concept and academic achievement: A multiwave, longitudinal panel analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *8*2(4), 646–656. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-0663.82.4.646

Naumovska, A., Dimeski, H., & Stojanovska, M. (2023). Using the Escape Room game-based approach in chemistry teaching. *Journal of the Serbian Chemical Society*, 88(5), 563–575. https://doi.org/10.2298/JSC211228088N

OECD (2009). PISA 2006: Technical report. http://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/42025182.pdf

Plump, C. M., & Meisel, S. I. (2020). Escape the traditional classroom: Using live-action games to engage students and strengthen concept retention. *Management Teaching Review*, *5*(3), 202–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/2379298119837615

Renninger, K. A., Hidi, S., & Krapp, A. (Eds.). (1992). *The role of interest in learning and development*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic

motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 55(1), 68-78.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68

Sellami, A., Santhosh, M., Bhadra, J., & Ahmad, Z. (2023). High school students' STEM interests and career aspirations in Qatar: An exploratory study. *Heliyon*, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023,e13898

Siregar, N. C., Rosli, R., & Nite, S. (2023). Students' interest in science, technology, engineering,

and mathematics (STEM) based on parental education and gender factors. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*, 18(2). https://doi.org/10.29333/iejme/13060

Smiderle, R., Rigo, S. J., Marques, L. B., Coelho, J. A. P. M., & Jaques, P. A. (2020). The impact of gamification on students' learning, engagement and behavior based on their personality traits. *Smart Learn. Environ*, *7*, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-019-0098-x

Squire, K. (2006). From content to context: Videogames as designed experience. *Educational Researcher*, 35(8), 19–29. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X035008019

Stojanovska, M. (2021). Celebrating the International Year of Periodic Table with chemistry educational games and puzzles. *Chemistry Teacher International*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/cti-2019-0012

Stojanovska, M., Barandovski, L., Rusevska, K., & Petrusevski, V. (2022). Science through research

and fun. Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-Formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity. Activity Book. Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics – Skopje.

Stojanovska, M., Mijić, I., & Petruševski, V. M. (2020a). Challenges and recommendations for improving chemistry education and teaching in the Republic of North Macedonia, *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 10(1), 145–166. https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.732

Stojanovska, M., Milanović, V., & Trivić, D. (2020b). Escape room – teachers approved! *Chemistry in Action*, *116*(49), 49–53. https://www.chemistryireland.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Chemistry-in-Action-Autumn-2020-Issue-116.pdf

Taber, K. S. (2018). The use of Cronbach's Alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. *Research in Science Education*, *48*, 1273–1296. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9602-2 Tvarozek, J., & Brza, T. (2014). Engaging students in online courses through interactive badges. *International Conference on e-Learning, Spain*, 89–95.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/fe68/5176c8d4bf7f6507f3870815f56a65097c89.pdf

Veldkamp, A., Knippels, M-C. P. J., & van Joolingen, W. R. (2021). Beyond the early adopters: Escape rooms in science education. *Frontiers in Education*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.622860

Wouters, P., van Nimwegen, C., van Oostendorp, H., & van der Spek, E. D. (2013). A meta-analysis of the cognitive and motivational effects of serious games. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(2), 249–265. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031311

Young, M. F., Slota, S., Cutter, A. B., Jalette, G., Mullin, G., Lai, B., Simeoni, Z., Tran, M., & Yukhymenko, M. (2012). Our princess is in another castle: A review of trends in serious gaming for education. *Review of Educational Research*, *82*(1), 61–89. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654312436980 Yu, Z., Gao, M. & Wang, L. (2020). The effect of educational games on learning outcomes, student motivation, engagement and satisfaction. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*. 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633120969214

Zakariya, Y. F. (2022). Cronbach's alpha in mathematics education research: Its appropriateness, overuse, and alternatives in estimating scale reliability. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1074430

# **Biographical note**

**KATERINA RUSEVSKA**, PhD, is an associate professor in the field of mycology and biology education at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. In the last 15 years, she has been involved in the professional development of pre-service biology teachers during their formal academic education, realizing theoretical and practical lessons in the field of biology education. Also, she is part of the teams for organizing training or seminars in science (biology and mycology) for primary and secondary school teachers, students or mycology amateurs and collectors.

**LAMBE BARANDOVSKI**, PhD, is an associate professor in the field of nuclear physics, and general physics at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. For more than 20 years, he has been involved in the organization and realization of national competition in physics for primary and secondary school students. He is part of the teams organizing workshops in science (physics) for in-service teachers, as well as training for preparing students for international olympiads in physics (IPhO, EuPhO, BPO) and science olympiads (IJSO).

VLADIMIR M. PETRUŠEVSKI, PhD, is a retired full professor of physical chemistry and of chemistry education at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. His research interests comprise experiments in chemistry teaching, demonstrations, models, analogies, and animations. Fields of expertise: molecular spectroscopy (IR and Raman methods) and structural chemistry. He is involved in the organization of national chemistry competitions and international olympiads and in the organization of chemistry spectacles.

ALEKSANDRA NAUMOSKA, MSc, is a teaching assistant in the field of organic chemistry and chemistry education at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. Her research interests include implementation of new approaches and teaching methods in chemical education, game-based learning, alternative conceptions in organic stereochemistry and others. She is part of the teams for organization of the national competitions in science (for primary school students) and in chemistry (for primary and secondary school students). Also, she is involved in the organization of chemistry spectacles.

**SLAVICA TOFILOVSKA**, MSc, is a teaching assistant the field of mycology and biology education at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. In the last 5 years, she has been involved in the professional development of pre-service biology teachers during their formal academic education, realizing practical lessons in the field of biology education, as well as in the practical lessons in mycology subjects. She is part of the teams for organization of the national competitions in science (biology) for primary school students.

**MARINA STOJANOVSKA**, PhD, is a full professor in the field of chemistry education at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje. Her research focuses on strategies for improving chemistry teaching, alternative conceptions in chemistry, game-based learning, experiments in chemistry teaching, green chemistry and others. For more than 15 years, she has been involved in the professional development of pre- and in-service chemistry teachers, national chemistry competitions, international olympiads, chemistry spectacles and other events.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1691

# Someone Like Me: A Trial of Context-Responsive Science as a Mechanism to Promote Inclusion

JANE ESSEX<sup>\*1</sup>, KIRSTY ROSS<sup>2</sup> AND INGEBORG BIRNIE<sup>2</sup>

This paper provides evidence gathered from two suites of non-formal sci- $\sim$ ence activities that were intended to increase engagement in science by culturally diverse groups. Both studies involved the delivery of science activities that were designed, implemented and evaluated to show culturally contextualised science. The activities were run in two very different contexts (urban and very rural areas) and were designed to be of relevance to two distinctive cultural groups (those with links to South Asia, and those being educated through the medium of Gaelic, an indigenous minority language in Scotland), while also actively engaging with those beyond the target group. The link between language identity and culture was incorporated into the design of both sets of activities as well as the qualitative evaluation. The latter considers how the participants' assessment of the interventions, implemented by writing or drawing on a blank postcard, was designed to provide unstructured responses and explores what the resulting data revealed about the impact of the interventions. The findings suggest that the set of activities that most strongly engaged participants on the value of diversity in the creation of scientific knowledge, as well as increasing their focus on the consequences of scientific activity, were those that facilitated a more exploratory approach to the subject matter. By contrast, activities that had to be done according to a standard scientific protocol produced growth in subject-specific knowledge. The present paper explores the principles of the inclusive pedagogies that informed the design of the activities and discusses how these were operationalised in two very contrasting cultural contexts. The key finding was that presenting science as social practice, rather than as being socially neutral, is key to promoting engagement, along with the benefits of explicitly demonstrating the relevance of science to participants' daily lives.

Keywords: inclusion, equity, culture, diversity, context-based science

<sup>1 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. Institute of Education, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom; jane.essex@strath.ac.uk.

<sup>2</sup> Institute of Education, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, United Kingdom.

# Nekdo kot jaz: preizkus naravoslovja, prilagojenega kontekstu, kot mehanizem za spodbujanje inkluzije

JANE ESSEX, KIRSTY ROSS IN INGEBORG BIRNIE

V prispevku so predstavljeni dokazi, zbrani na podlagi dveh sklopov ne- $\sim$ formalnih naravoslovnih dejavnosti, katerih namen je bil povečati vključenost kulturno raznolikih skupin v naravoslovje. Obe študiji sta vključevali izvajanje naravoslovnih dejavnosti, ki so bile zasnovane, izvedene in ovrednotene tako, da so prikazovale naravoslovje, kontekstualizirano s kulturo. Dejavnosti so se izvajale v dveh zelo različnih okoljih (mestna in podeželska območja) in so bile zasnovane tako, da so bile pomembne za dve različni kulturni skupini (člani prve imajo vezi z južno Azijo, člani druge skupine pa se izobražujejo v gelščini, jeziku avtohtone manjšine na Škotskem), hkrati pa so aktivno vključevale tudi osebe zunaj ciljne skupine. Povezava med jezikovno identiteto in kulturo je bila vključena v zasnovo obeh sklopov dejavnosti pa tudi v kvalitativno vrednotenje. Zadnje obravnava, kako so udeleženci ocenjevali intervencije, ki so jih izvajali s pisanjem ali z risanjem na prazno razglednico, in kako so bili zasnovani za zagotavljanje nestrukturiranih odgovorov, ter raziskuje, kaj so pridobljeni podatki razkrili o učinku intervencij. Rezultati kažejo, da je bil sklop dejavnosti, ki je udeležence najmočneje pritegnil k razmišljanju o vrednosti raznolikosti pri ustvarjanju naravoslovnega znanja in povečal njihovo osredinjenost na posledice naravoslovne dejavnosti, tisti, ki je omogočal bolj raziskovalen pristop k predmetu. Nasprotno pa so dejavnosti, ki jih je bilo treba izvajati skladno s standardnim znanstvenim protokolom, povzročile rast znanja o posameznem predmetu. V tem prispevku so raziskana načela inkluzivne pedagogike, ki so bila podlaga za oblikovanje dejavnosti, v prispevku pa obravnavamo tudi, kako so se ta načela izvajala v dveh zelo kontrastnih kulturnih okoljih. Ključna ugotovitev je bila, da je za spodbujanje sodelovanja udeležencev ključnega pomena predstaviti naravoslovje kot družbeno in ne družbeno nevtralno prakso ter da je koristno izrecno prikazati pomen naravoslovja za vsakdanje življenje udeležencev.

Ključne besede: inkluzija; pravičnost; kultura; raznolikost; naravoslovje, ki temelji na kontekstu

# Introduction

In Scotland, one of the four nations of the UK and the location of the reported study, the devolved government has had a strong focus on promoting STEM for all pupils. Despite this, concerns persist about recruitment to professional STEM pathways, overshadowing the importance of STEM for citizenship or socialisation (Scottish Government, 2017). The agenda to recruit professional scientists tends to understand science as a neutral and objective study of the natural world, set apart from the cultural environment in which it is practised. Paradoxically, while upholding the cultural neutrality of science, policy drivers may, unintentionally, prevent the equitable distribution of the benefits of STEM learning across the population. The present study considered whether presenting science as an activity intimately connected to its cultural context could enhance the engagement of groups who are currently under-represented in science. The intention was to achieve educational inclusion, as defined in the paper, as well as to meet the stated intention of Scottish education policy that every child should be 'present, participating and succeeding' (Scottish Government, 2019).

At present, there is a sad litany of groups who are under-represented in STEM or, more accurately, minoritised by the culture and practices of STEM (Campaign for Science and Education, 2016). Characteristics associated with disproportionately low uptake in STEM in the post-compulsory phases of education and in the STEM workplace provide the best indicator we currently have for those at risk of disaffection from science more generally. Evidence identifies that those with a below average engagement with STEM include those living in conditions of socioeconomic deprivation, those with disabilities, those whose first language is other than the dominant language of instruction, LGBTQ+ people, young carers, and those in remote geographical areas, as well as with intersecting combinations of such characteristics (All-Party Parliamentary Group, 2020). Other characteristics result in a more nuanced picture of exclusion, giving variable outcomes for people of colour depending on the precise ethnic identity, while gender is disadvantageous in different ways across different STEM disciplines (Campaign for Science and Education, 2016).One factor that recurs through studies of why these disparate groups are alienated from science and other STEM subjects is the discrepancy between their personal cultural identity and that which they associate with the pursuit of science (Archer et al., 2020; Asbacher et al., 2010; Vincent-Ruz & Schunn, 2018). The study that is reported here considers two interventions that sought to actively include participants who are culturally diverse: one case linked to ethnicity and the other to linguistic heterogeneity.

#### Inclusive education as aspiration and practice

Inclusion is commonly viewed in the UK as an approach to education that seeks to address the educational needs of children with disabilities within existing educational structures. This 'shorthand' view of diversity and inclusion may well arise from the fact that children with disabilities were legally excluded from standard state educational provision and educated in segregated settings (or not at all, in some cases) until well into the twentieth century in both Scotland and the rest of the UK. While disability may have been a proving ground for teachers' notions of differences and otherness, the list of characteristics set out in the introduction reminds us that difference takes many forms. Initially, as further diversity characteristics were understood to be associated with differing educational achievement, different pedagogical strategies were devised for the different categories of difference. The Swan Report (Committee of Enquiry into the Education of Children from Ethnic Minority Groups, 1985), for instance, was a response to the scholastic under-achievement of children of colour whose parents had arrived in the UK after World War Two. However, rather than a raft of different forms of inclusion, growing awareness of the complexities of educational identity has resulted in a more holistic notion of inclusion, as expressed in UNICEF's (n.d.) definition:

Inclusive education allows students of all backgrounds to learn and grow side by side, to the benefit of all.

Accompanying this, a newer notion of inclusion has seen a shift away from deficit thinking about diversity towards asset-based practices and consideration of how we can make a shared learning environment conducive to optimal learning by all. Success with such an approach has previously been reported in careers guidance (Drobnič, 2023) and might be expected to have a comparable impact in orientating young people towards science. The transformation has wrought a reconsideration of how diversity can enrich learning, rather than presenting a barrier to curriculum delivery (Göransson & Nilholm, 2014). However, the reality in the UK differs markedly from this aspiration. In many places, provision is very granular, with different school types serving young people with different characteristics. Even in Scotland, where education in the neighbourhood school is the presumed option (Scottish Government web site), STEM subjects are not equally taken up, despite being universally available. This raises questions about the ways in which STEM is especially exclusionary. The answer may lie deep within the culture of STEM, much of which springs from historical legacies that are no longer visible but have conferred an enduring pattern of thinking, practices and values regarding STEM subjects. To render science education genuinely inclusive, current practices and assumptions need to be subject to critical scrutiny in such a way as to dismantle the barriers that are embedded within them. This includes the remoteness of science from everyday practices in the home and community, the paucity of diverse role models, the use of unfamiliar terms and apparatus, and the notion that only controlled experimentation can produce valid findings (Essex, 2023). The repositioning of science as social knowledge could, conversely, be expected to enhance its accessibility to learners from a wide range of cultures.

#### Cultural diversity in science

Science could justifiably be described as having its own distinctive culture if we adopt a sociological definition of culture. This describes culture as being the values, beliefs, practices, language and communication that people share as a result of learning. It also includes the artefacts associated with their shared ways of thinking (Hall et al., 2003). Science clearly meets this definition in that it shares beliefs, some of which are foundational, including the belief that natural phenomena are subject to verifiable physical laws. Scientists also generally share the belief that ideas should be verifiable by controlled experimentation, and they communicate their work using a shared technical vocabulary, formulae and diagrams. Their artefacts are the very similar scientific instruments they use to conduct their experiments. Furthermore, treating science as a culture has enabled researchers to explore how it confers 'capital' in the Bourdieusian sense, that is, the power to make choices and achieve selfadvancement (Archer et al., 2020) in the way that Bourdieu described 'cultural capital' operating in wider society.

The agency that capital confers on its possessor is not, however, of universal value, but is dependent on the cultural environment in which the possessor finds themselves. This is the mechanism by which children who have had prior exposure to culture that is considered desirable at school find that they already have knowledge that is favoured in the school environment. Bourdieu considered this to be the mechanism whereby school sustains existing class inequalities (Bourdieu, 1984). The same mechanism is applicable when the impact of science capital is analysed. Children who come from home lives where science is used, talked about and valued, those who engage in scientific activities during their leisure time, are found to do well in science and to choose to pursue it after it ceases to be a compulsory school subject (Archer et al., 2020). One of the key recommendations to arise from Archer et al.'s work is that teachers

need to portray science not as something separate from pupils' everyday life, but as something relevant to it. Such endeavours could be interpreted as a renewed attempt to bridge 'two cultures' (Snow, 1959). As Reingold and Zamir (2017) note, despite the pressing need for such cultural mediation, there is far more said in policy than is known about successful practical implementation.

The need for conscious mediation between the culture of science and the 'popular' cultures of pupils' everyday lives is important for its uptake. School science has a history as an elitist subject, available only to people attending schools that were selective based on academic attainment and, very frequently, based on coming from a family that could pay large fees for school attendance (Jenkins, 1979). The fees enabled the provision of specialist laboratory facilities for science and the recruitment of highly educated teachers, who presented a curriculum that was abstract and very intellectually demanding. The same teachers were over-represented in organisations that have come to define what science education ought to be (Jenkins, 2013), such as the Association for Science Education. Ultimately, an elite minority have made their own, very particular version of science synonymous with the entire subject. Their legacy is a subject that is commonly perceived as 'hard' and 'male, pale and stale' (Chambers, 1983; Finson et al., 1995), and that has not responded in a timely manner to the ever more diverse nature of learners in science classrooms (All-Party Parliamentary Group, 2020). 'Draw-a-scientist' methodologies show repeatedly that young people see scientists as someone not like them, in that they are older, only one gender and only one ethnicity. They are also commonly depicted as 'mad', secretive, engaging in dangerous activities and exceptionally clever (Chambers 1983; Finson et al., 1995). Other researchers describe the frequency with which scientists are perceived as different, often cleverer than them (Osborne et al., 2010). Children's notions of scientists as people very different from themselves are accompanied by ideas about the strangeness of what they do, how they do it and the objects they use. This contrasts sharply with 'folk science' or 'naïve science', which relates to familiar, everyday objects and phenomena (Champagne et al., 1983). The combination of these factors makes formal science seem culturally alien to many young people.

#### Inclusive science pedagogy

Attempts to enact inclusion in pedagogy quicky become mired in conflicting performativity pressures to which science, as a 'gatekeeper' subject, is especially prone. Such efforts are also hampered by the tendency of school systems to view diversity as an administrative challenge and a drain on resources (Essex et al., 2019). The fear of diminishing attainment by promoting inclusion is a common fallacy, despite evidence to the contrary (Palid et al., 2023). The common result is a tokenistic reference to different cultures, which may succeed only in 'othering' minority groups (Alexiadou & Essex, 2015). Gibson (2015, p. 2) notes that this leads to a situation in which "[i]nclusion becomes about attempts to induct that which is 'different' into already established forms and dominant institutional cultures". However, full inclusion would seek not to subsume a minority culture into the hegemonic culture, but to actively incorporate diverse positions as valuable assets for everyone.

Mensah and Larson (2017) posit six approaches to (culturally) inclusive pedagogy. They call for culturally relevant, culturally responsive, culturally congruent and culturally sustaining science education for both teachers and students. They also advocate the intentional deployment of the 'funds of knowledge' that students bring in from beyond the classroom and, aligned to this, they encourage the use of the 'third space', that is, places that are neither school nor home, for the elicitation of such knowledge. These approaches all affirm cultural identities and draw upon them in the creation of scientific knowledge, emphatically rejecting any notions of inadequacy amongst the marginalised. Similarly, Cobian et al. (2024) advocate the centring of cultural identity in STEM undergraduate programmes. Evidence of the practical difficulties in implementing these changes in practice is provided by Underwood and Mensah (2018), whose interviews with science teacher educators indicate a recognition of the imperative to enact culturally responsive pedagogies, but, at the same time, reveal a lack of knowledge of how this might be carried out in practice. The strategies are intended to show science education to be much more than the transmission of objective facts and to include the development of critical insights into how science has been practised and used. However, Cobian et al. (2024) caution that systematic changes in the support and climate in educational spaces are needed alongside curriculum and pedagogic reform if uptake is to be diversified. One under-acknowledged source of support for minoritised students who persevere with science is their community, and initiatives that enable community members to contribute to teaching are a powerful source of affirmation (Aschbacher et al., 2010).

The characteristics of inclusive pedagogy can be summarised in the following framework, based on work by Pomeroy (1994) and updated in the light of evidence that has been published since its inception (Essex, 2023). Note that this framework is designed to ensure optimal learning by all pupils, irrespective of individual characteristics, but it is certainly applicable to culturally diversity populations.

#### 1. Relevant

The importance of showing science as something that impacts upon learners' daily lives has been established by various context-based science courses. Although the academic gains are commonly not large, there are marked improvements in attitudes towards science and there is evidence of a reduction in the gap between groups in this regard by enhancing the positive views of the group that had been previously less enthusiastic about science (Bennett et al., 2007). It is important, however, that the contexts and applications of science are shown in a diverse way, so that a 'male, stale and pale' image of people to whom science matters is not perpetuated. Another aspect of making science relevant is the deployment of multi-modal resources, including hands-on and sensory exploration, different types of images, speech, written texts and a range of digital media. A further pedagogic consideration is the deployment of a range of teaching and learning strategies, including group work. This enables pupils to draw on their personal knowledge and to have it validated.

#### 2. Free from prejudice and respectful of diverse responses

Inclusive pedagogy must, of necessity, start from the position that everyone has both the capacity to learn and the capacity to contribute. This requires teachers to challenge any barriers created by low expectations and negative stereotyping. In this environment, diversity is seen as a resource to be valued, rather than a problem to be corrected (Rapp & Corral-Granados, 2021). Critically challenging structural barriers to the fair treatment of everyone is an important aspect of actively countering prejudice. By showing how inequalities in power have enabled science to become a exclusionary undertaking, we equip our young people to re-evaluate their ideas about what science is and who has made valuable but unacknowledged contributions.

#### 3. The three R's: reflective, reflexive and responsive

Teacher disposition is at the heart of inclusive teaching, although many teachers continue to see inclusion as a question of resourcing or the acquisition of specialist techniques (Alexiadou & Essex, 2015). The tendency to locate difficulties associated with inclusion in the diverse pupil perpetuates a deficiency model of diversity. The most effective teachers have been found to be those who take responsibility for the learning in their classrooms and demonstrate reflexion, that is, they recognise their role in the events that unfold. They incorporate this awareness of their own impact in an ongoing cycle of observation of pupils during lessons, reflection on the outcomes of lessons and, in response to the insights derived from this, revise future teaching as indicated (European Agency

for Development in Special Needs Education, 2012).

#### 4. Constructed to offer diverse pathways to success

One of the fundamental pedagogic shifts that has taken place in response to the increasingly diverse pupil population is the shift away from a single learning pathway that all pupils will follow in an identical manner. It is now expected that there will be multiple ways to undertake an expected piece of learning, providing challenge alongside support, as needed. Support may be required with language, whether this is because pupils customarily use other languages than the one of school instruction, or whether it is due to unfamiliarity with technical vocabulary and unfamiliar apparatus. Ensuring that all learners can both understand and contribute to the learning constitutes testimonial epistemic justice (Fricker, 2007), which must be a primary aim of inclusive education. Another crucial consideration is the need to allow sufficient time for the repetition and reflection that give rise to deep learning (Bruner, 1966). In the case of science, which is commonly presented as a content-rich subject (Hirsch, 1996) that requires children to learn facts, emphasising science as an approach may be a helpful way to reconceptualise success. This provides the learner with the chance to tackle problems in a scientific manner and removes anxiety about knowing the right answer.

#### Research aims

The present study was constructed to evaluate the impact of intentionally culturally inclusive science activities on young people's responses to such activities. The work was designed to answer the following research questions:

- 1. To what extent do intentionally inclusive science activities successfully convey the intended scientific concepts?
- 2. Do intentionally inclusive science activities alter young people's ideas about science?

# Method

#### Participants

Three plant science activities were run in two Scottish botanic gardens and at two science festivals, where participants included families and social groups as well as school groups of pupils and their teachers. The venues were selected because of their location and because the places where the activities were being conducted could reasonably be expected to attract culturally diverse visitors. The sampling was random, as it depended on the decision of adults to visit the gardens or festivals. The participants chose how long they wished to spend on the activities and the time spent varied from a few minutes to half an hour.

The second set of activities comprised forensic science tests devised to appeal to schools educating children through the medium of Gaelic, the majority of which are based in the rural northwest of Scotland and islands to the west of that. Gaelic is commonly presented in popular media as a language linked to a historic past, but not as a modern language of the twenty-first century (Dumore, 2017). For this reason, the research team was interested to know whether that stereotype could be challenged by the presentation of modern analytical techniques and materials in the medium of Gaelic. Sampling was purposive, in that all of the schools in the target area were contacted. However, access to the young people was by the agreement of the teachers in the schools.

#### Instruments

The evaluation process was approved by the University of Strathclyde's School of Education Ethics Committee before data gathering began. In order to be as inclusive as possible, designing evaluation tools that were equally inclusive was integral to the design of the activities. The same format of data gathering instrument was used in both sets of activities, with appropriate minor modifications to make it relevant to the set of activities to which it related. To that end, postcards were used that asked the young people who took part in the interventions to write or draw their ideas about plant science or forensic science before doing the activities, and then again afterwards (Ross et al., 2023; Ross, 2023). The question at the top of the postcard was 'What do you think about when you hear the words plant science/forensic science?'. On the back of the postcard, to be filled in after doing the activities, was the question, 'What do you now think about when you hear the word plant science (or forensic science)?' The postcards were available in English and the sixteen community languages in use in Scotland: Arabic, French, Finnish, Gaelic, German, Greek, Italian, Malay, Maltese, Polish, Romanian, Russian, Urdu, Pashto, Sinhalese and Welsh. Translations into all of these languages had been obtained by asking members of a public engagement group who knew languages other than English, and participants could choose to use whichever version of the evaluation card they wanted. Skin-tone crayons were provided to enable participants to represent people of diverse ethnicities in their drawings. In addition, a ten-item questionnaire was created on a secure web area and a QR code to access this was shared with participating adult members of the public and teachers accompanying the young people, based on the Dimensions of Attitudes towards Science survey instrument (Wendt & Rockinson-Szapkiw, 2018). Finally, field notes were written at the end of each session and noteworthy comments made by the participants were recorded in the notes.

The questionnaire administered to teachers and accompanying adults at both sets of activities contained the following questions and statements:

- **Q1** I think that science education is essential for helping children and young people become more involved with society's problems.
- Q2 I enjoy teaching science
- Q3 Which subjects do you think that your children and young people like best?
- Q4 In what ways or contexts do you think they recognise the importance of science in their daily lives?
- Q5 What jobs do you think your children and young people aspire to do?
- **Q6** How many people do your children and young people know who use science in their job? Who are they and what jobs do they do?
- **Q7** Do your children and young people find science interesting?
- Q8 Do your children and young people find science hard?
- **Q9** Do you think that the sort of science you teach in school/youth group is the same as what real scientists do?
- **Q10** Do your children and young people think they could make a new scientific discovery?

#### Science activities

Two sets of science activities were devised, informed by the principles of inclusive pedagogy, especially those of Menson and Larson (2017). The activities were intended to model culturally responsive approaches relevant to two cultural groups who appear to be under-represented in the media of science education, and who may therefore feel alienated from science.

The first set of activities related to the interconnections between Scottish plant scientists and those of South Asia, with the intention of engaging people who had links to, or were interested in, South Asia. The activities were informed by ideas of 'decolonising the curriculum' and considering the power imbalances that made it possible for northern hemisphere travellers to exploit the people and natural resources of the southern hemisphere, including its plants (Begum & Saini, 2019). Most importantly, however, there was no suggestion that the activities were only for those of South Asian heritage. This suite contained three activities:

- A sniff and match activity, in which visitors were asked to match whole spices to processed spice; for example, matching whole cloves to clove oil by smell. This activity was accompanied by conversations about the parts of the plants that gave us spices, the evolutionary origin of spices and the biological activity as well as chemical composition.
- 2. A 'junk modelling' activity in which visitors were asked to build a plant carrying case suitable for carrying specimens (a piece of sprouting ginger rhizome, coriander seeds and saffron crocus bulb) on a ship for six months, as the eighteenth-century explorers had to. The activity was accompanied by a discussion about the impact of advances in technology to transport plants on local and global economies and a conversation about the lives of some Scottish and South Asian plant scientists, for whom an accompanying set of short biographies were provided.
- 3. A cyanotype (blue printing) activity in which visitors were asked to use letters, negative images of plant scientists from Scotland and South Asia, and pressed South Asian plant specimens to create an image showing what they had learned.

The second suite of four activities comprised a set of forensic activities designed to enable participants to deduce who had dumped litter, resulting in the death of a rare seabird that had ingested the litter. The context was chosen to be of relevance to children in places where ecotourism involving observing wildlife is essential to the local economy. The associated worksheets, casts of shoe prints, photographs of evidence, labels on experimental apparatus and reagents used by the pupils were written in Gaelic and a supporting vocabulary list was provided for teachers with Gaelic-English translations of all of the technical terms to assist its use with pupils who were not proficient Gaelic speakers. The context of the analysis concerned a puffin that had been found dead, with the death being attributable to the bird having eaten plastic items among litter that had been illegally dumped on a beach. The importance of ecotourism in rural parts of Scotland was intended to make the problem relevant to the young people.

The evidence that was presented were footprints from the crime scene, fingerprints and a (synthetic) blood sample recovered from items in the bag of rubbish, as well as DNA profiles from blood and hairs found at the crime scene. These were compared to those of three suspects, whose data was provided. The activities followed on sequentially, although they were not all offered to all participants, depending on the ages of the children. The sequential nature of the activities required them to be carried out in an ordered way. This contrasted with the first suite of activities, each of which was 'standalone' and so permitted participants to do the activities in any order they chose or to omit activities completely if they wished to. The forensic science activities were run in schools in the northwest of Scotland, where teachers were able to observe the resources being used with their pupils. The sessions lasted between 40 and 60 minutes. In addition, three professional development sessions were run online for teachers to support them in the use of the forensic kits. Although the activities were different in the second group, basic demographic data captured on the evaluation cards indicated that the age profiles of the participants were similar to those who engaged with the first set of activities.

#### **Research Design**

The data processing took the form of a compilation of the quantitative data generated by Likert scales associated with some of the questions and statements in the questionnaire given to teachers and other adults. The answers to the open-ended questions on both the questionnaire and the postcards were subject to thematic analysis in the following stages. Firstly, the two sets of data were coded separately, that is, terms, phrases or images with shared meaning (though not necessarily the same words) were assigned a common code (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

The use of the postcards is illustrated by the following example. One completed postcard depicted the outline of a body on the floor, a microscope and the phrase 'DNA'. The outline of the body and the microscope were judged to be about the scientific process specific to the context of forensic science, while the DNA was judged to be factual knowledge specific to the activity. Afterwards, the same participant provided a bullet point list setting out materials relevant to the activities they had done. The list comprised blood, hair, DNA and fingerprint. Initially reflecting repeatedly upon the very disparate data gave rise to lower order codes, such as forensic science process and forensic science reagents. Further reflection gave rise to three high order themes that overarched all of the meanings conveyed by the raw data, of which the lower order themes formed sub-themes. The themes were general epistemology, top-ic-specific content and the impact of scientific knowledge. The resultant sub-themes and derived themes are shown in the columns headed 'sub-themes' and 'themes' respectively in Table 2.

After analysis of the raw data, the two sets of data were observed to give equivalent sub-themes, which made it possible to compare how they had

been received by the participants. Finally, the analysis was compared with field notes and feedback from colleagues who had been present to ensure that the themes fairly represented the reactions of the participants (King, 2004). Once the themes and sub-themes had been agreed, the four data sets (plant science, forensic science; before intervention and after intervention) were analysed separately. A tally was made of the incidence with which the different sub-themes were expressed in the raw data, expressed as a proportion of the total responses, using the formula:

```
number of responses corresponding to the sub-theme
total number of responses = proportion of answers referring to the sub-theme
```

The descriptive statistical approach enabled a comparison to be made of the frequency with which different ideas were expressed before carrying out the activities and identified any shift in thinking due to the intervention.

# Results

The data gathered are summarised below.

#### Table 1

Responses to the questionnaires administered to adults.

**Q1** I think that science education is essential for helping children and young people become more involved with society's problems.

Response	Tally
Strongly agree	9
Agree	6
Neutral	
Total	15

#### Q2 I enjoy teaching science

Response	Tally
Strongly agree	4
Agree	8
Neutral	3

Subject	Category/number of responses	Number of responses	
Practical science		2	
Science	CTEN 11	4	
STEM	STEMTI	3	
Mathematics		2	
Active learning		4	
Practical science	Experiential learning 18	2	
PE		5	
Art		6	
Music		1	
Ones that connect to their context		1	
Health and well-being	Other 4	1	
Reading/literacy		2	
Total		33	

Q3 Which subjects do you think that your children and young people like best?

Q4 In what ways or contexts do you think they recognise the importance of science in their daily lives?

Response	onse Location	
Few or none	Not applicable	4
Teaching/class discussion		3
Science teaching	School input	2
Hands on experiences		2
	Total	8
News		1
Technology around them		1
Natural world	Out of school experience	1
Climate change		1
Media		1
	Total	5
	All responses	17

Job	Category	Responses
Mechanic		2
Engineer		1
Builder		1
Distillery work		1
Farming/crofting		2
Engineering	STEM related	1
Game keeper		1
Work in renewable energy sector		1
Work at NASA		1
Digital media (gamer/You Tuber/influencer/games designer)		5
	Total	16
Nurse/doctor		5
Teacher		3
Police	Public sector	1
Firefighter		1
Soldier		1
	Total	11
Journalist		1
Footballer		3
Hairdresser	Service sector	1
Young parent	Service sector	1
Shop assistant		1
Artist		1
	Total	8
	All responses	35

# Q5 What jobs do you think your children and young people aspire to do?

# Table 2

Summary of responses to online questionnaires

		Plant science activities				Forensic science activities			
Theme	Subtheme	Before	Proportion of answers	After	Proportion of answers	Before	Proportion of answers	After	Proportion of answers
Epistemology	Scientific knowledge	17	.18	8	.10	1	.02	0	0
	Scientific process or activities	11	.12	15	.19	15	.30	30	.41
Topic-specific	Location/habitat/ context of science	7	.08	12	.15	9	.18	2	.03
	Factual knowledge, e.g., names of plants or tests and reagents	37	.40	17	.21	11	.22	30	.41
	People who do science	3	.03	6	.08	6	.12	4	.05
	Diversity	0	0	3	.04	0	0	0	0
Impact of knowledge	Utilitarian outcomes	6	.06	17	.21	6	.12	7	.09
	Affective response	11	.12	9	.11	0	0	1	.01
	Total	92	1.00	80	1.00	50	1.00	74	100

Only eight participants provided drawings as part of their response and those made at the plant science activities were considerably more detailed.

Changes in the participants' thinking were indicated by the changing proportion with which different sub-themes featured in their answers before or after the intervention. The most noticeable shift - brought about by carrying out some or all of the plant science activities - was away from emphasising scientific knowledge towards engaging further with the scientific process. This shift was also reflected in what the participants communicated about the topic under study, with fewer factual comments about plants and more said about the people creating the scientific knowledge. The emphasis on science as a process, rather than a static and unquestionable body of knowledge, enhances accessibility and is a powerful tool for engaging a wider audience (McComas, 1996). There were also increased references to habitat and the interactions between plants and animals. For an intervention designed to explore cultural diversity in science, it was surprising to find only three pieces of data referring explicitly to diversity in the post-intervention data. One possible explanation for this is that asking about what they knew about science signalled that the responses expected would resemble those required for a school science test. The other change shown by the data is a proportionately large increase in awareness of the usefulness of scientific knowledge. This would have been predicted given that the activities focused on food products from plants. Anecdotal evidence recorded in the field notes suggest that the everyday nature of the plant science activities made them accessible. One child exclaimed, 'It smells like Christmas' while sniffing the whole cloves, and many of the participants talked about the dishes they associated with the different spices. There was, however, only one explicit comment on the multilingual postcards, when a primary aged child observed, 'My granny uses this', when they saw the card in Urdu.

The forensic science activities brought about a doubling in focus on the scientific process. Responses regarding the science underpinning the activities showed a large drop in focus on context, a near trebling of the proportion of answers providing factual knowledge, such as the names of tests or reagents, and a reduction in references to the people who do the science. This content-rich form of forensic science may align with pupils' perceptions of school science. There was no reference to linguistic diversity or culture in the feedback. The most common reference to the context of the activities was several comments by teachers about their appreciation that the researchers had visited them in their very rural location, rather than asking them to travel to a centre of population. There was also satisfaction at being given previously translated material, as many Gaelic medium teachers find translating English language resources into

Gaelic very time-consuming. Disappointingly, given that the activity had been chosen as one of direct relevance, by the time the interventions ended there was no change in the participants' recognition of the impact of the knowledge generated by the activities. This was surprising given the literature, which advocates for culturally relevant pedagogy (Aschbacher et al., 2010; Cobian et al., 2024; Mensah & Moore, 2017).

A comparison of the differences between the two sets of activities showed that they both brought about a change in people's thinking about science in general and about the area of science under study. The forensic science activities were especially successful at increasing the participants' awareness of the processes associated with science, but there was also a marked increase in focus on the factual aspects of the activity and a correspondingly reduced focus on the context in which the science was situated.

## Discussion

The major factor limiting the gathering of data on impact seems to have been time constraints and the inevitable tension between taking time from science communication activities to leave sufficient time for feedback. The relatively short duration of the interventions also limited the level of impact that the activities could be expected to exert. There was greater detail in the drawings arising from the plant science activities, which were gathered at a public event, where participants were able to take as much time they wanted over the activities and evaluation. Conversely, delivering the forensic science activities in a school setting inevitably meant that the participants had limited time, dictated by their timetable. As described previously, external factors create time pressures that mitigate the desire for truly inclusive pedagogy, which raises major questions about our beliefs regarding what the most important outcomes from education should be.

Similarly, time pressures limited the response rates to the questionnaires. Nevertheless, some trends do appear within the data. As might be expected of staff who volunteered to engage with an additional science activity, they expressed positive views about science in school and their teaching of it (Q1, Q2 and Q7). They also believe that their pupils enjoy science, with both STEM subjects and 'hands on' subjects being considered popular; science has the considerable advantage of occupying both categories. This popularity sits alongside a view of science as only 'sometimes hard' (Q8). The teachers appear to see themselves as the main source of awareness about the role of science in the wider world (Q4). They also identify, whether consciously or not, a disconnect between school science and professional science (Q9), but nevertheless believe in the scientific capacity of their pupils and entertain positive views regarding whether their pupils could make a scientific discovery (Q10). Allied to this, many jobs that use STEM subjects were identified as career aspirations, although whether this factor contributed to the choices cannot be known. Familiarity with people who do STEM-related jobs doubtless plays a part in this, since it raises 'science capital', although the disconnect between aspiration and future realisation remains a major barrier (De Witt et al., 2013).

The two sets of activities were quite distinctive in their design and execution. The two participating populations were very different in a number of important ways, so it is difficult to make a direct comparison. Despite this, the plant science activities were more closely related to everyday life and were designed to allow participants a high level of choice about how they tackled the activities they undertook. Although the activities could be linked to formal scientific theories, the explanations offered were determined by the aspects in which the participants expressed interest; for example, based on the questions they asked or the observations they made. In this respect, the activities could be considered to be complex, context-based science and were not driven by any single element of the school curriculum. The decrease in factual knowledge relating to the topic may reflect the fact that the activities were very different to those that the participants would associate with formal science instruction. On the other hand, the forensic activities were far more structured, with each activity illustrating one technique and one scientific concept, such as the way everyone has unique fingerprints and why. In this way, the delivery was much more akin to a standard school science lesson. Both the singularity of content and the predetermined outcome of the forensic science activities more closely resembled the format of formal science lessons. The approach may be reflected in the increased focus on topic-specific content shown on the postcards.

The participants' responses raise some interesting points about how science educators might set about working most effectively with culturally diverse audiences in future. Both sets of activities were designed and delivered in keeping with the criteria for generally inclusive science teaching (or knowledge exchange) and, additionally, to exhibit diversity identifiers. However, there was very little acknowledgement of the impact of the overt message about diversity in science. This raises important questions about whether such diversity markers may be viewed as superficial or tokenistic and disregarded (Alexiadou & Essex, 2015). Alternatively, they may serve as a general signal of intentional cultural pluralism, which, in turn, is associated with an improved diversity climate, in which both psycho-social impacts and academic outcomes are enhanced (Schachner, 2019). This impact extends beyond those to whom any specific diversity signifier has personal meaning, as was shown in some of the anecdotal evidence. The implication of the latter explanation is that every science activity, whether formal or informal, would need to be matched very precisely to the cultural profile of the intended audience. It also treats diversity as a series of discrete categories rather than a complex and fluid aspect of society (Kraus, 2012). Such an approach would be both practically challenging and directly counter to the notion that education should broaden young people's understanding of their world and the different people in it (Biesta, 2010).

The generation of the sub-themes and themes suggests that the participants' notions about science fell into two categories: those relating to science in general and those relating to the specific topic being studied. There was a corresponding dichotomy of focus on the processes of science and the knowledge that arises from them, with a shift in the proportion of responses in the subthemes from content, both general and topic-specific, towards the processes by which the knowledge is generated. Similarly, there was an increase in focus on the people who do science, which would facilitate further discussions about the ways in which science and culture are inter-related. Both groups showed an awareness of the consequences of scientific activities, but an increase in awareness of the impacts of science was only observed in response to the plant science activities. Interestingly, the forensic science activities did not provide evidence of an increased knowledge of social impact, despite their intended relevance to the young people's social and cultural context.

## Conclusion

Efforts to explicitly involve diverse cultural groups via multilingual resources and the selection of culturally relevant topics resulted in slight changes in the participants' views of science, but did not result in an explicit articulation of the place of diverse knowledge in the pursuit of science. Nevertheless, there was evidence that these signifiers of diversity were noted and appreciated by a few participants and were not a deterrent to others. More significantly for future efforts to enhance social inclusion, the two sets of activities provide some evidence of how to bring about changes in thinking about what science actually is. Some of these changes could be expected to enhance engagement in science by those who are currently under-engaged. Noticeably, the set of activities that differed most from the format typically taken by school science brought about more changes in viewpoint that would be expected to mitigate the deterrent features of science. The study provides evidence of the benefits of a less content-driven approach to science, one that presents alternative ways of being scientific and presents science as body of knowledge to which very diverse people have contributed (and will continue to contribute). The findings suggest that easily assessed scientific knowledge is not the most inclusive version of science, nor is it ultimately the most socially sustainable. The implication of these findings for future practice is that the nature of science in the curriculum, and its associated assessment, may need radical review.

#### Acknowledgement

This research was part of the project "DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-formal Education for Students' Diversity", which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union under the grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein. The Gaelic Medium Education intervention "Rannsachadh Àrainn Eucoir: Am Puffin Bochd" (in English: Crime Scene Investigation: The Poorly Puffin) was co-funded by the Royal Society of Chemistry Outreach Fund. We thank the RSC for its support of this work.

# References

Alexiadou, N., & Essex, J. (2015). Teacher education for inclusive practice – Responding to policy. Journal of Teacher Education and Teachers' Work, 39(1), 5-19.

All-Party Parliamentary Group. (2020). *Diversity and inclusion in STEM: Inquiry on equity in STEM education*. https://www.britishscienceassociation.org/appg-diversity-inclusion-stem

Archer, L., Moote, J., MacLeod, E., Francis, B., & DeWitt, J. (2020). ASPIRES 2: Young people's science and career aspirations, age 10-19. UCL Institute of Education. https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10092041/15/Moote\_9538%20U CL%20Aspires%202%20report%20full%20online%20version.pdf Aschbacher, P. R., Li, E., & Roth, E. J. (2010). Is science me? High school students' identities, participation and aspirations in science, engineering, and medicine. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(5), 564–582.

Begum, N., & Saini, R. (2019). Decolonising the curriculum. *Political Studies Review*, *17*(2), 196–201. Bennett, J., Lubben, F., & Hogarth, S. (2007). Bringing science to life: A synthesis of the research evidence on the effects of context-based and STS approaches to science teaching. *Science Education*, *91*(3), 347–370. Biesta, G. (2010). *Good education in an age of measurement: Ethics, politics, democracy*. Paradigm Publishers.

Bourdieu, P. (1984) *Distinction: A social critique of the judgement of taste.* Routledge and Kegan Paul Ltd.

Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital. In J. G. Richardson, (Ed.), *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education* (pp. 241-258). Greenwood.

Braun V., & Clarke V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3, 77–101.

Bruner, J. (1960). The process of education. Harvard University Press.

Chambers D. W. (1983). Stereotypic images of the scientist: The draw-a-scientist test. *Science Education*, 67(2), 255–265.

Cobian K. P., Hurtado S., Romero A. L., & Gutzwa, J. A. (2024) Enacting inclusive science: Culturally

responsive higher education practices in science, technology, engineering, mathematics, and

medicine (STEMM). PLoS ONE, 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0293953

Committee of Enquiry into the Education of Children from Ethnic Minority Groups. (1985). *Education for All*. Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

DeWitt, J., Osborne, J., Archer, L., Dillon, J. Willis, B., & Wong, B. (2103). Children's aspirations in science: The unequivocal, the uncertain and the unthinkable. *International Journal of Science* 

Education, 35(6), 1037-1063.

Drobnič, J. (2023). People with Special needs and career development based on strength. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 13(3), 231-232.

European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education. (2012). *Teacher Education for Inclusion*. https://www.unicef.org/albania/reports/teacher-education-inclusion-te41

Essex, J. (2023). Inclusive and accessible science for students with additional or special needs: How to teach science effectively to diverse learners in secondary schools. Routledge.

Essex, J., Alexiadou, N, & Zwozdiak-Myers, P. (2019). Understanding inclusion in teacher education

 a view from student teachers in England. International Journal of Inclusive Education, 25(12), 1425-1442. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1614232

Finson K. D., Beaver J. B., & Cramond, B. L. (1995). Development and field test of a checklist for the draw-a-scientist test. *School Science and Mathematics*, 95(4), 195–205.

Fricker, M. (2007). Epistemic injustice: Power and the ethics of knowing. Oxford University Press.

Gibson, S. (2015). When rights are not enough: What is? Moving towards new pedagogy for inclusive education within UK universities. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *1*9(8), 875-886. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2015.1015177

Göransson, K., & Nilholm, C. (2014). Conceptual diversities and empirical shortcomings – A critical analysis of research on inclusive education. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 29(3), 265-280.

Gunstone, R., Klopfer, L. E., & Champagne, A. B. (1983). Naive knowledge and science learning. *Research in Science and Technological Education*, 1(2), 173-183.

Hall, J. R., Neitz, J., & Battani, M. (2003). *Sociology on culture*. Routledge, Taylor and Francis Group. Hirsch, E. D. (1996). *The schools we need*. Doubleday.

Jenkins, E. W. (1979). From Armstrong to Nuffield: Studies in twentieth-century science education in England and Wales. John Murray.

Jenkins, E. W. (2013). Advancing science education: The first fifty years of the Association for Science Education. Association for Science Education.

King, N. (2004). Using templates in the thematic analysis of text. In C. Cassell, & G. Symon

(Eds.), Essential guide to qualitative methods in organizational research (pp. 257-270). Sage.

Kraus, P. A. (2012). The politics of complex diversity: A European perspective. *Ethnicities*, 12(1), 3-25.

McComas, W. (1996). The nature of science in science instruction: Rationales and strategies. Springer.

Mensah, F. M., & Larson, K. (2017). A summary of inclusive pedagogies for science education. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine.

Osborne, J., Simon, S., & Collins, S. (2010). Attitudes towards science: A review of the literature and its implications. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(9), 1049-1079.

Palid, O., Cashdollar, S., Deangelo, S., Chu, C., & Bates, M. (2023). Inclusion in practice: A systematic review of diversity-focused STEM programming in the United States. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 10(2).

Pomeroy, D. (1994). Science education and cultural diversity: Mapping the field, *Studies in Science Education*, *24*, 49-73.

Rapp, A. C., & Corral-Granados, A. (2021). Understanding inclusive education – a theoretical contribution from system theory and the constructionist perspective. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2021.1946725

Reingold, R., & Zamir, S. (2017). Multicultural education vs. implicit and explicit ethnocentric education: text analysis of a contemporary Israeli value education program. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, *7*(4), 63-83.

Ross, K. (2023). Pre- and post-evaluation cards: CSI The Poorly Puffin. [Online resource]. https://doi. org/10.6084/m9.figshare.22560451.v2

Ross, K., Bhatti, S., Birnie, I., & Essex, J. (2023). DiSSI: GlasWeeAsian evaluation tools. [Online resource]. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.22561465.v4

Schachne, M. K. (2019). From equality and inclusion to cultural pluralism – Evolution and effects of cultural diversity perspectives in schools, *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *16*(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2017.1326378

Scottish Government. (2017). Science Technology Engineering Mathematics Education and Training Strategy for Scotland. https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/ strategy- plan/2017/10/science-technology-engineering-mathematics-education-training-strategyscotland/documents/00526536-pdf/00526536-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00526536.pdf

Scottish Government. (2019). *Presumption to provide education in a mainstream setting: guidance.* https://www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-presumption-provide-education-mainstream-setting/ Snow, C. P. (1959). *The two cultures and the scientific revolution*. Cambridge University Press. Underwood, J. B., & Mensah, F. M. (2018). An investigation of science teacher educators' perceptions of culturally relevant pedagogy. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 29(1), 46-64.

UNICEF. (n.d.). Inclusive education. https://www.unicef.org/education/inclusive-education

Vincent-Ruz, P., & Schunn, C. D. (2018). The nature of science identity and its role as the driver of student choices. *International Journal of STEM Education*, *5*(48), 1-12.

Wendt, J. L., & Rockinson-Szapkiw, A. (2018). A psychometric evaluation of the English version of the dimensions of attitudes toward science instrument with a U.S. population of elementary educators. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *70*, 24-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.009

# **Biographical note**

JANE ESSEX, PhD, is a Reader in chemistry education, with teaching and supervision responsibilities on the PGDE chemistry. She also contributes to the teaching of STEM education (science, technology, engineering and mathematics) on BA routes and the MA programme, as well as supervising research students from BA through to PhD routes. Dr Essex is an active member of the Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) and was awarded Fellowship of the RSC in 2013. Dr Essex is highly involved in the chemistry education research community and is keen that classroom practice should be securely based on research evidence. Beyond her work in teacher education and science education research, her major research and professional focus is inclusive science education, as part of which she is highly active in science outreach.

**KIRSTY ROSS**, PhD, is a microbiologist by training and has extensive experience working across three of Scotland's Higher Education Institutions (St Andrews, Strathclyde and Edinburgh) in the field of public engagement with research. Equity has always been a key driver in her approach to engagement. Her engagement strategy focuses on industrial and third sector organisations, as well as under-represented groups and audiences with low STEM capital, who would otherwise be overlooked, such as Early Years settings and young people with additional support needs. She is currently employed as Industrial Liaison in the School of Computer Science at the University of St Andrews, with research interests in making Wikipedia and her sister projects more inclusive, diverse, equitable and accessible spaces for open knowledge. **INGEBORG BIRNIE**, PhD, is a senior lecturer in Education at the Institute of Education at the University of Strathclyde (Glasgow, Scotland (UK)). Having previously worked as a secondary science teacher, her current research interests focus on language learning and teaching, and in particular indigenous minority languages, such as Scottish Gaelic, and how the use of these languages can be encouraged in a wide range of different and new domains, including in STEM subjects.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1707

# Non-formal Science Education: Moving Towards More Inclusive Pedagogies for Diverse Classrooms

Genco Guralp<sup>1</sup>, Martin McHugh<sup>2</sup> and Sarah Hayes<sup>2</sup>

The Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion-Non-formal Educa- $\sim$ tion in Science for Students' Diversity (DiSSI) project aimed to provide a holistic perspective on diversity, focusing specifically on cultural and ethnic identities, language, socioeconomic background, gender, as well as differing levels of achievement. In particular, the work presented in this paper aims to tackle consciously the issues surrounding teaching and learning in socio-economically deprived areas through non-formal education. This paper presents the results of a pilot study that examined how students participating in non-formal education engage with multi-modal pedagogical approaches designed to address multiple dimensions of diversity via an intersectionality lens. Working with diverse groups requires varied methods; as such, a mixed-method approach was employed in the study to ensure the research team authentically captured and engaged with the lived experiences of the participants. The study aimed to generate best practices that augment the science capital of students, which are applicable across various contexts of diversity. The pedagogical approaches, while not novel in science education literature, were rarely utilised by the teacher and thus were rarely experienced by the students. Participants reported a greater sense of autonomy and ownership of the science through participation in the DiSSI programme. Preliminary results indicate an overall positive experience for students and teachers alike and offer insights into the overall lived experiences of participants, which inform future work.

**Keywords:** socio-economic deprivation, diversity, equality and inclusion, science capital, context-based learning

<sup>1 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. San Diego State University, San Diego, USA; and Science Foundation Ireland Research Centre for Pharmaceuticals (SSPC), University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland; gguralp@sdsu.edu.

<sup>2</sup> Science Foundation Ireland Research Centre for Pharmaceuticals (SSPC), University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland.

# Neformalno naravoslovno izobraževanje: približevanje inkluzivnejšim pedagogikam za raznolike razrede

#### Genco Guralp, Martin McHugh in Sarah Hayes

Namen projekta Science towards Social Inclusion - Non-formal Education  $\sim$ in Science for Students' Diversity (DiSSI) je bil zagotoviti celosten pogled na raznolikost, s posebnim poudarkom na kulturnih in etničnih identitetah, jeziku, socialno-ekonomskem ozadju, spolu pa tudi na različnih ravneh dosežkov. Cilj dela, predstavljenega v tem prispevku, je zlasti zavestno reševanje vprašanj, povezanih s poučevanjem in z učenjem na socialno-ekonomsko prikrajšanih območjih prek neformalnega izobraževanja. V prispevku so predstavljeni rezultati pilotne študije, ki je preučevala, kako se učenci, ki sodelujejo v neformalnem izobraževanju, odzivajo na multimodalne pedagoške pristope, namenjene obravnavi več razsežnosti raznolikosti skozi prizmo intersekcionalnosti. Delo z različnimi skupinami zahteva različne metode; tako je bil v študiji uporabljen pristop z mešanimi metodami, da bi se zagotovilo, da je raziskovalna skupina avtentično zajela in upoštevala življenjske izkušnje udeležencev. Cilj študije je bil oblikovati najboljše prakse, ki povečujejo naravoslovni kapital študentov in so uporabne v različnih kontekstih raznolikosti. Pedagoške pristope, ki v naravoslovni literaturi sicer niso novi, je učitelj uporabil le redko, zato so jih učenci le redko izkusili. Udeleženci so poročali o večjem občutku avtonomije in lastništva naravoslovja zaradi sodelovanja v programu DiSSI. Preliminarni rezultati kažejo na splošno pozitivno izkušnjo za učence in učitelje ter ponujajo vpogled v splošne življenjske izkušnje udeležencev, ki so podlaga za nadaljnje delo.

Ključne besede: socialno-ekonomska prikrajšanost; raznolikost; enakost in inkluzija; naravoslovni kapital; učenje, temelječe na kontekstu
### Introduction

The value of diversity is well-documented for scientific research in general. Examining over nine million published papers and six million scientists, AlShebli and colleagues (2018) showed that scientific impact (measured using citation counts) strongly correlated with the ethnic diversity of researchers in a collaboration. Additionally, social diversity has recently appeared to be both a value and a challenge to be reckoned with in the field of science education (Mansour & Wegerif, 2013). Especially in urban contexts, science classrooms host a heterogeneous mix of students hailing from diverse backgrounds. These students study together with students that the teachers are traditionally more familiar with in their teaching experience, and from this perspective, the latter group may be seen as a 'dominant' one. Consequently, some students may experience pedagogical disparities as they belong to a minoritised group. The diversities in question may include cultural and ethnic identities, linguistic ability (including differing abilities in comprehending the language of instruction), socio-economic class, gender, as well as differing levels of achievement. As recently demonstrated by Archer and colleagues (2012), diversity categories such as gender, class, and socio-economic background heavily influence career decisions and science aspirations of students. Thus, if insufficiently addressed, diversity in science education can lead to the under-representation of minoritised populations, which in turn leads to significant social and economic inequalities. The Erasmus+ Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion (DiSSI) project aimed to develop science education practices that address the pedagogical needs of a diverse body of students to contribute to more egalitarian and inclusive science classrooms.

Two important aspects of diversity are not sufficiently addressed in the current literature: first, most of the recent work on diversity tends to be *descriptive*; researchers aim to map how contemporary students with diverse backgrounds view or understand the nature of science, the school science curriculum, or examine the reasons behind the lack of interest in science that is observed globally (Avraamidou & Schwartz, 2021; Lee & Luykx, 2006; Aschbacher et al., 2010). However, what practising teachers need most are *pedagogical tools* that are available for them to make use of when teaching in a diverse classroom (Acquah et al., 2020). Second, much of the research on the issue of which type of interventions are most helpful in addressing disadvantages that arise due to diversity tends to focus on a *single dimension* of diversity, most notably *gender* (Wright and Delgado, 2023) or *race* (White et al., 2019). However, as will be argued in detail below, diversity is a *holistic* notion; specifically, the various categories of diversity do not appear in isolation, but they are present in each individual as a whole. To develop a 'holistic' pedagogy, the DiSSI project singled out *five* specific dimensions of diversity, which the project partners have already built expertise on, and generated pedagogical approaches that are applicable in wider contexts by amalgamating this expertise. These specific dimensions are 1) linguistic diversity, 2) cultural diversity, 3) ethnic diversity, 4) socio-economic status, and 5) high-achieving students. Partners in the project each studied a single dimension of diversity and then exchanged and re-structured their pedagogical approaches to generate a set of strategies that can be employed in broadly generalisable ways.

In this paper, a pilot study that was conducted in Ireland as part of the DiSSI project is discussed. This paper has two specific aims. First, we aim to present a theoretical framework that provides a conceptual basis for developing pedagogical interventions for a diverse body of students. We believe that a solid theoretical understanding is essential for building pedagogical interventions, as this guides both their development and execution. Second, we aim to present the empirical results of our pilot project. The research and results presented in this paper are part of a general programme that was conducted in Limerick, Ireland. The main goal of our project in Ireland has been first to investigate which pedagogical practices are best suited to meet the science education needs of students from low socio-economic backgrounds and then examine how these strategies can be amended and improved based on the pedagogical practices the DiSSI partners developed to address diversity as a holistic notion. To this end, we have utilised a set of science workshops that were originally developed in a public engagement with a science setting aimed mainly at the non-formal sector,3 in addition to workshops specifically designed for DiSSI. These workshops are designed to be conducted in in-school and out-of-school settings with post-primary students. Even though the content and the pedagogical approach of the workshops vary, they all involve practice-oriented 'hands-on' activities that provide 'agency' to the students that they may insufficiently experience in the school science setting. One example of these activities is the Medicine Maker workshop, in which students 'manufacture' dummy capsules using a capsule-filling plate and other equipment. The main guiding question for our study has been to

<sup>3</sup> The DiSSI project focuses on *non-formal learning* as it provides the researchers with greater flexibility to design and test teaching strategies for diverse students. The OECD (2012) situates the non-formal sector between fully structured formal learning and a 'never organised' informal. The non-formal sector generally differs from the informal as it may be organised and structured. However, it has a 'voluntary' aspect that is not usually considered as part of formal education. (Garner et al. (2014) note that partial overlaps in these sectors seem unavoidable, given the difficulties in providing a sharp distinction between them. Thus, instead of seeking such distinctions, we prefer to emphasise the learning continuum that these sectors span. Our non-formal interventions do incorporate formal elements, such as the interventions taking place in a school lab with the teacher being present at all times, as well as many informal learning opportunities that context-based, collaborative hands-on activities present.

examine the effect of these workshops on the interest as well as the science-related aspirations of the students.

# Theoretical Framework: Intersectionality, Science Identity, and Science Capital

The DiSSI project is specifically oriented towards building a pedagogical repertoire for science education challenges in contemporary societies that are marked by various forms of diversity as a result of globalisation and international immigration. The social and political consequences of these developments for science education have been theorised in various ways and from various perspectives (Carter et al., 2017; Marosi et al., 2021). In our study, we have focused on three conceptual pathways that are interlinked via a common theme of *diversity* to guide our research and analysis. These are the frameworks of *intersectionality*, *science identity*, and *science capital*.

#### Intersectionality

To conceptualise the holistic approach to diversity that DiSSI emphasises, we have adopted intersectionality as a theoretical lens. The concept of intersectionality was first introduced by Kimberlé Crenshaw in her study of the discrimination experienced by black working-class women in the US legal system (Crenshaw, 1989). According to Crenshaw, identity politics that solely focuses on race or gender for achieving political equality misses the ways different forms of identities may intersect and become a source of oppression. Thus, for Crenshaw, adopting a single categorical lens when analysing discrimination and oppression would marginalise those people who possess more than one category of identity and would thus make claims that do not stem from singular identity categories unintelligible. Here, the analytical work to be conducted is to examine how the many dimensions of identity shape the experiences of discriminated individuals. This framework is readily applicable to a science education context. Adopting an intersectionality lens, we may expect, for example, a non-white female student and a white female student to experience different forms of discrimination. However, a problem seems to appear at this juncture: if intersectionality implies that each individual is uniquely positioned vis-à-vis the discriminatory practices that lead to inequalities, how could it be possible to develop pedagogical strategies that are context-unspecific and hence could counter these practices for everyone. There are two specific constructs we found helpful in this context: the constructs of *science identity* and *science capital*. Both these constructs put emphasis on the *agency* of the individual and facilitate the generation of practices that enable the students to assert their *autonomy*. As we argue below, a pedagogical practice that puts science identity at the centre and aims at augmenting the science capital of the students can both incorporate intersectionality and overcome the challenges it poses for science education.

#### Science Identity

*Science identity* has been discussed by numerous authors since the early 2000s.<sup>4</sup> There are several key reasons why science identity is important to consider when working with students who are socio-economically marginalised. It has been well established that most post-primary students associate the scientist with a white male figure in a lab coat (Chambers, 1983; Ferguson & Lezotte, 2020). Thus, pedagogical interventions that aim to include students cannot be successful by merely generating means of transferring scientific information in more accessible ways unless the students recognise that their own competencies, personal histories, perspectives, or interests are represented in science. A science identity lens can help us achieve this goal, as taking the science identity of the students into account would enable the researchers to recognise and incorporate into their practice the individual students' science representations.

In an influential article, Heidi B. Carlone and Angela Johnson studied the science experiences of women of colour and proposed science identity as an explanatory lens to understand how scientists from marginalised backgrounds 'experience, negotiate and persist in science' (Carlone & Johnson, 2007, p. 1188). They found science identity to be a key construct that can account for individual agency in its relationship with the existing societal structures and modelled it in terms of three components: competence, performance, and recognition. This conceptualisation is based on a 'prototype' person with a strong science identity. As the authors argue, such a person would have a certain level of competency in science topics, possess the necessary skills to perform this competency, and finally be recognised, as well as recognise herself, as a 'science person'. A key finding of Carlone and Johnson is that recognition of oneself as a science person critically depends on how one is perceived by meaningful others (established scientists or members of one's own community), and in the case of negative recognition, a student may re-negotiate their science identity through strategies such as re-defining the very meaning of 'science'. Thus, one possible pedagogical approach that could be utilised when working with minoritised students is

\_ . . .

<sup>4</sup> For a general introduction to recent work on science identity, see the edited volume by Holmegaard and Archer (2023).

*pluralism:* there can be more than one definition of science, or what it means to be a scientist, and various different kinds of activities can be considered as 'scientific' depending on the context. On the basis of this observation, we have included a plurality of topics and pedagogical approaches in our workshops.

In a recent conceptual paper, Lucy Avraamidou points out that intersectionality is a 'useful conceptual framework and methodological tool for examining *the relationality and multiplicity* of science identity' that has political implications (2020, p. 328, added emphasis). These implications are especially concerned with 'the purpose of addressing inequalities and promoting goals related to equity and social justice' (Avraamidou, 2020, p. 331). In line with Avraamidou's approach, we situate science identity within an intersectionality framework, which makes explicit how various identities that the students possess interact and contribute to the multiplicity of their science identity.

Science identity has been studied from various different perspectives, ranging from quantitative studies that aim at instrument development and validation (Chen & Wei, 2022) to studies exploring the social justice and equity angle on this concept, focusing on students from minoritised backgrounds (Harper & Kayumova, 2023). However, the question of what forms of pedagogical interventions can be developed that would help students from minoritised backgrounds to build more robust forms of science identity has been underexplored. In the design and conduct of our workshops, we were attentive to enabling the students to recognise their own competencies and capabilities with which their relational but singular identities equipped them. The intersectionality/science identity lens provided a solid theoretical grounding for our work and enabled us to explore the socio-political dimension of working with students from marginalised backgrounds. Nonetheless, as our guiding aim has been to explore pedagogical strategies for practitioners, a more tangible theoretical framework is required to measure and analyse the effects of the interventions. The science capital framework developed by Louise Archer and colleagues provides a suitable setting for this, which allowed us to ask what forms of interventions can augment the science capital of students from diverse backgrounds (Archer et al., 2015; DeWitt et al., 2016; Calabrese Barton et al., 2021).

#### Science Capital

The *science capital framework* is built on Pierre Bourdieu's sociological theory, which extends the concept of economic capital to social and cultural spheres. Bourdieu introduced the concept of culture to explain how education contributed to the reproduction of social inequalities by 'legitimating class differences' (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990, p. 164). More generally, according to Bourdieu, explaining the hierarchical structure of power relations in society and how this structure reproduces itself from one generation to the next requires taking into account the dynamics of social and cultural capital (such as how these are transmitted in the family, or through educational institutions). Following this conception, Archer and her colleagues proposed the concept of *science capital*, understood as the science-related forms of social and cultural capital, as a useful and measurable construct to analyse the issue of unequal patterns in the participation rates in science education, especially of students from underrepresented groups. As an explanatory framework, science capital sheds new light on these 'uneven patterns in science participation' and thus constitutes a possible basis for intervention (Archer et al., 2015, p.923).

The concept of science identity can be suitably placed within a Bourdieusian concept of *habitus* (DeWitt & Archer, 2015, p. 157). As Bourdieu characterises it, habitus is 'spontaneity without consciousness?': it is the subjects' ability to navigate the world without the necessity of consciously following explicit rules in each step (Bourdieu, 1990, p. 56). Thus conceived, habitus comprises 'systems of durable, transposable dispositions [...] predisposed to function as [...] principles which generate and organize practices and representations.' (Bourdieu, 1990, p. 53). These are the practices and representations one 'internalises' through familial and other social interactions and readily deploys in social settings. Thus, one sees that the components of the science identity model that Carlone and Johnson propose (2007) can be seen as science-related conceptualisations of habitus:

For example, a scientist presenting her work at a conference must use language according to prescribed norms, dress and interact in certain ways, and demonstrate that she thinks in certain ways for others to recognise her performance as appropriately 'science-like' if she wants to be considered a scientist (p. 1190).

A person with a strong science identity would exhibit a scientific habitus that would enable her to navigate seamlessly the scientific field. Thus, in planning interventions aiming to augment the science capital of students' one should be aware of this 'unconscious spontaneity' and incorporate it into the design of the intervention elements that would enable the students to equip themselves with tools that would make them 'feel at home' in the scientific field.

#### The Irish Context and the Research Setting

In Ireland, post-primary education is divided into the *junior (age 12-15/16)* and the *senior (15/16-18)* cycles. It should also be noted that science is not compulsory in Irish schools at the post-primary level. Schools with a higher

provision of students from marginalised backgrounds are less likely to make junior cycle science compulsory for students, leading to lower numbers of these students taking science. Students who study science in the junior cycle study general science (physics, chemistry and biology) with a *nature of science* strand. Albeit short, this strand includes key topics such as scientific method, science in society, and science communication.

The Pobal HP Deprivation Index,<sup>5</sup> which provides a measure of the affluence or disadvantage of a particular geographical area in Ireland, was utilised to locate the schools in Limerick which serve areas that are socio-economically most disadvantaged (Haase & Pratschke, 2017). Additionally, this index was crossmatched with the register of 'Delivering Equality of Opportunity in Schools (DEIS).<sup>6</sup> A study by Smyth et al. (2015) noted that 'Schools classified as DEIS have a much higher concentration of disadvantage than other schools and also cater for more complex needs, with a greater prevalence of students from Traveller backgrounds, non-English speaking students, and students with special educational needs' ( p. vii). Limerick, where this study is conducted, has the highest relative deprivation score in the country, indicating that communities in Limerick are among the most disadvantaged. Thus, when we consider Limerick through the lens of the Pobal social deprivation index, we observe that the city has areas with high lone-parent ratios and low third-level education, income, and class. These are merely indicators, but they point to significantly at-risk populations.

In our pilot study, we conducted six workshops over the course of eight weeks at an all-girls school in Limerick, Ireland. Located in an urban setting, the school caters to mostly students from socio-economic backgrounds. The school has a sizeable population of students from immigrant communities, as well as students with Irish Traveller heritage. Irish Travellers, or the *Mincéiri*, is an ethnocultural group in Ireland that is recognised as an ethnic minority (Haynes et al., 2021).

<sup>5</sup> POBAL is an Irish government organisation that is responsible for the management and support services of 38 programmes in the areas of Social Inclusion and Equality. ('Pobal' is an Irish word meaning 'community' or 'people'.) The index utilises information from the Irish census, such as 'employment, age, educational attainment'. https://www.pobal.ie/

<sup>6</sup> In Ireland, certain schools serving disadvantaged populations are supported through the Delivering Equality of Opportunity in Schools (DEIS) programme that was introduced in 2006, which identified schools based on school principal reports of the profile of their student population. Information from large-scale surveys, such as the Growing Up in Ireland study, 'confirms that DEIS schools differ markedly from non-DEIS schools in terms of the social class background, parental education, household income and family structures of their students' (Smyth et. al., 2015, vii).

# Literature on Diversity and Students from Traditionally Excluded Backgrounds

The influence of socioeconomic status on the declining rates of science participation has been established by several studies (Gorard & See, 2009; Cooper et al., 2020). In a recent paper that draws on data from 4300 students, Cooper and Berry (2020) use the science capital construct and explicitly link socioeconomic status with a strong science identity. There are studies that either explicitly or implicitly assume an intersectionality lens and study how students from marginalised backgrounds develop or negotiate their science identities. These include both survey-type quantitative approaches (Keller et al., 2023) as well as qualitative studies based on ethnographical methods and/or in-depth interviews (Barton & Tan, 2018).

In a paper that builds on these studies, Kayumova and Dou (2022) raised a critical concern in working with students from marginalised backgrounds. For these authors, simply aiming at increasing the science capital of the students or attempting to strengthen their science identities would imply an implicit legitimisation of the dominant ontologies that are part of the very social structure that marginalises these students in the first place. As the authors write:

If science spaces continue to operate through dominant cultural norms and values, *merely providing access to materials or opportunities to participate in science will not make the kind of changes we seek...* From this perspective, the design of learning ecologies must create conditions of possibility that center on identities, community histories, relations, and experiences of racialized youth from nondominant communities rather than erase them (p. 1113, added emphasis).

What these authors point out is that without recognising the perspective of the marginalised communities that a social justice-oriented science education research aims to reach, we would be 'normalize[ing] deficits and educational hierarchies' (Kayumova & Dou, 2022, p. 1098).

These considerations are directly relevant to the research context that this paper presents. A study by McCoy and colleagues (2022) notes that unconscious bias can give rise to issues such as mothers perceiving boys' abilities to be higher than those of girls. This finding was also true for teachers. A similar study indicated that parental expectations for young people with special education needs are much lower than those of the young people themselves (Mihut et al., 2022). Thus, parental expectations and engagement can have a significant effect on students' academic outcomes. In the context of students from low socio-economic backgrounds, low parental expectations and dominant cultural norms with which the school science operates may be related. We acknowledge the possible tension between our research aim of generating best practices that augment the science capital of students and the critical perspective we raise here on science capital, following Kayumova and Dou (2022). Nevertheless, it should be emphasised that despite its potential pitfalls, the science capital framework constitutes a valuable tool worth exploring further in the context of social disadvantage.

We pursued the following set of guiding principles in our quest to create pedagogies that target the science capital of the pupils. First, we examined the four general principles of the science capital teaching approach and generated pedagogical strategies to implement them (Godec et al., 2017). These principles include broadening what counts, personalising and localising, eliciting, valuing, and linking, and building the science capital dimensions. Broadening what counts involves 'creating spaces where all students feel able to offer contributions from their own experiences, interests and identities, knowing that they will be valued' (Godec et al. 2017, p.19). As a concrete broadening strategy, we employed the Family Resemblance Approach (FRA) for the nature of science (NOS) (Dagher & Erduran, 2016). The FRA approach incorporates three layers to conceptualise NOS. At the core, epistemological aims exist, social and professional aspects exist, and finally, the politics of science exists. Incorporating the FRA model, we broadened the pedagogical basis and the epistemic content of the activities that we could conduct with the students, such as a debate on the ethics of science, a discussion on space travel, or histories of science that are not usually included in the curriculum. Hence, NOS considerations can make science learning appealing to diverse learners. Following the principle of localising, which aims to contextualise science in ways that relate it to the students' lives, we have sought ways to make our activities open-ended and moderately to minimally structured so that the activities can be amenable to the students' perspectives. Thus, all the activities were designed in a context-based way that incorporates science, society, and technology themes. As has been emphasised in the literature, building a community of learning is key to creating a space of trust with students from diverse backgrounds (Gay, 2002b; Considine et al., 2017). Thus, we also incorporated elements of group work and peer review so that the students could interact with their peers in a non-competitive manner towards building trust. Finally, based on the evidence showing the positive effects of inquiry-based learning for socioeconomically disadvantaged youth, we incorporated elements of inquiry-based learning that do not presuppose any prior knowledge (Creghan et al., 2015; Cuevas et al., 2005; McManus et al., 2015; Summerlee, 2018.)

#### **Research** questions

Our project hypothesises that appropriate pedagogical approaches, grounded in theory, can augment the science capital of students from low socioeconomic backgrounds. This augmentation can occur by enabling the students to perform a positive science identity, meaning to see themselves (and to be recognised by others as being) science people, as well as developing self-efficacy by becoming more confident in their abilities (Avraamidou, 2020). Building on these conceptual characterisations of several key constructs in science education research on students from traditionally excluded backgrounds, we aimed to understand what kinds of non-formal interventions are best suited for these students. To this end, our main research questions are:

- A. What are the impacts of the interventions on participants (both the students and the teachers)?
- B. What kinds of new practices (or variations on the existing ones) can one introduce to best target the science capital of students during non-formal and informal pedagogical activities? In particular, does the specific combination of the pedagogical approaches utilised in the programme properly target students' science capital?

# Method

This study employed a mixed methods approach. The rationale for this was to ensure that the study took a holistic perspective, enabling the construction of a broad, generalisable picture (Borg & Gall, 1983, p. 27) through quantitative measures while also fostering a deeper richness of data through qualitative methods. It has often been acknowledged that research studies must be 'governed by the notion of fitness for purpose' (Cohen et al., 2007, p.78). Therefore, when choosing a methodological approach, the aims of the study and the research questions were key considerations. This aided in focusing on the study and acknowledging the complexity of the research environment in which it was situated. The study identified that dimensions of diversity were typically treated in the singular throughout the literature and sought to draw from the theoretical underpinnings of intersectionality to explore and understand better the lived experiences of teachers and students across varied dimensions of diversity. To better understand this, both quantitative and qualitative methods were utilised, as a mixed-methods approach served the requirements of the study most effectively.

#### Participants

Once we had reviewed the Pobal HP Index and the DEIS school database, we concluded that there were four urban schools in the locale to which we should offer the programme. We contacted teachers in these schools, and one school was particularly interested in participating. It was a DEIS status singlesex female intake post-primary school in an urban setting. This urban school caters mostly to students from low socio-economic backgrounds, and it has a sizeable population of students from immigrant communities, as well as students with Irish Traveller heritage.

This pilot was implemented with one first-year class (ages 12–13) of female students. The class size is 21, but with regular absenteeism, we have data from a lesser number of students (ranging from 13 to 18 in different workshops)<sup>7</sup> and the class teacher who was present in every session. The research data collected with this group consists of 1) exit cards collected after each intervention/ workshop, 2) a pre- & post-test DiSSI Instrument administered at the beginning and the end of the intervention series, and 3) a teacher interview. All survey data is treated anonymously.

#### Instruments

For quantitative analysis, we employed a Likert-style questionnaire specifically developed by the DiSSI project. Qualitative data collected consists of 1) exit cards collected after each intervention/workshop and 2) teacher interviews. The initial plan with the study was to administer a pre- & post-test after every workshop to align with the evaluation of our project partners in Germany, Scotland, Slovenia, and North Macedonia. However, after the first test was issued, the research team realised that the literacy issues in the class were more extreme than we had originally anticipated, and certain scales (motivation in particular) were challenging for students to interpret, and they required a great deal of aid from the instructing researcher, teacher, and classroom assistants. This led to a reconsideration and revision of the approach, and the team decided to incorporate exit cards into the evaluation portfolio. The pre- & posttests were utilised at the beginning of the set of the six-workshop programme and again at the end of the programme, rather than after each workshop. As mentioned, a limitation of these surveys is the challenges they posed for the group: the interpretation of questions required support from the researcher, teacher, and classroom assistants, and one child participating was illiterate. This

<sup>7</sup> See Table 1 for the number of students that attended each workshop.

explains, in part, the limited sample size from the class of 21 students. In addition, the research team acknowledged that certain elements of the survey could not be clearly interpreted (e.g. motivation) as the length of the statements was too long and complex for the students. To obtain quick and unobtrusive data at the end of each workshop, *exit cards* were utilised (sometimes referred to as exit tickets) post-workshop. Exit cards are short surveys specifically designed to be easy to comprehend and answer in that those using them have flexibility in how they answer elements of the exit card; they can write or draw. Emanating from educational settings, they are an instrument with which students are familiar. Given this, they are optimised for efficiently attaining the student voice in an anonymous manner (Fowler et al., 2019).

The DiSSI pre- & post-test is an instrument that was developed by the DiSSI project team and included items chosen from the following Likert scales:

- Interest in the subject (OECD/PISA, 2009). (DiSSI Instrument Items (1-5).
- Career aspirations in science (Kier et al., 2014). (DiSSI Instrument (6-12).
- 3. Self-concept towards science (OECD/PISA, 2009). (DiSSI Instrument (13–18).
- 4. Motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). (DiSSI Instrument (19–28).
- 5. Situational interest (Chen et al., 2001). (DiSSI Instrument (29–37).

The pre-test included the items (1–28)] The post-test included all the items from the pre-test, in addition to items (29-37) that aim to measure the situational interest at the end of the six-set workshop programme. While there were significant issues among the students in comprehending the pre-test (as noted above), the items in 'Interest for the subject' (OCED/PISA, 2009) and 'Motivation' (Ryan & Deci, 2000) were particularly problematic due to the longer sentence structure; as such, the research team had to develop additional supports for the students in order to enable them to access and respond to the survey instrument more fully in the post-test.<sup>8</sup>

The use of exit cards as an evaluation tool for an earlier version of one of the DiSSI workshops (Medicine Maker) is described in (McHugh et al., 2022). However, these were further amended after a 'knowledge sharing meeting' was held with the DiSSI Scottish team. The exit card starts with a core question that can be adapted to each individual workshop. To support literacy issues and ensure student voices were heard, we included a section where the students are

<sup>8</sup> The data for 'Interest for the subject' and 'Motivation' items can be found in the Tables 5 and 6 respectively, in the Appendix.

allowed to draw as well as write. Two sections asking the 'best thing' and the 'worst thing' about the activity are included, which encourages the students to write singular words (as opposed to sentences with which they have difficulty). The best-worst contrast enables the students to focus on multiple aspects of the workshops and aims to foster critical thinking.

We also incorporated a science capital measure prompted by the question 'Which of the best describes you?'; however, the researcher observations indicate that the students' level of engagement was not nuanced enough to give us a sensible measurement in the pilot. Exit cards were issued to all students at the end of each workshop, and they were given time and freedom to complete (see Figure 1.)

#### Figure 1

An example of a DiSSI Ireland Exit Card



For the analysis of the exit cards, thematic coding was used (Saldana, 2015). First-cycle coding was undertaken by one of the authors (MM), and a consensus was achieved in a group discussion among the researchers.

Three semi-structured open-ended teacher interviews were conducted at the end of the programme (two teacher interviews and one interview with the Special Educational Needs teacher who supported the teaching). The teacher interview questions were developed by the research team with the aim of eliciting teachers' views on the main challenges of teaching at a DEIS school where the majority of the students come from 'low' socio-economic backgrounds, as well as the teachers' perspective on the impact of the workshops both on them and on the students. The guiding questions focused on the impact of the workshops on the teacher's pedagogical practice and her observations on the science interests and aspirations of the students. The interviews were analysed using thematic analysis as this is a flexible method that is deemed appropriate for a pilot study (Clarke & Braun, 2017).

#### **Research Design**

The main methodological approach in the DiSSI project is developing non-formal sector interventions that support the science education needs of a diverse student body. To this end, we have focused on pedagogical strategies that would foster inclusivity. The programme of workshops developed covers a range of topics across the Junior Cycle (12–15 years) general science curriculum, with varying lenses leaning towards physics, chemistry and biology content depending on the workshop and pedagogical approaches that would both link to the curricula for the course and aid with the overall goals of the DiSSI project. The overall Irish DiSSI programme is illustrated in Figure 2, with the pilot of the first-year programme (circled in red) presented here.<sup>9</sup>

#### Figure 2



The DiSSI programme at the University of Limerick (UL)

<sup>9</sup> In the figure, 'TY' stands for transition year, which is a one-year programme between Junior Cycle and Senior Cycle. It is an unexamined year without a set curriculum that aims to help students become independent learners. We conduct several types of workshops and programmes with the TY year students.

In our pilot study, we conducted six workshops over the course of eight weeks (accounting for school holidays in between). The workshops were individual units and not interdependent, as this school had noted challenges of high levels of absenteeism. Therefore, the team determined that individual workshops which could be delivered as standalone units, but also interconnect via their pedagogical approaches were the most appropriate. The workshops and elements of the pedagogical approaches embedded in each are outlined in Table 1 below.

#### Table 1

Overview and descriptors of workshops implemented throughout the 8-week intervention.

	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6
Workshop	Medicine Maker	Gross Germs & Bizarre Bacteria	Crystal Drop	Ethics of Animal Research	NASA Survival on the Moon Activity	Inventing the Microscope
Pedagogy	Context- based Inquiry	Hands-on Inquiry	Open Ended Inquiry	Nature of Science <sup>*</sup>	Nature of Science	History of Science
Delivery Mode	Structured Activity	Moderately Structured Activity	Minimally Structured Activity	Argumentation / Minimally Structured Activity	Argumentation/ Minimally Structured Activity	Minimally Structured Activity
Epistemic Content	Authentic Science	Applied Science	Basic Science	Ethics and Politics of Science	Peer Review	Nature of Science
Relevance	Science and Society	Implicit Nature of Science	Science and Technology	Science and Society	Science and Technology	Science and Society
Number of students in class & evaluation methods	16 Exit Cards Pre-test	13 Exit Cards	17 Exit Cards	13 Exit Cards	16 Exit Cards	18 Exit Cards Post-test

\*'Nature of science' is considered both a pedagogical tool and epistemic content during the workshops.

# Results

#### The Research Context

As mentioned above, the team triangulated the data collected to provide a clearer and more holistic picture of the student experience. The data were examined through the lenses of the research questions, with additional foci on science identity and science capital. This will be elaborated upon in the discussion.

In order to set the context for these results, the following excerpt from the teacher interview is important. During the interview, we asked the teacher how she thinks the socio-economic background of the students affects their performance. In response, she explained:

You have some that are really poor, had a poor background, and they don't seem to progress as quickly as the others [...] They just, you'll have the 1 in 10 that will do well, and the school will be trying to support them if there is something they don't have or something they need. But some, you just can never, you can never help them, because the home situation is affecting them so much. So, for example, they may not have a study place. An area at home to study that's safe or that's noise-free, so the school will try and provide a quiet place for them to study. Or you might have ... their parents may be in jail. We would have a lot that are living in a hotel.<sup>10</sup>

During an exam week, a 'home-school' liaison would go to the house of a student to provide them with a study space outside their home. As the teacher explained, this person would:

[...] knock on the door trying to get the child out to go and sit their exam. Because the parents are just, they are not involved; they might be incapacitated for whatever they've taken or done. Some of the home situations would be dreadful. And it seems to be, if that's the situation, we really struggle to help them, or help them do well. Or we'll get them so far, and then they'll go, 'Nah, I'm gonna drop out of school'. We would have a high number of drop out, we would have a high number of school refusal [...] So maybe 1 in 10 we manage, with a really poor background home environment, we manage to save them, I would say.

Here, the class teacher highlights the challenges that both the students and the school face in terms of the home environment, social surroundings, and

<sup>10</sup> After our interview, the teacher explained that the students who live in a hotel are from families who are experiencing homelessness and are waiting on housing, so they are temporarily placed in hotels. These families are in a social housing waiting list.

school setting. The challenges of data collection processes in this research context of working with low-income students necessitated modifying the initial plan of using the pre- and post-survey instrument at each intervention. The researchers decided to enrich their data using exit cards, teacher interviews, and researcher reflections, given the literacy issues encountered by the students, which made the project surveys more challenging to administer.

# Main Research Outcomes

When discussing the impact of the programme on the students, the class teacher noted that a particular highlight for her was that the students were mentioning the workshops at home. She also noted that this is highly unusual for this group of students and for the parents, and she believed this to have a particularly positive impact, inferring it was increasing students' attitudes towards and interest in science. When asked about the possible impacts the workshops had on the students, the teacher responded as follows:

So they definitely want you teaching them instead of me [laughter.] [...] So they definitely have a peak in interest in science. Even the really weak ones. If they are leaving at the end of the year saying, 'Jeez, I love that about science,' I think we are winning [...] The fact that they are talking at home about 'we did this today in science,' and at the parent-teacher meeting in January, I probably forgot to tell you that, I would have spoken to all the parents and asked, 'Have they told you that they are doing a workshop, you know, with a guy from the University of Limerick.' And these are children from very poor backgrounds as well, the parents having very little interest. I'd say 90% of them had heard about it. Like that's massive. Yeah, like that doesn't happen. Cuz I might say, 'Did they tell you I brought in a set of sheep lungs for science week?' and they go, 'No, I've never heard anything about it.' That's really good, the fact that they are talking about science at home, in the homes of these children are going to, is massive, cuz it doesn't really happen.

So they are talking about it at home, and 90% of their parents have heard about the workshop, which is brilliant. So you are winning when they are doing that. I think they are leaving at the end of this year, and most of the students, in their heads, really enjoyed science. So then they come in September with a positive attitude about it.

From this excerpt, we can infer the positive impact of the workshops on the science capital of the students. This interpretation also agrees with results from the exit cards, with one of the themes emerging from the coding being the 'affective'. In vivo, codes such as 'Satisfying' and 'Feel like a scientist' came through the data.

Another input from the teacher that should be noted is that, for many students, science is a subject that 'when they come in in September, they are excited about ... cuz it's different, but they think that they are gonna be blowing things up.' As a result, the students 'get a bit deflated when it is not all hydrogen bombs or things on fire or whatever.' When students experience aspects of school science such as learning theory, their interest levels go down. Nevertheless, the version of science that the workshops present is different from the 'school science' the students are familiar with, in almost contradictory ways. To give one example, whereas the school science is presented by the teacher in a more controlling manner, the workshops gave considerable agency to the students. The teacher elaborated on this point while also emphasising how being given autonomy in the school lab improved the practical skills of the students and the way this contrasts with her way of teaching:

At the end of it all, I think their practical skills were brilliant, like really good. Because I think in the first year I don't, maybe I don't give them enough to do because I am nervous. I won't let them near the Bunsen burner; I don't want them to break something; I am giving them the plastic stuff so that they don't wreak the place. I definitely think that their practical skills are massively improved compared to ... the start of the year. Perhaps better than if I was just teaching them, because you [i.e., the researcher instructor] just give it a go and let them at it. Whereas I am very controlling ... You are better to go, 'No, no, just let them figure it out.' I probably don't let them figure out enough ... I need to let them spill it ... I have gotten more confident in the fact that I can give them something and they can figure it out. I think their interest in science has gone way up.

Thus, 'school science' and 'workshop science' are almost contradictory to each other, and this contrast appears in the data.

The second element of the survey, Career aspirations in science (Kier et al., 2014), indicated modest increases on both sides of the scale, with slightly fewer in the 'Neither agree nor disagree' category post-test (note that two additional students were present for the post-test, and one student who was present during the pre-test was absent for the post-test) (See Table 2).

#### Table 2

Results of survey instrument items on 'career aspirations in science.'

<i>Career aspirations in science</i> (Kier et al., 2014)		Neither agree nor disagree % (n)	Strongly disagree & disagree % (n)	Strongly agree & agree % (n)	Neither agree nor disagree % (n)	Strongly disagree & disagree% (n)	
	Pi	Pre-test, <i>n</i> = 16			Post-test, <i>n</i> = 18		
I plan to use science in my future career.	25% (4)	56% (9)	18% (3)	39% (7)	28% (5)	33% (6)	
If I do well in science classes, it will help me in my future career.	54% (8)	33%(5)	13% (2)	61% (11)	17% (3)	22% (4)	
My parents I would like it if I chose a science career.	27% (4)	67% (10)	7% (1)	39% (7)	39% (7)	22% (4)	
I am interested in careers that use science.	46% (7)	27% (4)	27% (4)	50% (9)	17% (3)	33% (6)	
I have a role model in a science career.	31% (5)	31% (5)	38% (6)	22% (4)	17% (3)	61% (11)	
I would feel comfortable talking to people who work in science careers.	75% (12)	25% (4)	0	35% (6)	30% (5)	35% (6)	
I know of someone in my family who uses science in their career.	37% (6)	19% (3)	44% (7)	50% (9)	6% (1)	44% (8)	
	eer aspirations in science er et al., 2014) I plan to use science in my future career. If I do well in science classes, it will help me in my future career. My parents I would like it if I chose a science career. I am interested in careers that use science. I have a role model in a science career. I would feel comfortable talking to people who work in science careers. I know of someone in my family who uses science in their career.	eer aspirations in science or et al., 2014)ge ge g	eer aspirations in science or et al., 2014)eer bere spirations in science or et al., 2014)eer bere spirations in science or et al., 2014)I plan to use science in my future career.25% (4)56% (9)If I do well in science classes, it will help me in my future career.54% (8)33%(5)My parents I would like it if I chose a science career.27% (4)67% (10)I am interested in careers that use science.46% (7)27% (4)I have a role model in a science career.31% (5)31% (5)I would feel comfortable talking to people who work in science careers.75% (12)25% (4)I know of someone in my family who uses science in their career.37% (6)19% (3)	Bigs         Bigs <th< td=""><td>Bit Signed Stream         Bit SigneStream         Bit SigneStream         &lt;</td><td>eer aspirations in science or et al., 2014)</td></th<>	Bit Signed Stream         Bit SigneStream         Bit SigneStream         <	eer aspirations in science or et al., 2014)	

Once again, this data, in isolation, does not give a complete picture; however, coupled with the teacher interview and exit cards, it aids in building a broader impression of the impact of the programme. From the survey data, it appears that student career aspirations have modestly shifted towards the positive, but also that their understanding of a career in science and of the work of a scientist has also been enhanced, thus better enabling them to make a shift in either direction. One item (11) signified a large decline in students' comfort levels in speaking with people who work in science careers. This is notable, and as this is a pilot study, it will be explored further in subsequent student focus groups. Exit cards revealed a large number of drawings or interpretations of people doing the activities/experiments that were at the centre of the workshop, in addition to technical drawings with the correct interpretation, along with new vocabulary and terminology. This is believed to be important, with the correct use of new vocabulary and the use of drawing to explain the work, rather than the pressure of writing about the activities to report them, offering ways for the students to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding outside of traditional formal routes. The exit cards paint a picture unlike what the research team has previously noted

with workshops with other groups (McHugh et al., 2022). In previous workshops, 'relevancy' as a theme appeared prominently; however, this was not observed in the pilot group.<sup>11</sup> It appears that student career aspirations have modestly shifted towards the positive, but also that their understanding of a career in science and of the work of a scientist has also been enhanced, thus better enabling them to make a shift in either direction. 'Relevancy' not emerging in this group may be explained by background and environment: the students do not have the prior knowledge and experience to make connections between the workshop content and daily life. In recognition of this, we attempted to lower the barriers between the students and authentic science content and build exposure.

In this pilot study, a clearer picture of the Nature of Science emerges with students noting abstract elements such as the history of science, philosophy, morality, ethics, debate, or novelty. Additionally, the exit card data showed enhanced scientific language among the students. This is noteworthy, as in one instance at the beginning of the workshops when the researcher referred to the concept of 'explanation', a student retorted, saying that she does not understand the meaning of this term as it is a 'big word.' As a result, a significant portion of the instruction during the workshops was devoted to discussing the meanings of these 'big words' used in the science content of the workshops or the survey instrument.

Interestingly, and in contradiction to the teacher's opinion, the students have a mostly positive *self-concept towards science* in the pre-test (Table 3). Their self-concept towards science actually decreased marginally in most instances, indicating perhaps that they were either more challenged by the workshops or found them more difficult than their typical school science class.

The teacher also acknowledged that the pedagogical approaches were important for the students. In particular, concerning one student, she reported the following:

There was another one that I said to you, an L2LP [Level 2 Learning Programme] student. A Traveller background. So is sitting, no exams. Actually, I can't read and write, and I was super excited about some of those practicals if you remember. Do you remember the person I am talking about? [...] Yeah, she was mad keen to get going and came up to the top bench, if you remember. And actually concentrated for 80 minutes and did that activity. And I said, 'I am blown away with this because this one breaks my heart.' Not that she is terribly bold, but she is just not able to access whatever we are doing.

<sup>11</sup> By 'relevancy', we mean students making the connections between what they were studying and things that were personally relevant or noting the relevance of the work by linking it to the news or to their parent's jobs.

For this student, accessing traditional lessons in any form was particularly challenging. However, during the DiSSI programme, the student was very engaged, yet her voice was not represented in the pre-post-test due to her literacy issues.

# Table 3

Results of survey instrument items on 'self-concept towards science.'

Self-concept towards science		Strongly agree & agree %	Neither agree nor disagree	Strongly disagree & disagree	Strongly agree &	Neither agree nor disagree	Strongly disagree & disagree
(0)	ECD/PISA,	(n)	% (n)	% (n)	agree % (n)	% (n)	% (n)
200	(9)	Pr	re-test, <i>n</i> = 16	5	Po	ost-test, <i>n</i> = 1	8
13.	Learning advanced science topics would be easy for me.	44% (7)	25% (4)	31%(5)	35% (6)	24% (4)	41% (7)
14.	I can usually give good answers to test questions on science topics.	57% (8)	7% (1)	36% (5)	33% (6)	33% (6)	33% (6)
15.	l learn science topics quickly.	56%(9)	25% (4)	19% (3)	50% (9)	17% (3)	33% (6)
16.	Science topics are easy for me.	31%(5)	44% (7)	25% (4)	33% (6)	28% (5)	39% (7)
17.	When I am being taught science, I can understand the concepts very well.	56%(9)	38% (6)	6% (1)	39% (7)	33% (6)	28 % (5)
18.	I can easily understand new ideas in science.	56% (9)	31% (5)	13% (2)	39% (7)	28% (5)	33% (6)

The teacher went further, acknowledging the student, noting that it was 'actually fun'. Thus, a student who comes from a marginalised ethnic group and who 'can't read and write' was able to express her interest in hands-on non-formal science activity:

So I think that was a huge positive cuz it is very hard to engage an L2LP learner within a group of 23 that aren't. [...] And I asked her afterwards, like I said, 'God, you worked brilliantly the other day' [here the teacher imitates the student's answer] 'Yeah, that's cuz it is actually fun' [...] I think that's massive, that student does not partake at all and isn't able to partake. Can't follow written instructions, so the fact that she was doing it with her hands-active learning and doing her own thing, and she was mad to get going, mad to do it, that was huge.

#### Table 4

Results of survey instrument items on 'situational interest.'

Situational interest (Chen et al., 2001)		Strongly agree & agree % (n)Neither agree nor disagree % (n)		Strongly disagree & disagree % (n)	
		Post-test, <i>n</i> = 18			
29.	The lesson in today's science class was interesting.	83% (15)	6% (1)	11% (2)	
30.	Dealing with the subject matter was challenging today.	39% (7)	28% (5)	33% (6)	
31.	I was focused on this lesson.	78%(14)	11% (2)	11% (2)	
32.	l enjoyed science lessons today.	78%(14)	5% (1)	17% (3)	
33.	Today, I understood well what we learned in class.	61%(11) 28% (5)		11% (2)	
34.	Today's class was fun for me.	78 % (14)	11% (2)	11% (2)	
35.	There was a lot going on at today's class, it was varied.	72% (13)	22% (4)	6% (1)	
36.	I was attentive in today's class, from the beginning to the end.	78% (14)	11% (2)	11% (2)	
37.	Today's material in the class attracted me, so I participated.	72% (13)	11% (2)	17% (3)	
38.	I want to delve into the details of the material we discussed in today's class.	78% (13)	11% (2)	11% (2)	

This interpretation of the teacher is bolstered by the exit card survey, as codes such as 'fun' ; hands-on' and 'group work' appeared, which evidences the

students being able to engage with the content without having to be solely reliant on written instructions. This appears to have led to a more emotional/affective engagement with the content in some instances. Further, terms associated with the practice of being a scientist, such as teamwork and group work, measuring, handling equipment, and experimental tasks (mixing, making, observing, planning, or pouring), regularly appeared. The opportunity to draw their answers was heavily utilised by the students, and the theme of 'abstract drawing' emerged alongside 'technical and labelled drawing.'<sup>12</sup>

When we consider this data along with the teacher interview, which, as noted previously, highlighted the autonomy an illiterate student gained with the DiSSI approaches and the data from the exit cards, a more nuanced impression emerges. As already noted, the affective domain comes through with students noting feelings of satisfaction, success, winning, fun, and enjoyment. These give a strong impression of motivating factors. The data on motivation from the survey instrument is not presented here (see Appendix) as the students struggled with the item statements in the pre-test, and as such, changes were made in the supports students were given with the instrument in the post-test and in the subsequent main study beyond this pilot.

Finally, situational interest was only examined in the post-test (Table 4), and this was found to be high, which aligns with the teacher's impression and other data from the exit cards. More specifically, items 29, 37 and 38 had a highly positive response, indicating that the students' interest in the material was linked to their engagement in the class.

# Discussion

- A. What are the impacts of the interventions on participants (both the students and the teachers)?
- B. What kinds of new practices (or variations on the existing ones) can one introduce to best target the science capital of students during non-formal and informal pedagogical activities?

Research Question A in Section 2.5 explored: 'What are the impacts of the interventions on participants (both the students and the teachers)?' The results give a broad sense that the overall impacts of the programme have been positive for participants. The overarching goal of this programme was to determine

<sup>12</sup> With 'abstract drawing,' we mean any drawing that goes beyond a direct representation of the activity. The drawing presents an idea that the students relate to the activity in an abstract manner and thus shows that the hands-on practical work can be theoretically contextualised by the students.

whether DiSSI-informed pedagogical approaches could work in situations where multiple dimensions of diversity were present. This was true for the context of this study, with issues ranging from socio-economic deprivation to language and literacy issues to cultural and ethnic dimensions. Thus, there was a complex interplay of diversity, yet approaches such as inquiry-based science education, elements of argumentation, Nature of Science focus, and authentic, real-life contextualisation all aided in raising situational interest and elements of the students' science capital and science identity. As discussed in earlier sections of this paper, both science identity and science capital are multi-faceted in and of themselves (Barton et al., 2013; DeWitt et al., 2016; Avraamidou, 2020). This leads to research Question B, which asked: 'What kinds of new practices (or variations on the existing ones) can one introduce to best target the science capital of students during non-formal and informal pedagogical activities?'

As acknowledged above, the interplay of pedagogical approaches utilised in this study aided in targeting elements of science capital during non-formal activities. No one pedagogical approach was utilised over another, drawing from appropriate elements of those discussed earlier depending on the topic being taught and the objectives and outcomes for the topic. It is worth noting that the pre-and post-survey results noted only modest increases in career aspiration but strong situational interest. Furthermore, there was a modest decrease in self-concept towards science between the pre-and post-survey, which must be acknowledged. The teacher interview indicates that the pedagogies employed in the DiSSI programme were outside the typical 'norms' for their classroom, as they offered the students more autonomy, a greater voice in discussing and debating the work, and more 'hands-on' practical experience with experimental work. This may have been challenging for students, as they may find this 'nonnormal' to be an unfamiliar form of science learning. The challenges of handson inquiry-based approaches have been well noted in the literature, in line with our findings (Sharpe & Abrahams, 2020; Snětinová, 2018; Zhang, 2016). We hypothesise that the further these pedagogical approaches became normalised for the pupils, the more increases in 'self-concept' would be observed, as the data from the teacher interview and the exit cards highlight greater levels of empowerment. The data demonstrate that this was a novel exercise for many of the students since some of them felt like scientists for what was seemingly the first time. The authors believe that this potentially resulted in the slight lowering of 'self-concept towards science'. School science and non-formal science are seen as different, and this idea is manifested in the teacher interview on multiple occasions. The freedom that the students were given during this programme was new for students and classroom teachers alike. It was challenging and outside the typical comfort zone for both, yet both teachers and students indicated that they had experienced a shift and appreciated the approaches within the programme. The active learning and experimental tasks were the drivers of unique forays into the world of science. Mentions of hands-on activities were commonplace, along with references to the affective domain (evidence of emotional engagement). Again, this is in the context of the dominant cultural, community, and societal norms under which the school operates (Kenny et al., 2020; Smyth, 2020). Therefore, the richer data from the teacher interviews and exit cards aid us in concluding that the pedagogical approaches and overall impact of this study have aided in breaking down barriers to science (cf. DeWitt et al. 2016; Godec et al. 2017).

This has manifested in a number of ways. The six workshops formed a continuum, and while diverse in their design and approach, they are grounded in the key concept of an 'ask'. Students are asked to perform an activity with varying levels of support depending on their progress. In this way, adaptability to the complex social tapestry of the classroom was embedded into the overall programme, with student autonomy being central.

Unique to the data was the lack of references to their personal lives or other areas of science. The students lacked the ability to connect the workshops to their own world or school science class. The intervention was a brand-new exploration of science. The data suggests that interventions gave them their first meaningful opportunity to connect school science with authentic, context-based science and expanded their scientific language. Students referred to all the new information they had learned, utilised new terminology and vocabulary, made technical labelled drawings of their workshop, noted the ethical and philosophical challenges they encountered and finally made unique and abstract drawings of scientific phenomena. The embedded content within workshops around the Nature of Science came to fruition and targeted the students' science identity, with some noting that they enjoyed seeing the results or something actually working. The class teacher referred to the student's parents as having an awareness of the eight-week programme while not knowing about other elements of science from the school. In her eyes, this was impactful, and we would argue that the students saw the science within the programme as belonging to them, something personal and larger than what they may see in more conventional formal school science classes.

We consider the three main outcomes of this pilot study to be as follows. First, we observed that hands-on, context-based science workshops helped the students to access technical language and language to represent authentic science behaviour (such as 'design' or 'planning.') When working with students with low socio-economic backgrounds, this is crucial as this may contribute to remove some of the 'gatekeeping' barriers posed by scientific terminology, and scientific language in general, and build a foundation for access.

Second, we have observed an increase (albeit modest) in career aspirations. The survey instrument revealed that at the end of the workshops, the students developed a better understanding of what it meant to be a scientist. Finally, we have observed high levels of situational interest, which is revealed in the survey results, as well as the teacher's testimony and the researcher's observations. According to the teacher, when she conducted experiments with them, the group of students who attended the workshops 'were able to go off and get it done themselves'. This confirms the value of conducting non-formal work in a school setting that raises situational interest, as this gives the students the opportunity to 'improve their practical skills', as the teacher put it in the interview.

The authors are keen to reiterate the challenging environment that the students, parents, school, and community are situated in. As stated earlier in this paper, inequality is complex, multifaceted, and somewhat messy. This was reflected in practice in the non-formal environment in which we worked. There were serious barriers to engagement, literacy not the least, and this eight-week programme is not a panacea to all the issues that have been discussed in the earlier part of this paper. However, we do see indicators that are important, particularly those that ultimately break down the barriers that are set up around science and scientific work and those that aid in building science capital and identity. This type of work, which is responsive to students and teachers on a weekly cyclical basis through forming a partnership, has a place in breaking down barriers and building up diversity in science going forward.

# Conclusions

The current societal realities of global immigration and climate change imply that diversity, equality, and inclusion will continue to be one of the key issues in science education. As noted above, there are many forms of diversity, including gender, socio-economic background, ethnicity, linguistic, or culture. However, these rarely exist in isolation, as intersectionality theorists remind us, and they combine in ways that may lead to forms of oppression that remain invisible for the most part. A science education pedagogy that is sensitive to challenges that stem from diversity must consider intersectionality. In this paper, we have presented a pilot study, which examined how engaging in a set of context-based authentic science workshops in a non-formal setting influences students' self-concept towards science, situational interest, and some elements of their science capital. As detailed in the paper, we argued that the concept of intersectionality can provide a robust foundation for interventions aiming to target the science identity and the science capital of the students. In our pilot study, we worked with students attending an urban post-primary school in Ireland. Most students in our study come from families with a low socio-economic background, many of whom have an immigrant or refugee status, with a language other than the language of instruction (i.e., English) being spoken at home. Thus, multiple forms of diversity exist among students, some of which pose challenges that need to be addressed.

The most important aspects of our findings can be summarised as follows: Based on the survey instrument data, we have seen that the situational interest of the students has clearly improved, yet we did not see any significant change in their overall interest in science and career aspirations; and a marginal drop in self-concept towards science has been observed. However, one should note that due to their particular socio-economic backgrounds, many students have literacy issues with minimal parental support; in other words, this is a group with very low science capital. As a result, the survey instrument with its formal register proved to be challenging for the students, and we found it of essential value to complement it with observational and interview data. Indeed, the survey data, coupled with the teacher interview, exit cards, and researcher observations, led to a more nuanced picture. We have seen that the students distinguished between school science and the hands-on practice-based 'workshop science'. The exit cards, which are completed at the end of each activity, show a more positive picture of engagement in that students appreciated the context-based science activities and their science identities were well-targeted in the workshops. Literacy issues mentioned in the teacher interview are also attested by the researcher in their interactions with the students, resulting in a certain unwillingness in students to express themselves in writing or engaging with the survey instrument. Paradoxically enough, this is a group that needs intervention the most and thus, accurate measurement is essential for progress. Thus, when working with student groups whose identities are marked by intersectionality, which results in marginalisation, it is crucial to multiply modes of measurement by employing a mixed-methods approach. The problem of linking formal and non-formal learning in science education has been acknowledged in the literature (Hofstein & Rosenfeld, 1996; Rennie, 2007; Garner et al., 2014). Our findings indicate that specific challenges exist in bridging the gap between school science and non-formal context-based activities that aim to make the former accessible for students with low socio-economic and immigrant backgrounds. In particular, we note that engaging in non-formal hands-on activities does not automatically imply an increase in science interest and self-conception of science, as the students may compartmentalise school science and non-formal science. Future studies should examine what types of interventions may be effectively implemented in this context to enable students to form a more unified conception. The findings also indicate that considerations in the nature of science constitute a valuable resource for relating science to the real-life experiences of students. Further research should examine in more detail whether and to what extent the nature of science considerations can be useful in augmenting the science capital and science interest of students from diverse backgrounds.

There are several limitations of our study. As this is a pilot study, our statistical sample is not very large, and thus, our inferences must be interpreted with caution. We also need to acknowledge the literacy issues that were observed in the group as a limitation that may have affected the measurements. We began our study with the expectation of decreased levels of literacy; however, this factor has been compounded by the Covid-19 pandemic. As the teacher also attested, the pre-Covid and post-Covid disadvantages are different, given that with this group of students, the resources of the parents are limited. This limitation was addressed by taking a mixed-methods approach, combining several pieces of evidence, and providing language support to the students while they filled out the survey instrument. A further limitation of the study was our singular focus on one school, which is an urban school with an all-female student body. To address the issues of intersectionality more appropriately, we plan to extend our work to include both all-male intake and co-educational schools. Furthermore, a sizeable population in Ireland lives in rural areas. Thus, rural area schools should also be included to create a more general picture. Finally, a significant limitation of this study is that an intervention that aims at a major change in science interest and science capital has to be long-term. A long-term approach was indeed intended at the beginning of the project, yet because of the Covid-19 pandemic, this plan was not sustainable, as Ireland had one of the longest lock-down periods in Europe (Chzhen, 2022.) To alleviate this, we have conducted a series of workshops extended over several weeks that enabled a more sustained relationship with the school and the students. In future research, we plan to extend our workshops towards building a longitudinal programme that would provide more robust results concerning change in science interest and science capital.

# Acknowledgement

This research was part of the project 'DiSSI - Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion - Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity, which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union under the grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the contents, which reflect the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein. The authors would like to acknowledge funding from the Science Foundation Ireland (SFI) through SSPC, the SFI Research Centre for Pharmaceuticals, grant number 12/RC/2275\_P2, which is co-funded under the European Regional Development Fund. We would like to thank the two anonymous reviewers for their valuable suggestions and comments. The authors would also like to acknowledge all the participating teachers and students in this project for their collaboration and contributions to the project, and for their meaningful engagement with the research team.

# References

Acquah, E. O., Szelei, N., & Katz, H. T. (2020). Using modelling to make culturally responsive pedagogy explicit in preservice teacher education in Finland. *British Educational Research Journal*, *46*(1), 122–139.

AlShebli, B. K., Rahwan, T., & Woon, W. L. (2018). The preeminence of ethnic diversity in scientific collaboration. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 5163.

Archer, L., Dawson, E., DeWitt, J., Seakins, A., & Wong, B. (2015). "Science capital": A conceptual, methodological, and empirical argument for extending Bourdieusian notions of capital beyond the arts. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 52(7), 922–948.

Archer, L., DeWitt, J., Osborne, J., Dillon, J., Willis, B., & Wong, B. (2012). "Balancing acts": Elementary school girls' negotiations of femininity, achievement, and science. *Science Education*, *96*(6), 967–989.

Aschbacher, P. R., Li, E., & Roth, E. J. (2010). Is science me? High school students' identities,

participation and aspirations in science, engineering, and medicine. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(5), 564–582.

Avraamidou, L. (2020). Science identity as a landscape of becoming: rethinking recognition and emotions through an intersectionality lens. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, *15*(2), 323–345.

Avraamidou, L. & Schwartz, R. (2021). Who aspires to be a scientist/who is allowed in science? science identity as a lens to exploring the political dimension of the nature of science. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, *16*(2), 337–344.

Barton, A. C., Kang, H., Tan, E., O'Neill, T. B., Bautista-Guerra, J., & Brecklin, C. (2013). Crafting a future in science: Tracing middle school girls' identity work over time and space. *American Educational Research Journal*, *50*(1), 37–75.

Barton, A. C. & Tan, E. (2018). A longitudinal study of equity-oriented stem-rich making among youth from historically marginalized communities. *American Educational Research Journal*, 55(4), 761–800.
Borg, W. R. & Gall, M. D. (1983). *Educational Research An Introduction* (4th ed.). Longman.

Bourdieu, P. (1990). The Logic of Practice. Stanford University Press.

Bourdieu, P. & Passeron, J. C. (1990). *Reproduction in Education, Society and Culture*. Published in association with Theory, Culture & Society. SAGE Publications.

Calabrese Barton, A., Greenberg, D., Kim, W. J., Brien, S., Roby, R., Balzer, M., Turner, C., & Archer,

L. (2021). Disruptive moments as opportunities towards justice-oriented pedagogical practice in informal science learning. *Science Education*, *105*(6), 1229–1251.

Carlone, H. B. & Johnson, A. (2007). Understanding the science experiences of successful women of color: Science identity as an analytic lens. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44(8), 1187–1218. Carter, L., Weinstein, M., & Bencze, L. (2017). Biopolitics and science education. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 12(4), 761–767.

Chambers, D. W. (1983). Stereotypic images of the scientist: The draw-a-scientist test. *Science Education*, *67*(2), 255–265.

Chen, A., Darst, P. W., & Pangrazi, R. P. (2001). An examination of situational interest and its sources. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *71*(3), 383–400.

Chen, S. & Wei, B. (2022). Development and validation of an instrument to measure high school students' science identity in science learning. *Research in Science Education*, 52(1), 111–126.

Chzhen, Y. (2023, July 23). *How lockdown highlighted educational inequality in Ireland – new research*. The Conversation. https://theconversation.com/how-lockdown-highlighted-educational-inequality-

in-ireland-new-research-177413

Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), 297-298.

Cohen, L., Manion, L. & Morrison, K. (2007). Research Methods in Education (6th Ed.). Routledge.

Considine, J.R., Mihalick, J.E., Mogi-Hein, Y.R., Penick-Parks, M.W. & Van Auken, P.M. (2017). How Do You Achieve Inclusive Excellence in the Classroom?. *Teaching and Learning*, 2017(151), 171-187.

Cooper, G. & Berry, A. (2020). Demographic predictors of senior secondary participation in biology, physics, chemistry and earth/space sciences: students' access to cultural, social and science capital. *International Journal of Science Education*, 42(1), 151–166.

Cooper, G., Berry, A., & Baglin, J. (2020). Demographic predictors of students' science participation over the age of 16: An Australian case study. *Research in Science Education*, *50*(1), 361–373.

Creghan, C., & Adair-Creghan, K. (2015). The Positive Impact of Project-Based Learning on Attendance of an Economically Disadvantaged Student Population: A Multiyear Study.

Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning, 9(2).

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *The University of Chicago Legal* 

#### Forum, 140, 139-167.

Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: Intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241–1299.

Cuevas, P., Lee, O., Hart, J. & Deaktor, R. (2005), Improving science inquiry with elementary students of diverse backgrounds. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 42, 337–357.

Dagher, Zoubeida R. & Erduran, Sibel (2016). Reconceptualizing the Nature of Science for Science Education. *Science & Education*, 25(1-2), 147-164.

DeWitt, J. & Archer, L. (2015). Who Aspires to a Science Career? A comparison of survey responses from primary and secondary school students. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(13), 2170–2192.

DeWitt, J., Archer, L., & Mau, A. (2016). Dimensions of science capital: exploring its potential for understanding students' science participation. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(16), 2431–2449.

Erduran, S. & Wong, S. L. (2013). Science Curriculum Reform on 'Scientific Literacy for All' Across National Contexts: Case Studies of Curricula from England & Wales and Hong Kong. In Mansour, N. and Wegerif, R. (Eds.). *Science Education for Diversity*, 179–201. Springer.

Ferguson, S. L. & Lezotte, S. M. (2020). Exploring the state of science stereotypes: Systematic review and meta-analysis of the draw-a-scientist checklist. *School Science and Mathematics*, *120*(1), 55–65.

Fowler, K., Windschitl, M., & Richards, J. (2019). Exit tickets: Understanding students, adapting instruction, and addressing equity. *The Science Teacher*, *86*(8), 18–26.

Garner, N., Hayes, S. M., and Eilks, I. (2014). Linking formal and non-formal learning in science education a reflection from two cases. *SISYPHUS journal of education*, 2(2), 10–31.

Gay, G. (2002). Culturally responsive teaching in special education for ethnically diverse students:

Setting the stage, International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 15(6), 613–629.

Godec, S., King, H. & Archer, L. (2017). *The Science Capital Teaching Approach: engaging students with science, promoting social justice.* University College London.

Gorard, S. & See, B. H. (2009). The impact of socioeconomic status on participation and attainment in science. *Studies in Science Education*, 45(1), 93–129.

Haase, T. & Pratschke, J. (2023, July 23). The 2016 Pobal HP deprivation index. Trutz Haase.

http://trutzhaase.eu/deprivation-index/the-2016-pobal-hp-deprivation-index-for-small-areas/

Harper, A. & Kayumova, S. (2023). Invisible multilingual black and brown girls: Raciolinguistic

narratives of identity in science education. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 60(5), 1092–1124.

Haynes, A., Joyce, S., & Schweppe, J. (2021). The significance of the declaration of ethnic minority status for Irish travellers. *Nationalities Papers*, *49*(2), 270-288.

Hofstein, A., & Rosenfeld, S. (1996). Bridging the gap between formal and informal science learning. *Studies in Science Education*, 28, 87–112.

Holmegaard, H. T. & Archer, L., editors (2023). *Science Identities*. Contributions from Science Education Research. Springer International Publishing.

Hong, L. & Page, S. E. (2004). Groups of diverse problem solvers can outperform groups of high-

ability problem solvers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(46), 16385–16389. Jones, T. R. & Burrell, S. (2022). Present in class yet absent in science: The individual and societal impact of inequitable science instruction and challenge to improve science instruction. *Science Education*, 106(5), 1032–1053.

Kayumova, S. & Dou, R. (2022). Equity and justice in science education: Toward a pluriverse of multiple identities and onto-epistemologies. *Science Education*, *106*(5), 1097–1117.

Kayumova, S., McGuire, C. J., & Cardello, S. (2019). From empowerment to response-ability: rethinking socio-spatial, environmental justice, and nature-culture binaries in the context of stem education. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 14(1), 205–229.

Keller, L., Lüdtke, O., Preckel, F., & Brunner, M. (2023). Educational inequalities at the intersection of multiple social categories: An introduction and systematic review of the multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) approach. *Educational Psychology Review*, *35*(1), 31.

Kenny, N., McCoy, S., & Mihut, G. (2020). Special education reforms in Ireland: changing systems, changing schools. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1–20.

Kier, M. W., Blanchard, M. R., Osborne, J. W., & Albert, J. L. (2014). The development of the stem career interest survey (stem-cis). *Research in Science Education*, 44(3), 461–481.

Lee, O. & Luykx, A. (2006). *Science Education and Student Diversity: Synthesis and Research Agenda*. Cambridge University Press.

Mansour, N. & Wegerif, R. (Eds.). (2013). Science Education for Diversity. Springer Dordrecht.

Marosi, N., Avraamidou, L., & Galani, L. (2021). Culturally relevant pedagogies in science education as a response to global migration. *SN Social Sciences*, *1*(6), 147.

McCoy, S., Byrne, D., & O'Connor, P. (2022). Gender stereotyping in mothers' and teachers' perceptions of boys' and girls' mathematics performance in Ireland. *Oxford Review of Education*, *48*(3), 341–363.

McHugh, M., Hayes, S., Tajber, L., & Ryan, L. (2022). Medicine maker: An outreach activity for pharmaceutical manufacturing and health literacy. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 99(3), 1231–1237. McManus, B., Dwyer, A., Childs, P., Broggy, J. & Mccormack, O. (2015). Teaching Enquiry with mysteries incorporated: the benefits of involving pre-service teachers. *LUMAT International Journal on Math Science and Technology Education*, 3(4), 512–528.

Mihut, G., McCoy, S., & Maître, B. (2022). A capability approach to understanding academic and socio-emotional outcomes of students with special educational needs in Ireland. *Oxford Review of Education*, *48*(3), 271–288.

OECD (2012). Recognition of Non-formal and Informal Learning - Home. OECD. https://www.oecd. org/education/skills-beyond-school/recognitionofnon-formalandinformallearning-home.htm OECD/PISA (2009). PISA 2006 Technical Report. OECD Publishing.

Rennie, L. J. (2007). Learning science outside of school. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), Handbook of research and science education (pp. 125–167). Lawrence Erlbaum.

Ryan, R. M. & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic

motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 55(1), 6878.

Saldana, J. M. (2015). The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.

Sharpe, R. & Abrahams, I. (2020). Secondary school students' attitudes to practical work in biology,

chemistry and physics in England. Research in Science & Technological Education, 38(1), 84-104.

Smyth, E., McCoy, S., & Kingston, G. (2015). 'Learning from the evaluation of DEIS': Research Series

(39). Economic and Social Research Institute. https://www.esri.ie/system/files/publications/RS39.pdf

Smyth, E. (2020). Shaping educational expectations: the perspectives of 13-year-olds and their parents. *Educational Review*, *7*2(2), 173–195.

Snětinová, M., Kácovský, P., & Machalická, J. (2018). Hands-On Experiments in the Interactive

Physics Laboratory: Students' Intrinsic Motivation and Understanding. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 8(1), 55-75. https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.319

Summerlee, A.J.S. (2018). Inquiry-based learning: A socially just approach to higher education. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, *28*(4), 406–418.

Tobin, K., Seiler, G., & Smith, M. W. (1999). Educating science teachers for the sociocultural diversity of urban schools. *Research in Science Education*, *29*(1), 69–88.

White, A. M., DeCuir-Gunby, J. T., & Kim, S. (2019). A mixed methods exploration of the relationships

between the racial identity, science identity, science self-efficacy, and science achievement of African American students at HBCUs. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *57*, 54–71.

Wright, G. W. & Delgado, C. (2023). Generating a framework for gender and sexual diversityinclusive stem education. *Science Education*, *107*(3), 713–740.

Zhang, L. (2016). Is Inquiry-Based Science Teaching Worth the Effort?. *Science & Education*, 25, 897–915.

# Appendix: Data Tables

# Table 5

Results of survey instrument items on "interest in science".

Interest in science (OECD/PISA, 2009)		Strongly agree & agree % (n)	Neither agree nor disagree % (n)	Strongly disagree & disagree % (n)	Strongly agree & agree % (n)	Neither agree nor disagree % (n)	Strongly disagree & disagree % (n)
		Pr	e-test, <i>n</i> = 1	16	Р	ost-test, <i>n</i> =	= 18
1.	I generally have fun when I am learning science topics.	94% (15)	5% (1)	0	61% (11)	28% (5)	11% (2)
2.	I like reading about science.	81% (13)	0	18% (3)	56% (10)	11% (2)	33% (6)
3.	I am happy doing science problems.	69%(11)	25% (4)	6% (1)	28% (5)	44% (8)	28% (4)
4.	l enjoy acquiring new knowledge in science.	75%(12)	19% (3)	6% (1)	61% (11)	17% (3)	22% (4)
5.	I am interested in learning about science.	94%(15)	0	6% (1)	50% (9)	28% (5)	22 % (4)
16.	Science topics are easy for me.	31% (5)	44% (7)	25% (4)	34% (7)	28% (5)	38% (6)

# Table 6

Results of survey instrument items on "motivation."

Motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000)		ongly agree gree % (n)	ither agree r disagree (n)	ongly agree & agree % (n)	ongly agree gree % (n)	ither agree r disagree (n)	ongly agree & agree% (n)
		Str &a	Ne No	Str dis dis	Str & a	No No	Str dis dis
		Pr	e-test, <i>n</i> = 1	6	Pos	st-test, n =	18
l pa	rticipate actively in science cla	SS					
19.	because I feel like its a good way to improve my understanding of the mate- rial.	75% (12)	25% (4)	0	56% (10)	16% (3)	28% (5)
20.	because others might think badly of me if I didn't.		12 % (2) 25%(4) 63% (10)			29% (5) 18% (3) 53% (9)	
21.	because a solid un- derstanding of science is important to my intellectual growth.	75% (12)	19% (3)	6% (1)	59% (10)	0	41% (7)
l am	h likely to follow my instructor?	s suggestion	ns for studyi	ng science			
22.	because I would get a bad grade if I didn't do what she suggests.	63% (10)	25 % (4)	12% (2)	59% (10)	18% (3)	23% (4)
23.	because I am worried that I am not going to perform well in the course.	56% (9)	13% (2)	31% (5)	47% (8)	41% (7)	12% (2)
24.	because its easier to follow her suggestions than come up with my own study strategies.	62% (10)	19% (3)	19% (3)	67% (12)	22% (4)	11% (2)
25.	because she seems to have insight about how best to learn the material.	94% (15)	6% (1)	0	76 % (13)	12% (2)	12% (2)
The	reason that I work to expand	my knowlec	lge of sciend	ce is			
26.	because it's interesting to learn more about the nature of science.	94% (15)	0	6% (1)	78% (14)	11% (2)	11% (2)
27.	because it's a challenge to really understand how to answer science questions.	50% (8)	38% (6)	12% (2)	59% (10)	29% (5)	12% (2)
28.	because I want others to see that I am intelligent when discussing science topics.	38% (6)	25% (4)	38% (6)	41% (7)	41% (7)	18% (3)

# **Biographical note**

**GENCO GURALP**, PhD, is an assistant professor in philosophy at San Diego State University, and a postdoctoral researcher at SSPC, the Science Foundation Ireland Research Centre for Pharmaceuticals, at the University of Limerick. His post-doctoral work is on Science Education and Public Engagement in Science through the ERASMUS+ DiSSI project. His research areas include the history and philosophy of science, philosophy of cosmology, philosophy of physics, and the historical epistemology of science. His recent work focuses on science studies and the sociology of science in the context of STEM education and public engagement with science.

**MARTIN MCHUGH**, PhD, is a Projects and Public Engagement Officer at SSPC. He is a former science and biology teacher and in 2017 completed a PhD investigating the impact of video technology on student interest and engagement throughout secondary schools in Ireland. Currently, Martin develops medicine and health-themed public engagement activities for diverse public groups, and he is active in collaborative research investigations into the impact of informal and non-formal learning environments on participants.

**SARAH HAYES**, PhD, is the Chief Operations Officer at SSPC, the SFI Research Centre for Pharmaceuticals. Sarah is a former physics and chemistry teacher and completed her PhD in science education. Currently, Sarah works with a broad number of stakeholders including academic, industry, and societal partners to enhance collaboration and develop impactful public engagement projects. She conducts research in the area of informal and non-formal learning and engagement in science.
DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1706

# Inquiry-Based Chemistry Education Activities in a Non-formal Educational Setting for Gifted Students

Miha Slapničar<sup>1</sup>, Luka Ribič<sup>2</sup>, Iztok Devetak<sup>2</sup> and Luka Vinko<sup>\*3</sup>

Student giftedness is a complex, developmentally dynamic and contex- $\sim$ tual phenomenon that teachers confront every day. In the classroom, teachers often meet students who have exceptional potential or achieve very high learning goals. The aim of this study is to illustrate the evaluation of inquiry-based learning activities in a specific context (Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion learning modules) implemented in a non-formal educational setting for gifted students in relation to their level of individual interest and their autonomous and controlled motivation, comparing different groups of students. We investigate how these activities affect the students' attitudes towards inquiry-based learning, their situational interest and their interest in science careers. A total of 264 Slovenian lower secondary school students participated in the study. The students participated in non-adapted and adapted activities based on the inquiry-based learning approach. The data were collected using pre- and post-activity questionnaires. Participation in the study, which took place in the period between the 2021/22 and the 2022/23 school years, was voluntary. The data was collected anonymously and used for research purposes only. The results show several statistically significant differences in how students' level of individual interest, autonomous motivation and controlled motivation for learning chemistry affects their attitudes towards inquiry-based learning, their situational interest in Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion activities and their interest in science careers. For the gifted and non-gifted students who participated in "Forensics Science" lab activities before and after the adaptations to the modules, the results related to their attitudes towards inquiry-based learning and situational interest are also reported. Thus, the results of the study provide useful insights for researchers in the field of chemistry education as well as for chemistry teachers in lower and

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana; Biotechnical Educational Centre Ljubljana -General Upper Secondary School and Veterinary Technician School, Ljubljana, Slovenia.

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia.

<sup>3 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia; luka.vinko@pef.uni-lj.si.

upper secondary schools. The presented study is a good example of best practices that chemistry teachers can apply in teaching chemistry, thus enabling all students, not only the gifted ones, to learn chemistry using the inquiry-based learning approach.

**Keywords:** non-formal education, gifted students, inquiry-based learning, interest, motivation

### Učenje z raziskovanjem na področju kemije za nadarjene učence v neformalnem izobraževalnem okolju

#### Miha Slapničar, Luka Ribič, Iztok Devetak in Luka Vinko

Nadarjenost učencev je kompleksen, razvojno dinamičen in kontekstualen  $\sim$ pojav, s katerim se učitelji vsakodnevno spoprijemajo. V razredu se pogosto srečujejo z učenci, ki imajo izjemni učni potencial ali dosegajo zelo visoke učne standarde. Namen te raziskave je prikazati rezultate aktivnosti učenja z raziskovanjem v specifičnem kontekstu učnih modulov, razvitih v sklopu projekta DiSSI (Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion) in izvedenih v sklopu neformalnega izobraževanja za nadarjene učence v povezavi z njihovo stopnjo individualnega interesa ter avtonomno in kontrolirano motivacijo, pri čemer primerjamo različne skupine učencev. Preučevano je bilo, kako izvedene laboratorijske aktivnosti učnih modulov vplivajo na odnos učencev do učenja z raziskovanjem, njihov situacijski interes in zanimanje za naravoslovne poklice. V raziskavo je bilo vključenih 264 slovenskih učencev, ki so sodelovali v izvedbi neprilagojenih in prilagojenih učnih modulov v kontekstu učenja z raziskovanjem. Podatki so bili zbrani z vprašalnikom pred izvedeno laboratorijsko aktivnostjo in po njej. Sodelovanje v raziskavi, ki je potekala med šolskimi leti 2021/22 in 2022/23, je bilo prostovoljno. Zbrani podatki so anonimni, uporabljeni pa so bili le v raziskovalne namene. Rezultati kažejo več statistično pomembnih razlik v tem, kako stopnja individualnega interesa, avtonomna in kontrolirana motivacija učencev za učenje kemije vplivajo na njihov odnos do učenja z raziskovanjem, situacijski interes po izvedbi aktivnosti učnih modulov in zanimanje za naravoslovne poklice. V prispevku so predstavljeni tudi rezultati glede odnosa učencev, nadarjenih in nenadarjenih, ki so sodelovali v aktivnostih učnega modula »Naravoslovje v forenzični znanosti« pred prilagoditvami učnih modulov in po njih. Rezultati raziskave ponujajo koristne vpoglede za raziskovalce na področju kemijskega izobraževanja pa tudi za učitelje kemije v osnovnih in srednjih šolah. Predstavljena raziskava je primer dobre prakse, ki ga lahko učitelji kemije uporabijo pri poučevanju kemije, s čimer omogočijo vsem učencem, ne le nadarjenim, učenje kemije z uporabo pristopa učenja z raziskovanjem.

Ključne besede: neformalno izobraževanje, nadarjeni učenci, učenje z raziskovanjem, interes, motivacija

#### Introduction

Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion (DiSSI) – Non-formal Education in Science for Students' Diversity is an international Erasmus+ project with partners from Germany, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Northern Macedonia and Slovenia.

The aim of the project was to develop educational strategies in chemistry in a non-formal learning environment for diverse students to simultaneously address four dimensions of student diversity: (1) those who come from a lower socioeconomic status background, (2) those who belong to an ethnic or cultural background that differs from the majority in society, (3) those with lower language skills for effective communication in the predominant language in society, and (4) those who are considered gifted in science or chemistry.

As part of the project, the Slovenian team focused on activities for gifted students. Identification of giftedness is a challenging task that requires the collaboration of teachers, school counsellors, parents and external experts. In Slovenia, this process is guided by the instructions proposed by the working group for the preparation of the concept "discovering and working with gifted students in the nine-year primary school". According to this concept, the first step in identifying giftedness is to define students who may be gifted based on criteria that do not include tests or assessment instruments. The second step is a more in-depth and detailed analysis to which methodologically sound instruments can be applied. In the third and final step of identification, parents are informed about their children's giftedness and have an opportunity to give their opinion about it (Žagar et al., 1999). Gifted students should be given an opportunity to develop their potential in the best possible way in the field of science as well, especially in chemistry. If they show an interest in acquiring chemistry knowledge at a higher level than specified in the national curriculum for chemistry, they should have an opportunity to participate in enrichment activities. Such activities may include inquiry-based learning (IBL) in a specific context.

IBL as a learning method applied in the specific domain of science teaching and learning can be defined as Inquiry-Based Science Education (IBSE) (Dunne et al., 2013). For the purpose of the present paper, IBL is applied in a non-formal educational setting in the KemikUm Centre at the Faculty of Education of the University of Ljubljana. After participating in science-related non-formal activities, students often show better performance, greater confidence in their ability to solve science tasks and more enjoyment in learning science (OECD, 2012).

The purpose of the study presented in this paper is to evaluate the effectiveness of DiSSI learning modules based on IBL in the context of gifted students in a non-formal learning setting and to investigate students' attitudes towards this method of chemistry learning. Students' interest and motivation in chemistry learning and their IBL experiences in school were assessed as well as the impact of these variables on the success of DiSSI module implementation.

## Students' giftedness for academic achievements in general and in science

Students whose performance in certain areas is higher than that of their peers are referred to as gifted students and show high potential and achievement at all levels of education (Worrel et al., 2019; State Notes: Gifted and Talented, 2006). Their characteristics are curiosity, persistent pursuit of interests and questions, awareness of the environment, recognition of the relationship between seemingly desperate ideas, generation of ideas, etc. (Tuttle et al., 1988). Hornstra et al. (2020) reported differences in motivation levels between gifted and non-gifted students, although these differences were only minor. Phillips and Lindsay (2006) found that both types of motivation (extrinsic and intrinsic) are present in gifted students, while Topcu and Leana-Tascilar (2018) found that both types can predict academic achievement of gifted students. In order to increase gifted students' interest and motivation, they need to be given tasks that they find challenging and to participate in high-ability groups (Hornstra et al., 2020; Little, 2012; Phillips & Lindsay, 2006). Little (2012) stated that, in order to be challenging for gifted students, the topic must be meaningful and contain elements of enjoyment. When this is not the case, students do not have an opportunity to pursue their personal interests. The pace and level of teaching and learning can provide an appropriate level of challenge for gifted students and increase their motivation. With a positive attitude towards inquiry activities in science classrooms, students' interest in science learning also increases (Eltanahy & Forawi, 2019). Levinson (2007) and Kind (2007) suggested that controversial socio-scientific issues and context-based science in general can be an effective vehicle for stimulating gifted students in science learning.

Following these guidelines from the literature, DiSSI modules with interesting problems from everyday contexts were developed in order to stimulate gifted students' interest in learning new chemistry concepts.

## Students' individual and situational interest in learning chemistry

Interest is defined as a psychological state involving a high level of attention, effort and commitment to an activity (Chen & Darst 2002). The authors define two types of interest: individual and situational. Individual interest is a consequence of the individual's psychological state and is related to preferences for activities. It allows individuals to persist in a situation despite frustrations and feelings of failure. Students with higher levels of individual interest tend to be more focused and relaxed, remember content better, strive to do well in written knowledge tests (Renninger, 2000) and have a better capacity for knowledge acquisition (Rotgans & Schmid, 2017). Individual interest therefore enhances student learning. Cheung (2018) found that scientific self-concept is the most important factor for students' individual interest. Self-concept is higher in gifted students than in non-gifted students (Košir et al. 2016; Metin & Kangal, 2012). Academic self-concept is influenced by the educational setting. When students learn in a high ability setting, they have a lower self-concept; therefore, high ability students have a higher academic self-concept in a non-high ability setting such as schools (Tokmak et al. 2021).

Situational interest depends on external stimuli and internal dispositions, and can be influenced by individual interest (Rotgans & Schmid, 2018). It arises due to environmental factors, such as a task instruction or an engaging text (Schraw et al., 2001). In research by Linnenbrick-Garcia et al. (2010) and Chen and Darst (2002), situational interest was shown to be unrelated to individual interest. Situational interest depends on situational factors, such as collative factors, which can deepen interest in an individual task (Durik & Harackiewicz, 2007). Active involvement combined with novelty play a key role in fostering students' situational interest (Snětinová et al., 2018). Knogler et al. (2015) found that specific situation effects have a strong influence on selfreported situational interest, while research by Liu et al. (2022) showed that IBL can significantly improve students' level of situational interest, although it does not have a significant influence on students' individual interest.

According to the literature, it is reasonable to assume that, when trying to implement a new educational strategy such as DiSSI modules, both types of interest can be measured, considering situational interest and individual interest as independent variables.

#### Autonomous and controlled motivation for learning chemistry

Motivation is the ability and will to learn and strive with purpose. It refers to the choices people make about what goals to strive for and the amount of effort they put forth to achieve those goals (Crookes & Schmidt, 1991). Student learning is driven by two sources: external and internal. In general, there are two types of motivation: extrinsic and intrinsic (Filgona et al. 2020). Ryan and Deci (2000) defined the motivation continuum as ranging from amotivation to motivation, with amotivation being a state in which people lack motivation. According to Self-Determination Theory (SDT), people are likely to be unmotivated when they lack either a sense of efficacy or a sense of control over the desired outcome. Extrinsic motivation, along with intrinsic factors and identified and integrated regulation, is classified as autonomous motivation (Feri et al., 2016) or intrinsic motivation (Ratelle et al., 2007). This type of motivation can be undermined by external factors such as monetary rewards (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and can help individuals to be more determined in their future career choices (Paixao et al., 2021). Controlled motivation includes external and introjected regulation with an external locus of causality (Gegenfurtner et al., 2009). Controlled motivation can be understood as extrinsic motivation (Ratelle et al., 2007) in which people's behaviour is controlled by external conditions (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Motivation can be increased by higher levels of autonomy given to students by teachers (Ushida, 2011, Hinnersmann et al., 2020). Emphasising student autonomy decreases students' conscious learning and therefore motivates them (Bravo et al., 2017). In a study by Hornstra et al. (2020), teachers were found to provide gifted students with less structured tasks and give them more autonomy. However, no statistically significant differences were found between gifted and non-gifted students in terms of their motivation levels. Research by Al-Dhamit and Kreishan (2013) showed that gifted students have high extrinsic and intrinsic motivation, but not significantly higher than non-gifted students. Bosco et al. (2019) found that student-centred learning, in which students experience hands-on activities, increases students' autonomous motivation, but controlled motivation can also be increased through a more competitive learning environment (Cropper, 1998).

Given these aspects of motivation that influence learning, the DiSSI modules were designed to be student-centred and to allow students to be more autonomous in inquiry-based laboratory work.

#### Inquiry-based learning

IBL is a student-centred learning method (Reid & Ali, 2020) "in which learning is driven by a process of inquiry" (Khan & O'Rourke, 2004, p. 1). In this process, students seek an answer to a research question or attempt to solve problems by conducting experiments, following the stages of scientific inquiry that scientists use to collect and analyse data and draw conclusions. In the context of chemistry education, these activities lead students to acquire new knowledge and skills (Pedaste et al., 2015). The IBL method is based on a constructivist approach to learning, which assumes that learners create their own understanding through active participation in the learning process (Driver & Oldham, 1986). It is a type of learning that includes hands-on activities to motivate and engage students (Suduc et al., 2015). It is also a form of active learning in which students interact with each other and pave the way for interaction with the teacher (Aulia et al., 2018). It has been found that students who experience hands-on activities find the learning content more enjoyable and relevant (Suduc et al., 2015). Inquiry-based learning also improves student learning outcomes (Wang et al., 2015; Tawfik et al., 2020; Anjani et al., 2018).

Eltanahy and Forawi (2019) found that students have positive attitudes towards inquiry-based activities in science classrooms and therefore show more interest in learning about science, although this needs to be guided to some extent by the teacher (Szalaya, et al., 2021). It is therefore reasonable to assume that individual interest in chemistry learning may influence how students perceive learning and how IBL activities influence students' situational interest and their attitudes towards the IBL approach and activities conducted in the chemistry laboratory. However, some studies (Snětinová et al., 2018; Szalaya et al., 2021) have concluded that IBL does not have a statistically significant impact on students' interest and knowledge levels. When students' interest is aroused, relationships between students are also enriched, resulting in an improvement in their attitudes towards science (Aktamiş & Hİğde, 2016).

Some research (West, 2007; Özgür & Yilmaz, 2017; Trna, 2014) conducted with gifted students has concluded that IBL can increase gifted students' motivation to learn. This type of learning can also be effective for gifted students (Özgür & Yilmaz, 2017; Eysink et al., 2015; Can & Inel Ekici, 2021; Juriševič & Devetak, 2018), as its components meet their educational needs (Trna, 2014).

#### Aim and research questions

The aim of the study presented in this paper was to investigate how (1) individual interest in learning chemistry and (2) autonomous and controlled motivation for learning chemistry among different groups of students affect their attitudes towards IBL, their situational interest and their interest in science careers. Non-formal and informal activities are positively related to science learning, which is why DiSSI modules were developed for implementation in a non-formal learning environment.

The research questions guiding this study are as follows:

- Are there any significant differences in students' attitudes towards IBL, their situational interest, and their interest in science careers based on their individual interest in chemistry learning and their autonomous and controlled motivation for chemistry learning?
- 2. Are there any significant differences in students' attitude towards IBL and their situational interest based on DiSSI "Forensic Science" module adaptations?
- 3. Are there any significant differences in students' attitudes towards IBL, situational interest, individual interest, autonomous motivation and controlled motivation based on their general academic giftedness, self-reported giftedness for chemistry and previous experience with IBL in school?

#### Method

The non-experimental and pre-post educational research approach was used in this study.

#### Participants

A total of 264 students attending grades 7, 8 and 9 at 17 lower secondary schools across Slovenia participated in this study. The participants were between 13 and 15 years old, so informed consent to participate in the study was obtained from their parents and caregivers. Of the 264 participants, 164 were girls, 96 were boys and 4 students chose the option "other" regarding their gender. A total of 112 of the students were identified as gifted, with an average grade in chemistry of 4.8 (SD = 0.60) out of a maximum of 5, while 152 were not identified as gifted

and had an average grade in chemistry of 4.1 (SD = 0.88) out of a maximum of 5. The students are officially classified as generally gifted at school according to the concept "discovering and working with gifted students in the nine-year primary school" presented above. When the students were asked whether they think they are gifted for chemistry, 118 said yes and 146 said no. However, this is an unofficial classification. Of the 264 students, 136 participated in the DiSSI module "Forensic Science", which proved to be our most popular module and was adapted with the teaching strategies used by our project partners. Out of these 136 students, 68 participated in the non-adapted module and 68 in the adapted module.

#### Instruments

#### Pre-DiSSI activity questionnaire

The anonymous questionnaire given to the lower secondary school students participating in the study before they performed the laboratory activity consisted of three parts.

In the first introductory section, the students were informed that the purpose of the questionnaire was to find out their opinion about learning chemistry before participating in the laboratory activity. In the subsequent section of the first part of the questionnaire, the students provided information on demographics, such as their age, gender and grade level, whether they are identified as gifted, whether they consider themselves as gifted in chemistry, their final grade in chemistry from the previous school year, and the their prediction for their final grade in chemistry in the current school year.

In the second section, the students expressed their agreement with 18 different items related to the following three dimensions: individual interest (5 items), interest in a science career (7 items) and self-concept (6 items). In the third section, the students determined whether they agree with items on two motivational dimensions: autonomous motivation (5 items) and controlled motivation (5 items). Each item in this instrument was rated on a five-point Likert scale with the following scoring options: strongly disagree = 1, disagree = 2, unsure = 3, agree = 4, strongly agree = 5.

#### Post-DiSSI activity questionnaire

The anonymous questionnaire given to the lower secondary school students after the laboratory activity contained the same introductory and demographic data collection section as the pre-questionnaire.

In the second part of the questionnaire, the students had to evaluate their agreement with items related to their situational interest for DiSSI activities in

a non-formal educational environment (10 items). Each item in the second part was rated on a five-point Likert scale with the following scoring options: strongly disagree = 1, disagree = 2, unsure = 3, agree = 4, strongly agree = 5. There was also a question asking the students to write down three things of their choice that they found most interesting about this chemistry activity.

In the third part of the questionnaire, the students evaluated the implementation of IBL in the chemistry classroom at their school (five items).

In the fourth part of the questionnaire, the students had to express their agreement with items that related to their attitude towards IBL implemented during the DiSSI activity (7 items). Each item in the fourth part was rated on a four-point scale with the following scoring options: strongly disagree = 1, disagree = 2, agree = 3, strongly agree = 4.

#### Research design

The research was conducted from September 2021 to May 2023. All of the instruments were applied anonymously. Activities developed for both lower and upper secondary school students include the following DiSSI learning modules: (1) "Forensics Science", (2) "Environmental Chemistry – Hydrosphere Pollution", (3) "Green Chemistry of the Future", (4) "Biologically Active Substances in Pepper", and (5) "Chemistry of Honey". All of the learning modules are based on the principle of IBL, which has proven to be effective in teaching and learning chemistry for gifted students as well as for others, but with certain adaptations to the learning approach. The main learning goals of the DiSSI modules are to give students an opportunity to solve specific scientific problems by applying the IBL approach in a non-formal educational setting and to stimulate the development of their scientific competences and interest in real-life chemistry.

In the "Forensics Science" DiSSI module, the participants are presented with a fictional crime scenario with a description of the victim and suspects. Their task is to analyse the collected evidence by conducting various experiments (latent fingerprint detection, toxicology and DNA electrophoresis) in order to find out which of the suspects had committed the crime.

The DiSSI module "Environmental Chemistry – Hydrosphere Pollution" is an important part of scientific literacy for sustainability of lower and higher secondary school students. Within this module, students must conduct a series of experiments from the field of ecotoxicology and water and soil pollution using analytical chemistry methods, such as spectroscopy.

The "Green Chemistry of the Future" DiSSI module offers gifted students an exciting opportunity to develop critical and creative thinking while gaining STEM skills. Through this module, gifted students explore topics related to sustainability and environmental concerns in order to identify problems, develop research questions, collect and analyse data, develop possible solutions, and share this information with others. "Green issues" are especially appealing to gifted students, as such students are often sensitive to the world around them and are interested in projects related to current issues in their communities, e.g., biodiesel production, waste reuse, etc.

The DiSSI module "Biologically Active Substances in Pepper" is related to the chemistry topic of natural compounds and includes many activities for gifted students, especially those in higher secondary schools. Experimental activities include the development and optimisation of various experimental methods for isolating compounds from plant material. The isolated compounds are then detected and possibly identified. An important part of the identified compounds is their use in industry (e.g., use in the pharmaceutical industry as raw material to produce important drugs, natural cosmetics, etc.).

In the "Chemistry of Honey" DiSSI module, gifted students use the IBL approach to explore a variety of experiments to determine the physical and chemical properties of different types of honey. They investigate the colour, smell and taste of honey, as well as its viscosity. They also investigate the electrical conductivity of aqueous solutions containing different types of honey and conduct tests to determine the presence of reducing sugars. After completing these experiments, they evaluate these properties on unidentified samples to determine the origin and composition of the honey. All of the DiSSI modules are available in national languages on the official website of the DiSSI project: https://dissi.org/materials-for-sharing/.

Special DiSSI boxes were prepared for each DiSSI learning module, which contained all of the necessary tools, materials, instructions, etc. to enable the practical implementation of the DiSSI learning modules outside the University of Ljubljana's KemikUm laboratory. These boxes can be viewed at the official Slovenian website of the DiSSI project: https://dissislovenia.splet.arnes. si/izobrazevanje-uciteljev/.

Before the laboratory activities (DiSSI module application), the students had to fill in a pre-lab questionnaire, and after the lab work, they had to fill in a post-lab questionnaire. Both questionnaires were completed by the students in both of the groups participating in the non-adapted and adapted DiSSI module application.

The DiSSI project ran in four phases. In the first phase, several DiSSI modules were developed. In the second phase, the DiSSI modules were used in lab work or a workshop for lower secondary school students in a non-formal

educational setting at the University of Ljubljana's KemikUm laboratory. Each workshop lasted an average of four school hours (45 minutes each).

In the third phase of the project, the module "Forensics Science" was adapted to the teaching strategies used by our project partners. The module was adapted to the needs of other possible student diversities, such as lower language skills and belonging to an ethnic or cultural environment that is different from the majority of society, but not to students with a lower socioeconomic status. In order to meet these requirements, the adaptations included more structured and guided instructions for IBL and playful activities such as puzzles.

The data collected with the questionnaires were transferred to Excel and SPSS 22. Descriptive (frequency tables) and inferential statistics (one-way ANOVA and t-test) were used to process the data. The values for the groups of students that were tied to individual interest and autonomous motivation were calculated based on the level of agreement with the questions about individual interest or autonomous motivation. According to the number of points obtained in each category, the students were divided into three groups (Table 1).

#### Table 1

Criteria for dividing the students into three groups

Number of points	Group of students
< M - SD	Low level of individual interest/autonomous motivation
< M ± SD >	Average level of individual interest/autonomous motivation
> M + SD	High level of individual interest/autonomous motivation

#### **Results and discussion**

The results are presented based on the research questions stated above. One-way ANOVA was used to examine how the students' individual interest affects their attitudes towards IBL, situational interest and interest in science careers.

The students were divided into three groups based on their individual interest for chemistry learning (Group 1: low interest, Group 2: average interest, Group 3: high interest). The difference in the students' attitudes towards IBL between the three groups is statistically significant (F(2, 258) = 26.084; p < .001). Post hoc comparisons using Tukey HSD showed that there is a statistically significant difference (p < .001) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 19.02; SD = 3.00) and Group 3 (M = 23.03; SD = 2.48), between Group 2 (M = 20.81; SD = 2.83) and Group 3 (p < .05), and also between Group 1 and Group 2 (p < .05).

A significant difference was also found when comparing situational interest between the three groups with a different level of individual interest for learning chemistry (F(2, 254) = 24.344; p < .001). The test of homogeneity of variances was statistically significant (F(2, 258) = 3.923; p < 0.05), so the Welch test of equality of means was applied. The Tukey HSD post hoc test showed a statistically significant difference (p < .05) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 33.68; SD = 6.16) and Group 3 (M = 41.54; SD = 4.08), between Group 2(M = 37.92; SD = 5.72) and Group 3 (p < .05), and also between Group 1 and Group 2 (p < .05). These results contrast with previous findings by Linnenbrick-Garcia et al. (2010) and Chen and Darst (2002), who showed that situational interest was unrelated to individual interest. However, the results in the present study are consistent with Rotgans and Schmid (2018), who concluded that situational interest depends on external stimuli but can also be influenced by individual interest. It is difficult to explain mutually exclusive results from different authors, but it may be related to students' self-concept, which is one of the most important predictors of students' individual interest (Cheung, 2018) and is influenced by the educational setting, as noted by Tokmak et al. (2021). Schraw et al. (2001) found that task setting is also a predictor of situational interest, and it is possible that the IBL learning setting is the cause of the higher scores in both variables, which are uncorrelated.

When comparing the students' interest in science careers, a significant difference was found between the three groups regarding individual interest for learning chemistry (F(2, 256) = 44.489; p < .001). The Tukey HSD post hoc test showed a statistically significant difference ( $p \leq .001$ ) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 17.54; SD = 5.12) and Group 3 (M = 26.21; SD = 3.79), between Group 2 (M = 21.13; SD = 4.81) and Group 3, and also between Group 1 and Group 2. These results confirm the connection between the level of individual interest and the preference for an activity already shown by Chen and Darst (2002). Students who show higher levels of individual interest have more positive attitudes towards the IBL learning activity and also show a higher level of interest in a future science career. The interest in a science career could also be explained by Aktamiş and Hİğde's (2016) study, which found that students with higher levels of interest have a better attitude towards IBL.

In order to explore how students' autonomous motivation for learning chemistry affects their attitude towards IBL, their situational interest and their interest in science careers, one-way ANOVA was used. The students were divided into three groups based on their autonomous motivation for learning chemistry (Group 1: low autonomous motivation, Group 2: average autonomous motivation, Group 3: high autonomous motivation).

The difference in the students' attitude towards IBL between the three groups is statistically significant (F(2, 259) = 21.805; p < .001). Post hoc comparisons using Tukey HSD showed that there is a statistically significant difference (p < .05) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 19.00; SD = 3.10) and Group 3 (M = 23.18; SD = 2.09), between Group 2 (M = 21.02; SD = 2.90) and Group 3 (p < .05), and also between Group 1 and Group 2 (p < .05). The DiSSI modules included IBL learning activities that involve hands-on activities, as stated by Suduc et al. (2015). Bosco et al. (2019) previously found that educational settings in which students experience hands-on activities can increase their autonomous motivation. The results can also be explained by the autonomy given to the students to complete the activities in the DiSSI modules. By giving students more autonomy, their autonomous motivation can be increased (Ushida, 2011; Hinnersmann et al., 2020) as conscious learning is reduced (Bravo et al., 2017).

A significant difference was also found when comparing situational interest between the three groups of students with different levels of autonomous motivation (F(2, 255) = 14.557; p < .001). The test of homogeneity of variances was statistically significant (F(2, 255) = 4.993; p < 0.05), so the Welch test of equality of means was applied. The Tukey HSD post hoc test showed a statistically significant difference (p < .05) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 34.73; SD = 3.11) and Group 3 (M = 41.66; SD = 3.56), between Group 2 (M = 38.03; SD = 5.80) and Group 3 (p < .05), and also between Group 1 and Group 2 (p < .05). Autonomous motivation is composed of intrinsic motivation, identified and integrated regulation, and extrinsic motivation (Feri et al., 2016), so it seems possible that the level of situational interest, which is influenced by situational factors, as noted by Schraw et al. (2001), may be influenced by autonomous motivation. Schraw et al. (2001) also noted that teachers who want to increase students' situational interest need to focus on enhancing students' autonomy.

When comparing students' interest in science careers, it was found that there was a significant difference between the three groups of students with different levels of autonomous motivation (F(2, 257) = 35.513; p < .001). The Tukey HSD post hoc test showed a statistically significant difference (p < .05) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 17.44; SD = 5.22) and Group 3 (M = 26.46; SD = 4.63), between Group 2 (M = 21.53; SD = 4.73) and Group 3, and also between Group 1 and Group 2. These results can be explained by the relatively good relationship between autonomous motivation and individual determination regarding future career, as highlighted by Paixao et al. (2021).

In order to explore how controlled motivation for learning chemistry affects students' attitudes towards IBL, their situational interest and their interest in science careers, one-way ANOVA was used. The students were divided into three groups based on their controlled motivation for learning chemistry (Group 1: low controlled motivation, Group 2: average controlled motivation, Group 3: high controlled motivation). There was no significant difference when comparing the students' attitudes towards IBL (F(2, 260) = 2.071; p = .128). The characteristics of the IBL learning method noted by Suduc et al. (2015) and the National Science Education Standards (1996) are not as connected to controlled motivation as they are to autonomous motivation, as the above results confirm.

There was no significant difference comparing situational interest between the three groups of students regarding their controlled motivation for learning chemistry (F(2, 256) = .545 p = .580). These findings do not support the findings of previous authors such as Rotgans and Schmid (2018) and Schraw et al. (2001), who found that situational interest is influenced by external factors. One possible explanation for the present results could be that situational interest is enhanced by giving students more control and autonomy, factors that are connected to autonomous rather than controlled motivation.

When comparing the students' interest in science careers, it was found that there was a significant difference between the three groups of students with different levels of controlled motivation for learning chemistry (F(2, 258) = 4.710; p = .01). The Tukey HSD post hoc test showed a significant difference (p < .05) between the mean scores for Group 1 (M = 18.97; SD = 6.54) and Group 3 (M = 22.68; SD = 4.70), and also between Group 1 and Group 2 (M = 21.83; SD = 5.23). There was no significant difference between the mean scores for Group 2 and Group 3. As noted by Gegenfurtner (2009), controlled motivation includes external regulations. One possible explanation for these results is that scientific careers are often perceived as prestigious by society, and therefore parents and the media influence students' perceptions of these careers as external factors.

#### Table 2

		Dependent variables		
		Attitude towards IBL	Situational interest	Interest in science careers
Independent variables	Individual interest	F(2, 258) = 26.084; p < .001	F(2, 254) = 24.344; p < .001	F(2, 256) = 44.489; p < .001
	Autonomous motivation	F(2, 259) = 21.805; p < .001	F(2, 255) = 14.557; p < .001	F(2, 257) = 35.513; p < .001
	Controlled motivation	F(2, 260) = 2.071; p = .128	F(2, 256) = .545 p = .580	<i>F</i> (2, 258) = 4.710; <i>p</i> = .01

Summary of results regarding the first research question

As shown in Table 2, it can be concluded that both individual interest and autonomous motivation affect students' attitudes towards IBL, their situational interest and their interest in science careers, whereas controlled motivation only affects students' interest in science careers.

The t-test was used to examine how the "Forensic Science" module adaptations affected the students' attitudes towards IBL and their situational interest. However, no significant differences were found between the students who attended our "Forensics Science" workshop before and after the adaptations with regard to their attitude towards IBL (t = -.437, df = 134, p = .663) and their situational interest (t = -.696, df = 131, p = .488). The DiSSI activities were more structured due to the adaptions. Although the results show no differences between the groups, by observing the students' work in the laboratory it could be concluded that the adaptations helped the students to conduct experiments.

The t-test was used to examine how the students' general academic giftedness, self-reported giftedness for chemistry, and previous experience with IBL in school affected their attitudes towards IBL, situational interest, individual interest, and autonomous and controlled motivation.

When comparing the gifted and non-gifted students, a significant difference was found between the groups in their autonomous motivation (t = 3.514, df = 260, p = .019), with the gifted students achieving a higher mean score (M= 19.56, SD = 2.98) than the non-gifted students (M = 18.41, SD = 3.50). On the other hand, no significant differences were found between the gifted and nongifted students in their controlled motivation (t = 4.599, df = 246.6, p = .542). These results support the idea of Hornstra et al. (2020), who found that teachers give gifted students less-structured tasks that allow them more autonomy, which is an important factor for autonomous motivation. However, previous authors, such as Al-Dhamit and Kreishan (2013), found no significant differences between gifted and non-gifted students in terms of their autonomous and controlled motivation. Hornstra et al. (2020) also found no significant differences in motivation levels between gifted and non-gifted students.

Students who think they are gifted for chemistry (M = 20.18, SD = 2.80) also showed a significantly higher level of autonomous motivation (t = 5.196, df = 260, p < .001) compared to students who think they are not gifted (M = 18.15, SD = 2.80). When comparing controlled motivation between the two groups, there were no significant differences (t = -.682, df = 261, p = .496).

A significant difference was also found in the students' individual interest for learning chemistry (t = 4.599, df = 259, p < .001), with the gifted students showing more interest (M = 19.53, SD = 3.72) than the non-gifted students (M = 17.26, SD = 4.09). These results can be explained by the self-concept of gifted students. Cheung (2018) pointed out that self-concept is one of the most important predictors of individual interest, while Košir et al. (2016) and Metin and Kangal (2012) found that self-concept is usually higher in gifted students than non-gifted students.

The students who perceive themselves as gifted for chemistry (M = 20.11, SD = 3.51) also showed a significantly higher level of individual interest for learning chemistry (t = 7.311, df = 259, p < .001) than those who do not perceive themselves as gifted (M = 16.71, SD = 3.89). These results might indicate that students' self-concept is not affected by other people telling them that they are gifted. It should be noted, however, that 70% of the students in the present sample who rated themselves as gifted in chemistry had already been identified as gifted.

A significant difference was found in the students' attitude towards IBL (t = 2.365, df = 260, p < .001), with the gifted students showing a more positive attitude towards IBL (M = 21.55, SD = 2.57) than the non-gifted students (M = 20.65, SD = 3.31). The students who evaluated themselves as gifted for chemistry (M = 21.79, SD = 2.68) also have a significantly better attitude towards IBL (t = 3.724, df = 260, p < .001) than the students who do not think they are gifted (M = 20.42, SD = 3.18). The findings of the present study are supported by those of Eltanahy and Forawi (2019), who found that gifted students have positive attitudes towards inquiry activities. The results can also be explained by the findings of Özgür and Yilmaz (2017), Eysink et al. (2015), Can and Inel Ekici (2021), and Juriševič and Devetak (2018), all of whom concluded that IBL can make learning more effective for gifted students and thus improve their attitudes towards this learning method.

A significant difference between the gifted and non-gifted students was also determined regarding their situational interest (t = 2.507, df = 256, p = .013), with the gifted students showing a higher level of interest (M = 39.16, SD = 5.29) than the non-gifted students (M = 37.29, SD = 6.29). Similar results were found between the students who evaluated themselves as gifted or non-gifted for chemistry. The students who think they are gifted for chemistry (M = 39.44, SD = 5.50) showed a significantly higher level of situational interest (t = 3.454, df = 257, p < .001) than the students who think they are not gifted (M = 36.92, SD = 6.08). These results are difficult to explain because there is no accessible literature on the effects of inquiry learning on gifted students' situational interest. One possible explanation could be that gifted students enjoy inquiry learning more than non-gifted students, as noted by Eltanahy and Forawi (2019), and that active participation, deeper interest in the task and engagement are factors that influence situational interest, as noted by Durik and Harackiewicz (2017) and Snětinová et al. (2018). When comparing the students who had previous experience with IBL in school and those who did not, a significant difference was found between the groups in their autonomous motivation (t = 2.240, df = 260, p = .029). The students who had previous experience with IBL in school had a higher mean score (M = 19.31, SD = 3.04) than those who did not (M = 17.88, SD = 4.29). A significant difference was also found in their individual interest (t = 2.839, df = 259, p = .005), with the gifted students showing more interest (M = 18.57, SD = 3.85) than the non-gifted students (M = 16.78, SD = 4.71). On the other hand, no significant differences were found between the two groups in their attitudes towards IBL (t = .931, df = 261, p = .353), situational interest (t = .520, df = 256, p = .604) and controlled motivation (t = 1.344, df = 261, p = .180).

#### Table 3

	Independent variables		
	General academic giftedness	Self-reported giftedness for chemistry	Previous experience with IBL in school
Attitude towards IBL	t = 2.365, df = 260,	t = 3.724, df = 260,	t = .931, df = 261,
	p < .001	p < .001	p = .353
Situational interest	t = 2.507, df = 256,	t = 3.454, df = 257,	t = .520, df = 256,
	<b>p = .013</b>	p < .001	p = .604
Individual	t = 4.599, df = 259,	t = 7.311, df = 259,	t = 2.839, df = 259,
interest	p < .001	p < .001	<b>p = .005</b>
Autonomous	t = 3.514, df = 260,	t = 5.196, df = 260,	t = 2.240, df = 260,
motivation	<b>p = .019</b>	p < .001	<b>p = .029</b>
Controlled motivation	t = 4.599, df = 246.6,	t =682, df = 261,	t = 1.344, df = 261,
	p = .542	p = .496	p = .180
	Attitude towards IBL Situational interest Individual interest Autonomous motivation Controlled motivation	General academic giftednessAttitude towards IBL $t = 2.365, df = 260, p < .001$ Situational interest $p < .001$ Situational interest $t = 2.507, df = 256, p = .013$ Individual interest $t = 4.599, df = 259, p < .001$ Autonomous motivation $t = 3.514, df = 260, p = .019$ Controlled motivation $t = 4.599, df = 246.6, p = .542$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline & Independent variable \\ \hline & General academic giftedness \\ giftedness \\ giftedness \\ for chemistry \\ \hline \\ Attitude towards IBL \\ Attitude towards IBL \\ t = 2.365, df = 260, \\ p < .001 \\ t = 3.724, df = 260, \\ p < .001 \\ for chemistry \\ \hline \\ p < .001 \\ for chemistry \\ for$

Summary of results regarding the third research question

As shown in Table 3, it can be concluded that both general academic giftedness and self-reported giftedness for chemistry affect students' attitudes towards IBL, their situational and individual interest, and their autonomous motivation, while students' previous experience with IBL in school affects their individual interest and their autonomous motivation.

#### Conclusion

The important findings presented in the theoretical introduction of this paper report that non-formal and informal activities have a positive impact on students' science learning. This applies not only to academically average achievers, but also to gifted students, who were the focus group of the Slovenian DiSSI project team. The focus of the present study was on the field of chemistry education.

Gifted students for chemistry usually show an interest in acquiring chemistry knowledge at a higher level than specified in the national curriculum for chemistry. Such activities may include the IBL approach in a specific context. One of the goals of the Slovenian DiSSI team was to develop educational strategies in chemistry in a non-formal learning environment. DiSSI learning modules using the IBL approach were therefore developed for implementation in a non-formal learning environment.

The present study was conducted to investigate how individual interest in learning chemistry and autonomous and controlled motivation for learning chemistry between different groups of students affect their attitudes towards IBL, situational interest and interest in science careers.

The results of the study can be summarised in several main points. The difference in students' attitudes towards IBL between the low/average/high individual interest groups is statistically significant. A significant difference was also found when comparing situational interest among the three groups with different individual interest for learning chemistry. Thus, it can be concluded that situational interest for learning with DiSSI modules may also be influenced by individual interest. The connection between the level of individual interest and the preference for the DiSSI activity can be confirmed, as students who show a higher level of individual interest have a more positive attitude towards IBL learning and show a higher level of interest in a future science-related career. Some additional results are worth highlighting. Firstly, a statistically significant difference was found in students' attitudes towards IBL between the low/average/high autonomous motivation groups. Secondly, a statistically significant difference was determined when comparing situational interest in the three groups of students with different levels of autonomous motivation. Finally, a statistically significant difference was discovered when comparing students' interest in science careers. On the other hand, when comparing situational interest, there was no significant difference between the three groups of students regarding their controlled motivation for learning chemistry. It can be summarised that, in our case, situational interest was not influenced by external factors. In contrast, it can be also concluded that, when comparing students' interest in science careers, there is a significant difference between the three groups of students with different levels of controlled motivation for learning chemistry.

There are no significant differences in attitude towards IBL and situational interest between students who participated in our "Forensic Science" workshop before and after the adaptations.

There were significant differences between students based on their general academic giftedness (group 1: gifted, group 2: non-gifted) when comparing their attitude towards IBL, situational interest for learning chemistry topics using DiSSI modules, individual interest and autonomous motivation for learning chemistry.

The same results were obtained when comparing students who considered themselves gifted for chemistry (Group 1) or non-gifted for chemistry (Group 2). There were significant differences between both groups of students when comparing their attitudes towards IBL, situational interest for learning chemistry topics using DiSSI modules, individual interest and autonomous motivation for learning chemistry.

It is also important to emphasise that students who had previous experience with IBL in school science show a significantly higher level of individual interest and autonomous motivation for learning chemistry.

In the conclusions, we have only highlighted some important findings that are useful for researchers in the field of chemistry education, as well as for chemistry teachers in primary and secondary schools.

It should also be emphasised that, in addition to the learning or teaching of gifted students, DiSSI learning modules can, with appropriate adaptations, also be targeted at students with various other characteristics, such as: (1) those who come from a lower socioeconomic status background, (2) those who belong to an ethnic or cultural background that differs from the majority in society, and (3) those with lower language skills for effective communication in the predominant language in society. From this point of view, the applied methodology of the DiSSI project and its approach to the learning and teaching of science, especially chemistry, prove to be appropriate.

#### Limitations

The present study also highlights certain limitations. In a study of this kind, it would be useful to apply a pre-knowledge test to determine students' prior knowledge of the chemistry concepts relevant for the DiSSI activities before implementing the modules in a non-formal educational setting and then

evaluate their knowledge obtained during the lab activities. This would provide a better insight into the impact the prepared DiSSI learning modules on students' chemistry concepts understandings.

Another limitation of this study was the fact that only the "Forensic Science" DiSSI module was adapted to the needs of other possible students' diversities, such as lower language skills and belonging to an ethnic or cultural environment that is different from the majority of society, but not to students with lower socioeconomic status. It would be good to apply the adaptations to all of the other DiSSI learning modules developed in this project as well. A larger sample of participants in the implementation of the learning modules would provide better insights into the problems that occurred during laboratory activities. Furthermore, in order to establish a better understanding of the difficulty of the tasks included in the DiSSI modules, upper secondary school students and non-chemistry university students would also be relevant participants in the research, as it was observed during lab work that some of the activities exceed even gifted lower secondary school students' understanding of chemistry concepts.

#### Educational implications

This study has several educational implications. First, teachers can select a DiSSI learning module, take the DiSSI box prepared for it, and thus conduct a chemistry laboratory activity in school. The developed DiSSI learning modules with the IBL approach in context can be used not only in non-formal education but also in formal education. It is also important to point out that IBL is an effective approach not only for gifted students, but also for those who are not gifted for science or chemistry with some specific adaptations of the modules that teachers can use. Finally, teachers in schools also have the option of converting DiSSI teaching modules from the guided IBL approach to a more open IBL approach for those students who find guidelines for lab work frustrating and not challenging enough.

#### Further research

Future studies could also evaluate the implementation of other adapted DiSSI learning modules. It would also be useful to evaluate the knowledge that students acquire when using DiSSI learning modules in a non-formal learning environment, when using DiSSI boxes in schools and when using adapted DiSSI learning modules.

#### Acknowledgement

The presented work was part of the project "DiSSI – Diversity in Science towards Social Inclusion – Non-formal Education for Students' Diversity", which is co-funded by the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, under the grant number 612103-EPP-1\_2019-1-DE-EPPKA3-IPI-SOC-IN. We would like to thank the European Union for its financial support. The European Commission's support for the production of this publication does not constitute an endorsement of the content, which only reflects the views of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

#### References

Aktamiş, H., Hiğde, E., & Özden, B. (2016). Effects of the inquiry-based learning method on students' achievement, science process skills and attitudes towards science: A meta-analysis science. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 13(4), 248–261.

Al-Dahmit, Y., & Kreishan, L. (2013). Gifted students' intrinsic and extrinsic motivations and parental influence on their motivation: From the self-determination theory perspective. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, *16*(1), 13–23.

Anjani, D., & Suciati, S. (2018). The effectiveness of inquiry-based learning module to improve the cognitive learning outcomes. *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research*, 218(4), 155–160.

Aulia, E. V., Poedjiastoeti, S., & Agustini, R. (2018). The effectiveness of guided inquiry-based
learning material on students' science literacy skills. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 947(1), 1–7.
Bosco, A., Santiveri, N., & Tesconi, S. (2019). Digital making in educational projects. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 9(3), 51–73.

Bravo, C. J., Intriago, E. A., Holguin, J. V., Garzon, G. M., & Arcia, L. O. (2017). Motivation and autonomy in learning English as foreign language: A case study of Ecuadorian college students. *English in Language Teaching*, 10(2), 19–47.

Can, I., & Inel Ekici, D. (2021). Science learning through problems in gifted and talented education: Reflection and conceptual learning. *Educational studies*, 4(2), 1–24.

Chen, A., & Darst, P. W. (2002). Individual in situational interest. The role of gender and skill. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *27*(4), 250–269.

Cheung, D. (2018). The key factors affecting students' individual interest in school science lessons. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(1), 1–23.

Crookes, G., & Schmidt, R. W. (1991). Motivation: Reopening the research agenda. *Language Learning*, *4*1(4), 469–512.

Cropper, C. (1998). Is competition an effective classroom tool for the gifted student? *Gifted Child Today*, 21(3), 28–31.

Dinçol Özgü, S., & Yilmaz, A. (2017). The effect of inquiry-based learning on gifted and talented students' understanding of acids-bases concepts and motivation. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, *16*(6), 994–1002.

Driver, R., & Oldham, V. (1986). A constructivist approach to curriculum development in science. *Studies in Science Education*, 13(1), 105–122.

Durik, A. M., & Harackiewicz, J. M. (2007). Different strokes for different folks: How individual interest moderates the effects of situational factors on task interest. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *99*(3), 597–610.

Dunne, J., Abdulhussain, M. E., & O'Reilly, J. (2013). Investigating the potential of Irish primary school textbooks in supporting inquiry-based science education (IBSE). *International Journal of Science Education*, 35(9), 1513–1532.

Eltanahy, M., & Forawi, S. (2019). Science teachers' and students' perceptions of the implementation of inquiry-based learning instruction in a middle school in Dubai. *Journal of Education*, *199*(1), 13–23. Eysink, T. H. S., Gersen, L., & Gijlers, H. (2015). Inquiry learning for gifted children. *High Ability Studies*, *26*(1), 63–74.

Feri, R., Soemantri, D., & Jusuf, A. (2016). The relationship between autonomous motivation and autonomy support in medical students' academic achievement. *International Journal of Medical Education*, *7*(3), 414–423.

Filgona, J., Sakiyo, J., Gwany, D. M., & Okoronka, A. U. (2020). Motivation in learning. *Asian Journal of Education and Social Studies*, 10(4), 16–37.

Hinnersmann, P., Hoier, K., & Dutke, S. (2020). Executing learning activities and autonomysupportive instructions enhance autonomous motivation. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(1) 1–15.

Hornstra, L., Bakx, A., Mathijssen, S., & Denissen, J. J. A. (2020). Motivating gifted and non-gifted students in regular primary schools: A self-determination perspective. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 80(4), 1–12.

Juriševič, M., & Devetak, I. (2018). Learning science through PROFILES: Are the any benefits for gifted students in elementary school? In K. Taber, M. Sumida, & L. McClure (Eds.). *Teaching gifted learners in STEM subjects: Developing talent in science, technology, engineering and mathematics* (pp. 125–144). Routledge.

Khan, P., & O'Rourke, K. (2004). Guide to curriculum design: Enquiry-based learning, imaginative curriculum network, University of Manchester, Higher Education Academy.

http://www.ceebl.manchester.ac.uk/resources/guides/kahn\_2004.pdf

Kind, V. (2007). Context-based science: A 'gift horse' for the talented? Routledge.

Knogler, M., Harackiewicz, J. M., Gegenfurtner, A., & Lewalter, D. (2015). How situational in situational interest? Investigating the longitudinal structure of situational interest. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *43*(3), 39–50.

Košir, K., Horvat, M., Aram, U., & Jurinec, N. (2016). Is being gifted always an advantage? Peer relations and self-concept of gifted students. *High Ability Studies*, *27*(2), 129–148.

Levinson, R. (2007). Teaching controversial socio-scientific issues to gifted and talented students. Routledge.

Linnenbrick-Garcia, L., Durik, A. M., Conley, A. M. M., Barron, K. E., Tauer, J. M., Karabenick, S. A., & Harackiewicz, J. M. (2010). Measuring situational interest in academic domains. *Educational and Psychological Measurements*, *70*(40), 647–671.

Little, C. A. (2012). Curriculum as motivation for gifted students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(7), 695–705.

Liu, Y. S., He, W., & Zhao, L. (2022). Effects of inquiry learning with different task orders on fifth graders' individual and situational interest and concept achievement in science education. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, *21*(5), 849–861.

Liu, Y., & Wang, J. (2022). The mediating-moderating model of inquiry-based learning and science self-efficacy: Evidence from PISA 2015. *International Journal of Science Education*, *44*(7), 1096–1119. Metin, N., & Kangal S. B. (2012). An examination of the self-concept of 12 to 14 year-old gifted

children enrolled in science and art centres. *Egitim Ve Bilim-Education and Science*, 37(163), 3–16.

National Research Council. (1996). National science education standards. National Academy Press.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2012). *Are students more engaged when* schools offer extracurricular activities? OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/22260919

Paixao, O., & Gamboa, V. (2021). Autonomous versus controlled motivation on career indecision: The mediating effect of career. *Journal of Career Development*, 49(4). 802–815.

Pedaste, M., Mäeots, M., Siiman, L. A., de Jong, T., van Riesen, S. A. N., Kamp, E. T., Manoli, C. C., Zacharia, Z. C., & Tsourlidaki, E. (2015). Phases of inquiry-based learning: Definitions and the

inquiry cycle. Educational Research Review, 14(1), 47–61.

Phillips, N., & Lindsay, G. (2006). Motivation in gifted students. *High ability studies*, *17*(1), 57–73. Reid, N., & Ali, A. A. (2020). *Making sense of learning. A research-based approach*. Springer.

Renninger, A. K. (2000). Individual interest and its implications for understanding intrinsic

motivation. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, The search for optimal motivation and performance. *Educational Psychology*, *13*(1), 373–404.

Rotgans, J. I., & Schmid, H. G. (2018). How individual interest influences situational interest and how both are related to knowledge acquisition. A microanalytical investigation. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 111(5), 530–542.

Schraw, G., Floerday, T., & Lehman, S. (2001). Increasing situational interest in the classroom. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13(3), 211–224.

Snětinová, M., Kacovsky, P., & Machalicka, J. (2018). Hands-on experiments in the interactive physics laboratory: Students' intrinsic motivation and understanding. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, *8*(1), 55–75.

Suduc, A., Bizoi, M., & Gorghiu, G. (2015). Inquiry based science learning in primary education. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Science*, 205, 474–479.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877042815050624
State notes. (2006). <i>Gifted and talented</i> . http://www.ecs.org/clearinghouse/52/28/5228.htm
Szalay, L., Tóth, Z., & Borbás, R. (2021). Teaching of experimental design skills: Results from a
longitudinal study. Chemistry Education Research and Practice, 22(4), 1054–1073.
Tawfik, A. A., Hung, W., & Giabbanelli, P. J, (2020). Comparing how different inquiry-based
approaches impact learning outcomes. The Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning, 14(1),
1–17.
Tokmak, F., Sak, U., & Akbulut, Y. (2021). Big-fish-little-pond effect on gifted students' academic self-
concepts: What if the big fish has adaptable academic self-concepts? Egitim Ve Bilim-Education and
Science, 46(206), 91–106.
Topcu, S., & Leana-Tas, cılar, M. Z. (2018). The role of motivation and self-esteem in the academic
achievement of Turkish gifted students. <i>Gifted Education International</i> , 34(1), 3-18.
Trna, J. (2014). IBSE and gifted students. Science Education International, 25(1), 19–28.
Tuttle, F. B., Laurence, L. A., & Sousa, J. A. (1988). Characteristics and identification of gifted and
talented students. National Education Association. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED298752.pdf
West, A. (2007). Practical work for gifted in science. Routledge.
Worrel, F. C., Subotnik, R. F., Olszewski-Kubilus, P., & Dixson, D. D. (2019). Gifted students. Annual
Review of Psychology, 70(4), 551–576.
Žagar, D., Artač, J., Bezič, T., Nagy, M., & Purgaj, S. (1999) Koncept - Odkrivanje in delo z
nadarjenimi učenci v devetletni osnovni šoli. [Concept - Discovering and working with gifted students in
the nine-year primary school.] Ministrstvo za šolstvo in šport Republike Slovenije.
https://www.gov.si/assets/ministrstva/MIZS/Dokumenti/Osnovna-sola/Ucni-nacrti/Drugi-
konceptualni-dokumenti/Odkrivanje_in_delo_z_nadarjenimi_ucenci.pdf

#### **Biographical note**

**MIHA SLAPNIČAR**, PhD, is an assistant professor of chemical education at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana. His research focuses on understanding redox reactions and the triple nature of chemical concepts. He is also a chemistry teacher at BIC Ljubljana - General Upper Secondary School and Veterinary Technician School.

**LUKA RIBIČ** is a teaching assistant of chemical education at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana. His research focuses on the use of digital technologies in chemistry education to improve learning outcomes and increase students' interest in chemistry. He is a PhD student and is currently working on projects mainly related to education for sustainable development. **IZTOK DEVETAK**, PhD, is a full professor of chemical education at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana. His research focuses on students' understanding of triple nature of chemical concepts, environmental chemistry, teaching and learning chemistry in context and inquiry-based chemistry education. He is also editor-in-chief of CEPS Journal.

**LUKA VINKO** is a teaching assistant of chemical education at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana. His research focuses on students' environmental chemistry conceptions, teaching and learning chemistry in context and inquiry-based chemistry education. He is a PhD student and teaches laboratory work for different chemistry courses.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1547

### Teaching Stereochemistry with Multimedia and Hands-On Models: The Relationship between Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills and The Effectiveness of Model Type

Rooserina Kusumaningdyah¹, Iztok Devetak², Yudhi Utomo¹, Effendy Effendy¹, Daratu Putri¹ and Habiddin Habiddin\*³

This paper presents an analysis of the use of multimedia and hands-on  $\sim$ models on university students' understanding of stereochemistry. The relationship between students' scientific reasoning skills and their understanding of stereochemistry was also determined. Two groups of second-year chemistry students from the State University of Malang taking organic chemistry for the 2020/21 academic year participated in this study. One group of students experienced stereochemistry teaching using multimedia models and the other hands-on models as the learning medium. Lawson's Classroom Test of Scientific Reasoning and Short-Answer Stereochemistry Test were applied. The former was deployed to measure students' scientific reasoning skills, while the latter was used to test their understanding of stereochemistry. The results revealed that the students' scientific reasoning skills were significantly below the expected standard, falling in the low category. Students with high scientific reasoning skills exhibited a better understanding of stereochemistry than those with low levels. Both multimedia and hands-on models revealed an equal contribution towards students' understanding of stereochemistry. Also, it suggests that multimedia models tend to favour students with high scientific reasoning skills, while hands-on models favour those with low skills.

**Keywords:** stereochemistry, pictorial representation, physical model, models, and modelling

<sup>1</sup> Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia.

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia.

<sup>3 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia; habiddin\_wuni@um.ac.id.

### Poučevanje stereokemije z multimedijo in s praktičnimi modeli: odnos med zmožnostmi naravoslovnega mišljenja pri študentih in učinkovitostjo vrste modela

Rooserina Kusumaningdyah, Iztok Devetak, Yudhi Utomo, Effendy Effendy, Daratu Putri in Habiddin Habiddin

Članek predstavlja analizo uporabe multimedijskih in praktičnih mode- $\sim$ lov pri razumevanju stereokemije pri univerzitetnih študentih. Ugotovljena je bila tudi povezava med zmožnostmi naravoslovnega mišljenja študentov in njihovim razumevanjem stereokemije. V tej študiji sta sodelovali dve skupini študentov drugega letnika kemije z državne univerze v Malangu, ki so bili v študijskem letu 2020/21 študentje predmeta organska kemija. Ena skupina študentov je izkusila poučevanje stereokemije z uporabo multimedijskih modelov kot učnega medija, druga pa praktičnih modelov kot učnega medija. Uporabljena sta bila Lawsonov test naravoslovnega mišljenja za uporabo v razredu in test iz stereokemije s kratkimi odgovori. Prvi je bil uporabljen za merjenje zmožnosti naravoslovnega mišljenja, drugi pa za preverjanje razumevanja stereokemije pri študentih. Rezultati so pokazali, da je bila stopnja zmožnosti naravoslovnega mišljenja študentov precej pod pričakovanim standardom in se uvršča v nižjo kategorijo. Študentje z višjo stopnjo zmožnosti so pokazali boljše razumevanje stereokemije kot učenci z nižjimi stopnjami zmožnosti. Multimedijski in praktični modeli so enako prispevali k razumevanju stereokemije pri študentih. Študija prav tako kaže, da so multimedijski modeli primernejši za študente z visokimi stopnjami zmožnosti naravoslovnega mišljenja, medtem ko so praktični modeli primernejši za študente z nižjimi stopnjami zmožnosti naravoslovnega mišljenja.

Ključne besede: stereokemija, slikovna predstavitev, fizični model, modeli, modeliranje

#### Introduction

Stereochemistry involves geometric isomerism, molecular conformation, and chirality. It is fundamental to an understanding of organic chemistry and plays an important role in other disciplines, including pharmacy, biochemistry, molecular biology, biotechnology, and medicine. For example, many drugs are chiral, with only one enantiomer providing the desired effect; in some cases, the other form is detrimental. Molecular chirality can also play a part in food chemistry, where different enantiomers may impart a different taste or smell (Solomons et al., 2017). Chirality is also important in the field of heterogeneous catalysis, especially on surfaces. Therefore, understanding stereochemistry is essential for undergraduate chemistry students. Regardless of the importance of this topic, its appreciation is challenging for university students because chemistry textbooks are mostly presented in two-dimensional (2-D) representations (Abraham et al., 2010). Drawing and visualising molecules in fixed orientations and identifying the stereochemistry of those molecules is a difficult task for many students (Dickenson et al., 2020). A study involving prospective chemistry teachers revealed some misconceptions in the area of stereochemistry (Durmaz, 2018). Using three-dimensional (3D) molecular structures as building blocks for the understanding of stereochemistry is a spatial challenge for many students (Stull et al., 2012; Wu & Shah, 2004).

Efforts to improve students' understanding of stereochemistry can be carried out in several ways, including using models and modelling involving hands-on/physical models or molecular modelling. Teaching with the aid of multimedia in which pictorial and verbal representations are presented simultaneously (Mayer, 2008; Richter et al., 2016) color coding in static or dynamic forms (Mayer, 2008) has been a preferable learning approach over the years (Çeken & Taşkın, 2022). Multimedia learning contributes to cognitive development according to the following brief process. Multimedia contains words and/or pictures that are interpreted by students' sensory memory. The memory works to further process and organise the verbal and pictorial representations. Next, students store it in their long-term memory by combining the pictures and words with their prior knowledge (Mayer, 2008). However, Çeken & Taşkın (2022) found that multimedia was mostly implemented in the area of STEM education and suggested employing multimedia in other learning environments. Fatemah et al. (2020) applied mobile software and virtual tools to narrow the performance gap between students with different spatial abilities. Previous studies strongly recommended employing computational modelling to improve students' understanding of stereochemistry (Durmaz, 2018). The virtual model provides a better opportunity to manipulate the 3D models and translate 2D to 3D representations (O'Brien, 2016).

Molecular models utilising 3D have been extensively applied in some stereochemistry teaching (Upton, 2001) and other chemical molecule modelling classes (Bernard & Mendez, 2020). Using appropriate visualisation tools, the 3D models can be altered to enable the selection of pertinent viewpoints. It is possible to write line diagrams directly on top of these 3D models with the help of an overlay annotation tool (O'Brien, 2016). The study by Bernard & Mendez (2020) uncovered another advantage of 3D models over their 2D counterparts. The 3D model allowed students to create a personalised model. Another study utilised 3D printing to create a 2D model of NMR spectra and HPLC chromatograms to assist students' understanding (Jones et al., 2021). These novel physical models aid students in grasping the complicated information offered in multidimensional spectra and chromatograms, especially those who learn best through visual and/or tactile means (Jones et al., 2021). However, the unfamiliarity of students with the modelling tool is sometimes an issue (Upton, 2001), particularly in transforming 2D to 3D models (Kok, 2020). Cognitive processes of spatial visualisation have been linked to the ability to create 3D pictures of an item from its 2D views, as confirmed by research by Kösa & Karakuş (2018) and Rodriguez & Rodriguez (2017). In addition, It is difficult to model even tiny molecules with any degree of accuracy using 2D drawing software, let alone 3D (Bernard & Mendez, 2020).

Comparisons of the effectiveness of the two models (virtual and handson) towards students' understanding of stereochemistry are limited (Casselman et al., 2021). Several studies utilised 3D printing (Dickenson et al., 2020), handson laboratory work (Taagepera et al., 2011), multimedia technology (Ugliarolo & Muscia, 2012), interactive computer games (Júnior et al., 2017) and stereochemistry physical games in the form of a boardgame (Júnior et al., 2019) to assist students in understanding stereochemistry concepts. However, they did not compare the effectiveness of the two selected tools. For example, Dickenson et al. (2020) conducted a 3D printing workshop to improve students' fluency in drawing stereochemistry structures and other related entities (chirality, stereoisomerism, enantiomer, diastereomers) and their understanding was measured before and after the workshop. Thayban et al. (2021) compared hands-on and virtual models in the teaching of symmetry. Casselman et al. (2021) contrasted the effects of teaching organic chemistry with virtual versus physical Embodied Learning Tools (ELTs) on students' understanding of stereochemistry. Web-based tools with virtual-3D have also been applied to assist students in transforming Newman projections (the conformation of the chair and assigning R/S labels) to a

2D dashed/wedged structure (Mistry et al., 2020). Elford et al. (2022) and Habig (2020) first representations are examined from a science educational and instructional psychology perspective. After giving a short overview of AR in general and how it can be delineated from virtual reality (VR employed augmented reality (AR) to provide a 3D virtual environment for teaching stereochemistry. Another study incorporated animation and hands-on models to improve students' understanding of organic chemistry (Al-Balushi & Al-Hajri, 2014). The use of multimedia is expected to assist students in visualising chemistry concepts (Rodrigues & Gvozdenko, 2011) Abraham et al. (2010) applied computer modelling and a handheld ball-and-stick model to assist students' understanding of stereochemistry. Although this study compared computer and hands-on models, it did not relate to students' scientific reasoning skills (SRS).

SRS and critical thinking are the core competencies that students must harbour for their future careers (Dowd et al., 2018)but little empirical evidence exists regarding the interrelationships between these constructs. Writing effectively fosters students? development of these constructs, and it offers a unique window into studying how they relate. In this study of undergraduate thesis writing in biology at two universities, we examine how scientific reasoning exhibited in writing (assessed using the Biology Thesis Assessment Protocol. SRS correlate with students' ability to carry out observations, investigations, and modelling (Bunce et al., 2017; Krell et al., 2020). Referring to Piaget's theory, SRS is related to the last development of the cognitive stage, which is formal operational (Babakr et al., 2019). The development of students' SRS correlated to cognitive and emotional involvement in augmented reality-based instruction (Chang et al., 2018). Students' ability to predict and explain chemical phenomena is affected by their understanding of chemical as well as mathematical modelling (Lazenby et al., 2019). According to Lawson, scientific reasoning plays a central role in producing scientific knowledge (Bao et al., 2022). Stereochemistry concepts (chirality, enantiomer, and symmetry) are mostly represented by models to assist students in better understanding them. Therefore, efforts to reveal the relationship between students' SRS and their understanding of stereochemistry deserve attention.

## Models and Modelling in Science and Chemistry Education

According to The Oxford English Dictionary, a model refers to a threedimensional representation of a smaller object scale. The use of the term 'model' can be expressed as the simplification of natural phenomena (e.g., an idea, system, situation, or process) and used as the basis for explaining and understanding them (Bodner et al., 2005; Gilbert, 1997; Hallström & Schönborn, 2019); therefore, it facilitates scientific inquiry (Ingham & Gilbert, 1991). Chamizo (2013) reviewed and proposed various definitions of models and finally agreed with the previous definition that a model represents entities (ideas, phenomena, objects, processes, and systems) connecting theory and phenomena. A model can also be presented in a mathematical expression, such as the relationship of volume, temperature, and the number of gas molecules in gas laws (Bodner et al., 2005). At the same time, modelling refers to constructing a model for a particular system (Bodner et al., 2005) that serves as a thinking and communicative tool for predicting, explaining, and communicating scientific phenomena (Chamizo, 2013).

It has been widely accepted that chemical concepts are mostly explained in the sub-microscopic and symbolic models due to their abstract characteristics. Therefore, in chemistry, we deal with several phenomena interpreted and communicated through certain models (Justi & Gilbert, 2003). Dalton's atomic model has been the pioneer for how the physical model contributes to the progress of chemical knowledge, followed by other chemists' findings, including Kekulé, Van't Hoff, Pauling, Watson and Crick (Justi & Gilbert, 2003). Using a molecular model facilitates the prediction of chemical behaviour and structural and spatial arrangement, particularly in topics such as stereochemistry (Francoeur, 1997, 2000).

Understanding modelling in chemistry teaching and learning is essential for chemistry educators to recognise the most appropriate model to apply in their teaching (Sjöström et al., 2020). Chemistry educators are expected to understand the nature of the model, construct an appropriate model, utilise the model in chemistry teaching and conduct modelling activities in their teaching (Justi & Gilbert, 2003). In another study, Savec et al. (2006) investigated both prospective and in-service chemistry educators' opinions regarding the role of models and modelling in chemistry and revealed that they were acutely aware of its importance. In line with the increasing deployment of new technologies, such as visualisation, animation, and other computer simulations in the educational sector, the technological literacy of teachers and educators has also increased (Ferk et al., 2003).

Studies involving the use of models and modelling in chemistry have been carried out on many topics, including solid-state of matter (Devetak et al., 2010), revealing students interacted with their own-physical model superior to those with the virtual model and teacher-demonstrated physical model. Regarding retention, students remembered the theory when they had constructed their own either physical or virtual models rather than using teacher-demonstrated ones. Fried et al. (2019) also revealed an improvement in students' motivation and understanding of chemistry when they used student-generated models in organic chemistry and computer-generated models in teaching. The combination of practical work and computer modelling also improved students' performances in crystallography (Daaif et al., 2019). Beck et al. (2020) investigated how students apply models to understand molecular vibrations and rotations of molecules. In other studies, laboratory modelling by asking students to draw the decay of radioactive elements effectively uncovered their misconceptions of radioactive decay and half-lives (Yeşiloğlu, 2019). These studies confirm that models and modelling are useful tools for improving students' understanding and revealing misconceptions.

Students' comprehension of models and modelling (Justi & Gilbert, 2003) is the key aspect of the next standard of science (Guy-Gaytán et al., 2019). Chemistry students frequently use existing models in many topics, including gas laws, the kinetic theory, the theory of collision, the steric effect and others, but they do not directly involve in constructing and evaluating a model (Bodner et al., 2005). Considering this, we provide ample opportunities for students to be actively involved in modelling the stereochemistry concepts.

#### **Research problem and question**

Providing appropriate learning tools for teaching stereochemistry has been a priority for some time; however, despite this, many students still find the topic challenging. The main objective of this study was to examine the effect of multimedia and hands-on models on students' understanding of stereochemistry. In addition, the relationship between students' understanding and scientific reasoning skills was explored. The result of this study could be the basis for finding the optimum learning medium for teaching stereochemistry.

#### Method

Pre-tests and post-tests were implemented for each intervention in this study, with two separate groups of students. One group used hands-on models (comparison group), and the other used multimedia models (experimental group) in teaching and learning stereochemistry. In some literature (Casselman et al., 2021), hands-on models are named 'physical models'. Therefore, the terms 'hands-on' and 'physical' are used interchangeably in this paper.

#### Participants

This study involved 59 second-year chemistry education students from Universitas Negeri Malang taking the Organic Chemistry I class. The students were, on average, 22 years old (SD = 2.0). They all learned chemistry in secondary school for three years, covering general and organic chemistry concepts. They also covered concepts helping to understand stereochemistry, such as chemical bonding, molecular geometry, and fundamental concepts in organic chemistry, specifically nomenclature, structure, and reaction mechanisms. The students were divided into two groups, with 29 students for the multimediamodels group and 30 for the hands-on model group. From this point and beyond, students experiencing stereochemistry teaching with a multimedia model are labelled STwM, while those using the hands-on model are labelled STwC.

Examples of multimedia and hands-on models are provided in Figures 1 and 2. The multimedia model displayed in Figure 1 was created in a computer program using Unity3D and Blender software. The model can display a threedimensional representation of the molecules.

#### Figure 1

*Example of the multimedia model in this study (translation provided)* 



The English translation for the question in Figure 1 is 'look at the (R) configuration of bromochlorofluoromethane that is displayed as a ball and stick model below'. (*Rumus Bola dan pasak* means ball and stick model). Figure 1 displays the R configuration of bromochlorofluoromethane CHBrClF as a ball and stick model. The 3-D model allowed students to physically manipulate the
object to view the different arrangements. As shown in Figure 2, the hands-on 3D model is formed from a plastic ball and straws created by students.

## Figure 2

Example of the hands-on model in this study



## **Research Design**

This study employed a pre-test-post-test two-treatment design (Cohen et al., 2018). Before embarking on stereochemistry teaching, students' SRS ability was analysed using the CTSR instrument. Students' responses were the basis for classifying them as having a high or low level of SRS. Students in both classes (STwM and STwC) were divided into groups and labelled as students with high and low SRS (Table 1).

## Table 1

Pretest-posttest two treatment design of the study

SRS level	Multimedia class (STwM)	Hands-on model class (STwC)
High	×m	X <sub>121</sub>
Low	X <sub>112</sub>	X <sub>122</sub>

 $X_{_{111}}$  and  $X_{_{112}}$  were labelled for STwM students with high SRS and low SRS levels, respectively, while  $X_{_{121}}$  and  $X_{_{122}}$  were for high and low SRS levels among STwC students. The labels are only applied for research purposes to be more recognisable when analysing the data. Both high and low SRS levels were mixed in stereochemistry teaching and experienced the same learning environment based on applied learning media. The teaching approach for STwM and STwC classes was the same (guided discovery model), except for the learning media. The steps of guided discovery in this study adopted the model proposed by Eggen & Kauchak (2012) as follows.

## 1. Introduction phase

In this phase, the concepts to be discussed are related to previously studied concepts. For example, when discussing 'chirality and enantiomer', students were reminded of structural and geometric isomerism. Then, students were given an analogy question to introduce students to the subsequent topic. Below is the typical question provided in this phase. *Figure 3 below portrays two mirrorable spherics. Do you think the two spherics are superimposable mirror images?* 

## Figure 3

Example of a mirrorable object presented in the introduction phase



## 2. Open-ended question

The learning model for STwM and STwC groups was applied in this phase. Students were asked to think and express their opinion regarding the follow-up questions. *Figure 4 below is an example of a question provided in this phase. Do you think that the B molecule (molekul B) mirrors the A molecule (molekul A)? Are the two molecules superimposable?* 

## Figure 4

Example of the mirrorable object presented in the open-ended phase



Students then explored the possible answer to the question using the assigned teaching materials, including the learning media. STwM applied the multimedia model, while the STwC did so with the hands-on model.

## 3. Convergent phase

In this phase, the lecturer explained the correct answer for the questions given in the previous phase, correcting any misunderstandings that occurred and providing any other necessary explanations of the topics.

#### 4. Closure and application phase

In this phase, some additional questions were given to assess the extent to which students understood the topic.

## Instruments and Data Analysis

Data in this study cover students' scientific reasoning skills, initial ability, and understanding of stereochemistry after the intervention. Students' scientific reasoning skills (SRS) in the two groups were measured and categorised as those with higher scientific reasoning skills and those with lower scientific reasoning. Students' scientific reasoning skill was measured using the Classroom Test of Scientific Reasoning (CTSR) developed by Lawson (1978), consisting of 24 multiple-choice questions. Following the criteria of Lawson (2004) thus arguments used in their test require sub-arguments to link the postulate under test with its deduced consequence. Science is HD in nature because this is how the brain spontaneously processes information whether it basic visual recognition, every-day descriptive and causal hypothesis testing, or advanced theory testing. The key point in terms of complex HD arguments is that if sufficient chunking of concepts and/or reasoning sub-patterns have not occurred, then one's attempt to construct and maintain such arguments in working memory and use them to draw conclusions and construct concepts will "fall apart." Thus, the conclusions and concepts will be "lost." Consequently, teachers must know what students bring with them in terms of their stages of intellectual development (i.e., preoperational, concrete, formal, or post-formal, students' SRS was categorised as preoperational (0-9 correct answers), concrete (10-14 correct answers), formal (15-19 correct answers), or post-formal (20-24 correct answers). Students with preoperational and concrete levels are attributed to lower SRS, while those with formal and post-formal levels are higher SRS.

Students' understanding of stereochemistry was revealed using ten short answer questions (SAST). Examples of questions from the two instruments are displayed in Figures 5 and 6, while the complete instruments are available on request. Pre-test and post-test questions were used to investigate students' understanding of stereochemistry in the two groups. However, students' scientific reasoning was measured only in the pre-test.

#### Figure 5

Example of a question of the CSTR instrument



Figure 5 above depicts the example of a question in the CSTR instrument to measure students' scientific reasoning skills. This question is followed by another question asking the reason for their answer. Meanwhile, Figure 6 displays an example of a question of the SAST instrument to measure students' understanding of stereochemistry. The question is in the Indonesian language but is provided in English on this page for international readers. As mentioned above, the complete instruments are available on request.

#### Figure 6

Example of a question about the SAST instrument



Non-parametric statistical procedures, including Rank-Spearman Correlation and the Mann-Whitney U test, were employed to measure the correlation between students' SRS and understanding of stereochemistry and the difference between the two groups. Prerequisite tests were applied, including Levene's Test for homogeneity and the Shapiro-Wilk for normality test. The results showed that the data were not normally distributed and not homogenous, leading to the use of the non-parametric procedure above.

## **Results and Discussion**

The Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills (SRS)

The results of Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills measurements (SRS) are provided in Table 2.

## Table 2

Students' SRS Scores

Score	Number of Students	%	SRS Level
0-9	16	29.63	Concrete
10-14	19	35.18	Low Formal
15–19	11	20.37	Upper Formal
20-24	8	14.81	Post Formal

The results indicate that the smallest percentage of students (14.81%) possess the highest SRS level, post-formal. Students with low formal and concrete SRS levels are the highest in number, with 35.18% and 29.63%, respectively. These percentages imply that the majority of second-year chemistry students hold inadequate SRS levels. This confirms the previous finding that most promising science teachers demonstrate a low SRS (Zulkipli et al., 2020). Piaget's theory states that people develop their highest stage of cognitive development, the formal operational stage, at the age of 11 (Babakr et al., 2019). However, Lazonder et al. (2021) found that the level of scientific reasoning of people of the same ages could develop differently. Even some adult people have not reached this formal reasoning stage (Martin et al., 2010). These students' low scientific reasoning skills should be taken into account in further chemistry teaching. Studies involving university students from the first to fourth years revealed a small correlation between university experiences (how many years they have been in university) to students' SRS (Ding et al., 2016). This paper will only describe how these SRS categories relate to students' understanding of stereochemistry between the STwM and STwC classes. Concrete and low formal levels are both considered as the low SRS category, while upper formal and post formal are the high SRS category.

# Students' initial ability and the use of multimedia and hands-on models in stereochemistry teaching

The effect of teaching stereochemistry using multimedia and hands-on models is demonstrated by the difference in average scores between the STwM and STwC classes. Table 3 outlines the average marks of the two classes for the pre-test and post-test exercises.

#### Table 3

*The average scores (out of 100) of STwM and STwC classes in SAST before and after the course in stereochemistry using different molecular models* 

Class	Number of Students	Score for	pre-test	Score for post-test		
	Number of Students	х	SD	X	SD	
STwM	27	8.2	5.4	58.9	17.4	
STwC	27	9.8	7.4	54.9	9.2	

The table shows that students' marks for the pre-test are much lower than for the post-test, which is understandable because the pre-test was carried out before the teaching of stereochemistry to the two classes. Students' prior knowledge of stereochemistry is mainly obtained from their secondary school chemistry lessons and is very basic. In this university, fundamental organic chemistry concepts are not covered in basic or general chemistry. The correct answers were mostly found for questions about isomeric structures and cis- and trans-geometric isomerism. They mostly failed to answer questions regarding optical isomers, molecular chirality, diastereomers and mesosomers. Some students also struggled to distinguish between geometric isomers in cyclic compounds and alkenes.

The pre-test aimed to determine students' initial ability in STwM and STwC classes before embarking on stereochemistry teaching. Although the STwM (8.2) mark was slightly lower than that for STwC (9.8), the difference is insignificant. Therefore, it can be concluded that both classes harboured the same level of ability and prior knowledge regarding the topic implying an acceptable interpretation that the use of multimedia and hands-on models will determine the post-test outcomes.

Table 2 also shows that the STwM demonstrated a higher mark average (58.9) than the STwC class (54.9). However, the difference is very small and is not statistically significant, as confirmed by the Mann-Whitney test with a

*p*-value of 0.257. Therefore, it can be concluded that the use of multimedia and hands-on models in stereochemistry teaching contributed equally to supporting students' understanding. This finding is opposite to the study in the area of solid-state matter in which students who constructed their physical model (equivalent to the hands-on model in this study) demonstrated a better performance than those using virtual models (Devetak et al., 2010). Meanwhile, another study revealed that students from all educational levels demonstrated different approaches to different models. Although students mostly favour hands-on representations over virtual ones, university and secondary school students demonstrated a better performance when using the three-dimensional virtual or computer-generated models, whereas primary school students favoured physical 3D models (Ferk et al., 2003).

Students' post-test average scores for the two classes show that their understanding of stereochemistry is still weak even after deploying multimedia and hands-on models. An analysis of students' attempts to answer one specific question is given below for the example shown in Figure 7.

## Figure 7

Example of the question for SAST

Look at the dimensional structure of a molecule below and answer the following questions.

- a. Mark the substituents according to the priority rules.
- b. Provide the dimensional structure of the enantiomer pair for the molecule.
- c. Show the (R) or (S) configuration for the two enantiomer.
- d. Please provide a complete name of the molecule by considering its (R) or (S) configuration.

Figure 8 shows that many students failed to apply the priority order of the substituents as explained in the priority rules of Cahn-Ingold-Prelog. They considered CHO as the priority instead of Cl. This inability led to the students' errors in determining the R or S configuration. Additionally, students' inability to visualise a three-dimensional unit could have contributed to this error. Difficulty in determining R and S configurations was also found in previous studies (Durmaz, 2018).

#### Figure 8

Example of students' difficulty in determining the (R) and (S) configuration



## The relationship between SRS and students' understanding of stereochemistry

The relationship between students' SRS and their understanding of stereochemistry can be seen by comparing the average scores of the two groups in answering the SAST questions. For students with high SRS, the score of the stereochemistry test of STwM (76.6) is higher than that for STwC (68.9). In contrast, for those with low SRS, STwC students (62.0) performed better than the STwM students (56.3). This result also demonstrated that for both groups, students with high SRS have a better understanding of stereochemistry than those with low SRS. The result indicates that students' SRS affects their understanding of stereochemistry with a positive correlation. The Rank-Spearman Correlation test also confirmed this finding, showing a moderate correlation between these two variables ( $r_s = 0.383$ ; p = 0.004). The obvious relationship between the two variables proves that the ability to think scientifically affects students' success in understanding stereochemistry.

## Figure 9

Example of the question for STSA



- d. Which one has the internal plane symmetry between the two? Show it in a figure.
- e. What is the effect of internal plane symmetry to its optical activity?

Students with low SRS failed to deal with questions that require thinking at the formal level. Below is an example of those students' errors in explaining why a compound exhibits geometric isomerism and how the plane symmetry in a molecule with chiral carbon atoms affects its optical activity.

#### Figure 10

*Example of students' difficulty in answering the question regarding molecules having internal-symmetry-plane* 



Figure 10 demonstrates students' inability to answer questions displayed in Figure 9. Some students correctly appointed the plane symmetry of tartaric acid (asam tartarat in the Indonesian language) but failed to recognise its effect on its optical activity. They believed that molecules with a plane of symmetry would remain optically active, as stated (translated from the Indonesian language) in the figure. This difficulty may also be the result of the possibility that they had trouble recognising the compound's optical activity because the tetravalence of the carbon atom did not line up with the polarity of the carboxyl groups at either end. Thus, the carbon atoms at the chain's centre could likewise be identified as chiral centres. Students with good scientific reasoning skills should explain that the existence of an internal symmetry plane divides a compound in half, with the two halves reflecting each other (mirror image). They then should realise that such a molecule with a plane of symmetry is achiral and optically inactive. Some students also struggled to determine whether the enantiomeric pairs were the same compound. Many students believed that the pairs were the same compound confirming a lack of ability to recognise the differences in the position of a molecule's group in three-dimensional space. Students often lack a clear understanding of the idea of optical activity. In the absence of a convincing classroom demonstration, pupils frequently have no choice but to take it on faith (Pecina et al., 1999). However, current technology could assist students in understanding the optical activity phenomenon.

Schwartz et al. (2011) applied an iPad device with the function of a source of polarised light for observing the optical activity of crystal or solution, including NaCl and NaClO<sub>2</sub> crystals and sucrose solution.

## The Effect of Hands-on and Multimedia Models on Students' Understanding of Stereochemistry

Table 4 shows the percentage of students from each group giving the correct answer to each of the questions. The table shows that, for six questions (1, 2, 4, 5, 9 and 10), the number of STwM students providing a correct answer is greater than that of STwC students. However, the difference between the two groups is quite small. This suggests that multimedia and hands-on models are equally effective in improving students' understanding of stereochemistry, as confirmed by the small difference in scores between STwM and STwC students. The statistical test confirmed the insignificant difference between the two groups.

Both multimedia and hands-on models facilitate students in understanding stereochemistry. Multimedia helps students build mental visualisations because the features of virtual molecular models, animated videos and games allow them to observe three-dimensional molecular shapes from various points of view, allowing their rotation and other movements (Anggriawan, 2017). The mobile and virtual models effectively closed the gap in understanding of students with different spatial abilities (Fatemah et al., 2020). The result of this study is at odds with the work of Abraham et al. (2010), in which computer modelling was found to be better than the physical ball and stick models in aiding students' understanding of stereochemistry. In agreement with the work of Abraham et al. (2010), the physical model was more effective in facilitating students to apply complex stereochemistry concepts compared to the virtual one (Casselman et al., 2021). This finding also conflicts with a study on students' understanding of symmetry, which showed that virtual models favoured students' understanding over physical ones (Thayban et al., 2021). The study strengthened their review results that the contribution of the virtual model will exceed the physical model's contribution (Thayban et al., 2020).

The percentage of STwM and STwC students with the correct answer in responding to SAST (Students' Understanding of Stereochemistry Concepts)

Question	STwM (%)	STwC (%)
1	73	72
2	55	44
3	58	61
4	71	64
5	64	47
6	42	44
7	74	79
8	45	55
9	53	40
10	50	41
Average	58	55

An interesting phenomenon is observed when the stereochemistry scores are a function of students' SRS (Table 5). For students with high SRS, STwM students demonstrated a higher score. Meanwhile, STwC students with low SRS performed better than STwM students with similar low SRS.

## Table 5

Students' grade average on stereochemistry test

	SRS category	The average score of the stereochemistry test
CTWM	High	66.7
SIWM	Low	49.0
STwC	High	60.0
	Low	54.0

Considering the small sample size in this study, it may sound too ambitious to claim that the multimedia model is more effective for high SRS students while the hands-on model is for low SRS students. However, further studies to explore the findings involve bigger respondents.

## Conclusion

This study revealed that the difference in students' understanding between those experiencing multimedia and those with the hands-on model is quite small, as confirmed by the Mann-Whitney test's statistical procedure. The result suggests that employing both multimedia and hands-on models in teaching stereochemistry can be effective, and the specific model chosen should be determined by the teaching environment. The average post-test scores for both groups also imply that the application of the two models did not improve students' understanding to a satisfactory level. We do believe that models are the obvious tool to teach stereochemistry. Therefore, exploring why it does not work optimally in this study should be further investigated. It may be reasonable to provide an additional variable to promote a more effective stereochemistry teaching using multimedia and hands-on models. This study also uncovers that students' scientific reasoning skills influence students' understanding of stereochemistry. Regardless of the model applied, the higher students' scientific reasoning, the better their understanding. Therefore, techniques that enhance students' scientific reasoning skills should be deployed to assist their understanding of stereochemistry and other topics.

## Implication for the teaching of stereochemistry

This study, and other previous reports, indicate that both hands-on and virtual models are useful in aiding students' understanding of stereochemistry. However, no specific benefit could be determined from deploying either technique. It is therefore recommended that educators select an appropriate medium dependent upon the characteristics of the students, availability of resources and other considerations. There is limited evidence from this study that students with low scientific reasoning skills may benefit from using hands-on models, as this group of students showed a higher score on the stereochemistry test than the group with the same SRS using virtual models. There appeared to be a slight benefit for students with high SRS in using multimedia models. It may be beneficial to choose the appropriate model type depending on the students' scientific reasoning skills.

# Limitations of The Study and Future Research Guidelines

Students' scientific reasoning skills were measured before the stereochemistry exercise but not after. One question arising from this study is exploring how teaching using different model types affects students' scientific reasoning skills. The absence of a comparison group in this study could also hinder the transferability of the result to a wider context. Therefore, a future study employing a comparison group and involving a larger number of respondents is highly recommended, especially to determine the relationship between SRS and the effectiveness of different model types. Other variables, such as visualisation skills, motivation, and interest, are also reasonable to explore further. Other drawbacks of this study are the lack of eye tracking as a useful tool informing students' visual ability (Brumberger, 2021) and the spatial ability test as another important factor related to understanding the 3D orientation of stereochemistry. The unavailability of the eye-tracking tool is the reason for the former drawback. We also decided to skip the spatial test ability to reduce the students' workload participating in this study.

## Acknowledgements

We thank the Directorate General Higher Education, Ministry of National Education and Culture, the Republic of Indonesia, for providing the Post-Doctoral Program grant for one of us (corresponding author). With the support of the grant, he visited the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia, for a research sabbatical, including finishing this paper.

## References

Abraham, M., Varghese, V., & Tang, H. (2010). Using molecular representations to aid student understanding of stereochemical concepts. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *87*(12), 1425–1429. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed100497f

Al-Balushi, S. M., & Al-Hajri, S. H. (2014). Associating animations with concrete models to enhance students' comprehension of different visual representations in organic chemistry. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, *15*, 47–58. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3rp00074e

Anggriawan, B. (2017). *Pengaruh pembelajaran penemuan terbimbing berbantuan multimedia terhadap pemahaman materi simetri mahasiswa dengan kemampuan spasial yang berbeda*. [The effect of multimedia-assisted guided discovery learning on the understanding of symmetry material for students with different spatial abilities]. Universitas Negeri Malang. Babakr, Z. H., Mohamedamin, P., & Kakamad, K. (2019). Piaget's cognitive developmental theory: Critical review. *Education Quarterly Reviews*, 2(3), 517–524. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1993.02.03.84
Bao, L., Koenig, K., Xiao, Y., Fritchman, J., Zhou, S., & Chen, C. (2022). Theoretical model and quantitative assessment of scientific thinking and reasoning. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, *18*(1), 10115. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevPhysEducRes.18.010115

Beck, J. P., Muniz, M. N., Crickmore, C., & Sizemore, L. (2020). Physical chemistry students' navigation and use of models to predict and explain molecular vibration and rotation. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 21(2), 597–607. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9RP00285E

Bernard, P., & Mendez, J. D. (2020). Drawing in 3D: Using 3D printer pens to draw chemical models. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education*, 48(3), 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1002/bmb.21334
Bodner, G. M., Gardner, D. E., & Briggs, M. W. (2005). Models and modeling. In N. Pienta, M. Cooper,

& T. Greenbowe (Eds.), Chemists' Guide to Effective Teaching, Volume 1 (pp. 67–76). Prentice-Hall.

Bunce, D. M., Komperda, R., Schroeder, M. J., Dillner, D. K., Lin, S., Teichert, M. A., & Hartman, J. R. (2017). Differential use of study approaches by students of different achievement levels. *Journal of* 

Chemical Education, 94(10), 1415-1424. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.7b00202

Casselman, M. D., Eichler, J. F., & Atit, K. (2021). Advancing multimedia learning for science: Comparing the effect of virtual versus physical models on student learning about stereochemistry. *Science Education*, 105(6), 1285–1314. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21675

Çeken, B., & Taşkın, N. (2022). Multimedia learning principles in different learning environments: a systematic review. *Smart Learning Environments*, *9*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40561-022-00200-2 Chamizo, J. A. (2013). A New definition of models and modeling in chemistry's teaching. *Science & Education*, *22*(7), 1613–1632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-011-9407-7

Chang, H.-Y., Hsu, Y.-S., Wu, H.-K., & Tsai, C.-C. (2018). Students' development of socio-scientific reasoning in a mobile augmented reality learning environment. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(12), 1410–1431. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1480075

Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2018). *Research methods in education* (8th ed.). Routledge, Taylor Francis.

Daaif, J., Zerraf, S., Tridane, M., Benmokhtar, S., & Belaaouad, S. (2019). Pedagogical engineering to the teaching of the practical experiments of chemistry: Development of an application of threedimensional digital modelling of crystalline structures. *Cogent Education*, *6*(1), 1708651. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2019.1708651

Devetak, I., Hajzeri, M., Glažar, S. A., & Vogrinc, J. (2010). The influence of different models on 15-years-old students' understanding of the solid state of matter. *Acta Chimica Slovenica*, 57(4), 904–911. Dickenson, C. E., Blackburn, R. A. R., & Britton, R. G. (2020). 3D printing workshop activity that aids representation of molecules and student comprehension of shape and chirality. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(10), 3714–3719. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.occ0457

Ding, L., Wei, X., & Mollohan, K. (2016). Does higher education improve student scientific reasoning skills? *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *14*(4), 619–634.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-014-9597-y

Dowd, J. E., Thompson, R. J., Schiff, L. A., & Reynolds, J. A. (2018). Understanding the complex relationship between critical thinking and science reasoning among undergraduate thesis writers. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, *17*(1), ar4. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.17-03-0052

Durmaz, M. (2018). Determination of prospective chemistry teachers' cognitive structures and misconceptions about stereochemistry. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, *6*(9), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v6i9.3353

Eggen, P. D., & Kauchak, D. P. (2012). Strategies and models for teachers: Teaching content and thinking skills. Pearson.

Elford, D., Lancaster, S. J., & Jones, G. A. (2022). Exploring the effect of augmented reality on cognitive load, attitude, spatial ability, and stereochemical perception. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *31*(3), 322–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-022-09957-0

Fatemah, A., Rasool, S., & Habib, U. (2020). Interactive 3D visualisation of chemical structure diagrams embedded in text to aid spatial learning process of students. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *97*(4), 992–1000. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.9b00690

Ferk, V., Vrtacnik, M., Blejec, A., & Gril, A. (2003). Students' understanding of molecular structure representations. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25(10), 1227–1245.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069022000038231

Francoeur, E. (1997). The forgotten tool: The design and use of molecular models. *Social Studies of Science*, 27(1), 7–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/030631297027001002

Francoeur, E. (2000). Beyond dematerialisation and inscription: Does the materiality of molecular models really matter? *Hyle*, *6*(1).

Fried, D. B., Tinio, P. P., Gubi, A., & Gaffney, J. P. (2019). Enhancing elementary science learning through organic chemistry modeling and visualisation. *European Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 7(2), 73–82.

Gilbert, J. K. (1997). *Exploring models and modeling in science education and technology education*. University of Reading.

Guy-Gaytán, C., Gouvea, J. S., Griesemer, C., & Passmore, C. (2019). Tensions between learning

models and engaging in modeling. Science & Education, 28(8), 843-864.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-019-00064-y

Habig, S. (2020). Who can benefit from augmented reality in chemistry? Sex differences in solving stereochemistry problems using augmented reality. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *51*(3),

629-644. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12891

Hallström, J., & Schönborn, K. J. (2019). Models and modelling for authentic STEM education:

reinforcing the argument. International Journal of STEM Education, 6(1), 22.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-019-0178-z

Ingham, A. M., & Gilbert, J. K. (1991). The use of analogue models by students of chemistry at higher

education level. International Journal of Science Education, 13(2), 193-202.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0950069910130206

Jones, O. A. H., Stevenson, P. G., Hameka, S. C., Osborne, D. A., Taylor, P. D., & Spencer, M. J. S.
(2021). Using 3D printing to visualise 2D chromatograms and NMR spectra for the classroom. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 98(3), 1024–1030. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.oco1130
Júnior, J. N. da S., Sousa Lima, M. A., Xerez Moreira, J. V., Oliveira Alexandre, F. S., de Almeida, D. M., de Oliveira, M. da C. F., & Melo Leite Junior, A. J. (2017). Stereogame: An interactive computer game that engages students in reviewing stereochemistry concepts. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 94(2), 248–250. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.6b00475

Júnior, J. N. da S., Uchoa, D. E. de A., Sousa Lima, M. A., & Monteiro, A. J. (2019). Stereochemistry game: Creating and playing a fun board game to engage students in reviewing stereochemistry concepts. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *96*(8), 1680–1685. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. ichemed.8b00897

Justi, R., & Gilbert, J. K. (2003). Models and modelling in chemical education. In J. K. Gilbert, O. De Jong, R. Justi, D. F. Treagust, & J. H. Van Driel (Eds.), *Chemical Education: Towards Research-based Practice* (pp. 47–68). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47977-X\_3

Kok, P. J. (2020). Pre-service teachers' visuospatial cognition: 2D to 3D transition. *African Journal of Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 24(3), 293–306.

https://doi.org/10.1080/18117295.2020.1848279

Kösa, T., & Karakuş, F. (2018). The effects of computer-aided design software on engineering students' spatial visualisation skills. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, *43*(2), 296–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/03043797.2017.1370578

Krell, M., Mathesius, S., van Driel, J., Vergara, C., & Krüger, D. (2020). Assessing scientific reasoning competencies of pre-service science teachers: translating a German multiple-choice instrument into English and Spanish. *International Journal of Science Education*, *42*(17), 2819–2841.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2020.1837989

Lawson, Anton E. (1978). The development and validation of a classroom test of formal reasoning. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 15(1), 11–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.3660150103

Lawson, Antone E. (2004). The Nature and development of scientific reasoning: A synthetic view.

International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education, 2(3), 307-338.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-004-3224-2

Lazenby, K., Rupp, C. A., Brandriet, A., Mauger-Sonnek, K., & Becker, N. M. (2019). Undergraduate chemistry students' conceptualisation of models in general chemistry. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *96*(3), 455–468. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.8b00813

Lazonder, A. W., Janssen, N., Gijlers, H., & Walraven, A. (2021). Patterns of development in

children's scientific reasoning: Results from a three-year longitudinal study. Journal of Cognition and

Development, 22(1), 108-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2020.1814293

Martin, G. N., Carlson, N. R., & Buskist, W. (2010). Psychology. Pearson.

Mayer, R. E. (2008). Applying the science of learning: Evidence-based principles for the design of multimedia instruction. *American Psychologist*, 63(8), 760–769.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.8.760

Mistry, N., Singh, R., & Ridley, J. (2020). A web-based stereochemistry tool to improve students' ability to draw newman projections and chair conformations and assign R/S labels. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *97*(4), 1157–1161. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.9b00688

O'Brien, M. (2016). Creating 3-dimensional molecular models to help students visualise stereoselective reaction pathways. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *93*(9), 1663–1666.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.6b00250

Pecina, M. A., Smith, C. A., Johnson, K., & Snetsinger, P. (1999). A classroom demonstration of rayleigh light scattering in optically active and inactive systems. *Journal of Chemical Education*, *76*(9), 1230. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed076p1230

Richter, J., Scheiter, K., & Eitel, A. (2016). Signaling text-picture relations in multimedia learning: A comprehensive meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *17*, 19–36.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2015.12.003

Rodrigues, S., & Gvozdenko, E. (2011). Student engagement with a science simulation: Aspects that matter. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 1(4), 27–43. https://doi.org/10.26529/CEPSJ.404 Rodriguez, J., & Rodriguez, V. L. G. (2017). Spatial visualisation skills in courses with graphics or solid modeling content. *2017 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON)*, 1778–1781. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON.2017.7943090

Savec, V. F., Vrtacnik, M., Gilbert, J. K., & Peklaj, C. (2006). In-service and pre-service teachers` optionion on the use of models in teaching chemistry. *Acta Chimica Slovenica*, *53*(3), 381–390.

Schwartz, P. M., Lepore, D. M., Morneau, B. N., & Barratt, C. (2011). Demonstrating optical activity

using an iPad. Journal of Chemical Education, 88(12), 1692–1693. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed200014m

Sjöström, J., Eilks, I., & Talanquer, V. (2020). Didactic models in chemistry education. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(4), 910–915. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.9b01034

Solomons, T. W. G., Snyder, S. A., & Fryhle, C. B. (2017). Organic chemistry. Wiley.

Stull, A. T., Hegarty, M., Dixon, B., & Stieff, M. (2012). Representational translation with concrete models in organic chemistry. *Cognition and Instruction*, *30*(4), 404–434.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07370008.2012.719956

Taagepera, M., Arasasingham, R. D., King, S., Potter, F., Martorell, I., Ford, D., Wu, J., & Kearney,

A. M. (2011). Integrating symmetry in stereochemical analysis in introductory organic chemistry. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, *12*(3), 322–330. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1RP90039K

Thayban, T., Habiddin, H., & Utomo, Y. (2020). Concrete model vs virtual model: Roles and

implications in chemistry learning. J-PEK (Jurnal Pembelajaran Kimia), 5(2), 90-107.

https://doi.org/10.17977/UM026V5I22020P090

Thayban, T., Habiddin, H., Utomo, Y., & Muarifin, M. (2021). Understanding of symmetry: measuring the contribution of virtual and concrete models for students with different spatial abilities. *Acta Chimica Slovenica*, *68*(3), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.17344/acsi.2021.6836

Ugliarolo, E. A., & Muscia, G. C. (2012). Utilización de tecnología multimedia para la enseñanza de estereoquímica en el ámbito universitario [Use of multimedia technology for the teaching of stereochemistry in the university environment]. *Educacion Quimica*, *2*<sub>3</sub>(1), 5–10.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0187-893X(17)30091-5
Upton, H. L. (2001). Introducing stereochemistry to non-science majors. Journal of Chemical
Education, 78(4), 475. https://doi.org/10.1021/ed078p475
Wu, H. K., & Shah, P. (2004). Exploring visuospatial thinking in chemistry learning. In Science
Education. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.10126
Yeşiloğlu, S. N. (2019). Investigation of pre-service chemistry teachers' understanding of radioactive
decay: a laboratory modelling activity. Chemistry Education Research and Practice, 20(4), 862-872.
https://doi.org/10.1039/C9RP00058E
Zulkipli, Z. A., Yusof, M. M. M., Ibrahim, N., & Dalim, S. F. (2020). Identifying scientific reasoning

skills of science education students. Asian Journal of University Education, 16(3), 275-280.

## **Biographical note**

**ROOSERINA KUSUMANINGDYAH** is a Master student in the Chemistry Education Program, Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia.

**IZTOK DEVETAK**, PhD, is a full professor in the field of chemistry education at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia. His research interest covers the triple nature of chemical concepts, chemical concepts misconceptions, chemical knowledge assessment, environmental chemistry education, and scientific literacy.

**YUDHI UTOMO**, PhD, is an assistant professor Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia. His research interests include analytical and environmental chemistry.

**EFFENDY**, PhD, was a full professor in the area of Physical inorganic chemistry at the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia. His research interest was the synthesis and structure determination of complex compounds with X-ray diffraction, particularly from alkali and adduct metals. He also authorises several chemistry textbooks, including VSPER Theory, polarity and intermolecular forces, ionic bonding and defects in ionic lattices, metal bonding, alloy and semiconductor, and other inorganic chemistry books. Several awards, including the Gold Medal for Indonesia From the American Biographical Institute (ABI) Inc, USA 2006, the International Directory of Distinguished Leadership (ABI, USA since 2001, the 2000 outstanding intellectuals of the 21st century from the International Biographical Centre (IBC) England 2008, and Habibie Award for basic sciences 2012.

**DARATU EVIANA KUSUMA PUTRI**, MSc, is a teaching fellow in the area of organic chemistry at the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia. Her research interest is computational chemistry for organic compounds.

**HABIDDIN HABIDDIN**, PhD, is an associate professor at the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Universitas Negeri Malang, Indonesia. His research area covers Uncovering students' conceptions using multi-tier instruments and employing these conceptions to design proper chemistry teaching, Pictorial-Based Learning (PcBL) & Interactive instructional to promote conceptual change, HOTS, chemical literacy & 21st-century skills.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1444

## Slovenian Language Teachers' Attitudes Towards Introducing Comics in Literature Lessons in Primary School

## Maja Kerneža\*1 and Igor Saksida2

The present article highlights the views of Slovenian language teachers  $\sim$ on the introduction of comics in literature lessons in primary school. We were interested in Slovenian language teachers' views on the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text as part of the literature curriculum as well as the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes. This was investigated via a questionnaire, which was fully completed by 121 Slovenian language teachers of the first to the ninth grade. The results show that factors such as gender, educational period taught, professional experience, field of study, highest level of completed education, source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom, teachers' reading habits and attitudes towards reading comics, and agreement with stereotypical claims about comics per se have no influence on teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics in the forms studied. However, their attitudes towards the use of comics in the classroom are influenced by certain stereotypical attitudes of teachers towards comics. The most important limitation of our research was also the most important finding: teachers are neither empowered to introduce and use comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum, nor are they able to use comics as a literary didactic method in literature classes. There is a great need for teacher training and teachers should be empowered to use and introduce comics in all forms.

**Keywords:** comics in education, literature lessons, primary school, teacher attitudes

Corresponding Author. Faculty of Education, University of Maribor and Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University of Maribor, Slovenia; maja.kernezai@um.si.

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana and Universitty of Primorska, Slovenia.

## Stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa v pouk književnosti v osnovni šoli

## Maja Kerneža in Igor Saksida

Članek predstavlja stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa v  $\sim$ pouk književnosti v osnovni šoli. Zanimala so nas stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa kot likovno-literarne vrste besedila v književnovzgojni kurikulum pa tudi do uporabe stripa kot (produktivne) literarnodidaktične metode pri pouku književnosti. To smo raziskali s pomočjo anketnega vprašalnika, ki ga je v celoti izpolnilo 121 učiteljev slovenščine od prvega do devetega razreda. Izsledki kažejo, da dejavniki, kot so: spol, vzgojno-izobraževalno obdobje, v katerem učitelji učijo, delovne izkušnje, smer končanega študija, najvišja stopnja dokončane izobrazbe, lokacija in velikost šole, na kateri poučujejo, vir kompetenc, ki se navezujejo na uvajanje stripa v pouk, bralne navade učiteljev in odnos do branja stripov, sami po sebi nimajo učinka na stališča učiteljev do uporabe stripa v raziskovanih oblikah pri pouku književnosti, vplivajo pa na njihova stališča do uporabe stripa pri pouku določena stereotipna stališča do stripa. Kot poglavitna omejitev raziskave se je pokazala prav najpomembnejša ugotovitev - učitelji niso opolnomočeni ne za uvajanje in uporabo stripa kot literarno-likovne vrste v književnovzgojni kurikulum in ne za uporabo stripa kot (produktivne) literarnodidaktične metode pri pouku književnosti. Kaže se velika potreba po izobraževanjih učiteljev, v okviru katerih bi se učitelje opolnomočilo za uporabo in uvajanje stripa v vseh oblikah v pouk slovenščine oz. maternega jezika.

Ključne besede: osnovna šola, pouk književnosti, stališča učiteljev, strip v izobraževanju

## Introduction

Attitudes are socially acquired by adopting social knowledge, experiences and norms. We acquire attitudes throughout our lives from parents, peers and the social environment (Olson & Kendrick, 2008); we have no biological predispositions to them. By learning attitudes from others, individuals become similar to members of their group (Albarracin et al., 2018). Attitudes and beliefs also guide teachers and influence their work (Darling-Hammond, 2000) in terms of their practices (Cash et al., 2021; Süer & Oral, 2021), behaviour (Glock et al., 2018; Mellom et al., 2018), improvement of the learning process (Xu, 2012) and the learning environment (Russo et al., 2021), motivation (Kulikowski et al., 2022), language (Smajla, 2021), knowledge (Rosli et al., 2020) and skills (Leffler, 2019). Some research (e.g., Ballantine & Spade, 2006; OECD, 2009) even concludes that understanding the role of the teacher is key to understanding the education system, as teachers' views are important for the educational environment and for understanding and improving the learning process.

Comics are almost synonymous with stereotypes and attitudes. Even today, comics are still making their way into libraries and classrooms. Doubts exist especially about the criteria for selecting quality comics and the possibilities of using them in the classroom, but all too often there are still stereotypical and negative attitudes towards the use of comics in literature classes, as expressed in our previous research (Kerneža, 2016). The origin of comic stereotypes in the educational environment is presented by Groensteen (2009). The first comics were intended for adults, and were published in America in the nineteenth century. At the beginning of the twentieth century, the same comics found their way to Europe, where they were published mainly in children's and youth press. Since teachers were the first to comment on comics and the idea of comics, their views (which were anything but positive due to their being the wrong audience) prevailed over other opinions. Comics were condemned as harmful to children, supposedly spoiling an already limited audience. As a result, they are still often criticised for their lack of narrative ambition, considered entertainment and/ or trivial literature and lumped into popular genres (e.g., adventure, fantasy, historical, etc. stories), even though they are essentially an original medium.

In the context of research, we are mainly interested in the use of comics in literature classes. Teachers most often use comics in literature classes as an artliterary type of text or as a literary-didactic method. We typically think of comics as literary works, but their most recognisable feature distinguishing them from other types of reading texts is the need to assemble meaning from both the text and the illustrations, which Batič and Haramija (2014) define as multimodality in the case of a picture book. Like the picture book (Batič & Lebar Kac, 2020), the comic book has at least two codes of communication: literary and artistic. It is an interweaving of text, illustrations and the content-formal relationship between them (Haramija & Batič, 2015). A study conducted among 443 preschool and classroom teachers (Batič, 2021) showed that teachers consider picture books to be suitable and appropriate for preschool and school children. Moreover, the participants did not have difficulties selecting an appropriate picture book (like picture books, comics are also a multimodal text). However, research on comics as a literary-didactic method for reducing gender differences in reading literacy at the primary level of education has shown that there are prejudices and nega-tive attitudes among Slovenian language teachers towards the use of comics in the classroom (Kerneža, 2016). As stated above, both picture books and comics represent a similar concept of text, that is, multimodal text.

Today, more and more research demonstrates the positive effect of comics (e.g., mathematics: Azamain et al., 2020; science: Phoon et al., 2020; art: Osterer, 2012; foreign language learning: Zhang, 2019; reading comprehension: Liu, 2004; attitudes towards reading: Kerneža & Košir, 2016; transaction between literary texts: Oppolzer, 2020). Therefore, there should no longer be doubts about the effectiveness of comics as part of the curriculum.

Since students directly observe their teacher's views daily (Greene, 2006), teachers often pass on attitudes that are either positive or negative through instruction, by addressing or not addressing certain topics in the classroom (Gal et al., 1997; Lawal, 2020; Rensaa, 2019; Ugur-Erdogmus, 2021) and in the learning environment (OECD, 2009). Teachers' attitudes are frequently highly resistant to more complex changes, but they often depend on the personal characteristics of the teacher (ibid). When people talk about teachers being 'hard to move', it is usually referring to their views. However, some research shows that teachers' attitudes and practices can easily be changed if the programmes we use to influence their views are implemented with sufficient quality (Darling-Hammond, 2000; Hu, 2022). Of course, we need to know what teachers think and what they know about the issues we want to present to them. With the goal of helping teachers create more powerful learning environments, Schoenfeld (2020) even suggests that we influence their perceptions, inclinations and orientations in the field of their knowledge.

## The present study

Since we did not find any research on the described topics, we designed a study based on the theoretical foundations and empirical findings. The aim of the present study was to investigate the attitudes of Slovenian language teachers in primary schools towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text and the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes. We sought to investigate Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the most common ways of using comics in literature classes. The research questions we developed were divided into two groups for better transparency:

1 What are the attitudes of Slovenian language teachers towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum?

- 1.1 Which factors influence Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum?
- 1. 2 Which stereotypical attitudes do Slovenian language teachers have towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum?
- 2 What are the attitudes of Slovenian language teachers towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes?
  - 2. 1 Which factors influence Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes?
  - 2. 2 Which stereotypical attitudes do Slovenian language teachers have towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes?

As a general hypothesis, we concluded that the attitude of Slovenian language teachers to the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum and to the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes depends on gender, the educational period in which the teachers teach, professional experience, field of study, the highest level of education completed, the source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom, teachers' reading habits, their attitudes towards reading comics, and the level of their stereotypical thoughts about comics. The use of comics in the classroom is also affected by teachers' stereotypical attitudes towards comics, as shown in a study that examined comics as a literary-didactic method as well as their use for reducing gender differences in reading literacy at the primary level of education (Kerneža & Košir, 2016). Wilson (2020), Sahara (2020), and Cheung and O'Sullivan (2017) state that there not only stereotypical attitudes towards comics, but also towards reading comics. Blank (2017), Jogie (2015), Hall (2011), and Armour and Ilda (2014) suggest that problems with the acceptance of comics may stem from a lack of appreciation of pop culture, with teachers fearing that such texts are frivolous, lack educational meaning (Lim, 2012) and are generally inappropriate (Clarke, 2013). In the existing literature, we find a great deal about stereotypes in comics (Chavez, 2021; Cruz, 2018; Dittmar, 2020) and breaking down stereotypes using comics (Loizou & Symienidou, 2019; Ostrow Seidler, 2015), but not about stereotypes about comics themselves. This also relates to teachers' stereotypical attitudes towards comics.

## Method

## Participants

A total of 139 teachers who were currently teaching the Slovenian language in a primary school from the first to the ninth grade (both class and subject teachers) participated in the research. Of them, 121 identified as female (87.1%) and 4 identified as male (2.9%), while 14 respondents chose not to answer the gender question (10.1%). Due to the small number of male teachers, the gender variable was excluded from further consideration.

At the lower level of primary education, the sample of teachers is evenly distributed ( $1^{st}$  grade – 18.7%,  $2^{nd}$  grade – 17.3%,  $3^{rd}$  grade – 15.8%,  $4^{th}$  grade – 13.7%,  $5^{th}$  grade – 12.2%). This is also the case regarding the upper level of primary education ( $6^{th}$  grade – 33.1%,  $7^{th}$  grade – 33.1%,  $8^{th}$  grade – 37.4%,  $9^{th}$  grade – 38.8%). One respondent did not answer the question (0.7%).

Most of the teachers had 10–20 years (30.9%) of experience, while slightly fewer had taught for up to 10 years (23.0%), 20–30 years (22.3%) and over 30 years (21.6%). Three respondents did not answer the question (2.2%).

Most of the participating teachers had graduated from primary education programmes (54.7%), followed by Slavic studies/Slovenian studies or Slovenian language/literature (41.0%), while a few of the teachers had graduated from other fields (3.6%).

The highest level of education achieved, reported by more than half of the respondents (56.8%), is specialisation according to a higher professional programme, university programme (VII.) or master's degree (2<sup>nd</sup> Bologna level), followed by a higher education programme (until 1994) or a post-secondary professional programme (VI/1.) (21.6%) and specialisation according to a higher education programme or higher professional programme (VI/2.) or a higher professional and university programme (1<sup>st</sup> Bologna level) (17.3%). Four of the participants (2.9%) had completed a specialisation according to a university programme or master's degree (VIII/1.), while two of the participants (1.4%) are Doctors of Science (VIII/2. or 3<sup>rd</sup> Bologna level).

The reading habits of the teachers were more favourable in the pre-adult period, and comics are less likely to be read by teachers in adulthood (Table 1).

Period	Until ad	dulthood	То	day	Comi adul	cs until thood	Comics today		
Frequency	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	
Never	0	.0	3	2.2	15	10.8	54	38.8	
Very rare	6	4.3	13	9.4	32	23.0	43	30.9	
Rarely	10	7.2	24	17.3	43	30.9	34	24.5	
Often	55	39.6	64	46.0	33	23.7	6	4.3	
Very often	68	48.9	35	25.2	15	10.8	1	.7	
Did not answer	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7	1	.7	
Sum	139	100.0	139	100.0	139	100.0	139	100.0	

*Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers according to their reading habits and their attitude towards reading comics* 

*Note*. Until adulthood – frequency of reading until adulthood. Today – frequency of reading today. Comics until adulthood – frequency of reading comics until adulthood. Comics today – frequency of reading comics today.

Most of the teachers (45.7%) believe that they did not acquire competencies related to the introduction of comics in the classroom at the faculty. This is followed by those who believe that competencies related to the introduction of comics in the classroom were acquired during teaching itself (38.4%). Some 8.7% of the respondents acquired their knowledge at the faculty and 2.2% acquired it while working in study groups. One teacher (0.7%) gained her knowledge from her partner, one (0.7%) through online training, and one respondent did not give information about the origin of their knowledge (0.7%).

We were also interested in the attitude of Slovenian language teachers towards comics according to their reading habits in the period until adulthood and today. Overall, the reading habits of teachers have not changed, but there has been a reversal in those who enjoyed reading comics very much, or still enjoy reading them, as well as in those who did not read comics or do not like to read them today. The data are shown in Table 2.

*Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers' attitudes towards reading comics* 

Period	Until a	dulthood	Today		
Attitude towards reading comics	f	f%	f	f%	
Really like	29	20.9	10	7.2	
Like	51	36.7	57	41.0	
Don't/Didn't like	14	10.1	28	20.1	
Don't/Didn't like at all	15	10.8	10	7.2	
Unformed	28	20.1	33	23.7	
Didn't have access to comics	2	1.4	-	-	
Did not answer	0	.0	1	.7	
Sum	139	100.0	139	100.0	

*Note*. Really like – I really like/liked to read comics. Like – I like/liked to read comics. Don't/Didn't like – I don't/didn't like to read comics. Don't/Didn't like at all – I don't/didn't like to read comics at all. Unformed – I don't/didn't have a formed attitude towards comics.

Most of the research that focuses on teachers' reading habits and attitudes towards reading is related to pre-service teachers. Research findings show that pre-service teachers are aware of the importance of reading and enjoy reading, but often do not find enough time to read (Uzum & Alincak, 2021), and that their reading habits are predicted by their attitudes towards reading (Aisyiyah & Hakim, 2020). Sahin and Bayrak (2021) state that teachers' reading habits are influenced by many factors, such as gender, teaching experience, the institution from which they graduated, level of education and level of job satisfaction. However, we did not find any studies comparing teachers' reading habits until adulthood and today, nor did we find any studies comparing teachers' reading habits to teachers attitudes towards reading comics.

The teachers in the present study also expressed agreement with stereotypical claims related to comics. Although they do not show explicit stereotypical attitudes towards comics, we can nevertheless see that there are differences even between the teachers who disagree with stereotypical claims (Table 3).

Agreement		1		2		3		4		5		6	S	um
Claim	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%								
S1	72	51.8	48	34.5	18	12.9	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S2	72	51.8	48	34.5	18	12.9	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S3	1	.7	1	.7	15	10.8	75	54.0	47	33.8	0	.0	139	100.0
S4	0	.0	4	2.9	35	25.2	66	47.5	34	24.5	0	.0	139	100.0
S5	71	51.1	56	40.3	10	7.2	1	.7	0	.0	1	.7	139	100.0
S6	94	67.6	41	29.5	3	2.2	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S7	40	28.8	46	33.1	33	23.7	18	12.9	2	1.4	0	.0	139	100.0
S8	60	43.2	57	41.0	21	15.1	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S9	60	43.2	51	36.7	25	18.0	3	2.2	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S10	92	66.2	42	30.2	4	2.9	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0
S11	78	56.1	55	39.6	5	3.6	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	139	100.0

*Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers' agreement with stated stereotypical claims* 

Note. S1 – Comics are less worthy or worthless literature. S2 – Comics represent low culture. S3 – Comic art is diverse and rich. S4 – Comics are first-class graphic texts. S5 – Comics are for kids only. S6 – Comics are just for nerds. S7 – All comics include superheroes. S8 – Comics promote racial stereotypes. S9 – Comics promote gender stereotypes. S10 – Young people should not read comics. S11 – Comics do not belong in the school environment. 1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. 6 – No answer.

The Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literacy curriculum are categorised in Table 4. According to the responses, the teachers' attitudes were categorised as positive or negative. Most of the teachers did not justify their opinions, but those who did justified their views with the objectives of the curriculum. One fifth of the teachers did not answer the question. The responses of the teachers who wrote a response reflected a lower level of knowledge in this area.

Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of expressed views of teachers about their attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum

Teachers' views	f	f%
Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum.	30	21.6
Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum.	5	3.6
Positive attitude related to the beliefs of the teacher.	2	1.4
Positive attitude under certain conditions.	7	5.0
Positive attitude.	56	40.3
Neutral position.	6	4.3
No answer.	33	23.8
Sum	139	100.0

The same applies to the teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics as a didactic method in literature classes (Table 5). Most of the teachers expressed positive opinions about the use of comics. In most cases, the teachers did not state reasons for their position, and if they did they expressed their reasons vaguely. About a third of the teachers did not answer the question. When we examined the responses more closely, we again concluded that the teachers were unaware of the field of comics.

## Table 5

*Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of expressed views of teachers about their attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes* 

Teachers' views	f	f%
Positive attitude.	64	46.0
Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum.	2	1.4
Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum.	2	1.4
Positive attitude emanating from students.	5	3.6
Positive attitude resulting from the multimodal/cultural characteristics of comics.	1	.7
Positive attitude under certain conditions.	2	1.4
Neutral position.	5	3.6
Negative attitude (time consuming).	4	2.9
I don't know the method, I don't use it.	5	3.6
No answer.	49	35.3
Sum	139	100.0

The frequency of responses showing the teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum and towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes is consistent with previous research (Kerneža, 2020), which indicates that the teachers have positive attitudes towards the use of comics in the classroom, but do not know how to justify their attitudes. This may indicate insufficient competencies for teaching with comics or using a comic book.

#### Instruments

In order to test the research questions and hypotheses, a descriptive and causal-non-experimental method of quantitative empirical educational research was used. We approached answering the research questions comprehensively by using a questionnaire, which gave us a large and representative sample of teachers. In accordance with the objectives of the quantitative approach, we chose the direct technique, a four-part questionnaire.

In the first part of the survey, the teachers provided general information about themselves, which we used as independent variables: gender, educational period taught, professional experience, field of study, highest level of education completed, source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom, reading habits, attitudes towards reading comics and agreement with stereotypical claims about comics

In the second part of the questionnaire, the teachers assessed the extent to which they agree (1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. 6 – No answer.) with the stated stereotypical statements about comics, which were arranged in a random order: *comics are less worthy or worthless literature, comics represent low culture, comic art is diverse and rich, comics are first-class graphic text, comics are for kids only, comics are just for nerds, all comics include superheroes, comics promote racial stereotypes, comics promote gender stereotypes, young people should not read comics, and comics do not belong in the school environment. Attitudes are most commonly measured with Likert scale questionnaires (Taherdoost, 2019).* 

In the third part, the teachers answered two open-ended questions. They were asked about their views on the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum and about their attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes.

The questionnaire was checked by relevant experts and tested on a sample of ten Slovenian language teachers. The validity, reliability and objectivity of the questionnaire were ensured. The reliability of the rating scales was checked using the Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) coefficient. It was found that the scales

are reliable ( $\alpha$  = .603 for the teachers' reading habits rating scale;  $\alpha$  = .603 for the teachers' stereotypical attitudes rating scale).

## Research design

A web link to the questionnaire was sent to all Slovenian public and private primary schools, together with a request for participation, while a link to the survey was also posted on social networks.

The data from the questionnaires were statistically processed according to the objectives and predictions of the survey using the statistical software package SPSS for Windows. Descriptive statistics (frequencies and structural percentage) were used, as well as the chi-squared test.

## Results

## *Introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum*

We were interested in factors that influence Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum, and which stereotypical attitudes of Slovenian language teachers influence their decision. The results presented in Table 6 show no statistically significant differences in this context.

## Table 6

The results of the chi-squared test of differences in terms of Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text according to the factors studied

Factor	χ²	Р
Educational period	25.815	.104
Professional experience	13.844	.739
Field of study	8.221	.768
Highest level of education completed	23.287	.503
Source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom	33.925	.568
Reading habits until adulthood	24.421	.142
Reading habits today	22.921	.524
Frequency of reading comics until adulthood	21.412	.614
Frequency of reading comics in adulthood	31.560	.138
Attitude towards reading comics until adulthood	20.045	.915
Attitude towards reading comics in adulthood	17.804	.812

When investigating the influence of the stereotypical attitudes of Slovenian language teachers in relation to the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text, only the correlation with the stereotype that *comics represent low culture* was statistically significant (Table 7).

## Table 7

The results of the chi-squared test of differences in terms of Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum

Stereotypical attitudes	χ²	Р
Comics are less worthy or worthless literature.	22.767	.200
Comics represent low culture.	30.769	.031
Comic art is diverse and rich.	15.117	.917
Comics are first-class graphic texts.	9.746	.940
Comics are for kids only.	11.368	.878
Comics are just for nerds.	12.494	.821
All comics include superheroes.	19.822	.707
Comics promote racial stereotypes.	16.485	.559
Comics promote gender stereotypes.	16.042	.590
Young people should not read comics.	16.300	.572
Comics do not belong in the school environment.	12.946	.795

A more detailed analysis, presented in Table 8, shows that the teachers who disagree with the claim that comics represent low culture are mostly positive about the introduction of comics as part of the literature curriculum, and that slightly less than one third of the teachers express positive opinions in relation to the goals of the literature curriculum. Most of the teachers who disagree with the statement give a positive opinion, while a positive opinion is associated with a positive attitude related to the goals of the literature curriculum.

Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers according to their attitude towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum by agreement with the statement that comics represent low culture

Agreement	1		2		3		4		5		Sum	
Attitude	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%
S1	19	13.8	8	6.0	3	2.2	0	.0	0	.0	30	21.7
S2	2	1.5	2	1.5	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	5	3.6
S3	2	1.5	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.5
S4	4	2.9	2	1.5	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	7	5.1
S5	30	21.7	19	13.8	7	5.1	0	.0	0	.0	56	40.6
S6	3	2.2	1	.7	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	6	4.3
S7	11	8.0	16	11.6	5	3.6	1	.7	0	.0	32	23.2
Sum	71	51.4	48	34.8	18	13.0	1	.7	0	.0	138	100.0

Note. 1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. SI – Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum. S2 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum. S3 – Positive attitude related to the beliefs of the teacher. S4 – Positive attitude under certain conditions. S5 – Positive attitude. S6 – Neutral position. S7 – No answer.

The results obtained should be considered from the perspective of the research of Alexio et al. (2020), who noted three different teacher views on comics in education: comics are considered a medium of children's entertainment and are not related to educational practice; if comics are used in education, they should be used primarily with students who need additional support; comics represent a 'missed opportunity in education' and have not reached their full potential due to the lack of comic resources for use in the classroom. The idea that comics represent low culture, an assertion that had statistically significant results, shows that culture covers a wide range (the term culture includes all products of an individual, group or society of intelligent beings) and can also include negative attitudes towards comics, as presented in the aforementioned study (Alexio et al., 2020), showing the relatedness between culture and attitudes, and confirming that teachers evaluate comics through the culture of society.

#### The use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes

We were also interested in factors that influence Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes and which stereotypical attitudes of Slovenian teachers influence their literature teaching. As in the analysis of the influence of the research factors on the attitude of Slovenian language teachers towards the introduction of comics as an artliterary type of text as part of the literature curriculum, there is no statistical effect of the studied factors on the attitudes of teachers to the use of comics as a literary didactic method in literature classes (Table 9).

## Table 9

The results of the chi-squared test difference in terms of Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes according to the factors studied

Factor	χ²	Р
Educational period	28.798	.371
Professional experience	38.237	.074
Field of study	14.439	.700
Highest level of education completed	27.139	.856
Source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom	59.486	.283
Reading habits until adulthood	20.062	.828
Reading habits today	20.794	.980
Frequency of reading comics until adulthood	43.995	.169
Frequency of reading comics in adulthood	28.411	.812
Attitude towards reading comics until adulthood	29.084	.968
Attitude towards reading comics in adulthood	28.474	.810

In the stereotypical attitudes of Slovenian language teachers towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes, there are statistically significant differences in agreement with the assertions that comics are diverse and rich, that young people should not read comics, and that comics do not belong in school (Table 10).

The results of the chi-squared test of Slovenian language teachers' stereotypical attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes

Stereotypical attitudes	χ²	Р
Comics are less worthy or worthless literature.	27.696	.427
Comics represent low culture.	36.065	.114
Comic art is diverse and rich.	107.402	.000
Comics are first-class graphic texts.	38.181	.075
Comics are for kids only.	17.287	.924
Comics are just for nerds.	32.514	.214
All comics include superheroes.	41.125	.256
Comics promote racial stereotypes.	35.665	.123
Comics promote gender stereotypes.	35.768	.120
Young people should not read comics.	58.622	.000
Comics do not belong in the school environment.	50.174	.004

The results presented in Table 11 show that most teachers who consider that *comic art is diverse and rich* have a positive attitude towards comics. Other responses are scattered among the views expressed.

## Table 11

Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers according to their attitude towards the introduction of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes by agreement to the statement that comic art is diverse and rich

Agreement	1		2		3		4		5		Sum	
Attitude	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%
S1	0	.0	0	.0	7	5.0	33	23.7	24	17.3	64	46.0
S2	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4	2	1.4
S3	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4	2	1.4
S4	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7	4	2.9	0	.0	5	4.6
S5	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	1	.7
S6	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	2	1.4
S7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	3	2.2	2	1.4	5	4.6
S8	0	.0	0	.0	3	.2	1	.7	0	.0	4	2.9
S9	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7	4	2.9	5	4.6
S10	0	.0	1	.7	4	.9	31	22.3	13	10.1	49	32.4
Sum	1	.7	0	.0	15	10.8	75	54.0	47	34.5	139	100.0

Note. 1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. SI – Positive attitude. S2 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum. S3 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum. S4 – Positive attitude emanating from students. S5 – Positive attitude resulting from the multimodal/cultural
characteristics of comics. S6 – Positive attitude under certain conditions. S7 – Neutral position. S8 – Negative attitude (time consuming). S9 – I don't know the method; I don't use it. S10 – No answer.

Most of the teachers interviewed disagree with the statement that *young people should not read comics*. Moreover, most of those who disagree with this statement also expressed a positive attitude towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in the classroom, and half as many teachers did not answer the question (Table 12).

#### Table 12

Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers according to their attitude towards the introduction of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes by agreement to the statement that young people should not read comics

Agreement		1		2		3		4		5	S	um
Attitude	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%
S1	49	32.4	14	10.1	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	64	46.0
S2	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S3	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S4	3	2.2	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S5	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	1	0.7
S6	1	.7	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S7	4	2.9	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S8	1	0.7	1	.7	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	4	2.9
S9	5	4.6	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S10	25	18.0	23	16.5	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	49	32.4
Sum	92	64.3	42	30.1	4	2.9	1	.7	0	.0	139	100.0

Note. 1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. SI – Positive attitude. S2 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum. S3 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum. S4 – Positive attitude emanating from students. S5 – Positive attitude resulting from the multimodal/cultural characteristics of comics. S6 – Positive attitude under certain conditions. S7 – Neutral position. S8 – Negative attitude (time consuming). S9 – I don't know the method; I don't use it. S10 – No answer.

Most of the teachers who disagreed with the statement that *comics do not belong in the school environment* also expressed a positive attitude towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in the classroom (Table 13).

#### Table 13

Number (f) and structural percentage (f%) of teachers according to their attitude towards the introduction of comics as a literary-didactic method in literature classes by agreement to the statement that comics do not belong in the school environment

Agreement		1		2		3		4		5	S	um
Attitude	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%	f	f%
S1	45	32.4	18	13.0	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	64	46.0
S2	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S3	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S4	3	2.2	2	1.4	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S5	0	.0	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	1	.7
S6	1	.7	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	2	1.4
S7	1	.7	3	2.2	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S8	1	.7	1	.7	2	.4	0	.0	0	.0	4	2.9
S9	4	2.9	1	.7	0	.0	0	.0	0	.0	5	4.6
S10	19	13.7	28	20.1	1	.7	1	.7	0	.0	49	32.4
Sum	78	56.1	55	39.5	5	4.6	1	.7	0	.0	139	100.0

Note. 1 – I do not agree at all. 2 – I do not agree. 3 – I neither agree nor disagree. 4 – I agree. 5 – I very much agree. S1 – Positive attitude. S2 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the literary curriculum. S3 – Positive attitude related to the goals of the language part of the curriculum. S4 – Positive attitude emanating from students. S5 – Positive attitude resulting from the multimodal/cultural characteristics of comics. S6 – Positive attitude under certain conditions. S7 – Neutral position. S8 – Negative attitude (time consuming). S9 – I don't know the method; I don't use it. S10 – No answer.

Comics are widely used as a didactic method to achieve the curriculum goals in the classroom and are generally accepted as a didactic method that can be used in the classroom in a variety of subjects and domains (e.g., Chu & Toh, 2020; Matuk et al., 2019; Sagri et al., 2019). This is consistent with the findings of our study showing that teachers who expressed positive attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in the classroom disagreed with the statement that comics do not belong in the school environment.

#### Discussion

The study shows that the factors of gender, educational period taught, professional experience, field of study, highest level of education completed, source of skills related to the introduction of comics in the classroom, teachers' reading habits and their attitudes towards reading comics, and agreement with stereotypical claims about comics have no influence on Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics in literature classes, either in the form of an art-literary type of text or in the form of a literary-didactic method.

Statistically significant differences appeared only when teachers' stereotypical attitudes towards comics were introduced as a variable. The analysis shows a statistically significant difference between teachers who agreed with the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the case of the claim that comics represent low culture. The attitudes towards claims about comics that influence attitudes towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method are: comic art is diverse and rich, young people should not read comics and comics do not belong in the school environment. Many of the questions either remained unanswered or the teachers did not provide an answer corresponding to the question asked. It was found that teachers do not understand the difference between the two researched uses of comics, nor can they confidently place the researched uses of comics in the curriculum. Since comics are part of the Slovenian language curriculum (Poznanovič Jezeršek et al., 2018), there is an urgent need to train teachers in the field of using comics in Slovenian language teaching, where we can apply the method mentioned by Schoenfeld (2020), that is, by influencing teachers' perceptions, inclinations and orientations in the field of using comics in Slovenian language teaching. How can this be achieved? Since both picture books and comics are multimodal texts (Batič & Haramija, 2014), picture books and teachers' knowledge about picture books would be an important tool to influence teachers' attitudes towards comics.

We can now answer the research questions. Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics as an art-literary type of text in the literary curriculum are predominantly positive. They are most often associated with the aims of the literary curriculum and are influenced by teachers' stereotypical attitudes towards the claim that comics represent low culture. Fewer teachers supported the use of comics as a literary-didactic method in the classroom; the answers were more scattered and more teachers expressed a negative opinion, stating that they do not know the method and therefore do not use it. This is also reflected in the teachers' responses, as most of them simply stated that they have a positive attitude towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method, without giving any further reasons for their decision. The results show that the attitude of Slovenian language teachers towards the use of comics as a literary-didactic method is influenced by their attitude towards claims that comic art is diverse and rich, young people should not read comics and comics do not belong in the school environment. The results also confirm the assumption that stereotypical attitudes towards comics still exist among teachers (Kerneža, 2016).

The results presented partially confirm the hypothesis. The most important finding of the study is that teachers' concerns about the use of comics in the classroom are mainly due to insufficient knowledge about the researched ways of including comics in the literature classroom. Block (2013) also notes that the majority of teachers use graphic novels at most once a year, even though they believe this text format is useful and motivates students. Most teachers have not received training on the use of graphic novels and indicate that they would probably use them more often if they had more knowledge about them. The specified data contrasts with the research of Batič (2021) on the use of picture books, which shows that teachers have no problems selecting suitable picture books for use in the classroom. This highlights the need for quality educational programmes. In order to reach the widest possible range of teachers, it would be appropriate to familiarise pre-service teachers with quality (didactic) comic contents. Since a comic consists of a picture and a text, this training should cover both concepts: the artistic one that students should learn in art classes, and the literary one that students should learn in literature classes. For in-service teachers (and pre-service teachers) we see great value in sharing best practices, whereby teachers who have a good, positive and unencumbered attitude towards comics would most likely share their experience and knowledge of using comics in Slovenian language classes. Research shows the influence of enthusiasm on student performance (Mahler et al., 2018), which could be the most important element to influence teachers' perception, inclination and orientation (Schoenfeld, 2020) towards comics. The findings are consistent with the previously discussed findings of Abdulrauf et al. (2016) that teachers' subject knowledge and skills are closely related to the their views and the transmission of their views to their students (Zhang et al., 2018). Teachers' confidence is stronger when we talk about comics as an art-literary type of text. Comics as a literary-didactic method are not sufficiently known among teachers to be able to confidently report their use in literature classes and teachers are hesitant to use them due to their lack of knowledge.

## Conclusion

The present study attempts to address gaps in the research on teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics in Slovenian language classes. It extends the limited research on understanding teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics and literature instruction in primary school. It is also one of the first studies to address specific stereotypical attitudes towards comics, and it has even greater relevance to the field of the use of comics in literature instruction, as – to the best of authors' knowledge and based on a search of peer-review databases – no previous research has examined teachers' attitudes towards the use of comics in native language instruction. This is especially important since

it was found that teachers do not have enough knowledge about the two forms of comic use in the classroom: they do not distinguish between comics as an art-literary type of text and comics as a didactic method. The teachers' responses are therefore questionable at some points of the research, as they may not have interpreted the above uses of comics correctly. The results reflect the great need for teacher training to enable teachers to use and introduce comics in all forms in literature classes. Two target groups are proposed in identifying the need for additional teacher training. The first is future teachers of Slovenian language, who, through well-designed didactic units, can learn that comics can also be texts of literary and artistic quality. Another way to promote teachers' positive opinions about the use of comics in Slovenian language teaching is to share the best practices of teachers who already use comics in their teaching. These teachers could, through their good example and enthusiasm, adequately motivate other teachers to use comics as an art-literary type of text as part of the literature curriculum and as a literary-didactic method in literature classes.

#### References

Abdulrauf, A. A., Norsiah, A. H., & Mohd, S. I. (2016). An exploratory data analysis on social media and youth online political participation in Nigeria and Malaysia. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Approach and Studies*, *3*(1), 47–59. http://ijmas.com/upcomingissue/08.01.2016.pdf Aisyiyah, M. N., & Hakim, M. A. (2020). Exploring English student teachers' reading habits and preferences. *ELT-Echo*, *5*(2), 149–161. http://dx.doi.org/10.24235/eltecho.v5i2.7413

Albarracin, D., Sunderrajan, A., Lohman, Chan, M. P. S., & Jiang, D. (2018). *The psychology of attitudes, motivation, and persuasion*. Urbana Champaign: University of Illinois.

https://13291b6e-40b0-3127-276ecf7d797a6763.filesusr.com/ugd/e3eff4\_62c5bd039c4045dca9d2fc343dfb9403.pdf Alexio, P. A., Matkin, D., & Kilby, L. (2020). What do teachers think about the educational role of comic books?: A qualitative analysis. *Studies in Comics*, *11*(2), 387–404.

https://doi.org/10.1386/stic\_00037\_1

Armour, W. S., & Iida, S. (2014). Are Australian fans of manga and anime motivated to learn Japanese language? *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, *36*(1), 1–17. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2014.922459 Azamain, M. S., Shahrill, M., Musa., N. K. H., & Batrisyia, I. (2020). How using comics can assist

in determining the students' learning of distance-time graphs. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series,* 1470(1), 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1470/1/012005

Ballantine, J. H., & Spade, J. Z. (2006). *Schools and society: Sociological approach to education* (3rd Ed.). Pine Forge Press.

Batič, J., & Haramija, D. (2014). Teorija slikanice [Picture book theory]. *Otrok in knjiga*, 41(89), 5–19. https://www.dlib.si/stream/URN:NBN:SI:doc-R700ETOC/6b1903f9-9c07-4b9d-8a6b-b179595d1731/PDF Batič, J., & Lebar Kac, P. (2020). Cross-curricular analysis of picture books in the fifth grade of primary school: A case study. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 10(4), 165–185. https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.910

Batič, J. (2021). Reading picture books in preschool and lower grades of primary school. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 11(1), 9–26. http://dx.doi.org/10.26529/cepsi.554

Luucuitonui 1 oitey Studies journui, 11(1), 9–20. http://ux.uoi.oig/10.20529/cepsj.554

Blank, J. (2017). '... But is it literature?'. European Comic Art, 10(1), 74-93.

http://dx.doi.org/10.3167/eca.2017.100107

Block, K. (2013). *Teacher perceptions of graphic novels*. [Master's thesis, University of Northern Iowa]. https://scholarworks.uni.edu/grp/31/?utm\_source= scholarworks.uni.edu%2Fgrp%2F31&utm\_ medium=PDF&utm\_campaign=PDFCoverPages

Cash, C. M., Cox, T. D., & Hahs-Vaughn, D. L. (2021). Distance educators' attitudes and actions

towards inclusive teaching practices. Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 21(2), 15-42.

Chavez, W. V. (2021). Challenging gender stereotypes?: The representation of women in two

Ecuadorian comics. In E. L. Björk, J. Eschenbach, and J. M. Wagner (Eds.), *Women and fairness: Navigating an unfair world* (pp. 65–80). Waxmann.

Cheung, K., & O'Sullivan, K. A. (2017). 'Big fans', 'experts', and those 'in need of a challenge': Teacher attitudes to 'manga and anime kids' in the secondary English classroom. *English in Australia*, *52*(2), 28–38. https://search.informit.org/doi/epdf/10.3316/informit.904349703776672

Chu, Y. L. L., & Toh, T. L. (2020). A framework for designing mathematics instruction using comics at the primary school level. *Journal of Research and Advances in Mathematics Education*, *5*(3), 218–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.23917/jramathedu.v5i3.11373

Clarke, J. S. (2013). "Your credibility could be shot": Preservice teachers' thinking about nonfiction graphic novels, curriculum decision making, and professional acceptance. *The Social Studies*, *104*(1), 38–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00377996.2012.665957

Cruz, G. A. (2018). Superheroes & stereotypes: A critical analysis of race, gender, and social issues within comic book material. [Doctoral dissertation, Bowling Green State University].

Darling-Hammond, L. (2000). Teacher quality and student achievement. *Education policy analysis archives*, 8(1), 1–44. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v8n1.2000

Dittmar, J. (2020). Narrative strategies: African types and stereotypes in comics. In C. Lüthy, R. Ulrich, and A. Uribe (Eds.), *Kaboom! Of stereotypes and superheroes: African comics and comics on Africa.* Basler Afrika Bibliographien.

Gal, I., Ginsburg, L., & Schau, C. (1997). Monitoring attitudes and beliefs in statistics education. In I. Gal and J. B. Garfield (Eds.), *The assessment challenge in statistics education* (pp. 37–51). IOS Press. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228554057\_Monitoring\_Attitudes\_and\_Beliefs\_in\_ Statistics\_Education#fullTextFileContent

Glock, S., Kovacs, C., & Pit-Ten Cate, I. (2018). Teachers' attitudes towards ethnic minority students: Effects of schools' cultural diversity. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *89*(4), 616–634.

Greene, J. (2006). Toward a methodology of mixed methods social inquiry. *Research in the Schools*, 13(1), 93–99. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228968099\_ Toward\_a\_methodology\_of\_ mixed\_methods\_social\_inquiry#fullTextFileContent

Groensteen, T. (2009). Why are comics still in search of cultural legitimization? In J. Heer, and K. Worcester (Eds.), *A comics studies reader* (pp. 3–11). University Press of Mississippi.

Hall, L. A. (2011). How popular culture texts inform and shape students' discussions of social studies texts. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literature*, 55(4), 296–305. https://doi.org/10.1002/JAAL.00036 Haramija, D., & Batič, J. (2016). Celostno branje slikanic kot izhodišče za branje odraslih z motnjami v duševnem razvoju [Integrated picture book reading as a starting point for reading by mentally challenged adults]. *Slavistično društvo Slovenije*, *61*(1), 35–45.

https://www.dlib.si/stream/URN:NBN:SI:doc-MMoD9PJD/48cafea3-73b4-4327-9533-4535d73fa6ca/PDF Hu, B. J., Guan, L., LoCasale-Crouch, J., Yuan, Y., & Guo, M. (2022). Effects of the MMCI course and coaching on pre-service ECE teachers' beliefs, knowledge, and skill. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *61*, 58–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2022.05.008

Jogie, M. (2015). Too pale and stale: Prescribed texts used for teaching culturally diverse students in Australia and England. *Oxford Review of Education*, *41*(3), 287–309.

https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2015.1009826

Kerneža, M. (2020). Stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa kot likovno-literarne vrste besedila v književnovzgojni kurikulum in do uporabe stripa kot (produktivne) literarnodidaktične metode pri pouku književnosti [Slovenian language teachers' attitudes towards the introduction of comics in the literary curriculum as a visual arts/literary text and the use of comics as a (productive) literary-didactic method in literature classes]. [Master's thesis, Faculty of Humanities, University of Primorska]. https://repozitorij.upr.si/IzpisGradiva.php?id=14788

Kerneža, M. (2016). Strip kot literarnodidaktična metoda dela premostitev razlik med spoloma v bralni pismenosti na razredni stopnji šolanja [Comics as a literary-didactic method for reducing gender differences in reading literacy at the primary level of education]. [Doctoral dissertation, Faculty of Education, University of Maribor]. https://dk.um.si/Dokument.php?id=106556&lang=slv Kerneža, M., & Košir, K. (2016). Comics as a literary-didactic method and their use for reducing gender differences in reading literacy at the primary level of education. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 6(2), 125–149.

Kulikowski, K., Przytuła, S., & Sułkowski, Ł. (2022). E-learning? Never again! On the unintended consequences of COVID-19 forced e-learning on academic teacher motivational job characteristics. *Higher Education Quarterly*, *76*(1), 174–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12314

Lawal, M. B. (2020). Social studies teachers' readiness to teach the security education theme in the reviewed edition of Nigeria's basic education curriculum. *Journal of International Social Studies, 10*, 154–176. http://dx.doi.org/10.46545/aijhass.v2i1.148

Leffler, E. (2019). An entrepreneurial attitude: Implication for teachers' leadership skills? *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *19*(4), 640–654. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2019.1668021

Lim, Y. J. (2012). Seriously, what are they reading? An analysis of Korean children's reading behavior regarding educational graphic novels. [Doctoral Dissertation. University of Illinois].

Loizou, E., & Symenidou, S. (2019). Cartoons as an educational tool to fight disability stereotypes. In E. Loizou & S. L. Recchia (Eds.), *Research on young children's humor: Theoretical and practical*  *implications for early childhood education* (pp. 145–168). Springer.

Mahler, D., Großschedl, J., & Harms, U. (2018). Does motivation matter? – The relationship between teachers' self-efficacy and enthusiasm and students' performance. *PLoS ONE*, 13(11).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207252

Matuk, C., Hurwich, T., Spiegel, A., & Diamond, J. (2021). How do teachers use comics to promote engagement, equity, and diversity in science classrooms? *Research in Science Education*, 51, 685–732. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-018-9814-8

Mellom, P. J., Straaubhaar, R., Balderas, C., Ariail, M., & Portes, P. R. (2018). "They come with nothing:" How professional development in a cultural responsive pedagogy shapes teacher attitudes towards Latino/a English language learners. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *71*, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.12.013

OECD. (2009). Teaching Practices, Teachers' Beliefs and Attitudes. In OECD, *Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments: First Results* (pp. 87–123). TALIS, OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/23129638

Oppolzer, M. (2020). *Reading autobiographical comics (e-book)*. University Press of Mississippi. https://www.academia.edu/43676021/Reading\_

Osterer, I. (2012). Comic book confidential. Arts & Activities, 151(5), 30-31.

http://www.artsandactivities.com/Bkissues.html

Ostrow Seidler, C. (2015). Fighting disability stereotypes with comics: "I cannot see you, but I know you are staring at me". *Art Education*, *6*, 20–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00043125.2011.11519148

Phoon, H. Y., Roslan, R. M., Shahrill, M., & Said, H. (2020). The role of comics in elementary school

science education. Journal Ilmiah Pendidikan MIPA, 10(2), 67-76.

http://dx.doi.org/10.30998/formatif.v10i2.6257

Poznanovič Jezeršek, M., Cestnik, M., Čuden, M., Gomivnik Thuma, V., Honzak, M., Križaj Ortar,

M., Rosc Leskovec, D., Žveglič, M., & Ahačič, K. (2018), *Program osnovna šola. Slovenščina. Učni načrt (posodobljena izdaja)* [Primary school programme. Slovenian. Curriculum (updated edition)]. Ministrstvo za izobraževanje, znanost in šport & Zavod RS za šolstvo.

Rensaa, R. J., Hogstad, N. M., & Monaghan, J. (2019). Themes within lecturers' views on the teaching of linear algebra. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, *1*, 107–123. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ukm.si/10.1080/0020739X.2019.1668976

Rosli, R., Goldsby, D., Onwuegbuzie, A., Capraro, M. M., Caprato, R. M., & Gonzalez, E. G. Y. (2020). Elementary preservice teachers' knowledge, perceptions and attitudes towards fractions: A mixedanalysis. *Journal of Mathematics Education*, 11(1), 59–76. http://doi.org/10.22342/jme.11.1.9482.59-76

Russo, J., Bobis, J., Dowton, A., Livy, S., & Sullivan, P. (2021). Primary teacher attitudes towards productive struggle in mathematics in remote learning versus classroom-based settings. *Education Sciences*, *11*(2), 35. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11020035

Sagri, M., Sofos, F., & Mouzakl, D. (2019). Digital storytelling, comics and new technologies in education: Review, research and perspectives. *International Education Journal: Comparative Perspectives*, 17(4), 97–112. https://openjournals.library.sydney.edu.au/index.php/IEJ Sahara, O. (2020). A look at manga in Japanese public education. In M. Toku, and T. Dollase (Eds.), *MANGA!: Visual pop-culture in ARTS education* (pp. 22–33). InSEA Publications.

Sahin, T. G., & Bayrak, O. (2021). Investigation of Turkish teachers' reading habits and attitudes towards learning. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 13(5), 1445–1464.

Smajla, T. (2021). The suitability of foreign language teaching in childhood according to the CLIL approach: The foreign language teachers' attitudes. *English Language Teaching Educational Journal*, *4*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.12928/eltej.v4i1.3702

Süer, S., & Oral, B. (2021). Investigation of classroom teachers' views towards innovative pedagogical practices. *Participatory Educational Research*, *8*(4), 253–273. http://dx.doi.org/10.17275/per.21.89.8.4

Taherdoost, H. (2019). What is the best response scale for survey and questionnaire design; review of different lengths of rating scale/attitude scale/Likert scale. *International Journal of Academic Research in Management*, *8*(1), 1–10. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3588604

Ugur-Erdogmus, F. (2021). How do elementary childhood education teachers perceive robotic education in kindergarten? A qualitative study. *Participatory Educational Research*, *8*(2), 421–434. http://dx.doi.org/10.17275/per.21.47.8.2

Uzum, H., & Alincak, F. (2021). Investigation of book reading habits of teacher candidates. *The Eurasia Proceedings of Educational & Social Sciences*, 23, 104–104.

Wilson, B. (2020). Becoming and unbecoming a Mangaka: The informal and formal pedagogy

of frame. In M. Toku, and T. Dollase (Eds.), *MANGA!: Visual pop-culture in ARTS education* (pp. 42–51). InSEA Publications.

Xu, L. (2012). The role of teachers' beliefs in the language teaching-learning process. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *2*(7), 1397–1402. http://dx.doi.org/10.4304/tpls.2.7.1397-1402

Zhang, T. (2019). Online comics for the teaching and learning of Chinese language in the Australian context. [Master's thesis, Western Sydney University].

https://researchdirect.westernsydney.edu.au/islandora/object/uws:53002

# **Biographical note**

**MAJA KERNEŽA**, PhD, is a teaching assistant in the area of didactics of Slovenian language and literature at the Faculty of Education, University of Maribor, and a researcher at the Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University of Maribor. Her research interests are mainly focused on the primary level of education, and her most frequent research interests are in the fields of literary didactics, comics, reading literacy, and digital literacy. She also focuses on the influence of digital learning environments on education and the incorporation of artificial intelligence in education, in keeping with the advancement of society.

**IGOR SAKSIDA**, PhD, is a full professor in the field Slovene literature at the Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana and University of Primorska, Slove¬nia. He is a member of the International Baccalaureate (IB) examination Team. His main areas of research: children's literature and literary didactics, particularly history and theory of literature, reader's response to text, external assessment of reading competence and contemporary media reality related to literature teaching.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1491

# Perceptions of Didactic Strategies among Pupils and Teachers in Primary School

Monika Mithans\*1, Joca Zurc2 and Milena Ivanuš Grmek3

The quality of educational work is inextricably linked to many factors at  $\sim$ the system, school, teacher, and student levels. This research was carried out within the project 'Education of Teachers as a Factor of Providing High-quality Life-long Learning in the Learning Society/The Society of Fast Socio-economic Changes and Unsure Future', funded by the Slovenian Research Agency. This paper provides a basic overview of the characteristics of open instruction, an umbrella term that combines active and learner-centred didactic strategies. The empirical section focuses on the use of didactic strategies. The survey was carried out with 1,536 primary school<sup>4</sup> pupils in Grades 7 and 9 and 263 of their teachers. Both pupils and teachers cited problem-based learning and research-based learning as the most commonly used didactic strategies, while projectbased learning was the least frequently used. Despite the agreement on the most and least frequently used didactic strategies, there are statistically significant differences between pupils' and teachers' perceptions of all selected didactic strategies. Teachers reported that they used these strategies more often than was perceived by their pupils. We also found a statistically significant impact of better learning performance on the perception of certain didactic strategies. The results of the study raise new research questions, especially in the design of more detailed analyses of the use of didactic strategies in pedagogical practice.

**Keywords:** academic performance, didactic strategies, primary school, pupil activity

<sup>1 \*</sup>Corresponding Author. Faculty of Education, University of Maribor, Slovenia; monika.mithansı@um.si.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Education, Faculty of Arts, University of Maribor, Slovenia.

<sup>3</sup> Faculty of Education, University of Maribor, Slovenia.

<sup>4</sup> Slovenian basic education lasts nine years. Students enter primary school at the age of 6 and complete it at the age of 15.

# Zaznavanje strategij pouka med učenci in učitelji v osnovni šoli

#### Monika Mithans, Joca Zurc in Milena Ivanuš Grmek

Kakovost vzgojno-izobraževalnega dela je neločljivo povezana s števil- $\sim$ nimi dejavniki na ravni sistema, šole, učiteljev in učencev. Raziskava, katere del predstavljamo v tem prispevku, je potekala v okviru projekta Izobraževanje učiteljev kot dejavnik zagotavljanja kakovostnega vseživljenjskega učenja v učeči se družbi/v družbi hitrih družbeno-gospodarskih sprememb in negotove prihodnosti, ki ga je financirala Javna agencija za raziskovalno dejavnost Republike Slovenije (ARRS). Prispevek ponuja grob pregled značilnosti odprtega pouka, ki kot nadpomenka združuje aktivne in v učence usmerjene strategije pouka. V empiričnem delu smo pozornost usmerili v preučevanje pogleda učencev in učiteljev na uporabo strategij pouka v pedagoški praksi. V raziskavi je sodelovalo 1.536 učencev 7. in 9. razreda osnovne šole in 263 njihovih učiteljev. Ugotovili smo, da učenci in učitelji kot najpogosteje uporabljeni strategiji pouka navajajo problemski in raziskovalni pouk, najredkeje pa se po mnenju obojih pojavlja projektni pouk. Kljub enotnosti o najpogosteje in najredkeje uporabljenih strategijah pouka med učenci in učitelji prihaja do statistično značilnih razlik v zaznavanju vseh strategij pouka. Učitelji namreč navajajo, da omenjene strategije uporabljajo pogosteje, kot to zaznavajo njihovi učenci. Ugotovili smo tudi statistično značilen vpliv boljšega učnega uspeha na zaznavanje nekaterih strategij pouka. Izsledki naše raziskave odpirajo nova raziskovalna vprašanja, predvsem pri načrtovanju podrobnejših analiz uporabe strategij pouka v pedagoški praksi.

Ključne besede: učni uspeh, strategije pouka, osnovna šola, aktivnost učencev

# Introduction

Education and knowledge are indispensable assets and prerequisites for successful social and economic development. This is why there is increasing demand for more effective learning and teaching processes (Pelc, 2008).

Experts agree that pupils should be active participants in the educational process (Alvia & Gillies, 2020; Mithans, 2017; Mithans et al., 2017) in subjects with the possibility for active participation (Blažič et al., 2003; Mithans & Ivanuš Grmek, 2012).

Consequently, the role of the teacher, who was once the sole source and transmitter of knowledge (Holt-Reynolds, 2000), must also change (Kalin et al., 2017; Tahirsylaj et al., 2021). In a knowledge society, it is the teacher's effectiveness that is key to the effectiveness of the entire education system (Yar Yildirim, 2021). Therefore, teachers need to strive continuously to improve their educational work (Šorgo & Heric, 2020), to educate themselves throughout their careers, and to upgrade their knowledge (Torres-Cladera et al., 2021). The teacher is no longer merely a transmitter of knowledge. Increasingly, the role of the teacher is that of facilitator, animator and organiser of a stimulating learning environment, mentor, and promoter of independent learning (Cencič et al., 2008). Research shows that learning results are mainly determined by the quality of teaching (Hattie, 2008; Rowe, 2003; Timperley & Alton-Lee, 2008). It is, therefore, important that the teacher motivates and empowers pupils to learn independently and chooses didactic strategies that put them in the role of active agents (Kalin et al., 2017). The ability to use a variety of didactic strategies is thus one of the most important characteristics of an effective teacher (AgwuUdu, 2019).

The main purpose of this study is to identify the factors that contribute to the quality of educational work in primary schools. In this article, we will answer the question of which didactic strategies are most used in the upper grades of Slovenian primary schools and how the perception of them is influenced by academic performance.

#### **Didactic Strategies**

A strategy is 'a deliberate, planned process for achieving a set goal that guides one's overall behaviour' (Valenčič Zuljan & Kalin, 2020, p. 117). Similarly, didactic strategies concretise teachers' and pupils' learning activities towards achieving educational goals (Valenčič Zuljan & Kalin, 2020) and represent teachers' planned selection of teaching methods and forms (Strmčnik, 2001). According to Valenčič Zuljan and Kalin (2020), the didactic strategy includes both traditional teaching (direct instruction) and different types of open instruction (Blažič et al., 2003; Peschel, 2010).

In our study, we rely on the definition developed by Blažič et al. (2003), which sees open instruction as a superset of, characterised by teachers not sticking rigidly to learning objectives, content, and methods but adapting them to the interests and abilities of their pupils. Modern didactic strategies focus on the life of the local community and on pupils' anticipation and participation in learning.

In the view of Blažič et al. (2003), these principles and other characteristics of open instruction are most clearly reflected in didactic strategies such as experiential learning, research-based learning, project-based learning, problem-based learning, action-oriented learning, cross-curricular learning, among others. These didactic strategies require teachers to teach actively and pupils to learn actively (Blažič et al., 2003; Ivanuš Grmek et al., 2009) and to cooperate with each other. They put the learner at the centre, giving them greater autonomy to learn and offering self-paced and personalised learning. As a consequence, these didactic strategies positively impact the sustainability and usability of knowledge and on, the development of creativity and critical thinking and contribute to the development of lifelong learning competences (Alvia & Gillies, 2020; Cencič et al., 2008; Filippatou & Kaldi, 2010; McPherson-Geyser et al., 2020). Their main goal is to enable the learner to play an active role in shaping his or her own learning (Cencič et al., 2008).

These didactic strategies share a tendency to link learning to pupils' prior knowledge and experiences, as well as to the learners' present. Pupils are given the opportunity to participate according to their abilities, which also helps to reinforce the principles of inclusive education (Alvia & Gillies, 2020; Filippatou & Kaldi, 2010).

Through didactic strategies, pupils learn new content in an active way by justifying their ideas, giving reasons for the correctness of the solutions given, and contributing to higher-quality learning outcomes through independent inquiry and reflection (Ivanuš Grmek et al., 2009).

By incorporating pupils' preferences and needs, these didactic strategies make a decisive contribution to increasing learning motivation and, consequently, learning performance (Ing et al., 2015). Other researchers have also shown a positive correlation between pupil activity and pupil performance (Fredricks et al., 2004). Keeping pupils highly engaged and active during lessons is one of the most important and challenging tasks for a teacher (Kozina & Vršnik Perše, 2015); this skill is still not sufficiently implemented in pedagogical practice (Crook & Cox, 2022; Deslauriers et al., 2019; Mithans, 2017; Mithans et al., 2017; Mithans & Ivanuš Grmek, 2019).

The positive effects of open instruction on learning performance, self-regulation skills, critical thinking development, participants' attitudes, and similar factors are evidenced by the results of numerous studies (Alvia & Gillies, 2020; Cotič et al., 2020; Darhim et al., 2020; Fernandes, 2021; Ferrero et al., 2021; Harris & Bilton, 2019; Kaldi et al., 2009; Lazić et al., 2021; Sutrisna & Artini, 2020). However, for reasons of time efficiency and control over classroom work, traditional frontal teaching remains the dominant pedagogical practice (Plešec Gasparič, 2019); it is effective for achieving basic knowledge but less effective for learning more complex and creative content (Valenčič Zuljan & Kalin, 2020).

In the face of the constant changes and challenges of the present for the wider community, learner-centred teaching, made possible by open instruction, must find its way into pedagogical practice: to achieve all the goals of the educational process, it is necessary to combine different didactic strategies at all levels of education and to choose them according to the individual characteristics of the pupils.

The didactic competence of teachers and their willingness to improve continuously in this area is essential for the successful implementation and combination of didactic strategies that will truly enable the acquisition of indepth knowledge and foster criticality and creativity. According to Revelle (2019), teachers play a central role in introducing new or different didactic strategies.

## **Research Problem and Aims**

The results of our previous research indicate that student participation remains a challenge (Mithans et al., 2017) and that student participation also largely depends on open instruction (Mithans & Ivanuš Grmek, 2019).

Based on the benefits of open instruction, we were interested in which didactic strategies are most commonly used in the upper grades of Slovenian primary schools. We focused on pupils' perceptions of didactic strategies and on teachers' self-assessment of their use of particular didactic strategies. We were also interested in the role of the pupil's school performance in the perception of these strategies. The two initial hypotheses were as follows:

- H1: There are statistically significant differences between primary school pupils' and teachers' perceived frequency of use of didactic strategies.
- H2: School performance is a statistically significant indicator of differences in the perceived frequency of use of didactic strategies in pupils.

# Method

The research is based on a survey methodology, using a questionnaire for pupils in Grades 7 and 9 in Slovenian primary schools and their teachers.

#### Sample of respondents

The survey was carried out with 1,536 primary school pupils in Grades 7 and 9 and 263 of their teachers. A random stratified representative sample was selected, including all 12 Slovenian statistical regions, with a random selection of 5 per cent of all primary schools in the Republic of Slovenia as the criterion. The demographic characteristics of the pupils and their teachers are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

#### Table 1

Characteristic	:	n	f %	M (SD)	MinMax.	
Gender	Girl	792	51.7	,	1	
	Boy	739	48.3	/	/	
	12	379	24.8			
A	13	416	27.2	13.46	12-15	
Age (years)	14	381	25.0	(1.10)		
	15	351	23.0			
Grade	7	820	53.4	/	,	
	9	716	46.6	/	/	

Demographic characteristics of the sample of pupils

*Note.* M = mean; SD = standard deviation; / = could not be calculated given the nature of the test variables.

Nearly equal proportions of female pupils (51.7%) and male pupils (48.3%) participated in the survey. The average age of the respondents was 13.46 years. There was a slightly higher proportion of pupils aged 13 (27.2%) and 14 (25%) and a slightly lower, but evenly distributed, proportion of pupils aged 12 and 15. By grade, the respondents came from Grades 7 and 9 of primary school, with a slightly higher proportion of Grade 7 pupils (53.4%) (Table 1).

Characteristic		n*	f %	M (SD)	MinMax.	
Gondor	Women	214	81.7	/	/	
Gender	Men	48	18.3	/	/	
	25-35	44	16.7			
	36-45	92	35.1	45.92	25 66	
Age (years)	46-55	67	25.6	(9.92)	25-00	
5	56 and over	59	22.5			
	Without promotion	50	19.2			
Professional	Mentor	83	31.8	/	/	
title	Advisor	101	38.7	/		
	Counsellor	27	10.3			
Formal	Teacher education	246	94.3			
education	Non-teaching degree with PAI	15	5.7	/	/	
	Foreign languages	41	15.6			
	Slovenian	30	11.4			
Subject area	Mathematics	25	9.5	/	/	
Subject area	Sport	30	11.4	/	/	
	Arts courses	21	8.0			
	Study orientations	116	44.1			

#### Table 2

Demographic characteristics of the sample of teachers

Note. M = mean; SD = standard deviation; / = could not be calculated given the nature of the test variables.

\* There is a discrepancy in the demographic characteristics of the sample, with some teachers not answering all demographic questions.

Table 2 shows that 81.7 per cent of the teachers participating in the survey were female and 18.3 per cent were male. The average age of the respondents was 45.9 years, with a standard deviation of 10 years, which means that most of the teachers surveyed were aged between 36 and 56 years. This is confirmed by the frequency distribution of age groups, which places 60.7 per cent of the teachers surveyed in the 36–55 age group. The oldest teacher in the study was 66 years and the youngest 25 years. Most of the participants had already achieved the title of Advisor (38.7%) or Mentor (31.8%). The majority of the teachers (94.3%) had completed teacher-training degree programmes, while 5.7 per cent of the teachers surveyed had obtained their teaching qualifications through the Pedagogical-Adult Education (PAI) programme.

#### Measuring Instrument

A closed-ended questionnaire was used to collect the data. There were two versions of the questionnaire: one to be completed by the pupils and one by their teachers. Both questionnaires included demographic questions such as gender and age in the introductory part.

For pupils, the demographic section was complemented by questions on the school grade and final grades in Slovenian, mathematics and the first foreign language. Based on the final grades collected, a new variable, 'academic performance', was created for further analysis, representing the overall average score of the final grades in the three subjects. The demographic section of the teacher questionnaire also included questions on the professional title, type of formal education received, and subject(s) taught.

The demographic questions were followed by 14 variables defining didactic strategies. The set of these variables was identical on both versions of the questionnaire, with a slight difference in the format to address each group of respondents adequately. Pupils and teachers rated the frequency of use of the selected didactic strategies on a three-point scale (3 = frequently, 2 = rarely, 1= never). The measurement instrument was tested in a case study in the northeastern part of the Republic of Slovenia.

Table 3 shows the results of the calculated Cronbach alpha coefficients, which were used to assess the reliability of the questionnaires by scale. For all three rating scales studied, we found adequate reliability of the data collected, as Cronbach's alpha coefficient showed values ranging from 0.78 to 0.84, thus confirming adequate reliability of the questionnaire for both pupils and teachers.

#### Table 3

Assessing the reliability of the questionnaire on pupils' perceptions of didactic strategies and school performance and the questionnaire on teachers' self-assessment of their use of didactic strategies

Rating scale	•	Number of variables (n)	Cronbach's alpha
D	Didactic strategies	14	0.797
Puplis	Academic performance	3	0.835
Teachers	Didactic strategies	14	0.780

#### Data Collection Process and Ethical Considerations

Data collection took place from May to June 2019, using a face-to-face approach (paper-pencil) in the primary schools included in the survey. The data collection was carried out with the help of school coordinators, who helped us to carry out the survey. The coordinators worked with the teachers, collected the questionnaires, and helped with the organisational arrangements for the survey.

All data collection was carried out in accordance with the fundamental approaches of research ethics, such as anonymity, voluntary participation, and the possibility to withdraw from the research at any time without consequences for the participant. For all pupils surveyed, parents or legal guardians gave written consent to participate in the survey before data collection began.

#### Data Analysis Methods

All analyses were carried out using SPSS statistical software, version 26.0. Firstly, measures of descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables. Depending on the type of variable, we calculated frequencies and percentages (nominal and ordinal variables), as well as calculated measures of the front values and the dispersion of the data (means, standard deviations, minimum and maximum, skewness and kurtosis). Further analyses were performed to check whether the conditions for inferential statistics were met, such as Cronbach's alpha coefficients to determine the reliability of the data, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for normality of distribution, Pearson's correlation coefficient, and a scatter plot to determine the linear dependence between variables.

In the next step, the variables assessing the didactic strategies were grouped into categories using qualitative categorical analysis. The 14 statements assessed were grouped into the following five didactic strategies: experiential learning (n=4), problem-based learning (n=3), research-based learning (n=3), cross-curricular learning (n=2) and project-based learning (n=2).

To test the hypotheses, we used linear regression and t-tests for dependent samples. Differences at  $p \le 0.05$  were considered statistically significant. The interpretation of the results also took into account the effect sizes of the statistical tests (Cohen's d, beta).

#### Results

#### Pupils' and Teachers' Perceptions of Didactic Strategies

#### Table 4

Comparison between pupils' and teachers' perceptions of didactic strategies

Dide stie starte au	Pupils Teachers   M (SD)* M (SD)*		+ ()	Cohen's d	
Didactic strategy			- t(p)		
Problem-based learning	2.28 (0.47)	2.67 (0.37)	-15.090 (<0.001)	0.458	
Research-based learning	2.21 (0.37)	2.55 (0.29)	-16.368 (<0.001)	0.362	
Experiential learning	1.97 (0.42)	2.48 (0.46)	-16.821 (<0.001)	0.430	
Cross-curricular learning	1.92 (0.51)	2.41 (0.39)	-17.457 (<0.001)	0.494	
Project-based learning	1.65 (0.50)	1.93 (0.60)	-7.239 (<0.001)	0.518	

*Note:* \* rating scale: 1 = never, 2 = rarely, 3 = frequently; M = mean; SD = standard deviation; Cohen's d = effect size of t-test

The results in Table 4 show that pupils in Grades 7 and 9 of primary school perceived problem-based learning (M=2.28, SD=0.47) and research-based learning (M=2.21, SD=0.37) as the most frequently used didactic strategies. Teachers also said these were the two most commonly used didactic strategies.

Despite the finding that problem-based and research-based learning are the didactic strategies most perceived by both pupils and teachers, they are still perceived by pupils to be rare, while teachers judge that they are often included in their teaching. According to pupils, teachers also rarely used experiential learning (M=1.97, SD=0.42) or cross-curricular learning (M=1.92, SD=0.51), while teachers were fairly unanimous in their opinion that they include experiential (M=2.48, SD=0.46) and cross-curricular learning (M=2.41, SD=0.39) more often in their teaching.

Project-based learning was perceived by children to be the least represented strategy (M=1.65, SD=0.50), occurring rarely or never. Teachers also perceived project-based learning as the least represented strategy (M=1.93, SD=0.60), occurring rarely or never.

Teachers ranked the presence of all five assessed didactic strategies statistically significantly higher than pupils (p < 0.001). Cohen's d effect size, with values ranging from 0.36 to 0.52, indicates a medium-strong effect size for statistically significant differences between pupils' and teachers' opinions. The most marked difference was found in the least represented didactic strategy, namely project-based learning (0.52).

The pupils surveyed were quite unanimous in their opinions (SD $\leq$ 0.51) when evaluating all strategies. The greatest unanimity was found in their assessment of the incidence of research-based learning (84.7% perceived that it was rarely present). Pupils' opinions were slightly more divided when it came to rating the incidence of cross-curricular teaching, which may reflect different perceptions of this didactic strategy among pupils.

Similarly, the teachers surveyed showed the highest level of agreement (SD=0.29) in their assessment of the use of research-based learning (72.7% of them used it frequently). The teachers' opinions were most divided when it came to project-based learning (SD=0.60), which was used frequently by 27.1% of respondents and never by 14.1%.

#### Table 5

Didactic strategy	Statement	M (SD)	MinMax.
	Teachers prepare assignments and encourage us to find sources and solutions independently.	2.44 (0.63)	1–3
Problem- based learning	Teachers present us with a problem (a question) and let us find our own solutions.	2.22 (0.67)	1–3
loannig	Teachers encourage us to detect problems (open questions) as they teach.	2.19 (0.67)	1–3
	Teachers encourage us to formulate research questions and find answers to them.	2.55 (0.59)	1–3
Research- based learning	Teachers guide us to come to our own conclusions through research.	2.41 (0.61)	1–3
	Teachers encourage us to express our own ideas and thoughts about solutions to the research problem.	2.27 (0.65)	1-3
	We also do research outside the classroom (in the library, in the laboratory, in nature, etc.).	1.62 (0.57)	1–3
	Teachers include observation of paintings, art techniques, films, etc.	2.28 (0.64)	1–5
Experien- tial learning	Teachers also integrate our experience of the content into their lessons.	2.08 (0.67)	1–3
	We play different roles in the classroom.	1.54 (0.60)	1-3
Cross-	Teachers integrate the content of different subjects in their lessons.	2.22 (0.66)	2-3
curricular learning	The lessons are taught simultaneously by teachers of different subjects, each presenting their own aspect.	1.63 (0.74)	1-3
Project-	Teachers involve us in projects.	1.76 (0.72)	1-3
based learning	With the help of teachers, we work on project assignments.	1.53 (0.58)	1-3

The incidence of the didactic strategies that pupils think their teachers use

Three features of inquiry- and problem-based learning that encourage independent learning, research and problem-solving were rated by pupils as frequently occurring: 'Teachers encourage us to formulate research questions and find answers to them' (M=2.55); 'Teachers prepare assignments and encourage us to find sources and solutions independently' (M=2.44); and 'Teachers guide us to come to our own conclusions through research' (M=2.41).

#### Table 6

Didactic strategy	Statement	M (SD)	MinMax.
Duchland	I encourage pupils to perceive problems by presenting the learning content.	2.79 (0.43)	1-3
based learning	I present the problem and let the pupils find their own solutions.	2.70 (0.47)	1-3
	I prepare assignments and encourage pupils to find sources and solutions independently.	2.52 (0.55)	1-3
	l encourage pupils to express their own ideas and thoughts about possible solutions to the research problem.	2.89 (0.34)	1-3
Research- based learning	I guide pupils to come to their own conclusions through research.	2.76 (0.44)	1-3
	I prepare materials and encourage pupils to formu- late their own research questions and find their own answers.	2.54 (0.52)	1-3
	We also do research outside the classroom (in the library, in the laboratory, in nature, etc.).	2.01 (0.63)	1-3
	I integrate the pupils' experiences into my lessons.	2.82 (0.41)	1-3
Experiential learning	l include observation of paintings, art techniques, films, etc., in my teaching.	2.41 (0.70)	1-3
	I organise the lessons in such a way that the pupils play different roles.	2.22 (0.71)	1–3
Cross- curricular	In my teaching, I integrate the content of different subjects.	2.85 (0.35)	2-3
learning	Teachers from different subjects come together to present their points of view.	1.97 (0.62)	1-3
Project-	We work with pupils on project assignments.	1.96 (0.71)	1-3
based learning	l involve pupils in projects.	1.90 (0.72)	1-3

Teachers' self-assessment of didactic strategies

Among the individual statements in Table 6, teachers gave the highest rating to the statement, 'I encourage pupils to express their own ideas and thoughts about possible solutions to the research problem' (M=2.89, SD=0.34). This statement falls under research-based learning. Teachers also rated very highly (M $\ge$ 0.8) didactic strategies that integrate cross-curricular integration (team integration), pupil experiences (experiential learning), and encouraging pupils to identify problems (problem-based learning).

# Academic Performance as a Determinant of Pupils' Perceptions of Didactic Strategies

In this section, we present the results in relation to the second hypothesis, which tested how average academic performance predicts pupils' perceptions of didactic strategies. Table 7 shows the average final grades of the surveyed pupils in the three core subjects of primary education, namely Slovenian language, mathematics and (first) foreign language, as well as the overall average grade for all three. Primary school pupils achieved the highest average score in a foreign language (3.82), followed by Slovenian (3.60) and mathematics (3.54). The overall mean score was 3.66 (SD=0.91).

#### Table 7

Cubicatore	Total	Grade 7	Grade 9
Subject area	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)
Slovenian*	3.60 (1.00)	3.66 (1.00)	3.52 (1.00)
Mathematics	3.54 (1.10)	3.57 (1.10)	3.51 (1.09)
(First) foreign language	3.82 (1.07)	3.86 (1.08)	3.78 (1.05)
Average academic performance	3.66 (0.91)	3.70 (0.92)	3.60 (0.91)

Academic performance of pupils surveyed

*Note.* M = mean; SD = standard deviation; p = statistical significance of the test; \* final grade in the previous school year: 1 = unsatisfactory, 2 = satisfactory, 3 = good, 4 = very good, 5 = excellent; the average academic performance is the combined average of the final grades in Slovenian, mathematics and (first) foreign language.

Linear regression was used to investigate the relationship between pupils' perceptions of didactic strategies and their academic performance. Linear regression is particularly suited to identifying influences and relationships between two variables and predicting the outcome of the dependent variable based on changes in the value of the independent variable. Before the calculation, we checked that the variables we wanted to include in the regression analysis (i.e., the final grades in Slovenian, mathematics and foreign language, and the grades of all the included didactic strategies) met the conditions. The distribution normality of the variables was checked using the skewness and kurtosis coefficients and the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Linear correlation between dependent variables was established using Pearson's correlation coefficient and a scatter plot. The variables included were shown to meet the conditions for inclusion in the linear regression.

#### Table 8

*Linear regression of the effect of pupils' academic performance on their perceptions of the incidence of didactic strategies* 

Didactic strategy (dependent)	Academic performance (independent)	В	Beta	R <sup>2</sup>	F (p)
Problem-based learning	Average academic performance	0.048	0.093*	0.009	12.914 (0.001)
Research- based learning	Average academic performance	0.051	0.125*	0.016	23.645 (<0.001)
Experiential learning	Average academic performance	0.023	0.049	0.002	3.568 (0.059)
Cross-curricular learning	Average academic performance	-0.051	-0.091*	0.008	12.221 (<0.001)
Project-based learning	Average academic performance	0.014	0.025	0.001	0.923 (0.337)

Note. B = unstandardised coefficient; Beta = standardised coefficient; R<sup>2</sup> = proportion of explained variance of the model; F (p) = statistical significance of the model: one-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA); \* statistical significance of partial correlation  $p \le 0.00$ ; Average academic performance = calculated average grade from the final grade in Slovenian, mathematics and the first foreign language.

The linear regression showed that pupils' performance in primary school, calculated based on the average of their final grades in the three core subjects (Slovenian, mathematics, and foreign language), is a statistically significant predictor of their perception of three didactic strategies, namely experiential learning (p < 0.001), cross-curricular learning (p < 0.001) and problembased learning (p = 0.001) (Table 8). For all three didactic strategies, we also found statistically significant partial correlations, indicating a weak correlation between pupils' perceptions of the didactic strategies and their academic performance. Higher-achieving pupils perceive a statistically significant increase in the presence of experiential ( $\beta = 0.125$ ) and problem-based ( $\beta = 0.093$ ) learning and a decrease in the presence of cross-curricular learning ( $\beta = -0.091$ ). Among the statistically significant correlations obtained, the strongest was the correlation between learning performance and perception of research-based learning, which shows that a one-point increase in academic performance leads to a 0.05-point increase in perception of research-based learning. Similar predictive power applies to cross-curricular and problem-based learning. Pupils' academic performance in primary school did not emerge as an influential factor in perceptions of project-based and experiential learning.

#### Discussion

In our research, we found that teachers and pupils perceived problembased and exploratory instruction, which are very similar, as the most used didactic strategies (Blažič et al., 2003). Jančič Hegediš and Hus (2019) also found in their study that teachers of Grades 4 and 5 most often incorporate problembased and research-based learning into their teaching practice.

The presence of these strategies in pedagogical practice is gratifying, as they have a positive impact on the development of critical thinking and lifelong learning (Darhim et al., 2020; Ivanuš Grmek et al., 2009) and thus contribute to the performance of the important goal of education: to teach pupils to think and to become lifelong learners. In addition, independent problem-solving stimulates pupils' thought processes, increases the possibility of internalising knowledge, and thus contributes to better academic performance (Kozina & Vršnik Perše, 2015).

However, it should be noted that approaches that promote problemsolving are not universally effective. The use of certain didactic approaches alone does not necessarily have a positive impact on the quality of learning, as also explained by cognitive load theory. In the early stages of knowledge acquisition, didactic approaches based on self-discovery can be ineffective because they overload the pupil's working memory. In this case, guided approaches are more effective. It is important, too, to be aware that approaches that are effective for less proficient learners are not necessarily effective for more proficient learners (Hattie & Yates, 2014). Therefore, to realise all these benefits, it is essential to consider pupils' capacities (Blažič et al., 2003; Košir et al., 2020). In order to implement these strategies well, the teacher must have good knowledge of and respect for the backgrounds and abilities of the pupils, as well as the didactical competence to implement the strategies.

It should be noted that pupils rarely perceive the integration of these strategies in the classroom. Project-based learning was perceived by both teachers and pupils to be the least frequently used didactic strategy and was identified by Jančič Hegediš and Hus (2019) as the strategy that occurs least frequently in pedagogical practice. Project-based learning is characterised by pupils learning about an interdisciplinary topic, which is why it occurs mainly outside the regular classroom (Blažič et al., 2003; Ivanuš Grmek & Hus, 2006). In our opinion, this is why it is less widespread in pedagogical practice, as it requires networking with external experts, more detailed planning, and more time. Nevertheless, it is worth considering the possibilities of integrating project-based learning into teaching practice, as research has shown that it has a positive impact on pupils' motivation, autonomy, metacognitive skills, academic performance, and other important attributes (Gerhana et al., 2017; Lazić et al., 2021).

The less frequent integration of these didactic strategies into teaching practice is mainly attributed by teachers at all levels of education to a lack of time, too many classes, and poor matching of curricular content with the strategies (Jahan et al., 2016; Jančič Hegediš & Hus, 2019), and a high level of comfort with traditional approaches to teaching (Jahan et al., 2016). Teachers cite reasons related to their competence to implement different didactic strategies less frequently, which Jančič Hegediš and Hus (2019) link to the fact that it is easier to find reasons for not implementing active didactic strategies in one's own pedagogical practice in external factors rather than in one's own competence. This is why we believe that future teachers and practitioners need to strengthen and develop self-reflection skills that allow them to provide quality feedback and improve their performance as a result.

As pupils have few opportunities to acquire knowledge through active didactic strategies at the primary level of education, it is understandable that even at higher levels of education, they lack the necessary knowledge to participate actively in different didactic strategies and are consequently unwilling to do so, as confirmed by the results of the research conducted by Jahn et al. (2016).

The results of our study confirm the hypothesis that there are differences in teachers' and pupils' perceptions of didactic strategies. Statistically significant differences emerged for all didactic strategies, with teachers rating the integration of different strategies into their teaching practice higher than their pupils. As the responsibility for the quality of the educational process lies with the teachers, it was expected that they would give socially desirable answers. It could also be due to pupils being critical of the teacher's activities or, conversely, to the teacher not being critical of his or her own actions, but the repeated results, which generally show differences between teachers and pupils in this direction, suggest that pupils do not adequately perceive teachers' efforts. This has been pointed out in previous studies (Ivanuš Grmek et al., 2007; Javornik et al., 2008). This discrepancy is worrying, as it raises doubts about the adequacy of communication between teachers and pupils. This is why the identified pupilteacher gap needs further research attention in the future. An analysis of the relationship between perceptions of didactic strategies and pupils' learning performance in primary school showed a statistically significant relationship between academic performance and perceptions of experiential learning, cross-curricular and problem-based learning. Pupils with higher scores were more likely to report the presence of research- and problem-based learning. In contrast, higher-performing pupils perceived less cross-curricular teaching. These findings raise new questions and the need for further research. The reciprocal relationship between academic performance and teaching methods also deserves further attention. This raises new questions about strategies, forms, and methods of work in primary school practice and provides opportunities for future in-depth quantitative and qualitative empirical research.

#### **Conclusion, Limitations and Further Research**

International research shows the positive impact of active learning on pupil performance (Kozina & Vršnik Perše, 2015). It should be noted at this point that the use of certain didactic strategies alone does not necessarily contribute to better quality learning (Košir et al., 2020).

In this context, our research findings that open instruction is still not sufficiently embedded in pedagogical practice from the learners' perspective and that perceptions of strategies' use vary between learners and teachers warrant further research attention to explore the factors that influence the effective use of these strategies in teaching practice and to address the different judgements made by teachers and learners.

However, when interpreting the findings, it is important to bear in mind some of the limitations of the study. First, the limited set of five didactic strategies (problem-based learning, research-based learning, experiential learning, cross-curricular learning, and project-based learning) was analysed in this study. However, in the pedagogical practice of primary school education, it is also possible to predict other didactic strategies and approaches which may not have been recognised within the five studied didactical approaches in this study. Therefore, further studies should extend this studied set of didactic strategies to identify which approaches are used in primary school teaching practice.

Second, this study's findings are based on a monomethod research approach, which was based on quantitative interviews with pupils and teachers. A mixed methods research approach, which combines qualitative and quantitative research methods (Creswell, 2014), could provide a more in-depth and comprehensive insight into the issues at hand and increase the validity and

reliability of the results obtained. This limitation does not detract from the credibility of the findings but rather suggests the need for further research and development monitoring of teaching practice in the research field, including qualitative approaches to research such as interviews and focus groups, and, above all, a complementary approach between the two methodologies.

The findings of our research and in-depth reflection on the reasons behind these findings can serve as a basis for teacher training and reflection on what today's teachers need to be able to implement didactic approaches in their teaching practice that will enable their pupils to acquire the highest quality and lasting knowledge. We can conclude from the above that knowledge and use of different didactic strategies alone is not enough to improve the learning process, as a quality learning process requires the broader concept of educational work to be taken into account with a heterogeneous group of learners.

# References

AgwuUdo, D. (2019). Comparative effects of individualized and cooperative learning instructional strategies on senior secondary school pupils' academic performance in organic chemistry. *Electronic Journal of Science Education*, 22(2), 1–14. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1188015.pdf

Alvia, E., & Gillies, R. M. (2020). Promoting self-regulated learning through experiential learning in the early years of school: A qualitative case study. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 44(2), 135–157. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/02619768.2020.1728739

Blažič, M., Ivanuš Grmek, M., Kramar, M., & Strmčnik, F. (2003). *Didaktika: Visokošolski učbenik* [Didactics: Higher education textbooks]. Visokošolsko središče, Inštitut za raziskovalno in razvojno delo.

Cencič, M., Cotič, M., & Medved Udovič, V. (2008). Pouk v družbi znanja [Education in knowledge society]. In V. Medved Udovič, M. Cotič, & M. Cencič (Eds.), *Sodobne strategije učenja in poučevanja* [Modern learning and teaching strategies] (pp. 8–15). Univerza na Primorskem, Pedagoška fakulteta. Cotič, N., Plazar, J., Istenič Starčič, A., & Zuljan, D. (2020). The effect of outdoor lessons in natural sciences on pupils' knowledge, through tablets and experiential learning. *Journal of Baltic Science Education*, 19(5), 747–763. http://oaji.net/articles/2020/987-1602524649.pdf

Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

Crook, D. J., & Cox, P. (2022). A case for complexity-informed participatory action research with young people. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice, 17*(2), 188–202.

https://doi.org/10.1177/174619792199515

Darhim, D., Prabawanto, S., & Susilo, B. E. (2020). The effect of problem-based learning and mathematical problem posing in improving pupil's critical thinking skills. *International Journal of Instruction*, 13(4), 103–116. https://www.e-iji.net/dosyalar/iji\_2020\_4\_7.pdf

Deslauriersa, L., McCartya, L. S., Miller, K., Callaghana, K. & Kestin, G. (2019). Measuring actual learning versus feeling of learning in response to being actively engaged in the classroom. *PNAS*, *116*(39), 19251–19257. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1821936116

Fernandes, H. V. J. (2021). From pupil to tutor: A journey in problem-based learning. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 13(12), 1706–1709. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2021.09.037

Ferrero, M., Vadillo, M. A., & Leo'n, S. P. (2021). Is project-based learning effective among

kindergarten and elementary pupils? A systematic review. PLoS ONE, 16(4), 1-14.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249627

Filippatou, D., & Kaldi, S. (2010). The effectiveness of project-based learning on pupils with learning difficulties regarding academic performance, group work and motivation. *International Journal of Special Education*, *25*(1), 17–26. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ890562.pdf

Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement. Potential of the concept, state of evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59–109. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543074001059

Gerhana, M. T. C., Mardiyana, M., & Pramudya, I. (2017). The effectiveness of project-based learning in trigonometry. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 895(2017), 1–6.

https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/895/1/012027

Harris, R., & Bilton, H. (2019). Learning about the past: Exploring the opportunities and challenges of using an outdoor learning approach. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *49*(1), 69–91.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2018.1442416

Hattie, J. (2008). *Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to performance.* Taylor & Francis.

Hattie, J., & Yates, G. (2014). Visible learning and the science of how we learn. Routledge.

Holt-Reynolds, D. (2000). What does the teacher do? Constructivist pedagogies and prospective

teachers' beliefs about the role of a teacher. Teaching and Teacher Education, 16(1), 21-32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(99)00032-3

Ing, M., Webb, N. M., Franke, M. L., Turrou, A. C., Wong, J., Shin, N., & Fernandez, C. H. (2015).

Pupil participation in elementary mathematics classrooms: The missing link between teacher

practices and pupil performance? *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 90(3), 341-356.

Ivanuš Grmek, M., Čagran, B., & Sadek, L. (2009). Eksperimentalna študija primera pri pouku

spoznavanja okolja [An experimental case study in environmental education]. Pedagoški inštitut.

Ivanuš Grmek, M., Javornik, M., Vršnik Perše, T., Rutar Leben, T., Kobal Grum, D., & Novak, B.

(2007). Gimnazija na razpotju [Grammar school at the crossroads]. Pedagoški inštitut.

Ivanuš Grmek, M., & Hus, V. (2006). Odprti pouk pri predmetu spoznavanje okolja [Open instruction in environmental education]. *Sodobna pedagogika*, *57*(2), 68–83.

http://www.dlib.si/stream/URN:NBN:SI:doc-ZYTIDKSW/0737a990-5119-482d-8cda-oda43eeaaasf/PDF Jahan, F., Siddiqui, M., AlKhouri, M., Ahuja, A., & Alward, M. (2016). Active teaching and learning strategies in medical education: Perception and barriers among faculty members at Oman Medical College, Sohar/Bowshar Sultanate of Oman. *Turkish Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care*, *10*(1), 13–18. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/tjfmpc/article/256211 Jančič Hegediš, P., & Hus, V. (2019). Representation of teaching strategies based on constructivism in social studies. *International Journal of Innovation and Learning*, 25(1), 64–77.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330048759\_Representation\_of\_teaching\_strategies\_based\_on\_ constructivism in social studies

Javornik, M., Ivanuš Grmek, M., & Vršnik Perše, T. (2008). Didaktičnometodične značilnosti pouka v splošnih gimnazijah [Didactic-methodological features of teaching in general grammar schools]. *Pedagoška obzorja*, 23(2), 62–77.

http://www.dlib.si/listalnik/URN\_NBN\_SI\_doc-Q86EZ7B4/63/index.html#zoom=z

Kaldi, S., Filippatou, D., & Govaris, C. (2009). Project-based learning in primary schools: Effects on pupils' learning and attitudes. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education*, 39(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004270903179538

Kalin, J., Peklaj, C., Pečjak, S., Puklek Levpušček, M., & Valenčič Zuljan, M. (2017). Elementary and secondary school pupils' perceptions of teachers' classroom management competencies. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, *7*(4), 37–62.

Košir, K., Vršnik Perše, T., Ograjšek, S., & Ivanuš Grmek, M. (2020). Spodbujanje aktivnega študija, kot ga zaznavajo študenti [Promoting active learning as perceived by pupils]. *Andragoška spoznanja*, *26*(2), 33–46.

Kozina, A., & Vršnik Perše, T. (2015). Aktivnosti učencev in dijakov pri pouku v povezavi z njihovimi dosežki: Mednarodna primerjava [Pupil active engagement and academic performance: International comparisons]. In D. Hozjan (Ed.), *Aktivnost učencev v učnem procesu [Pupil active engagement in the learning process]* (pp. 29–44). Univerza na Primorskem, Pedagoška fakulteta.

https://www.pef.upr.si/mma/Aktivnosti%20u%C4%8Dencev%20v%20u%C4%8Dnem%20 procesu/2015100113044717/

Lazić, B. D., Knežević, J. B., & Maričić, S. M. (2021). The influence of project-based learning on pupil performance in elementary mathematics education. *South African Journal of Education*, *41*(3), 1–10. http://dx.doi.org/10.15700/saje.v41n3a1909

McPherson-Geyser, G., de Villiers, R., & Kavai, P. (2020). The use of experiential learning as a teaching strategy in life sciences. *International Journal of Instruction*, *13*(3), 877–894. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1259307

Mithans, M. (2017). *Participacija učencev pri pouku in na šoli* [Pupil participation in the classroom and in the school]. [Doctoral dissertation, Faculty of Education, University of Maribor].

https://dk.um.si/IzpisGradiva.php?id=65569

Mithans, M., & Ivanuš Grmek, M. (2012). Spreminjanje položaja učenca v Sloveniji v 20. stoletju

[Changes in pupils' situation in Slovenia in the twentieth century]. *Revija za elementarno izobraževanje*, 5(2/3), 55–72.

Mithans, M., Ivanuš Grmek, M., & Čagran, B. (2017). Participation in decision-making in class:

Opportunities and pupil attitudes in Austria and Slovenia. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 7(4), 165–183.

Mithans, M. & Ivanuš Grmek, M. (2019). Open Classes and Participation in Decision-Making in Class.

*Croatian Journal of Education*, 21(Sp.Ed.No.1/2019), 167–180. https://doi.org/10.15516/cje.v21i0.3432 Pelc, S. (2008). Vpliv zahtev sodobne družbe na strategije učenja in poučevanja [The influence of modern society on learning and teaching strategies]. In V. Medved Udovič, M. Cotič, & M. Cencič (Eds.), *Sodobne strategije učenja in poučevanja* [Modern learning and teaching strategies] (pp. 3–7). Univerza na Primorskem, Pedagoška fakulteta.

Peschel, F. (2010). Freiraum statt Einschränkung: Offener Unterricht muss konsequenter umgesetzt werden. In T. Bohl, K. Kansteiner-Schänzlin, M. Kleinknecht, B. Kohler, & A. Nold (Eds.), *Selbstbestimmung und Classroom-Management. Empirische Befunde und Entwicklungsstrategien zum guten Unterricht* (pp. 93–114). Julius Klinkhardt Verlagsbuchhandlung.

Plešec Gasparič, R. (2019). Učne oblike v tradicionalnem učnem procesu in pri didaktični inovaciji obrnjeno učenje in poučevanje [Within-class pupil grouping in traditional instruction and in flipped learning and teaching innovation]. Doctoral dissertation. Univerza v Ljubljani, Pedagoška fakulteta. http://pefprints.pef.uni-lj.si/id/eprint/5781

Revelle, K. Z. (2019). Teacher perceptions of a project-based approach to social studies and literacy instruction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 84(2019), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.04.016 Rowe, K. (2003). The importance of teacher quality as a key determinant of pupils' experiences and outcomes of schooling. In *Proceedings of the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) Research Conference, "Building teacher quality: What does the research tell us?"* (pp. 15–23). ACER. https://research.acer.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent. cgi?article=1000&context=research\_conference\_2003 Strmčnik, F. (2001). *Didaktika: Osrednje teoretične teme* [Didactics: Central theoretical topics]. Znanstveni inštitut Filozofske fakultete.

Sutrisna, G., & Artini, L. P. (2020). Does problem-based learning affect pupils' speaking skill and attitude toward ELL? *RETORIKA Jurnal Ilmu Bahasa*, 6(2), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.22225/jr.6.2.2315.131-138 Šorgo, A., & Heric, J. (2020). Motivational and demotivational factors affecting a teacher's decision on whether to do research. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 10(3), 77–97.

Tahirsylaj, A., Smith, W. C., Khan, G., & Wermke, W. (2021). The conceptual and methodological construction of a 'global-teacher identity through TALIS. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 11(3), 75–94.

Timperley, H., & Alton-Lee, A. (2008). Reframing teacher professional learning: An alternative policy approach to strengthening valued outcomes for diverse learners. *Review of Research in Education*, 32(1), 328–369. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/0091732X07308968

Torres-Cladera, G., Simó-Gil, N., Domingo-Peñafiel, L., & Amat-Castells, V. (2021). Building professional identity during pre-service teacher education. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 11(3), 35–54.

Valenčič Zuljan, M., & Kalin, J. (2020). *Učne metode in razvoj učiteljeve metodične kompetence* [Teaching methods and the development of teacher's methodology compentence]. Pedagoška fakulteta, Agencija za raziskovanje RS.

Yar Yildirim, V. (2021). The opinions of effective teachers about their preferred teaching methods and techniques. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching*, 8(1), 76–94. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1286677

# **Biographical note**

**MONIKA MITHANS**, PhD, is an assistant professor in the field of pedagogy at the Faculty of Education, Department of fundamental Pedagogical Subjects at the University of Maribor, Slovenia. Her main areas of research are school participation, modernization of the educational process and curriculum changes.

**JOCA ZURC** has three PhDs (Kinesiology, Philosophy and Statistics) and is an Assistant Professor of Research Methodology and Kinesiology at the Department of Education, Faculty of Arts, University of Maribor, Slovenia. She has over 20 years of experience in qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods research. Besides methodological studies, her main research interests focus on academic and learning achievements, a healthy lifestyle and the well-being of school children. Between 2017 and 2019, she was awarded a JSPS Fellowship for a postdoctoral research study at Okayama University in Japan. She is currently Deputy Dean for International Cooperation and Promotion at the Faculty of Arts, University of Maribor.

**MILENA IVANUŠ GRMEK**, PhD, is a full Professor of Pedagogy at the University of Maribor, Faculty of Education, Slovenia. Her main areas of research are learning and teaching in various fields of education, modernization of educational process, curriculum changes and higher education didactics.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1875

Jane Essex, Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science: How to Teach Science Effectively to Students with Additional or Special Needs, Routledge, 2023; 133 pp.: ISBN: 978-1-00316-781-5

Reviewed by Elisabeth Hofer<sup>1</sup>

In her book Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science, Jane Essex argues why science education is relevant and beneficial for all people and, therefore, should be accessible to all students, including those with specific or additional needs, even at the secondary level. She discusses the challenges students with learning difficulties encounter in secondary science education and addresses how teachers can counteract this, not only in terms of lesson planning and teaching but also regarding assessment. In so doing, Essex repeatedly refers to her experi-



ences and teaching expertise resulting from the almost 40 years she worked as a science teacher and science teacher educator in England. The book is primarily aimed at science teachers or science teacher educators and thus repeatedly refers to specific teaching situations and instructional strategies. In addition, the readers are continually invited to reflect on their beliefs, perspectives, and teaching contexts, which is encouraged by guiding questions.

*Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science* can be roughly divided into two main parts: In the theoretical part, fundamental considerations on the raison d'être of inclusive science education are explained, and the underlying concepts from the fields of pedagogy, science didactics and learning psychology are elaborated, including findings from empirical research. In the practical part, the book provides insight into specific teaching sequences on selected subject

1 Department for Science Education, Leuphana University Lüneburg, Germany; elisabeth.hofer@leuphana.de. areas inherent to the first years of learning science in secondary schools and lists some sources recommended for support or further reading.

In her considerations, Essex tirelessly advocates the importance of and the right to access secondary science education. She emphasises the following aspects (among others) related to the perspective of individual students, secondary science teachers, the school system, and society.

Recognising that learning science has universal benefits. Learning science is not limited to preparing individuals for professional, scientific careers. Dealing with science contexts, concepts, and practices equips students with critical thinking skills, problem-solving abilities, and a deeper understanding of the world around them. These skills are universally valuable and contribute to a more informed and engaged citizenship in a society increasingly influenced by innovations in science and technology. With this in mind, Essex advocates scientific literacy for all (Roberts & Bybee, 2014) and calls on society, the educational system, and individual teachers to fulfil their obligation to allow students to acquire this literacy. First and foremost, not only because all people have the right to access quality and equal education, for legal reasons alone, but also because science for all addresses multiple challenges of today's society, such as a shortage of skilled workers while unemployment is simultaneously prevalent among people with learning difficulties or special needs. Beyond that, a considerable part of society is sceptical about science and research, resulting in uninformed consumer decisions, impeding sustainable development.

Acknowledging the potential of diversity for science education and science in general. The historical elitism and exclusionary practices associated with science have perpetuated stereotypes and hindered diversity in both the field of science and science education. By making science teaching (more) inclusive, Essex argues, teachers can challenge these entrenched norms, promoting diversity and breaking down barriers that have long limited access based on socio-economic status, gender, ethnicity, and - in particular - students' learning preconditions. In Essex's opinion, the cultural trappings embedded in scientific practices, such as exclusive language and inaccessible jargon, are not essential for acquiring scientific literacy. However, they disadvantage and categorically exclude students with lower literacy and communication skills. By embracing inclusive approaches to teaching, science education can shed these barriers, making scientific knowledge more accessible and relevant to students with diverse backgrounds and needs. In so doing, science education might contribute to broader societal goals of promoting equity and social justice. It ensures that opportunities to engage with and contribute to scientific knowledge are accessible to everyone, cultivating future generations of scientifically literate individuals who can participate in society in various capacities.

Addressing barriers to science and science education (for students with learning difficulties). The existing science curriculum and pedagogical approaches often create obstacles for students with learning difficulties. Essex states that she is 'conscious of the fact that many teachers [...] will not feel able to modify *what* they teach. Despite this, they can still adapt the way in which they teach it [...]' (p. 15). Accordingly, she promotes providing various learning resources, incorporating real-world examples that resonate with students from various backgrounds, and fostering a classroom environment that encourages collaboration and respect for diverse perspectives. Recognising and addressing existing barriers may contribute to ensuring that diverse learning styles and abilities are accommodated, allowing all students to participate. Following Essex, students' participation in science education is important for various reasons, for example, for students' enjoyment, personal development and empowerment, their development of science-specific and transferable skills, and their ability to participate in today's society.

After having introduced the theoretical framework regarding inclusive science education, Essex explores why students 'with learning difficulties underachieve in science' and makes suggestions on 'how [...] teachers [can] mitigate this' (p. 15). Above all, two well-known theories, namely the levels of cognitive development defined by Piaget and Bloom's taxonomy of cognitive processes, are referred to as the basis for this. Even though these theories may be helpful in identifying the demands of tasks and activities when learning science, they are, unfortunately, primarily related to the cognitive domain of learning science. This analysis does not fully meet the idea of inclusive science education (as presented in previous sections) in that it neglects social, cultural, emotional, and physical factors of learning. By not only naming the other two less well-known domains of Bloom's taxonomy (affective, psychomotor) but also integrating them, a broader perspective could have been taken. Nevertheless, including additional models (e.g., SOLO taxonomy; Biggs & Collis, 1982) and findings from empirical studies, Essex clearly shows that the demands of learning science are often overwhelming not only for students with additional or special needs but also for many others. To counteract this, Essex presents the suggestions of the CASE (Cognitive Acceleration in Science Education; Shayer & Adey, 2002) project to foster students' development of formal thinking, drawing on experiences from her teaching. Further, she figures out four ways in which those with learning difficulties may differ from their peers: executive functions, functional skills, psycho-social characteristics, and experimental and investigative skills. It is described comprehensively how these four aspects - that are no longer limited to the cognitive domain - can manifest themselves and influence students' learning on the one hand, and how teachers can create science lessons and teaching material that addresses these aspects, on the other hand. By presenting concrete examples, teachers can develop ideas, for example, reducing students' cognitive load, enhancing materials' readability, or creating learning opportunities that allow for differentiation. However, focusing on 'students' challenges' to differentiate between 'students with learning difficulties' and 'their peers' is also at risk of fostering a deficit-oriented and categorising perspective on students and their learning. This sensitive balancing act between addressing students and their individual needs and systematically attributing 'diagnoses' is supported to some extent by the reflective questions. In some of these questions, the barriers to learning are located in the system or learning object (e.g., curriculum, technical language, abstraction, mathematisation) rather than in the students, and teachers are encouraged to reflect on how these barriers could be reduced, minimised, or eliminated by adapting material and instructional strategies (cf. Stinken-Rösner et al., 2020).

One of the distinguishing features of *Inclusive and accessible secondary science* is the section on assessment, which is often disregarded in the context of inclusive education. Essex does not so much focus on specific aspects of 'inclusive assessment' but rather on how to create assessment that covers a broad range of goals aimed for in science education. By opening assessment to different aspects of learning science, the learning outcomes of students with diverse backgrounds and needs – and in particular of students with learning difficulties – can be captured. Essex argues that established assessment techniques, such as typical tests, need to be changed or at least extended by various approaches as students 'who do not do well on such tests should not be assumed not to have learnt, but rather not to have learnt the skills required to bring about success in tests' (p. 61). She advocates aligning assessment with the 'real' teaching intentions, not only those formulated by the curriculum, removing unnecessary barriers from assessment tasks and integrating open-ended questions that allow for creativity and various ways of answering.

The practical section, which forms the back part of the book, consists of concrete teaching sequences related to nine subject areas (e.g., matter, plants, earth, and space). Each of the presented sequences comprises up to eight lessons and is described in terms of learning intentions, the relevance of the topic and the addressed knowledge and skills, the applied instructional strategies, and students' activities and learning opportunities. In so doing, inclusive approaches are discussed by referring to parts of the used teaching materials in order to illustrate how teachers can increase the accessibility of their science lessons. The presented examples serve as great suggestions for teachers and
their teaching practice. Even though the sequences are clearly based on the principles set out in the theoretical section, it is not clear from the practical section whether or in what form the 'effectiveness' of the presented lessons has been investigated. It can, therefore, be assumed that the subtitle of the book, *How to Teach Science Effectively to Students with Additional or Special Needs*, refers to the theoretical framework, including findings from empirical studies in the first part of the book, whereas the practical part is primarily based on the author's own experiences from many years of professional practice.

In Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science, Jane Essex provides a comprehensive argument for the importance of making science education accessible to all learners, particularly to those with specific or additional needs. Through a blend of theoretical discussion and practical insights drawn from her extensive experience, Essex highlights the universal benefits of science education, emphasising its role in fostering critical thinking, problem-solving skills, and a deeper understanding of the world. Essex addresses the challenges faced by students with learning difficulties in secondary science education, offering strategies for teachers to mitigate these challenges in lesson planning, teaching, and assessment. She advocates for inclusive teaching practices that recognise and embrace the diversity of learners, challenging traditional norms and promoting equity and social justice in science education. Overall, Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science serves as a valuable resource for science teachers and science teacher educators, offering both theoretical insights and practical guidance for creating inclusive learning environments where all students can thrive in their science-specific and social pursuits.

# References

Biggs, J. B. & Collis, K. F. (1982). The psychological structure of creative writing. *Australian Journal of Education*, *26*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/000494418202600104

Roberts, D. A., & Bybee, R. W. (2014). Scientific Literacy, Science Literacy, and Science Education. In N. G. Lederman, & S. K. Abell (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Science Education* (pp. 545–558). Routledge.

Shayer, M., & Adey, P. (2002). *Learning intelligence: Cognitive acceleration across the curriculum for 5 to 15 years*. Open University Press.

Stinken-Rösner, L., Rott, L., Hundertmark, S., Baumann, Th., Menthe, J., Hoffmann, Th., Nehring, A. & Abels, S. (2020). Thinking Inclusive Science Education from two Perspectives: Inclusive Pedagogy and Science Education. *RISTAL*, *3*, 30–45. https://doi.org/10.23770/rt1831

Instructions for Authors for publishing in CEPS Journal (https://www.cepsj.si/index.php/cepsj/about/ submissions)

## Submissions

Manuscript should be from 5,000 to 7,000 words long, including abstract and reference list. Manuscript should be not more than 20 pages in length, and should be original and unpublished work not currently under review by another journal or publisher.

## Review Process

Manuscripts are reviewed initially by the Editors and only those meeting the aims and scope of the journal will be sent for blind review. Each manuscript is reviewed by at least two referees. All manuscripts are reviewed as rapidly as possible, but the review process usually takes at least 3 months. The ceps Journal has an online-based review system via the Open Journal System. All submissions should be made via the OJS – http://cepsj.si/.

For more information visit our web page http://cepsj.si/.

## Abstracting and indexation

Scopus | EBSCO - Education Source Publications | Cooperative Online Bibliographic System and Services (COBISS) | Digital Library of Slovenia - dLib | DOAJ - Directory for Open Access Journals | Academic Journals Database | ERIH PLUS | ERIC | Elektronische Zeitschriftenbibliothek EZB (Electronic Journals Library) | Base-Search | DRJI - The Directory of Research Journal Indexing | GSU - Georgia State University Library | MLibrary - University of Michigan | NewJour | NYU Libraries | OhioLINK | Open Access Journals Search Engine (OAJSE) | pedOCS: open access to educational science literature | ResearchBib | Scirus | Ulrich's International Periodicals Directory; New Providence, USA

Annual Subscription (4 issues). Individuals 45 €; Institutions 90 €. Order by e-mail: info@cepsj.si; postal address: CEPS Journal, Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana, Kardeljeva ploščad 16, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia.

Online edition at **http://cepsj.si**/. Number of copies printed: 150 Navodila za avtorje prispevkov v reviji (https://www.cepsj.si/index.php/cepsj/about/ submissions)

## Prispevek

Prispevek lahko obsega od 5.000 do 7.000 besed, vključno s povzetkom in viri. Ne sme biti daljši od 20 strani, mora biti izvirno, še ne objavljeno delo, ki ni v recenzijskem postopku pri drugi reviji ali založniku.

### Recenzijski postopek

Prispevki, ki na podlagi presoje urednikov ustrezajo ciljem in namenu revije, gredo v postopek anonimnega recenziranja. Vsak prispevek recenzirata najmanj dva recenzenta. Recenzije so pridobljene, kolikor hitro je mogoče, a postopek lahko traja do 3 mesece. Revija vodi recenzijski postopek preko Open Journal System (0JS). Prispevek oddaje na strani: http://cepsj.si/.

Več informacij lahko preberete na spletni strani http://cepsj.si/.

## Povzetki in indeksiranje

Scopus | EBSCO - Education Source Publications | Cooperative Online Bibliographic System and Services (COBISS) | Digital Library of Slovenia - dLib | DOAJ - Directory for Open Access Journals | Academic Journals Database | ERIH PLUS | ERIC | Elektronische Zeitschriftenbibliothek EZB (Electronic Journals Library) | Base-Search | DRJI - The Directory of Research Journal Indexing | GSU - Georgia State University Library | MLibrary - University of Michigan | NewJour | NYU Libraries | OhioLINK | Open Access Journals Search Engine (OAJSE) | ped OCS: open access to educational science literature | ResearchBib | Scirus | Ulrich's International Periodicals Directory; New Providence, USA

Letna naročnina (4 številke). Posamezniki 45 €; pravne osebe 90 €. Naročila po e-pošti: info@cepsj.si; pošti: Revija CEPS, Pedagoška fakulteta, Univerza v Ljubljani, Kardeljeva ploščad 16, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia.

Spletna izdaja na **http://cepsj.si/**. Naklada tiskane izdaja: 150 izvodov



#### **UNIVERZA** Pedagoška V LJUBLJANI fakulteta



#### Т EN O N TS

# C-E-P-S Journal

Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal Revija Centra za študij edukacijskih strategij

> Vol.14 | Nº1 | 2024 http://cepsj.si

# Editorial

Diversity in Science Towards Social Inclusion SILVIJA MARKIC

# FOCUS

Diversity and Inclusion in Science Education: Why? A Literature Review Raznolikost in inkluzija v naravoslovnem izobraževanju: zakaj – pregled literature

— Rachel Mamlok-Naaman Language Support in a Student Laboratory for Chemistry in Secondary School Jezikovna podpora v laboratoriju za učence za kemijo na predmetni stopnji osnovne šole ter v srednji šoli

– SARAH KIEFERLE and SILVIJA MARKIC

Innovative Learning Activities for Ethnically Diverse Students in Macedonian Science Education

Inovativne učne dejavnosti za etnično raznolike učence

v makedonskem naravoslovnem izobraževanju

— KATERINA RUSEVSKA, LAMBE BARANDOVSKI, VLADIMIR M. PETRUŠEVSKI, ALEKSANDRA NAUMOSKA, SLAVICA TOFILOVSKA and MARINA STOIANOVSKA

Someone Like Me: A Trial of Context-Responsive Science as a Mechanism to Promote Inclusion

Nekdo kot jaz: preizkus naravoslovja, prilagojenega kontekstu, kot mehanizem za spodbujanje inkluzije

- JANE ESSEX, KIRSTY ROSS and INGEBORG BIRNIE Non-formal Science Education: Moving Towards More Inclusive Pedagogies for Diverse Classrooms

Neformalno naravoslovno izobraževanje: približevanje inkluzivnejšim pedagogikam za raznolike razrede

— GENCO GURALP, MARTIN MCHUGH and SARAH HAYES Inquiry-Based Chemistry Education Activities in a Non-formal Educational Setting for Gifted Students

Učenje z raziskovanjem na področju kemije za nadarjene učence v neformalnem izobraževalnem okolju

— Міна Slapničar, Luka Ribič, Iztok Devetak and Luka Vinko

# VARIA

Teaching Stereochemistry with Multimedia and Hands-On Models: The Relationship between Students' Scientific Reasoning Skills and The Effectiveness of Model Type Poučevanje stereokemije z multimedijo in s praktičnimi modeli: odnos med zmožnostmi naravoslovnega mišljenja pri študentih in učinkovitostjo vrste modela

- Rooserina Kusumaningdyah, Iztok Devetak, Yudhi Utomo,

EFFENDY EFFENDY, DARATU PUTRI and HABIDDIN HABIDDIN Slovenian Language Teachers' Attitudes Towards Introducing Comics in Literature Lessons in Primary School Stališča učiteljev slovenščine do uvajanja stripa v pouk književnosti v osnovni šoli — MAJA KERNEŽA and IGOR SAKSIDA Perceptions of Didactic Strategies among Pupils and Teachers in Primary School Zaznavanje strategij pouka med učenci in učitelji v osnovni šoli

MONIKA MITHANS, JOCA ZURC and MILENA IVANUŠ GRMEK

# REVIEW

Jane Essex, Inclusive and Accessible Secondary Science: How to Teach Science Effectively to Students with Additional or Special Needs, Routledge, 2023; 133 pp.: ISBN: 978-1-00316-781-5

— Elisabeth Hofer

